Brain CYP2D6 and its role in neuroprotection against Parkinson's disease

by

Amandeep Mann

A thesis submitted in conformity with the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Graduate Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology

University of Toronto

© Copyright by Amandeep Mann 2011



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-82406-1

Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-82406-1

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distrbute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.

Canada

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protege cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.

Brain CYP2D6 and its role in neuroprotection against Parkinson's disease

Amandeep Mann Doctor of Philosophy, 2011 Graduate Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology University of Toronto

Abstract

The enzyme CYP2D6 can metabolize many centrally acting drugs and endogenous neural compounds (e.g. catecholamines); it can also inactivate neurotoxins such as 1-methyl-4phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP), 1,2,3,4-tetrahydroisoquinoline (TIQ) and β carbolines that have been associated with Parkinson's disease (PD). CYP2D6 is ideally situated in the brain to inactivate these neurotoxins. The CYP2D6 gene is also highly polymorphic, which leads to large variation in substrate metabolism. Furthermore, CYP2D6 genetically poor metabolizers are known to be at higher risk for developing PD, a risk that increases with exposure to pesticides. Conversely, smokers have a reduced risk for PD and smokers are suggested to have higher brain CYP2D6 levels. Our studies furthered the characterization and involvement of CYP2D6 in neuroprotection against PD. METHODS: We investigated the effects of CYP2D6 inhibition on MPP⁺-induced cell death in SH-SHY5Y human neuroblastoma cells. We compared levels of brain CYP2D6, measured by western blotting, between human smokers and non-smokers, between African Green monkeys treated with saline or nicotine, and between PD cases and controls. In addition, we assessed changes in human brain CYP2D6 expression with age. RESULTS: Blocking CYP2D6 activity in SH-SY5Y cells with four diverse inhibitors significantly increased MPP⁺-induced neurotoxicity. Smokers have higher brain CYP2D6 compared to non-smokers. In monkeys, basal expression of CYP2D6 varied across brain regions and was increased by chronic nicotine treatment in select regions (notably the basal ganglia) and specific cell types. Expression of human brain CYP2D6 increased from fetal to 80 years of age in the frontal cortex; the influence of age on CYP2D6 expression was brain region specific. Compared to age-matched controls, PD cases had ~40% lower CYP2D6 levels in the frontal cortex, cerebellum and hippocampus consistent with lower CYP2D6 increasing the risk for PD. In the caudate and substantia nigra, CYP2D6 levels were similar between PD case and controls using Western blotting. This is likely due to the increase in CYP2D6-expressing astrocytes and much higher cellular CYP2D6 in PD affected areas as observed with immunocytochemical staining. **CONCLUSIONS:** Brain CYP2D6 can meaningfully inactivate neurotoxins, and it can be increased by nicotine in brain regions of interest to PD. These findings support the contention that higher brain CYP2D6 is protective and lower levels may contribute to increased risk for PD.

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Rachel F. Tyndale for her support, guidance and mentorship during my Ph.D. I am grateful for all the opportunities she provided that allowed me to grow as a student and as a professional. She inspired me to always be learning, thinking, applying and questioning science. Her hard work, dedication and continuous encouragement shaped me to become a better student and scientist.

I am very grateful to the excellent Ph.D. Committee Members Dr. Jose Nobrega and Dr. James Wells, who contributed their time, knowledge and expertise. Their guidance and constructive criticism was very helpful in bringing the research within this thesis together.

I would also like to thank my all of my friends and colleagues, who provided their support, time, knowledge, advice and technical expertise during my Ph.D. This especially includes Ewa Hoffmann, Charmaine Ferguson, Jibran Khokhar, Sharon Miksys, Daniel Hanna and Andy Zhu. This accomplishment was that much more achievable and enjoyable with the love from my dearest friends Helena Mistry, Nael Al Koudsi, Vaneeta Verma, Jassi Lachhar-Dugha and my best friend Arun Dhanota.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my family for their love, support and continuous encouragement. I am sincerely thankful to my parents' hard work, patience and understanding, without which I would not have had the opportunities I did in my life. I am appreciative of my Grandfather's wisdom and advice that helped me gain perspective and make sense of things during challenging times. The constant encouragement provided by my sister-in-law Jasmine and brother Kamal definitely made this goal much easier to achieve. I am also very thankful to my niece Nayha for brightening my days with her smiles, hugs, kisses and paintings when I needed it the most. Lastly, I would like to thank my Grandmother for her love and support. As she had been very excited to see me complete my Ph.D., I dedicate this thesis in her loving memory.

Table of Contents

Abstract	II
Acknowledgments	IV
Table of Contents	V
List of Table	VII
List of figures	VIII
Summary of abbreviation	IX
Section I: Introduction	
Statement of Research Problem	1
Beview of the literature	
1. Cytochromes P450 2D6 (CYP2D6)	
1 1 Cytochromes P450	3
1.2 CYP2D6 substrates	4
1.2 CYP2D6 inhibitors	7
1.6 CYP2D6 regulation	10
1 5 CYP2D6 genetic variation	11
1.5.A <i>CYP2D</i> pseudogenes	
1.5.B Interethnic variability <i>CYP2D6</i>	
1.5.C CYP2D6 genetic associations to health risk	15
1.6 CYP2D expression in different species	16
1.6.A CYP2D in rodents	16
1.6.B CYP2D in non-human primates	18
2. Brain Cytochromes P450	19
2.1 Brain CYP expression	19
2.1.A Brain CYP activity	20
2.1.B Brain CYP regulation	21
2.2 Brain CYP2D6	
2.2.A CYP2D6 CNS expression	
2.2.B UYP2D6 UNS function	
2.2.0 Drain CTP2D0 regulation	
2.1 Dathogonosis	
3.1 A Mechanism of cell death	
3.1.B Selective degeneration of donaminergic neurons.	
3.2 Etiology	
3.2.A Genes implicated in PD	
3.2.B Neurotoxins implicated in Parkinson's disease	
3.2.C Environment and genetics	
4. Neuroprotection with smoking and nicotine	42
4.1 Smoking and Parkinson's disease	
4.1.A Smoking and neuroprotection	
4.1.B Smoking and brain CYPs	45
4.2 Nicotine	
4.2.A Nicotine receptors	
4.2.B NICOTINE and neuroprotection	
4.2.0 NICOUNE and Brain UTPS	50 E 1
Chapter 1. Cytochromo D4E0 2D6 ongrumo nouverneto ate against 1. method 4	
chapter 1: Cytochronie r430 2Do enzyme neuroprotects against 1-methyl-4-	F 1
phenyipyirumium toxicity m on-oror neuronal cens	

Chapter 2: Induction of the drug metabolizing enzyme CYP2D in monkey brain by	y chronic
nicotine treatment	
in Parkinson's disease patients	and is lower
Continue 2. Theorie Charter	
Section 2: I nesis Unapters	
nhanylnyridinium toyicity in SH-SV5V nauronal calls	55
Abstract	56
Introduction	57
Materials and methods	59
Results	
Discussion	
Acknowledgements	
Significance of chapter	
Chapter 2: Induction of the drug metabolizing enzyme CYP2D in monkey brain	n by
chronic nicotine treatment	
Abstract	
Introduction	
Materials and methods	
Results	
Discussion	
Acknowledgments	
Significance of chapter	
Chapter 3: The neuroprotective enzyme CYP2D6 increases in the brain with age an	id is lower
in Parkinson's disease patients.	
Abstract:	
Introduction:	
Methods:	
Results:	120
Discussion:	
Significance of chapter	130
Significance of chapter	
Section 3: General Discussion	
1. Study models	
1.1 SH-SY5Y human neuroblastoma cells as a model	
1.2 Non-human primates as <i>in vivo</i> models	
2. Variation in CYP2D6 expression	
2.1 Factors contributing to regional variation	
3. Factors contributing to altered brain CYP2D6 expression	
3.1 Environmental influences on brain CYP2D6	
3.2 The influence of age on brain CYP2D6	
3.3 The influence of Parkinson's disease on brain CYP2D6 expression	154 1 5 7
4. Chinical relevance of altered brain CYP2D0 expression	
4.2 Endogonous CNS substrato motabolism	130 171
4.2 Darkinson's disease	101 162
Conclusions:	170
References:	171

List of Table

Table 1: Examples of exogenous CYP2D6 substrates	5
Table 2: Examples of CYP2D6 inhibitors	9
Table 3: Common CYP2D6 alleles and their frequencies in different ethnic populations	13
Table 4: CYP2D isoenzyme amino acid homology to human CYP2D6	17
Table 5: Examples of endogenous CNS substrates of CYP2D	25
Table 6: Demographics, smoking status and genotype of tissue donors	
Table 7: Brain CYP2D protein immunocytochemical staining in saline- and chronic nicotine-t monkeys	reated 97
Table 8: Demographics of tissue donors used to assess the ontogeny of CYP2D6 and of PD cas	es and
PD controls.	115

List of figures

Figure 1: CYP hepatic expression and contribution to drug metabolism	4
Figure 2: CYP2D gene cluster on chromosome 22q.13.1	
Figure 3: Prevalence and incidence rates of Parkinson's disease (Canada)	
Figure 4: Crude prevalence of Parkinson's disease across different world populations	
Figure 5: Chemical structures of neurotoxins and MPTP metabolism	
Figure 6: Chemical structure of nicotine and nAChR structure	
Figure 7: SH-SY5Y cells express CYP2D6 protein	
Figure 8: AMMC metabolism by cDNA-expressed CYP2D6 and SH-SY5Y cells	
Figure 9: MPTP and MPP+ neurotoxicity in SH-SY5Y cells.	
Figure 10: The effect of CYP2D6 inhibition on MPP+ neurotoxicity.	
Figure 11: The role of CYP2D6 and CYP3A in MPP+ neurotoxicity	
Figure 12: Human CYP2D6 levels are higher in some brain regions of smokers compared	to non-
smokers	
Figure 13: CYP2D is detectable and quantifiable in monkey brain	
Figure 14: Significant variation in expression of monkey brain CYP2D across 12 brain reg	gions in
saline-treated monkeys	96
Figure 15: Region- and cell-specific expression of CYP2D in saline-treated monkeys	
Figure 16: Induction of monkey brain CYP2D following chronic nicotine treatment	100
Figure 17: Higher CYP2D immunostaining in substantia nigra of nicotine-treated animals	 101
Figure 18: Higher CYP2D immunostaining in frontal cortex and cerebellum of nicotine-tr	eated
animals	102
Figure 19: CYP2D6 protein detection in the brain	
Figure 20: Ontogenic expression of CYP2D6 in the frontal cortex	123
Figure 21: Influence of age on CYP2D6 expression in different brain regions	
Figure 22: Lower CYP2D6 levels in PD cases and PD controls	126
Figure 23: Gliosis and higher astrocytic CYP2D6 staining in PD cases	
Figure 24: Neuronal and astrocytic CYP2D6 in the caudate/putamen	
-	

Summary of abbreviation

6-OHDA	6-hydroxydopamine
α-syn	α-synuclein
AGM	African Green monkey
AMHC	3-[2-(<i>N</i> , <i>N</i> -diethyl- <i>N</i> -methylammonium)ethyl]-7-hydroxy-4-methylcoumarin
AMMC	3-[2-(<i>N</i> , <i>N</i> -diethyl- <i>N</i> -methylammonium)-ethyl]-7-methoxy-4-methylcoumarin
AO	Aldehyde oxidase
BBB	Blood brain barrier
COUP-TFI	Chicken ovalbumin upstream promoter transcription factor I
CNS	Central nervous system
СҮР	Cytochrome P450
CYP2D6	Cytochrome P450 2D6
DA	Dopamine
DAT	Dopamine transporter
EM	Extensive metabolizer
FMO	Flavin-containing monooxygenase
HNF- 4α	Hepatocyte nuclear facto- 4α
IM	Intermediate metabolizer
L-DOPA	L-3,4-dihydroxyphenylalanine
LB	Lewy body
LRRK	Leucine Rich Repeat Kinase
MAO	Monoamine oxidase
MBI	Mechanism based inhibitor
MPP^+	1-methyl-4-phenylpyridinium
MPTP	1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine
MTT	3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide
nAChR	Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors
NO	Nitric oxide
Oct	Octamer transcription factor
PAb	Polyclonal antibody
PC12	Pheochromocytoma12
PD	Parkinson's disease
PINK	PTEN-induced kinase
PM	Poor metabolizer
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SN	Substantia nigra
<i>SNCA</i>	α-synuclein gene
SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphism
Tg	Transgenic
UM	Ultra metabolizer

Section I: Introduction

Statement of Research Problem

Parkinson's disease (PD) is the second most common neurodegenerative disease in North America (Pahwa, 2003). It has a poorly characterized etiopathology; age, genetics, cigarette smoking, and exposure to environmental neurotoxins (e.g., pesticides) are all known to influence the risk of developing PD (Lang & Lozano, 1998; Grosset G. D., 2009). Recent research suggests interplay between genetic predisposition and exposure to environmental toxins influences the risk for PD (Vance *et al.*, 2010). In light of this research, enzymes are good candidates for study of the etiopathology of PD, as enzymes can metabolize environmental neurotoxins and alter their effects in the brain. Of particular interest to us is the xenobiotic metabolizing enzyme Cytochrome P450 2D6 (CYP2D6) that has been implicated in the etiopathology of PD (McCann *et al.*, 1997; Elbaz *et al.*, 2004).

CYP2D6 can inactivate many of the neurotoxins that have been associated with PD or PD-like pathology, including 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP), 1,2,3,4tertrahydroisoquinoline (TIQ), and β -carbolines (Suzuki *et al.*, 1992; Modi *et al.*, 1997; Yu *et al.*, 2003d). CYP2D6 is expressed with relatively high levels in the basal ganglia, a brain structure that is predominantly affected in PD, and is, therefore, ideally situated to locally inactivate neurotoxins in the brain (Tyndale *et al.*, 1999; Miksys *et al.*, 2002; Bromek *et al.* 2010). These findings led up to investigate whether CYP2D6 is involved in neuroprotection in PD.

In contrast to environmental factors that increase the risk for PD (e.g., toxins, pesticides), cigarette smoking protects against developing PD (Alves *et al.*, 2004). Nicotine, a

component of cigarette smoke, has been shown to be neuroprotective in models of toxininduced PD (Quik & Kulak, 2002). Over-expression of CYP2D6 in PC12 cells protects against cytotoxicity induced by 1-methyl-4-phenylpyridinium (MPP⁺), the neurotoxic metabolite of MPTP (Matoh *et al.*, 2003). Notably, nicotine has been shown to induce brain CYP2D in rats and mice (Miksys & Tyndale, 2006; Yue *et al.*, 2008; Singh *et al.*, 2009). Currently, there are no studies that have shown whether cigarette smoking and nicotine can alter brain CYP2D expression in primates. However, if it can be determined that brain CYP2D6 expression is induced by nicotine, and is higher in cigarette smokers, the results would support the theory that elevated levels of brain CYP2D6 may be neuroprotective against PD.

Certain polymorphisms in *CYP2D6* that result in non-functional or reduced enzymatic activity have been associated with an increased risk for PD (McCann *et al.*, 1997; Singh *et al.*, 2010). Individuals who are exposed to certain neurotoxins (e.g., pesticides), and who are *CYP2D6* poor metabolizers, have further increased risk of developing PD (Deng *et al.*, 2004; Elbaz *et al.*, 2004). To date, only the *CYP2D6* genetic predisposition to PD has been studied. Comparisons between CYP2D6 protein levels in PD and control brain tissue samples remain to be done. This study will ascertain whether low brain CYP2D6 protein expression is associated with higher susceptibility to PD-causing neurotoxins and increased risk for PD.

Review of the literature

1. Cytochromes P450 2D6 (CYP2D6)

1.1 Cytochromes P450

Cytochromes P450 (CYPs) are a family of heme-containing metalloenzymes actively involved in the oxidation of a diverse array of substrates (Estabrook, 1999; Coon, 2005). CYP substrates range from endogenous compounds, such as steroids and neurotransmitters, to exogenous chemicals, such as clinical drugs and environmental toxins (Rendic & Di Carlo, 1997). The broad range of substrate specificity is largely due to the diversity of CYPs. In humans, CYPs are divided into 18 families that share ~40% amino acid homology and 57 subfamilies that share ~55% amino acid homology (Nelson, 2006). Among the 18 human CYP families, CYP1, CYP2, and CYP3 are responsible for the biotransformation of many clinical drugs and other xenobiotics in humans (Emoto *et al.*, 2006; Zanger *et al.*, 2008). The CYP2 family is the largest of the three, incorporating 16 full-length gene members (Lewis, 1998; Hoffman *et al.*, 2001).

In the liver, the overall level of expression of CYPs varies across different family members (**Figure 1A**). For example, CYP3A4 is the most abundantly expressed CYP, accounting for ~30% of the total CYP content. In contrast, CYP2D6 accounts for only ~5% of the total CYP content (Guengerich, 2003; Emoto *et al.*, 2006). The expression level of a CYP and its contribution to substrate metabolism may differ because of genetic variation and/or exposure to environmental factors, such as inducers (e.g., phenobarbital for CYP2B6) or inhibitors (e.g., quinidine for CYP2D6) (Lee *et al.*, 2006b; Ai *et al.*, 2009). Five members of the CYP superfamily are most actively involved in the metabolism of clinical drugs. These five CYPs include, in order from the greatest contribution to the least contribution to the biotransformation of most common clinical drugs, CYP3A4, CYP2D6, CYP2C9, CYP2C19,

and CYP1A2 (**Figure 1B**) (Guengerich, 2003; Emoto *et al.*, 2006). CYP2D6, though expressed at much lower levels than other CYPs (e.g., CYP2C9), is the second most important drug metabolizing enzyme and contributes to the metabolism of ~30% of clinically prescribed drugs (Zanger *et al.*, 2004).



Figure 1: CYP hepatic expression and contribution to drug metabolism

A) Hepatic CYP expression as a percentage of total CYP content (Rendic & Di Carlo, 1997; Emoto *et al.*, 2006). **B)** Contribution of CYPs to metabolism of clinical drugs, adapted from Guengerich (2003) by permission from the copyright holder.

1.2 CYP2D6 substrates

CYP2D6 substrates tend to be lipophilic bases with a planar aromatic ring and a nitrogen atom that can be protonated at physiological pH (de Groot *et al.*, 2009; Wang *et al.*, 2009). CYP2D6 substrates include a variety of both exogenous (**Table 1**) and endogenous compounds (discussed in **Section 2.2.B**) that can either be metabolically activated (e.g., codeine) or inactivated (e.g., desipramine) by CYP2D6 (Zanger *et al.*, 2004). The promiscuity of CYP2D6 is exemplified by its ability to metabolize neurosteroids, biogenic amines,

Clinical drugs		Recreational drugs	Toxins
<u>Analgesics/antitussives</u>	<u>Antidepressants</u>	Paramethoxyamphetamine	МРТР
Codeine	Desipramine	Amphetamine	TIQ
Dextromethorphan	Imipramine	MDMA	β-carbolines
Hydrocodone	Nortriptyline	MDME	Diuron
Norcodeine	Fluoxetine	MDEA	Antifouling biocide
Oxycodone	Paroxetine	MDA	Parathion
<u>Antipsychotics</u>	Citalopram	MPPP	Chlorpyrifos
Haloperidol	Mirtazapine	MPBP	Diazion
Risperidone	β-adrenergic blocking agent		Carbamate
Perphenazine	Bufuralol		Atrazine
Thioridazine	Metoprolol		Imidaclopride
MAO-inhibitor	Propranolol		NNK
Amiflamine	Timolol		Ortho-phenylphenol
Brofaromine	<u>Antiarrhythmics</u>		
<u>Antihypertensive</u>	Propafenone		
Debrisoquine	Sparteine		
	<u>Calcium antagonist</u>		
	Perhexiline		

Table 1: Examples of exogenous CYP2D6 substrates

MDMA, 3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamin; MDME, 4-methylenedioxyamphet- amine; MDEA 3,4-methylenedioxy-N-ethylamphetamine; MDA, methylenedioxyamphetamine; MPPP, 1-methyl-4-phenyl-4-propionoxypiperidine; MPBP, 4'-methyl-alphapyrrolidinobutyrophenone; NNK, 4-(methylnitrosamino)-1-(3-pyridyl)-1-butanone (Rendic & Di Carlo, 1997; Pritzker *et al.*, 2002; Zanger *et al.*, 2004; Peters *et al.*, 2008; Sauer *et al.*, 2009; Wang *et al.*, 2009). pesticides, neurotoxins, and a range of clinical drug classes (**Table 1**). Other therapeutic drug classes which are CYP2D6 substrates, but not listed in **Table 1**, include appetite suppressants, calcium antagonists, vasodilators, anti-diabetic drugs, anti-dementia drugs, antiestrogens, antiemetics, anti-attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder drugs, and antihistamines (Rendic, 2002; Zanger *et al.*, 2004).

The majority of the aforementioned substrates are also metabolized by other CYPs to some degree. Select substrates that primarily (\geq 80%) undergo a specific metabolic reaction catalyzed by a single CYP are called probe drugs (Frank *et al.*, 2007). The resulting parent and metabolite ratio from these reactions serves as good phenotypic markers to assess levels of CYP-specific activity. Commonly used CYP2D6 probe drugs include debrisoquine, sparteine, dextromethorphan, bufuralol, and, to a lesser extent, tramadol and metoprolol (Komura & Iwaki, 2005b; Zhou, 2009).

The β-adrenergic receptor blocking agents, metoprolol, timolol, and propranolol (all used in **Chapter 1**), are selective substrates with a high affinity for CYP2D6 (Yamamoto *et al.*, 2003). Metoprolol, a β_1 -adernergic receptor blocker, is used as a treatment for hypertension, angina pectoris, cardiac arrhythmias, and chronic heart failure (Prakash & Markham, 2000; Komura & Iwaki, 2005a). Metoprolol is α-hydroxylated almost entirely by CYP2D6 (K_m=21 μ M), but can also undergo *O*-demethylation by CYP2D6 (Madani *et al.*, 1999; Komura & Iwaki, 2005a). Propranolol, a non-selective β-adrenergic receptor blocker, is used to treat hypertension, angina pectoris, and cardiac arrhythmias (Komura & Iwaki, 2005a). Propranolol is hydroxylated largely (>60%) by CYP2D6 (K_m=3.9 μ M) to 4-hydroxypropranolol (Ward *et al.*, 1989; Komura & Iwaki, 2005b). Although, CYP1A2 (K_m=21.2 μ M) can also hydroxylate propranolol, CYP2D6 has a lower affinity and a higher substrate turnover (V_{max}) for propranolol than does CYP1A2. As a result, CYP2D6 contributes to a greater degree of 4-

hydroxypropranolol formations (Johnson *et al.*, 2000). Timolol, another non-selective β blocker, is used mainly as a topical treatment for glaucoma and ocular hypertension (Wood *et al.*, 2003). Timolol is primarily (>90%) hydroxylated by CYP2D6 (K_m= 7 μ M), but CYP2C19 also plays a minor role (<10%) in its hydroxylation (Volotinen *et al.*, 2007).

3-[2-(*N*,*N*-Diethyl-*N*-methylammonium)-ethyl]-7-methoxy-4-methylcoumarin (AMMC) is a newly designed probe substrate of CYP2D6 that is primarily used for *in vitro* high-throughput screening. This non-fluorescent compound is primarily *O*-demethylated by CYP2D6 (K_m =3 μ M) to the fluorescent metabolite 3-[2-(*N*, *N*-diethyl-*N*-methylammonium) ethyl]-7-hydroxy-4-methylcoumarin (AMHC) (Chauret *et al.*, 2001; Ghosal *et al.*, 2003). The CYP2D6 mediated *O*-demethylation of AMMC correlates strongly (r²=0.95) with the 1'hydroxylation of bufuralol, a selective CYP2D6 probe drug (Chauret *et al.*, 2001). These results indicate that, similar to the previously used CYP2D6 probe substrate bufuralol, AMMC is also a reliable probe substrate for CYP2D6 activity *in vitro*.

1.3 CYP2D6 inhibitors

There are different forms of CYP inhibitors, including competitive, non-competitive, and mechanism-based inhibitors (MBIs). CYP competitive inhibitors bind at the substratebinding site, or bind elsewhere in or near the active site to block access or limit accessibility to the heme moiety (de Groot *et al.*, 2009). Non-competitive inhibitors can bind at a site distant from the substrate-binding site; they can change the confirmation of the CYP to prevent substrate binding or prevent the binding of co-enzymes to inhibit substrate metabolism (Coleman, 2010). A MBI is a substrate of an enzyme that is metabolized to a reactive intermediate that binds irreversibly to the enzyme rendering it inactive (Bertelsen *et al.*, 2003; Van *et al.*, 2006). Blocking an enzyme's metabolic activity can occasionally result in altered drug efficacy or severe drug reactions, especially when multiple drugs that target the same CYP are co-administered.

Antidepressants such as selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (e.g., fluoxetine) are substrates of CYP2D6 as well as potent inhibitors (**Table 2**) (Crewe *et al.*, 1992; Yamamoto *et al.*, 2003; Wang *et al.*, 2009). The co-administration of these antidepressants with neuroleptics, which are also CYP2D6 substrates, can result in adverse drug effects, such as neuroleptic induced extra-pyramidal side effects (EPS) (Spina *et al.*, 2001b; Saito *et al.*, 2005). The anti-arrhythmic drug quinidine is not a substrate of CYP2D6, but is able to selectively and potently inhibit CYP2D6 (Brosen *et al.*, 1987; Bertelsen *et al.*, 2003). The co-use of quinidine with antidepressants has been reported to increase adverse drug reaction (e.g., toxic delirium) and the co-use of quinidine with codeine has been reported to reduce codeine's analgesic response (Kathiramalainathan *et al.*, 2000; Trujillo & Nolan, 2000; Boyd, 2005; Ables & Nagubilli, 2010). Because of quinidines' selectivity and potent inhibition of CYP2D6, it is commonly used to identify the involvement of CYP2D6 in a metabolic pathway both *in vivo* and *in vitro* (Brosen *et al.*, 1987; Bertelsen *et al.*, 2003; McLaughlin *et al.*, 2005; Segura *et al.*, 2005).

Competitive Inhibitor	~K _i	References	Mechanism Based Inhibitor	~K _i	References
Citalopram	5.1 µM	(Crewe <i>et al.</i> , 1992)	Cimetidine	77 μΜ	(Madeira et al., 2004)
Cocaine	1.1 µM	(Shen et al., 2007)	Desethylamiodarone	4.5 μΜ	(Ohyama et al., 2000)
Desipramine	1.7 µM	(Ball et al., 1997)	MDMA	2 μΜ	(Van et al., 2006)
Fluoxetine	1.6 µM	(Ball et al., 1997)	Metoclopramide	4.7 μΜ	(Desta et al., 2002)
Fluvoxamine	8 μΜ	(Ball et al., 1997)	Paroxetine	4.9 µM	(Bertelsen et al., 2003)
Haloperidol	7.2 µM	(Shin et al., 1999)	Pimozide	0.8 µM	(Desta et al., 1998)
Imipramine	29 µM	(Shin et al., 1999)	Propranolol	1 µM	(Rowland et al., 1994)
Methadone	3 μΜ	(Shin et al., 2002)			
Metoprolol	21 µM §	(Komura & Iwaki, 2005a)			
Mirtazapine	41 μΜ	(Owen & Nemeroff, 1998)			
Propafenone	4 µM*	(McGinnity et al., 2008)			
Quinidine	0.4 µM	(Brosen et al., 1987)			
Thioridazine	1.4 µM	(Shin et al., 2002)			
Timolol	$7 \mu M^{\$}$	(Volotinen <i>et al.</i> , 2007)			

Table 2: Examples of CYP2D6 inhibitors

The K_i values were obtained from human liver microsomes, human hepatocytes, or cDNA expressed CYP2D6 using the probe drugs dextromethorphan or debrisoquine. * the indicated value is the IC50, § the indicated value is the K_m for the substrate metabolism by CYP2D6, as their K_i values for CYP2D6 are currently undetermined.

1.4 CYP2D6 regulation

The regulation of CYP protein levels can occur at multiple stages, including transcription, translation, and post-translation (Aguiar *et al.*, 2005). Unlike most CYPs that are influenced by environmental factors, hepatic CYP2D6 displays constitutive expression during adulthood (Transon *et al.*, 1996; Stevens *et al.*, 2008). Though the regulation of hepatic CYP2D6 may be distinct from other CYPs, the CYP2D6 promoter region does have binding sites for both positively and negatively acting transcription factors (Yokomori *et al.*, 1995; Mizuno *et al.*, 2003b; Sakai *et al.*, 2009). Transcriptional regulation of hepatic CYP2D6 is largely controlled by the hepatocyte nuclear factor- 4α (HNF- 4α) transcription factor (Cairns *et al.*, 1996; Jover *et al.*, 1998; Corchero *et al.*, 2001). In the hepatic HepG2 cell line, transcription factors such as chicken ovalbumin upstream promoter transcription factor I (COUP-TFI) and nitric oxide (NO) were found to regulate CYP2D6 expression (Jover *et al.*, 1998; Hara & Adachi, 2002).

CYP2D levels are also affected by physiological changes. Interleukin-2 (released during inflammation) can induce hepatic CYP2D transcriptionally in rats (Kurokohchi *et al.*, 1992). During human pregnancy, there is a notable increase in CYP2D6 probe drug metabolism; however, the evidence of hepatic CYP2D6 protein induction during this period is unknown (Wadelius *et al.*, 1997). During human development, hepatic CYP2D6 protein expression and activity are very low in prenatal stages and do not correlate with *CYP2D6* genotype (Treluyer *et al.*, 1991; Stevens *et al.*, 2008). In the third trimester, CYP2D6 levels begin to increase to approximate 3 to 5% of CYP2D6 levels observed in an adult liver (Jacqz-Aigrain *et al.*, 1993). A dramatic increase occurs after birth until one year of age, independent of gestational age; this suggests that birth is a trigger for the increase in hepatic CYP2D6 expression (Treluyer *et al.*, 1991). There is no further change reported in hepatic CYP2D6

10

protein levels between the second year and adulthood (Transon *et al.*, 1996; Stevens *et al.*, 2008).

In contrast to other hepatic CYPs, CYP2D6 is relatively unaltered by common CYP inducers such as phenobarbital (Rae *et al.*, 2001; Edwards *et al.*, 2003). Although hepatic CYP2D6 is relatively uninducible and levels remain unaltered throughout most of adulthood, there is still remarkable variation in its expression and function. This variation is largely attributed to genetic variation.

1.5 CYP2D6 genetic variation

The *CYP2D* gene cluster (**Figure 2**) is located on chromosome 22q13.1 with one functional gene (*CYP2D6*) and two pseudogenes (*CYP2D7P* and *CYP2D8P*) (Gonzalez *et al.*, 1988). The *CYP2D6* gene encompasses 9 exons and 8 introns with an open reading frame of 1383 base pairs coding for a 497 amino acid protein (Kimura *et al.*, 1989).



Figure 2: CYP2D gene cluster on chromosome 22q.13.1

То date, 80 allelic variants CYP2D6 identified over in have been (http://www.cypalleles.ki.se/cyp2d6.htm). The resulting allelic variants include full gene deletions, frameshifts, insertions, synonymous and non-synonymous changes, and copy number variants (resulting in up to 13 copies of CYP2D6) (Gaedigk et al., 2008). These variant alleles can be categorized as null, reduced, normal, or increased function alleles (Table 3). This genetic variability contributes substantially to the interethnic and interindividual variability observed in CYP2D6 activity (e.g., as measured by dextromethorphan O-demethylation). The four main phenotypic categories are ultra-metabolizer (UM), extensive-metabolizer (EM), intermediatemetabolizer (IM), and poor-metabolizer (PM) (Gaedigk et al., 2008). Individuals have traditionally been grouped into these four categories by CYP2D6 genotype to predict CYP2D6 phenotype; however, considerable overlap in CYP2D6 phenotype (i.e., between EM and IM) remains among different genetic groups (Zanger et al., 2004; Gaedigk et al., 2008). This overlap is likely due to environmental factors or uncharacterized and/or unidentified genetic variability. In an attempt to better predict the CYP2D6 phenotype from the CYP2D6 genotype, Gaedigk et al. (2008) proposed assigning an activity score to each allele. A functional score is given to each allele of 0 (null), 0.5 (reduced), 1 (normal), or 2 (increased), and the sum of both allele scores results in a predictive genotype based phenotype activity score (Gaedigk & Coetsee, 2008; Gaedigk et al., 2008). Table 3 lists functional and non-functional CYP2D6 alleles in the four categories, along with the activity score, the change in CYP2D6 expression or function, and the allele frequency in Caucasians, Asians, and those of African descent.

Activity	Allele	Change	Caucasians	Africans	Asians
Null (AS=0)	*3	Frameshift, truncated protein (2549delA)	1-3.9%	0-0.6%	0.8-1%
	*4	Splice defect, truncated protein (1846G>A)	12-23%	1.2-9.1%	0-2.8%
	*5	Gene deletion	1.6-7.3%	0.6-6.9%	4.5-10%
	*6	Frameshift (1707delT)	0.7-1.3%	0	-
Reduced (AS=0.5)	*9	Lys deletion in exon 5, lower expression (2615_2617delAAG)	0-2.9%	0.69%	3.3%
	*10	Protein stability (100C>T)	1.9-8%	3.1-8.6%	38-70%
	*17	Decreased activity (1023C>T, 2850 C>T)	0.1-0.3%	10-34%	0.5%
	*29	(2850C>T, 3183G>A, 4180G>C)	<0.1%	7-20%	-
	*41	Splice defect, lower expression (2988G>A)	8-17%	15%	1.9-2.2%
Functional (AS=1)	*1	Wild-type	33-76%	28-87%	21-42%
	*2	(2850C>T, 4180G>C)	15-34%	11-78%	8-26%
Multiplication (AS≥2)	*1xN	Increased protein expression	0.2-0.5%	3.3-22%	0.5%
	*2xN	Increased protein expression	0.7-6.9%	1.6-54%	0-1%
	*4xN	Truncated non-functional protein	0.1-0.2%	0.9-3%	-

 Table 3: Common CYP2D6 alleles and their frequencies in different ethnic populations

AS, activity score (Zanger et al., 2004; Gaedigk et al., 2008).

1.5.A CYP2D pseudogenes

The pseudogene *CYP2D8P* is upstream to both *CYP2D7P* and *CYP2D6* (Figure 2). It contains multiple gene-disrupting insertions, deletions, and termination codons within its exons and does not transcribe into a functional CYP2D protein (Kimura *et al.*, 1989). *CYP2D7P* on the other hand, is identical in sequence to *CYP2D6* except for a T insertion in exon 1 (position 137) that causes a frameshift that disrupts the open reading frame (Zanger *et al.*, 2004). CYP2D7 mRNA has been isolated from the liver, and is expressed at similar levels to CYP2D6 mRNA (Endrizzi *et al.*, 2002). *CYP2D7* has the potential to encode a protein upon deletion of a single nucleotide that would restore the open reading frame. In an Asian Indian cohort, a 138deIT was found in 6 out of 12 samples, and this deletion variant produced a functional CYP2D7 protein in expression studies (Pai *et al.*, 2004). However, other groups were unable to replicate these findings suggesting that it was unlikely that *CYP2D7* could generate a full-length functional protein (Gaedigk *et al.*, 2005b; Bhathena *et al.*, 2007; Zhang *et al.*, 2009).

1.5.B Interethnic variability CYP2D6

CYP2D6 polymorphisms resulting in null (i.e., PMs), reduced (i.e., IMs), or increased (i.e., UMs) activity vary greatly in frequency between different ethnicities (**Table 3**). This genetic variation can result in decreased or increased CYP2D6 enzymatic activity that can then affect an individual's response to ~30% of clinically prescribed drugs which are substrates of CYP2D6, and/or susceptibility to toxin-induced damage. Caucasians have the highest prevalence of PMs (5-10%) (Zanger *et al.*, 2004). This phenotype is primarily (70-90%) attributed to the *CYP2D6*4* allele because of the high frequency (20-25%) of this allele in this population (Zanger *et al.*, 2004; Neafsey *et al.*, 2009; Abraham *et al.*, 2010). The *CYP2D6*17* reduced-function allele occurs at the highest frequency (20-34%) in individuals of African

descent and this allele results in markedly lower CYP2D6 activity than wild-type (Gaedigk *et al.*, 2005a). In Asians, the most prevalent (37-70%) variant is the reduced-function allele *CYP2D6*10* and results in lower CYP2D6 activity than wild-type *CYP2D6* (Garcia-Barcelo *et al.*, 2000; Neafsey *et al.*, 2009). In contrast to null- or low-activity alleles, CYP2D6 copy number variants (e.g., gene duplications) resulting in a UM phenotype, occur at the highest frequency in North African (28-56%) and Middle Eastern (3-10%) populations. Ethiopians, Saudi Arabians, and Spaniards have the highest prevalence of the CYP2D6 UM phenotype representing ~29%, ~20% and ~10% of the total population, respectively (Agundez *et al.*, 1995; Dahl *et al.*, 1995; Aklillu *et al.*, 1996; McLellan *et al.*, 1997; Sachse *et al.*, 1997).

These ethnic differences in CYP2D6 may render some populations more likely to develop adverse drug reactions or altered drug effects at conventional doses (De Gregori *et al.*, 2010). For example, *CYP2D6* PMs on the neuroleptics haloperidol or risperidone show increased side effects, while CYP2D6 UMs taking the antidepressant imipramine show reduced drug effects (de Leon *et al.*, 2005; Ingelman-Sundberg *et al.*, 2007; Schenk *et al.*, 2008). These results can also be observed in UM, EM, or IM individuals who are co-treated with multiple substrates and/or inhibitors of CYP2D6 that consequently reduce, via inhibition, an individual's phenotype to PM (Coleman, 2010).

1.5.C CYP2D6 genetic associations to health risk

In addition to the *CYP2D6* genotype contributing to clinical drug outcomes, *CYP2D6* is also associated with some diseases and disorders. The *CYP2D6* genotype has been associated with cancer, epilepsy, suicide, the Lewy body variant of Alzheimer's disease, and PD (Borlak *et al.*, 1994; Cacabelos, 2008; Neafsey *et al.*, 2009; Ahlner *et al.*). There have been conflicting studies addressing the association of *CYP2D6* PMs and the risk for PD; however, a number of studies do find that *CYP2D6* PMs are overrepresented in PD cases (McCann *et al.*, 1997;

Coutts & Urichuk, 1999; Singh *et al.*, 2010). *CYP2D6* PMs are also at increased risk for neuroleptic-induced EPS (Fleeman *et al.*, 2010). As CYP2D6 can metabolize many neuroleptics, EPS in PMs likely results from the reduced ability of an individual to metabolize and clear the neuroleptics that induce EPS.

CYP2D6 can metabolize a number of neurotransmitters (discussed in Section 2.2.B), including dopamine (DA) and serotonin. It is therefore proposed that the *CYP2D6* genotype may also influence specific personality phenotypes (Hiroi *et al.*, 1998; Yu *et al.*, 2003b; Kirchheiner *et al.*, 2006; Penas *et al.*, 2009). Although the evidence is not entirely consistent, *CYP2D6* PMs more often present as being more anxious, more shy, less competitive, and more likely to avoid harm than EMs (Gan *et al.*, 2004; Roberts *et al.*, 2004; Gonzalez *et al.*, 2008).

1.6 CYP2D expression in different species

1.6.A CYP2D in rodents

CYP2D has been identified in a number of species including rat, mouse, and monkey (**Table 4**). Humans have one functional isoenzyme of CYP2D (i.e., CYP2D6), while rats have six different isoenzymes of CYP2D that display variation in substrate specificity, metabolism, and inhibition profiles (Strobl *et al.*, 1993; Hiroi *et al.*, 2002). An example of differences in inhibition between human and rat is the reduced potency of the selective inhibitor of human CYP2D6 quinidine to inhibit rat CYP2D whereas its stereoisomer, quinine, is highly selective and potent at CYP2D inhibition in rats (Tyndale *et al.*, 1999; Bertelsen *et al.*, 2003; Ai *et al.*, 2009). Each rat isoenzyme is differentially expressed in tissues with CYP2D1 and CYP2D2 being the most abundant isoforms in the liver (Wyss *et al.*, 1995; Haduch *et al.*, 2010). Notably, there are also differences in CYP2D expression between rat strains. For example, male Dark Agouti rats express much lower hepatic CYP2D2 than male Sprague Dawley rats. The difference in CYP2D expression is also sex specific. For example, while male Dark

Agouti rats express CYP2D2 in the liver, female Dark Agouti rats do not (Riedl *et al.*, 1999; Schulz-Utermoehl *et al.*, 1999). Female Dark Agouti rats are considered models for human CYP2D6 PMs because of their reduced ability to conduct CYP2D6-specific metabolism of substrates (e.g., debrisoquine, metoprolol, bufuralol) (Barham *et al.*, 1994; Schulz-Utermoehl *et al.*, 1999; Coleman *et al.*, 2000b).

	Species	Isoenzyme	Identity	References
Primate	Human	CYP2D6	100%	(Igarashi et al.,
	Cynomolgus	CYP2D17 CYP2D44	93% 91%	1997; Mankowski <i>et al.</i> , 1999; Hichiva <i>et al.</i> .
	Japanese	CYP2D29	96%	2004; Uno et al.,
	Marmoset	CYP2D19 CYP2D30	91% 95%	2010; Uno <i>et al.</i> , 2011)
	Rhesus	CYP2D42	91%	
Rodent	Rat	CYP2D1 CYP2D2 CYP2D3 CYP2D4 CYP2D5 CYP2D18	71% 71% 72% 77% 71% 77%	(Funae <i>et al.</i> , 2003; Yu & Haining, 2006; McLaughlin <i>et al.</i> , 2008)
	Mouse	Cyp2d9 Cyp2d10 Cyp2d11 Cyp2d12 Cyp2d13 Cyp2d22 Cyp2d24 Cyp2d24 Cyp2d26	69% 69% 67% 68% 65% 77% 69% 65%	

Table 4: CYP2D isoenzyme amino acid identity to human CYP2D6

CYP2D isoenzymes in different species with % amino acid sequence identity compared to human CYP2D6.

Mice have nine different isoenzymes of *Cyp2d*, and Cyp2d22 is the most similar mouse Cyp2d isoenzyme to CYP2D6 (**Table 4**). However, Cyp2d22 does not share the same substrate specificity as CYP2D6 (Blume *et al.*, 2000; Yu & Haining, 2006). Purified Cyp2d22, and other mouse Cyp2ds, demonstrate impaired debrisoquine 4-hydroxylation and dextromethorphan *O*- demethylation activity (Lofgren *et al.*, 2004; Yu *et al.*, 2004; Yu & Haining, 2006; McLaughlin *et al.*, 2008; Shen & Yu, 2009). As mice show little to no CYP2D6-like activity, a *CYP2D6* transgenic (*Tg*-CYP2D6) mouse line was created to better model human drug metabolism and drug interactions (Corchero *et al.*, 2001). These *Tg*-CYP2D6 mice provide a model that avoids the issues of species-, sex-, and isoenzyme-differences that have been observed in both CYP2D expression and activity in rats (Corchero *et al.*, 2001; Felmlee *et al.*, 2008; Shen & Yu, 2009). The *Tg*-CYP2D6 mice express their Cyp2d isoenzymes and human CYP2D6 in the liver, intestine, and kidney (Miksys *et al.*, 2005). *Tg*-CYP2D6 mice are able to 4-hydroxylate debrisoquine and *O*-demethylate dextromethorphan, pinoline, and 5-methoxy-*N*, *N*-dimethyltryptamine in contrast to wild-type mice that undergo these reactions at much lower levels (Yu *et al.*, 2003c; Yu & Haining, 2006).

1.6.B CYP2D in non-human primates

From a physiological perspective, monkeys are more similar to humans than are rodents. For example, there is a higher CYP amino acid sequence identity between monkeys and humans than between rodents and humans (**Table 4**) (Hichiya *et al.*, 2004; Iwasaki & Uno, 2009; Uno *et al.*, 2010). Monkey CYP2D can also metabolize CYP2D6 probe drugs efficiently in a similar manner to human CYP2D6 (i.e., bufuralol 1'-hydroxylation and dextromethorphan *O*-demethylation), and this metabolism can be inhibited by the selective CYP2D6 inhibitor quinidine (Hichiya *et al.*, 2004; Uno *et al.*, 2010). These similarities between monkeys and humans substantiate the use of monkeys as models of human drug metabolism.

2. Brain Cytochromes P450

2.1 Brain CYP expression

Cohn and colleagues reported the discovery of CYP expression in the brain in 1977 (Cohn *et al.*, 1977). To date, 41 of the 57 human CYP transcripts have been identified in the brain (Dauchy *et al.*, 2008; Dutheil *et al.*, 2009). However, only a small number of drug metabolizing enzymes (i.e., CYP1A, CYP1B, CYP2B, CYP2C, CYP2D, CYP2E, and CYP3A families) have been extensively studied in the brain at the transcript, protein, and/or activity level (Haining, 2007; Dauchy *et al.*, 2008; Dutheil *et al.*, 2009). CYP expression in the brain has been observed at the plasma membrane, endoplasmic reticulum, and mitochondria (Miksys *et al.*, 2000b; Howard *et al.*, 2003; Miksys *et al.*, 2003; Haining, 2007; Woodland *et al.*, 2008; Dutheil *et al.*, 2009). While this is unusual compared to liver, CYPs have also been identified in other tissues (i.e., lung, skin) in the cytoplasmic (CYP1A1) and the nuclear (CYP2E1) membrane, and they might have similar organelle expressions in the brain (Meyer *et al.*, 2002; Aguiar *et al.*, 2005; Meyer *et al.*, 2005; Seliskar & Rozman, 2007).

Brain CYPs display a great degree of variability in their regional and cellular expression (Dutheil *et al.*, 2009). Early reports suggested that brain CYP content is 1-5% of that found in the liver (Hedlund *et al.*, 1996; Gervasini *et al.*, 2004). However, because the brain is not a homogenous tissue and CYP expression varies across regions, this percentage range is unlikely to be true across all brain regions and for all CYPs. Within brain regions, CYPs display cell specific expression in pyramidal, Purkinje, granular, neuronal, astrocytic, and glial cells (Miksys *et al.*, 2000a; Howard *et al.*, 2003; Miksys *et al.*, 2003; Dutheil *et al.*, 2008). Although the overall CYP content is lower in the brain cellular expression of CYPs (e.g., CYP2B in pyramidal neurons) can be equal to, or even higher than, levels found in hepatocytes (Miksys *et al.*, 2000a). This highly localized CYP expression is believed to create

microenvironments in the brain that likely contribute to localized drug metabolism (Britto & Wedlund, 1992; Miksys & Tyndale, 2009).

Another part of the brain that expresses CYPs is the blood brain barrier (BBB). The BBB is a neurovascular unit made up of endothelial cells with tight junctions, pericytes, and astrocytes (Alam *et al.*, 2010). The BBB is the first line of defence against physical and chemical intrusion, and protects the brain from harmful chemicals in the blood (Miller, 2010). The predominant CYP mRNA transcripts identified at the BBB of humans are CYP1B1 and CYP2U1, and, at lower levels of expression, CYP2E1 and CYP2D6 (Dauchy *et al.*, 2008). CYP2B6 expression has been observed at the BBB of rodents and in human astrocytes (including in their end-feet, which sheath the endothelial cells of the BBB) (Miksys *et al.*, 2000a; Miksys *et al.*, 2003). Recently, the expression of CYP3A protein was reported in endothelial cells in the human brain (Ghosh *et al.*, 2010; Ghosh *et al.*, 2011). The localization of CYPs at the BBB makes them ideally situated to protect the brain against drugs and environmental toxins.

2.1.A Brain CYP activity

The functional importance of CYPs in the brain may be to protect against toxicity from exogenous substrates (e.g., drugs, toxins) and/or to metabolize endogenous neurochemicals (e.g., neurosteroids, biogenic amines) (Haining, 2007). Select CYPs can metabolize arachidonic acid, pregnenolone, estradiol, androstenedione, testosterone, 5-hydroxytryptamine, and melatonin (Rifkind *et al.*, 1995; Doostzadeh & Morfin, 1997; Rosenbrock *et al.*, 1999; Ohe *et al.*, 2000; Wang *et al.*, 2000; Fradette *et al.*, 2004; Ma *et al.*, 2005). Brain CYPs are enzymatically active *in vitro* and, of those assessed, have similar substrate affinities to their respective hepatic CYP isoforms (Bhamre *et al.*, 1993; Ghersi-Egea *et al.*, 1993; Tyndale *et al.*, 1999; Bhagwat *et al.*, 2000; Voirol *et al.*, 2000).

Brain CYPs are likely active *in situ*, as expression of the important co-enzyme CYPreductase has been detected in the brain (Haglund *et al.*, 1984; Ghersi-Egea *et al.*, 1989; Bergh & Strobel, 1996; Riedl *et al.*, 1996; Conroy *et al.*, 2010). Our work on rats involving intracerebral delivery of a CYP2B radiolabeled MBI (³H-8-methoxypsoralen) demonstrated that constitutively expressed and nicotine induced, CYP2B is active *in situ* (Miksys & Tyndale, 2009). By inhibiting brain but not hepatic CYP2B with the MBIs C8-xanthate and 8methoxypsoralen, we have shown significant changes in the drug response of propofol (which is inactivated by CYP2B) wherein propofol-induced sleep time was increased (Kokhar & Tyndale, 2010). Although brain metabolism may not greatly influence overall xenobiotic clearance, these results indicate differences in brain CYP levels can influence localized drug metabolism and thereby drug response.

2.1.B Brain CYP regulation

CYPs in the brain display CYP-, organ-, region-, cell type-, and inducer-specific modes of induction (Miksys & Tyndale, 2002; Miksys & Tyndale, 2004). *In vivo*, nicotine and ethanol can induce brain CYPs, and these CYPs can display organ-specific and CYP-specific induction patterns. In monkeys, for example, nicotine induces CYP2B in the brain but not in the liver and CYP2E1 in both the liver and the brain (Miksys *et al.*, 2000a; Joshi & Tyndale, 2006a; Lee *et al.*, 2006a). In rats, ethanol induces CYP2E1 in the brain and the liver, but CYP2B in the liver and not in the brain (Warner & Gustafsson, 1994; Howard *et al.*, 2003; Schoedel & Tyndale, 2003). In human studies, both cigarette smoking and alcohol use are associated with altered human brain CYP expression. Cigarette smokers have higher levels of CYP2B6 and CYP2E1 in select brain regions (e.g., striatum) than non-smokers, and alcoholics have higher levels of brain CYP2B6 and CYP2E1 in select brain regions than do non-alcoholics (Howard *et al.*, 2003; Miksys *et al.*, 2003).

2.2 Brain CYP2D6

2.2.A CYP2D6 CNS expression

The expression of CYP2D in the brain has been identified in rat, mouse, dog, monkey, and human (Fonne-Pfister *et al.*, 1987; Niznik *et al.*, 1990; Tyndale *et al.*, 1991; Tyndale *et al.*, 1999; Siegle *et al.*, 2001; Miksys *et al.*, 2005). Of the 6 rat CYP2D isoenzymes, CYP2D4 is predominantly expressed in the brain and CYP2D18 is thought to be exclusively expressed in the brain (Coleman *et al.*, 2000b). In the mouse, only Cyp2d22, the structural ortholog of CYP2D6, has been detected in the brain (Singh *et al.*, 2009). Of the 24 CYP transcripts that have been identified in the brain, CYP2D6 is one of the more prominent drug metabolizing CYPs that is expressed in most human brain regions (Dutheil *et al.*, 2009). CYP2D6 is expressed in the human neocortex, caudate, putamen, globus pallidus, nucleus accumbens, hippocampus, hypothalamus, thalamus, substantia nigra (SN), cerebellum, and medulla oblongata (Gilham *et al.*, 1997; McFayden *et al.*, 1998; Siegle *et al.*, 2001; Miksys *et al.*, 2002). CYP2D6 protein expression is highest in the caudate, putamen, cortex, and cerebellum, and lowest in the hippocampus and globus pallidus (Miksys *et al.*, 2002).

Notably, CYP2D6 protein expression is also cell type-specific. For example, intense immunoreactivity of CYP2D6 is found in pigmented neurons of the SN, pyramidal cells of the hippocampus and frontal cortex, and Purkinje cells of the cerebellum, glial cells, astrocytes, and endothelial cells at the BBB (Gilham *et al.*, 1997; Siegle *et al.*, 2001; Miksys *et al.*, 2002; Dauchy *et al.*, 2009; Dutheil *et al.*, 2010). This corresponds with rat brain CYP2D which is expressed in the same cell types including the pigmented neurons of the SN, and rat CYP2D has been demonstrated to co-localize with tyrosine hydroxylase a marker for dopaminergic neuronal cells (Michels & Marzuk, 1993a; b; Watts *et al.*, 1998; Riedl *et al.*, 1999). The expression of CYP2D in dopaminergic neurons is further supported by the decrease in CYP2D

detection upon lesioning of the nigrostriatal tract with the dopaminergic neurotoxin 6hydroxydopamine (6-OHDA) (Watts *et al.*, 1998). This expression is important, as dopaminergic neurons are lost during PD, indicating that CYP2D is ideally situated to inactivate neurotoxin-substrates that may elicit dopamine-cell specific damage.

2.2.B CYP2D6 CNS function

CYP2D activity in brain membranes has been measured using 1'-hydroxylation of bufuralol, *O*-demethylation of codeine to morphine, and *O*-demethylation of dextromethorphan in rats and sparteine metabolism in dogs (Chen *et al.*, 1990; Tyndale *et al.*, 1991; Lin *et al.*, 1992; Jolivalt *et al.*, 1995; Coleman *et al.*, 2000b; Voirol *et al.*, 2000). Brain CYP2D substrate affinities (K_m) are similar to those observed with hepatic CYP2D; however, the substrate turnover (V_{max}) is much lower as a result of lower CYP expression (Tyndale *et al.*, 1991; Coleman *et al.*, 2000b). Rat CYP2D in different brain regions can metabolize dextromethorphan to varying degrees (Tyndale *et al.*, 1999). The rat cerebellum demonstrated the highest CYP2D protein expression and greatest dextromethorphan metabolism. Notably, CYP2D activity between brain regions correlates with both CYP2D mRNA and protein expression (Tyndale *et al.*, 1999).

Chen et al., (1990) demonstrated that rat whole brain microsomes and microvessels were able to metabolize codeine to morphine, a CYP2D mediated pathway. Thirty minutes after administering codeine (20 mg/kg, i.p.) they observed significantly more codeine in the brain compared to the plasma. Further, 30 minutes after the administration of codeine (i.p.) they observed significantly higher levels of morphine in the brain than the plasma, compared to the delivery of 1 mg/kg morphine (i.p.); a dose that resulted in equivalent plasma levels of morphine to 30 minutes after 20 mg/kg (i.p.) of codeine administration. As codeine is metabolized to morphine primarily by CYP2D6, the higher brain morphine levels in the first 30

minutes after codeine administration were attributed to the localized activation of codeine by brain CYP2D (Chen *et al.*, 1990). Additionally, measuring MPTP metabolites in rat brain post-MPTP brain infusions showed localized inactivation of MPTP to PTP in the striatum, a metabolite largely produced by CYP2D (Vaglini *et al.*, 2004). Together, these studies support *in situ* CYP2D metabolism in the brain.

The relevance of CYP2D6 expression in the brain is multifaceted. Not only does CYP2D6 1) metabolize a large number of CNS-acting drugs and 2) inactivate neurotoxins, it can also 3) metabolize endogenous CNS compounds (**Table 5**), such as biogenic amines and neurosteroids (Hiroi *et al.*, 2001; Yu *et al.*, 2003c). For example, cDNA expressed CYP2D6 and Tg-CYP2D6 mice can *O*-demethylate 5-methoxytryptamine to serotonin (Yu *et al.*, 2003c). CYP2D6 expressed in yeast cells can also generate DA from *p*-tyramine and *m*-tyramine (Hiroi *et al.*, 2001). Furthermore, rat brain membranes isolated from different brain regions can variably metabolize *p*- and *m*-tyramine to DA, with the highest DA formation observed in the SN and cerebellum (Bromek *et al.*, 2010). The fact that CYP2D6 can metabolize DA and other biogenic amines (See **Table 5**), supports the premise that variation in brain CYP2D6 may affect neurobehaviour (discussed in **Section 1.5.C**) (Hiroi *et al.*, 2001; Yu *et al.*, 2003c). Overall, these findings suggest an important functional role for brain CYP2D6.

Amines/Neurotransmitters		Steroids [§]	
Substrate	Product	Substrate	Reaction
<i>p/m</i> -Tyramine	Dopamine	Estradiol	2-Hydroxylation
5-Methoxytryptamine	5-Hydoxytryptamine	Progesterone	6β-, 16α-, 2β- or 21- Hydroxylation
Octopamine	Norepinephrine	Allopregnanolone	21-Hydroxylation
Synephrine	Epinephrine	Testosterone 2β -, 6β - or 17- Hydroxylation	
5-Methoxy- <i>N-N</i> -dimethyltryptamine	Bufotenine	Estrone 2-Hydroxylatio	
4-Methoxyphenethylamine	Tyramine		
3-Methoxyphenethylamine	3-Hydroxyphenethylamine	e Fatty acid /Amide [§]	
Pinoline	6-Hydroxytetrahydro-β- carboline	Substrate	Reaction
Harmaline	Harmalol	Arachidonic acid*	w-Hydroxylation
Harmine	Harmol	Anandamide	w-, w-1, w-2 or w-3 Hydroxylation
Harman	6-Hydroxy-harman		
Norharman	6-Hydroxy-norharman		

Table 5: Examples of endogenous CNS substrates of CYP2D

*The metabolism of arachidonic acid was only observed with cDNA expressed CYP2D18 and has not been observed with human liver microsomes or cDNA expressed CYP2D6 (Rifkind *et al.*, 1995; Thompson *et al.*, 2000; Snider *et al.*). References for amine metabolism are (Hiroi *et al.*, 1998; Thompson *et al.*, 2000; Miller *et al.*, 2001; Yu *et al.*, 2003a; Yu *et al.*, 2003c; Yu *et al.*, 2003d; Herraiz *et al.*, 2008; Snider *et al.*, 2008; Jiang *et al.*, 2009; Shen *et al.*, 2011). [§]CYP2D6 can catalyze hydroxylation at multiple positions on steroids and anandamide; hence the specific reactions are listed as opposed to metabolites (Hiroi *et al.*, 2001; Lee *et al.*, 2003; Kishimoto *et al.*, 2004; Niwa *et al.*, 2008). For a good review, see Wang et al., (2009).

2.2.C Brain CYP2D6 regulation

Unlike CYP2D6 in the liver, which is relatively uninducible, brain CYP2D can be induced by multiple CNS-acting drugs in a drug-specific and brain region-specific manner (Rae *et al.*, 2001; Edwards *et al.*, 2003). For example, the neuroleptic drug clozapine (1 mg/kg, gavage, 3 weeks) increased cellular staining for rat brain CYP2D in neurons of the SN, the ventral tegmental area, the granular neurons of the olfactory bulb, and in the Purkinje and granular neurons of the cerebellum (Hedlund *et al.*, 1996). There was no notable change in CYP2D mRNA suggesting the induction of brain CYP2D likely occurred through post-transcriptional changes. Additionally, no change in CYP2D was observed in the liver. Fluoxetine (5 mg/kg, i.p., 2 weeks, b.i.d.) increased CYP2D protein by ~1.5-fold and CYP2D activity by ~1.3-fold in rat cerebellum (Haduch *et al.*, 2010). Similarly, thioridazine (10 mg/kg, i.p., 2 weeks, b.i.d.) increased CYP2D activity in both regions (Haduch *et al.*, 2010). Treatment with toluene (1 mg/kg, i.p., 3 days) increased mRNA, protein, and the activity of CYP2D4 in rat brain (Mizuno *et al.*, 2003a).

Chronic treatment with nicotine (1 mg/kg for 7 days) induced rat brain CYP2D in a region-specific and a cell-specific manner without changing the levels of CYP2D in the liver (Yue *et al.*, 2008). The induction was observed in the cerebellum, hippocampus, and striatum. CYP2D induction persisted for up to 8 hours post-injection, returning to baseline by 12 hours. Using slot blot, no change in CYP2D mRNA was detected in the brain suggesting that induction is post-transcriptional (Yue *et al.*, 2008).
We have found that human alcoholics have higher brain CYP2D6 levels compared to non-alcoholics (Miksys *et al.*, 2002). In a rat study, a single dose of ethanol (200 μ L, i.p.) induced CYP2D in rat brain (Warner & Gustafsson, 1994).

Endogenous compounds such as steroids can also regulate CYP2D. Sex steroids, such as estrogen and testosterone, can alter CYP2D mRNA in select brain regions of ovariectomized rats (Bergh & Strobel, 1996). Notably, treatment with a combination of testosterone and estrogen suppressed brain CYP2D induction when compared to testosterone alone. This suggests that estrogen may have repressive effects on CYP2D levels in the brain.

Overall, the ability of compounds to induce brain CYP2D6 not only adds another level of variability in substrate metabolism, but also suggests the possibility of altered susceptibility to drug toxicity, therapeutic response to drugs, drug abuse, neurotoxicity, and/or neurological disorders such as PD.

3. Parkinson's Disease

PD is a progressive neurodegenerative disorder that presents with asymmetrical symptoms as a result of severe damage to the SN. This damage eventually progresses and affects both sides of the brain (Factor & Weiner, 2008). Cardinal symptoms are resting tremors, rigidity, bradykinesia, postural instability, and gait disturbance; any two must be observed to diagnose PD (Factor & Weiner, 2008). There are also a number of non-motor symptoms that occur in both early and late stages of PD, including dementia, depression, visual hallucinations, autonomic dysfunction, anxiety, impulsivity, and apathy (Buck *et al.*, 2010). A number of pre-motor symptoms are currently being studied as risk factors for PD, including olfactory dysfunction, sleep abnormalities, constipation, depression, and alteration in pain (Obeso *et al.*, 2010).

PD is the second most prevalent neurodegenerative disease, affecting 1–2% of individuals older than 60 years of age (Dawson *et al.*, 2010). On average, PD is diagnosed between 60 and 65 years of age (late-onset PD); however, PD cases as young as 25 years of age (early-onset PD) have also been reported (Lees, 2010). The disease is more common in males than females with a relative risk of 1.5 in males (**Figure 3**) (Taylor *et al.*, 2007; Muangpaisan *et al.*, 2009). The incidence for PD increases with age and ranges from 1.5 to 20 per 100,000 people per year across world regions (Twelves *et al.*, 2003; Muangpaisan *et al.*, 2009). Some current studies report little to no change in incidence over the past twenty years (Muangpaisan *et al.*, 2009; Lix *et al.*, 2010). The prevalence of PD varies across the globe (**Figure 4**); the crude prevalence by location ranges from 27 per 100,000 people in Saudi Arabia to 439 per 100,000 in Australia (al Rajeh *et al.*, 1993; Chan *et al.*, 2005).



Figure 3: Prevalence and incidence rates of Parkinson's disease (Canada) This figure is adapted from Lix et al., (2010) by permission from the copyright holder.



Figure 4: Crude prevalence of Parkinson's disease across different world populations The prevalence of PD in different populations were graphed from the following references: Africa (Okubadejo *et al.*, 2006); Middle East (al Rajeh *et al.*, 1993; Masalha *et al.*); Asia, Australia, and South America (Muangpaisan *et al.*, 2009); Europe (von Campenhausen *et al.*, 2005); and North America (Schoenberg *et al.*, 1985; Lix *et al.*, 2010)

3.1 Pathogenesis

The neuropathology of PD is characterized by the initial loss of dopaminergic neurons in the SN that project to the striatum (Fahn, 2010). However, the degree of neuronal loss is more pronounced in the striatum than in the SN pars compacta (Bernheimer *et al.*, 1973). Symptoms occur when approximately 60% of dopaminergic neurons are lost in the SN pars compacta. The greatest loss occurs in the ventrolateral tier, followed by loss in the medial ventral tier, and the dorsal tier (Lang & Lozano, 1998). In the striatum it is primarily the dopaminergic neurons projecting to the putamen that are affected, with predominant loss in the dorsal lateral putamen (Taylor *et al.*, 2007). Neurons lost during PD accumulate cytoplasmic inclusion bodies of misfolded α -synuclein (α -syn). These inclusion bodies, known as Lewy bodies, are a hallmark of PD and are observed in ~90% of cases (Lang & Lozano, 1998).

The progression of PD is staged into six neuropathological stages known as Braak stages. These stages are based on the continual development of interneuronal lesions and the distribution of Lewy bodies and Lewy neurites in select areas of the brain. Braak stages consist of two presymptomatic, two symptomatic and two end stages (Braak *et al.*, 2004). In the end stages, when inclusion bodies and lesions invade cortical regions, a large portion of patients (~40%) develop dementia and other psychological symptoms (e.g., hallucinations) (Fahn, 2010). The rate of the disease's progression varies between cases (i.e., slow or rapid), and, if not interrupted by death, the disease eventually progresses to very severe symptoms (Pahwa, 2003).

3.1.A Mechanism of cell death

The neuronal loss observed in PD involves both programmed (apoptosis) and lysosome-mediated (autophagy) cell death (Hartmann *et al.*, 2000; Burbulla *et al.*, 2010). Oxidative stress is thought to be the main mechanism leading to cell death in PD, as a result of lipid, protein, and DNA oxidation. These oxidative reactions occur primarily with reactive oxygen species (ROS), including peroxides, quinones, hydroxyl radicals, heavy metals, and nitric oxide (NO) (Migliore & Coppede, 2009). In fact, increased levels of iron, manganese, and hydroxyl free radicals have been reported in post-mortem PD brain tissue, supporting a role for oxidative stress damage in PD (Jenner *et al.*, 1992; Asanuma *et al.*, 2004). Some endogenous sources of ROS are DA auto-oxidation, DA metabolism, and NADPH-oxidase in microglia and mitochondria (Barzilai *et al.*, 2001; Tieu *et al.*, 2003; Patten *et al.*, 2010).

Oxidative stress results from both excessive production of ROS and limited antioxidant defences. Antioxidant defence enzymes, such as glutathione, superoxide dismutases,

30

glutathione peroxidase, and catalase, convert reactive species to less reactive compounds (Ballatori *et al.*, 2009). PD post-mortem brain tissue has ~40% less glutathione peroxidase content in the SN than non-PD brain tissue, and surviving neurons show a significant loss of glutathione peroxidase (Sian *et al.*, 1994; Pearce *et al.*, 1997). Depletion of glutathione peroxidase can enhance cell death especially when other cellular functions are damaged, as is the case in mitochondrial dysfunction (Ballatori *et al.*, 2009).

Mitochondria maintain cellular function by generating energy for the cell; therefore, impairment in this function can contribute to cell death (Burbulla *et al.*, 2010). Biochemical and histological studies in post-mortem PD SN pars compacta show reduced complex I activity, a component of the mitochondrial respiratory chain (Schapira *et al.*, 1990). The role of mitochondrial dysfunction in cell death is further supported by the ability of PD-causing neurotoxins (e.g., rotenone, MPTP) to inhibit complex I (Watabe & Nakaki, 2008). Complex I inhibition interrupts mitochondrial energy metabolism and increases ROS formation, leading to cell death (Ramachandiran *et al.*, 2007). In PD cases, proteins involved in maintaining mitochondrial homeostasis and integrity, such as Parkin and PTEN-induced kinase (PINK), show impaired transport to and into the mitochondria (Burbulla *et al.*, 2010). Loss of function variants in these proteins, as observed in PD cases, results in mitochondrial dysfunction *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Rothfuss *et al.*, 2009; Weihofen *et al.*, 2009). Together these data support the involvement of mitochondria in the mechanism of cell death in PD.

In addition to oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction, immune response and excitotoxicity, are also believed to contribute to cell death in PD (Factor & Weiner, 2008). Immune response has been implicated as a player in PD pathogenesis because activated microglia, increased cytokine expression, and upregulation of inflammatory factors have been detected in the striatum and cerebral spinal fluid of PD patients (Olanow, 2007). Excitotoxicity

has been implicated in PD, since excessive *N*-methyl-*D*-aspartate receptor stimulation by glutamate can induce cellular toxicity (Factor & Weiner, 2008). Furthermore, the use of *N*-methyl-*D*-aspartate receptor antagonists can reduce neurotoxin-induced neuronal damage *in vivo* (Factor & Weiner, 2008). The over stimulation of the *N*-methyl-*D*-aspartate receptor leads to increased Ca⁺⁺, NO synthesis and oxidative stress to promote cellular damage and subsequently cell death (Koutsilieri & Riederer, 2007).

3.1.B Selective degeneration of dopaminergic neurons

Analysis of post-mortem PD tissues indicates the SN experiences increased levels of protein, lipid, and DNA oxidation, likely resulting from high degrees of oxidative stress (Dexter *et al.*, 1989; Alam *et al.*, 1997; Floor & Wetzel, 1998). The cause of select dopaminergic neuronal loss in the SN is still unclear. DA has been long viewed as a culprit for this selective loss of neurons, especially as presynaptic nerve terminals in the striatum are most sensitive to damage (Jenner & Olanow, 1996). DA is rapidly metabolized by monoamine oxidase generating reactive bi-products (e.g., H_2O_2), and by auto-oxidation to quinones and superoxide anions (Gonzalez-Hernandez *et al.*, 2010). Both enzymatic and non-enzymatic catabolism of DA are important sources of ROS and have been implicated in dopaminergic cell degeneration. High DA content and turnover around these synapses may, therefore, increase oxidative stress and produce severe damage (Parent & Parent, 2010).

Another potential contributor to SN dopaminergic cell loss is neuromelanin, a pigmented polymer composed of melanin, proteins, lipids, and trace metals (Double *et al.*, 2000). Neuromelanin is found at very high concentrations in the SN giving this region its characteristic dark pigmentation (Sian-Hulsmann *et al.*, 2010). In the SN, DA neurons that contain neuromelanin are preferentially lost during PD, which suggests that neuromelanin may be involved in PD pathogenesis (Fasano *et al.*, 2006; Gonzalez-Hernandez *et al.*, 2010).

Neuromelanin is toxic and can activate mitochondrial apoptosis signalling *in vitro* (Li *et al.*, 2005; Naoi *et al.*, 2008). *In vitro*, cell death caused by neuromelanin is further increased in the presence of iron (a contributor to oxidative stress), and this enhancement is abolished by iron chelators (Das *et al.*, 1978; Zecca *et al.*, 2004). It has been noted that PD cases have higher iron content in the SN compared to controls, and this indicates that both high levels of neuromelanin and iron may contribute to increased susceptibility of SN neurons to oxidative damage (Hirsch *et al.*, 1991; Barzilai *et al.*, 2001).

Some additional factors believed to enhance the sensitivity of dopaminergic neurons include changes in calcium homeostasis, the size of DA neurons, a high degree of dopaminergic connections, and a high rate of oxygen consumption (Chinta & Andersen, 2005; Obeso *et al.*, 2010; Surmeier *et al.*, 2010). Although the exact factors responsible for the degeneration of specific neuronal groups is still uncertain, intrinsic factors (i.e., L-type calcium channels) seem to be preferentially involved in the initiation of this damage.

3.2 Etiology

PD is divided into two major forms, familial PD that represents ~10% of cases and sporadic PD that represents ~90% of cases (Vance *et al.*, 2010). Familial PD cases have provided great insight into mechanisms associated with PD including the discovery of leading gene candidates involved in the etiology of PD such as α -synuclein (SNCA), Parkin, PINK1, and Leucine Rich Repeat Kinase 2 (LRRK2) (Urdinguio *et al.*, 2009). Unlike familial PD, which is primarily attributed to genetic risk, sporadic PD is thought to occur from the combination of genetic predisposition and environmental exposure to toxins.

The primary environmental compounds associated with increased PD risk are multiple classes of pesticides (e.g., insecticides, herbicides, fungicides) (Hatcher *et al.*, 2008; Horowitz & Greenamyre). Most epidemiological studies, including meta-analyses, have consistently

shown that pesticide exposure increases risk for PD. Paraquat and rotenone are of particular interest, as they increase risk for PD and elicit PD-like pathology in animal models (Sherer *et al.*, 2003; Kamel *et al.*, 2007; Dhillon *et al.*, 2008; Hatcher *et al.*, 2008; Ritz *et al.*, 2009). The odds ratio of risk for PD upon pesticide exposure varies between countries, ranging from 1.7 (95% CI=1.1, 2.8) to 7 (95% CI=1.61, 63.46) (Priyadarshi *et al.*, 2000; Hancock *et al.*, 2008; Ritz *et al.*, 2009). Pesticide exposure also shows a dose-dependent effect in duration of usage and increased risk for PD (Le Couteur *et al.*, 1999; Petrovitch *et al.*, 2002; Brown *et al.*, 2006). Living in a rural environment and drinking well water, which may be related to pesticide exposure, can also increase the risk for PD (Gorell *et al.*, 1998; Factor & Weiner, 2008). Other environmental risk factors include exposure to heavy metals (e.g., iron, copper) and solvents, or working in welding or mining operations (Hatcher *et al.*, 2008; Sanyal *et al.*, 2010; Sriram *et al.*, 2010).

3.2.A Genes implicated in PD

Many genes contribute to inherited PD and increase risk for sporadic PD (West *et al.*, 2002; Valente *et al.*, 2004b). Of the genes discovered, five have been shown to produce pathological features that resemble PD in genetic animal models: *SNCA*, *Parkin*, *DJ1*, *PINK1*, and *LRRK2* (Valente *et al.*, 2004a; Tan & Skipper, 2007). Genetic variants in the *SNCA* gene that result in amplified α -syn protein formation (i.e., duplication or triplication), or α -syn misfolding and/or aggregation, cause increased Lewy body formation and the development of a severe PD phenotype (Polymeropoulos *et al.*, 1997; Singleton *et al.*, 2003; Wang *et al.*, 2006). Toxin exposure and oxidative stress can also upregulate *SNCA* resulting in enhanced aggregation and the promotion of α -syn binding to DA, metals, certain proteins, and lipids (Giasson *et al.*, 2002; Lee & Trojanowski, 2006). The mechanism behind α -syn aggregation

induced cell death is undetermined, but the formation of inclusion bodies is thought to interfere with neuronal transport and the regulation of genes (Horowitz & Greenamyre, 2010).

Variants in *Parkin*, a multifunctional E3 ubiquitin protein ligase, and *PINK1* are prevalent in familial PD (Burbulla *et al.*, 2010). Both Parkin and PINK1 are involved in maintaining mitochondrial integrity and function (Kim *et al.*, 2008; Horowitz & Greenamyre, 2010). Variants that result in a non-functional Parkin protein consequently lead to impaired mitochondrial integrity (Park *et al.*, 2006). Upon mitochondrial dysfunction, both Parkin and PINK1 are recruited from the cytosol to promote autophagic clearance from the cell and thus may participate in a protective response (Burbulla *et al.*, 2010).

Gain-of-function variants in *LRRK2* occur in 5–10% of familial PD cases and in 1–5% of sporadic PD cases (Wood-Kaczmar *et al.*, 2006; Hindle, 2010). Unlike the above-mentioned genes, patients with *LRRK2* variants exhibit late-onset PD which resemble sporadic PD cases (Cookson, 2010). How LRRK2 is involved in cell death is still unclear, but it is known that it can interact with Parkin and bind to the outer-membrane of the mitochondria (Olanow, 2007; Dawson *et al.*, 2010).

3.2.B Neurotoxins implicated in Parkinson's disease

In addition to genetic factors, environmental and endogenous neurotoxins are also implicated in PD etiology. The discovery of MPTP, a Parkinsonian syndrome causing neurotoxin, strongly suggested the role of exogenous toxins in PD pathogenesis (Langston & Ballard, 1983). This finding prompted investigations into a link between environmental toxins (e.g., pesticides) and PD, leading to the identification of rotenone and paraquat as possible PD-neurotoxin candidates (Ramachandiran *et al.*, 2007; Meredith *et al.*, 2008; Costello *et al.*, 2009; Horowitz & Greenamyre, 2010). Rotenone is an insecticide that selectively causes the loss of DA neurons in the SN *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Sherer *et al.*, 2003; Jin *et al.*, 2007). It is a potent

inhibitor of mitochondrial complex I. This inhibition results in mitochondrial dysfunction, increased oxidative stress, protein aggregation, and, consequently, cell death (Jin *et al.*, 2007). The herbicide paraquat can induce nigrostriatal degeneration in rodents and is toxic in *in vitro* neuronal models (Liou *et al.*, 1996; Brooks *et al.*, 1999). Unlike rotenone, paraquat does not inhibit complex I, but instead produces free radicals, inhibits proteosomal activity, and promotes protein aggregation (Wang *et al.*, 2006; Lee *et al.*, 2008a). Notably, paraquat structurally resembles MPP⁺, the potent neurotoxic metabolite of MPTP (**Figure 5A**), but is not transported into the dopaminergic cells by the DAT like MPP⁺ (Wang *et al.*, 2006; Lee *et al.*, 2008a). These findings suggested that structurally related exogenous or endogenous compounds may be responsible for neuronal damage in PD.



Figure 5: Chemical structures of neurotoxins and MPTP metabolism

A) The structural resemblance between exogenous and endogenous neurotoxins. **B)** Schematic of MPTP and its metabolic pathways in the liver. This figure is adapted and modified from Yoshihara et al., (2000). AO, aldehyde oxidase; FMO, flavin monoamine oxidase.

Endogenous compounds that are similar to MPTP in chemical structure include isoquinolines and β -carbolines (Figure 5A). Isoquinolines and β -carbolines are commonly

found in plants and specific foods (e.g., bananas, milk, burnt foods); they are lipophilic and can easily cross the BBB (Nagatsu, 1997). They are markedly higher in the cerebral spinal fluid of PD cases than in controls, suggesting they may be involved in the pathogenesis of PD (Kuhn et al., 1996; Maruyama et al., 1996). In particular, isoquinolines such as TIQ and its derivatives (salsolinol and 1-benzyl-TIQ) are much higher in PD cases than in controls (Kotake et al., 1995; Naoi et al., 2004). Furthermore, TIQ can evoke parkinsonian pathology and behavioural symptoms in monkeys and rodents at high doses (50-100 mg/kg) administered over a long duration (up to 102 day) (Nagatsu & Yoshida, 1988; Yoshida et al., 1990; Yoshida et al., 1993; Lorenc-Koci et al., 2006). Notably, isoquinolines are neurotoxic in vitro and in vivo, but are much weaker neurotoxins than paraquat, rotenone, and MPTP (Kotake et al., 1996; Mellick et al., 1999b; Shavali et al., 2004; Saitoh et al., 2006; Kotake et al., 2007). The co-administration of isoquinolines with a toxin (e.g., 6-OHDA) can exacerbate neurotoxicity (Kwon et al., 2010). The neurotoxic effects elicited by isoquinolines are proposed to be through the inhibition of mitochondrial complex I (Morikawa et al., 1998; Storch et al., 2000; Patsenka & Antkiewicz-Michaluk, 2004).

As with TIQ, β -carbolines are less potent than other PD-neurotoxins (e.g., rotenone, MPTP) (McNaught *et al.*, 1996). Some β -carbolines are substrates of the DA transporter (DAT), have a tendency to accumulate in the mitochondria, and can function as potent inhibitors of mitochondrial complex I (Riederer *et al.*, 2002; Wernicke *et al.*, 2007). Tetrahydro- β -carbolines, methoxy- β -carbolines, and norharman have been shown to induce toxicity both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, and recently norharman was shown to exacerbate the effects of 6-OHDA in rats in much the same way that isoquinolines do (Lorenc-Koci *et al.*, 2006; Pavlovic *et al.*, 2006; Haghdoost-Yazdi *et al.*, 2010).

3.2.B.i. MPTP

MPTP (**Figure 5**) is a highly lipophilic potent pro-neurotoxin that results in the loss of dopaminergic neuronal cells and closely mimics PD neurochemistry and pathology (Przedborski, 2007). MPTP can elicit clinical symptoms that are responsive to *L*-3, 4-dihydroxyphenylalanine (*L*-DOPA) treatment, commonly used to treat PD, further substantiating the use of MPTP to model PD (Langston *et al.*, 1984a; Langston *et al.*, 1984b). MPTP can elicit some motor dysfunction in monkeys, rats, mice, cats, dogs, and guinea pigs (McCallum *et al.*, 2006b; Przedborski, 2007; Meredith *et al.*, 2008). Of these types of animals, monkeys are the most sensitive to MPTP and display similar pathological and motor responses as observed in PD patients (Przedborski, 2007; Capitanio & Emborg, 2008).

MPTP is metabolized to MPDP⁺ by monoamine oxidase (MAO)-B in glial cells and subsequently converted to MPP⁺ by peroxidases or spontaneous deprotonation (**Figure 5B**) (Notter *et al.*, 1988; Chiba *et al.*, 1995). MPP⁺ is then transported into DA neurons by the DAT and rapidly accumulates in the mitochondria (Notter *et al.*, 1988; Herkenham *et al.*, 1991; Fukuda, 2001). The primary mechanism of cell death by MPP⁺ is through the inhibition of mitochondrial complex I. However MPP⁺ can also promote ROS formation, change mitochondrial membrane permeability, displace DA from vesicles, increase DA release, compete for the DAT, activate caspase-3, and inhibit tyrosine hydroxylase and MAO enzymes (Singer *et al.*, 1986; Notter *et al.*, 1988; Fukuda, 2001; Bordia *et al.*, 2006; Zeng *et al.*, 2006). Studies on the effects of MPTP have provided significant insight into potential mechanisms for environmental neurotoxicity. They have also highlighted some key factors (e.g., DAT, MAO) that influence an individuals' sensitivity to neurotoxins, as a result of genetic variation in these protiens influencing their expression levels and/or activity (Cordato & Chan, 2004).

3.2.C Environment and genetics

It is becoming widely accepted that there is interplay between genetics and environment in the etiology of sporadic PD (Vance *et al.*, 2010). For example, α -syn expression increases *in vivo* upon exposure to paraquat, and neurotoxin-induced damage is exacerbated in *SNCA* over-expressing transgenic mice compared to control mice (Gatto *et al.*, 2010; Horowitz & Greenamyre, 2010).

Proteins directly involved in the transport (e.g., DAT) or metabolism (e.g., MAO-B) of neurotoxins may also play a role in increased PD risk (Mellick *et al.*, 1999a; Cordato & Chan, 2004). Some individuals may be more susceptible to environmental and/or endogenous neurotoxins than are other individuals through altered transport or metabolism of these compounds. Enzymes (e.g., CYPs) can display a great degree of genetic variability in protein expression and function, which may contribute to differing risk for PD. Enzymes involved in the activation or inactivation of MPTP include MAO, flavin monooxygenase, aldehyde oxidase, CYP3A4, CYP1A2, and CYP2D6 (**Figure 5B**) (Chiba *et al.*, 1995; Yoshihara *et al.*, 2000; Mushiroda *et al.*, 2001). MAO has been shown to activate neurotoxins such as MPTP (**Figure 5B**) and β -carbolines, while CYP2D6, CYP1A2, and CYP3A4 have been shown to inactivate MPTP and metabolize various pesticides, including chloropyrifos and atrazine (Coleman *et al.*, 1996; Coleman *et al.*, 2000a; Herraiz *et al.*, 2006; Herraiz *et al.*, 2008).

3.2.C.i Monoamine oxidase and neurotoxicity

MAOs are flavin adenosine dinucleotide-containing enzymes located in the outer membrane of the mitochondria (Binda *et al.*, 2004). MAO is expressed in most tissues, but the highest expression is found in the liver and in the brain (Fowler *et al.*, 2000; Lewis *et al.*, 2007). There are two forms of this enzyme, MAO-A and MAO-B, which have differing affinities towards substrates and differing cellular expressions in the brain (Binda *et al.*, 2006).

MAO-B is more abundantly expressed in the human brain, especially in the basal ganglia, than MAO-A and is expressed in serotonergic neurons, glia, and astrocytes (Binda *et al.*, 2006). MAO-A is expressed mostly in catecholaminergic neurons (Saura *et al.*, 1996). In the brain, these enzymes catalyze the oxidative deamination of exogenous amines (e.g., tyramine) and endogenous biogenic amines to control and regulate monoamine transmitter concentrations (e.g., DA) (Abell & Kwan, 2001).

MAO-B genetic variants that result in higher enzymatic activity are associated with increased risk for PD; this is consistent with its ability to activate neurotoxins (e.g., MPTP, β -carbolines) and metabolize DA to form the oxidative stress induced product H₂O₂ (Singer *et al.*, 1986; Coleman *et al.*, 1996; Chinta & Andersen, 2005; Bialecka *et al.*, 2007; Dick *et al.*, 2007; Singh *et al.*, 2008). Conversely, MAO inhibitors (e.g., selegiline) enhance neuroprotection in *in vitro* and *in vivo* models of PD (Langston *et al.*, 1984c; Castagnoli *et al.*, 2003; Binda *et al.*, 2006). Notably, MAO increases with age and age is a leading risk factor for PD (Fowler *et al.*, 2000; Fahn, 2010). This increase in expression may contribute to an increase in the activation of toxins and lead to oxidative damage and cell death.

3.2.C.ii CYP2D6 and neurotoxicity

CYP2D6 can metabolize trace amines and inactivate neurotoxins such as MPTP and β carbolines (Coleman *et al.*, 1996; Yu *et al.*, 2003c). Coleman et al. (1996) reported a large variability (0–90%) in the extent of MPTP inactivation to PTP by CYP2D6 (**Figure 5B**) in human liver microsomes. This large variation in CYP2D6 inactivation of toxins may lead to differences in neurotoxicity. However, while the liver plays a significant role in toxin clearance, CYP2D6 in the brain may also contribute to localized neurotoxin inactivation. Using microdialysis, Vaglini et al. (2004) demonstrated that a large proportion of MPTP entering into the striatum resulted in the formation of PTP, MPTP *N*-oxide, MPDP⁺, and MPP⁺. The MPTP metabolite PTP is largely synthesized by CYP2D6 through *N*-demethylation (Coleman *et al.*, 1996; Gilham *et al.*, 1997; Herraiz *et al.*, 2006). The detection of MPDP⁺, MPP⁺, and PTP metabolites *in vitro* in the presence of both cDNA expressed CYP2D6 and MAO suggests PTP formation in the brain could result from localized MPTP detoxification by CYP2D6 (Herraiz *et al.*, 2006).

A study comparing MPTP toxicity in different rat strains found that female Dark Agouti rats (models of CYP2D6 poor metabolizers) showed more pronounced effects of MPTP and a longer reduction of motor activity compared to other female rat strains (Jimenez-Jimenez *et al.*, 1991). Another study found that the over-expression of CYP2D6 in PC12 cells provided protection from MPP⁺ and, to a lesser extent, MPTP (Matoh *et al.*, 2003). Together, these studies suggest that low levels of CYP2D6 reduce neuroprotection and high levels increase it.

3.2.C.iii CYP2D6 and Parkinson's disease

The association of CYP2D6 and PD was first reported by Barbeau et al. when they observed that a number of PD cases were PMs for debrisoquine (Barbeau *et al.*, 1985). Since then, over 30 epidemiological studies have been conducted on CYP2D6 and PD risk, investigating variation in both CYP2D6 genotype and phenotype. Some studies indicate that non-functional CYP2D6 can increase the risk for PD (Deng *et al.*, 2004; Duric *et al.*, 2007; Singh *et al.*, 2010). Two meta-analyses reported overall odds ratios of 1.47 (95% CI: 1.18-1.96) and 1.48 (95% CI: 1.10-1.99) for PD in CYP2D6 PMs (McCann *et al.*, 1997; Christensen *et al.*, 1998). When restricting the meta-analysis to *CYP2D6* genetic studies, the odds ratio for PD changed from 1.48 (95% CI: 1.10-1.99) to 1.67 (95% CI: 1.11-2.50) (Christensen *et al.*, 1998). Moreover, when *CYP2D6* PMs had pesticide exposure their risk for PD further increased, suggesting an interaction of the *CYP2D6* gene and environment (Deng *et al.*, 2004; Elbaz *et al.*, 2004). Overall, these studies indicate that individuals with high CYP2D6 (EMs)

are protected against PD compared to those with low CYP2D6 (PMs), especially when exposed to environmental neurotoxins. These findings, coupled with the ideal expression of CYP2D6 in the brain to metabolize endogenous and exogenous neurotoxins (e.g., TIQ, β carbolines, pesticides), further supports the premise that CYP2D6 may contribute to protection against neurotoxins and PD.

4. Neuroprotection with smoking and nicotine

In contrast to environmental factors that increase the risk for PD (e.g., pesticides) or elicit a parkinsonian syndrome, there are factors that reduce the risk of developing PD. Neuroprotection can be considered a mechanism of reducing cell dysfunction, cell damage, and/or cell death (Linazasoro, 2009). In the context of PD, neuroprotection can be thought of as an intervention that would prevent neuronal damage from occurring, slow neuronal damage that has been initiated, repair injured neurons, and/or protect and strengthen surviving neurons. Some neuroprotective candidates shown to reduce the risk for PD include cigarette smoking, caffeine, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, and, to some extent, alcohol (Benedetti *et al.*, 2000; Powers *et al.*, 2008). Factors shown to be neuroprotective both in *in vitro* and *in vivo* PD models include nicotine, MAO-B inhibitors, coenzyme Q10, antioxidants, chelators, and melatonin (Singh *et al.*, 2007; Spindler *et al.*, 2009).

4.1 Smoking and Parkinson's disease

Since first reported by Dorn in 1959, cigarette smoking is one factor that has repeatedly been shown to protect individuals from developing PD (Dorn, 1959; Tanner, 2010). Over 40 studies show smoking reduces the relative risk of getting PD by ~50% compared to age- and gender-matched controls (Allam *et al.*, 2004; Alves *et al.*, 2004; Kandinov *et al.*, 2007). A similar trend in neuroprotection by smoking has been observed in individuals known to be exposed to pesticides (Galanaud *et al.*, 2005). However, while smoking reduces the risk for

developing PD, it does not affect disease progression (Alves *et al.*, 2004; Kandinov *et al.*, 2007; 2009).

Cigarette smoking displays a temporal relationship with PD risk; the duration of smoking and the age at quitting both show a dose-dependent decrease in risk. Specifically, the more years an individual has smoked, the more cigarettes smoked per day, and the fewer years (if any) that have passed since quitting all significantly contribute to a dose-dependent lowering of risk for PD (Thacker *et al.*, 2007). The dose-dependent effect is observed in both genders, even though males have a higher PD risk than women (Allam *et al.*, 2007; Ritz *et al.*, 2007). Twin studies also show this inverse relationship between cigarette pack-years and the onset of PD (Tanner *et al.*, 2002). The relationship was more evident in monozygotic twins than in dizygotic twins, and as monozygotic twins are genetically identical, the protection observed with smoking is unlikely a result of genetic factors or environmental confounders. Neuroprotection by tobacco is further supported by evidence of an inverse relationship between smokeless tobacco and PD (Ritz *et al.*, 2007).

The inverse relationship between smoking and PD has been challenged multiple times, especially by the idea of selective mortality in smokers. However, a 30-year prospective cohort involving 8,000 men showed that smoking was less prevalent in those who developed PD, with an adjusted relative risk of 0.4 (95% CI 0.3-0.6) (Morens *et al.*, 1996). The report noted that protection against PD in smokers was observed at every age group both above and below the age of 60 years (the average on-set for PD). Additionally, there was only a small difference in mortality between smokers and non-smokers before the age of 60, which suggests that it is not the large selective mortality in smokers prior to onset of average age of PD that explains the low prevalence of smokers in the PD population. Other reports indicate mortality rates in PD smokers are either similar or reduced compared to PD non-smokers (Alves *et al.*, 2004;

43

O'Reilly *et al.*, 2005). These results combined with the observation of a dose-dependent relationship of years smoked, number of cigarettes smoked per day (heavy *versus* light), and number of years (if any) that have passed since quitting strongly affirms the idea that smoking is protective against PD (Gorell *et al.*, 1999; Hernan *et al.*, 2001). Overall, the epidemiological evidence strongly suggests that cigarette smoking is playing a neuroprotective role, but the mechanism is still under investigation.

4.1.A Smoking and neuroprotection

The neuroprotection by cigarette smoking observed in humans also extends to *in vivo* studies where mice exposed to cigarette smoke were protected against MPTP-induced dopaminergic neuronal degeneration (Parain *et al.*, 2003). The neuroprotection by smoking is likely mediated by one or more of the numerous chemicals found in cigarette smoke, including nicotine (discussed in **Section 4.2**). While the exact mechanism is unknown, changes caused by smoking within the dopaminergic and cholinergic systems are thought to be involved in its neuroprotection against PD (Quik, 2004).

Recent imaging studies show that cigarette smokers have decreased DAT availability compared to non-smokers especially in the striatum an area that exhibits the most damage during PD (Newberg *et al.*, 2007; Yang *et al.*, 2008). Compared to other brain structures the striatum is one of the highest expressing DAT regions, where the loss of DAT correlates with nigrostriatal neuronal loss in animal models of PD (Shih *et al.*, 2006; Troiano *et al.*, 2009). The DAT is involved in the uptake of DA, the neurotoxin MPP⁺, and select derivatives of the endogenous and exogenous neurotoxins isoquinolines and β -carbolines. MPP⁺ uptake by the DAT confers its selectivity of dopaminergic neuronal damage, and is thought to be involved in the selective damage by endogenous and/or exogenous neurotoxins (Storch *et al.*, 2004a; Storch *et al.*, 2004b). *In vitro* studies indicate a positive correlation between DAT expression and neurotoxicity from β -carbolines (Wernicke *et al.*, 2007). Additionally, variants in DAT show an increased risk for PD that is amplified with exposure to pesticides (Ritz *et al.*, 2009). Altogether, the reduction in DAT by cigarette smoke may be one mechanism of neuroprotection elicited by smoking.

A leading theory of how smoking may be neuroprotective is via MAO inhibition. Smokers have peripheral MAO inhibition, and in the brain they have ~20% inhibition of MAO-A and ~50% inhibition of MAO-B compared to non-smokers and former smokers (Berlin *et al.*, 2000; Fowler *et al.*, 2000; Fowler *et al.*, 2003; Fowler *et al.*, 2005). *In vitro* studies confirm that substances in cigarette smoke, including TIQ derivatives and β -carbolines, can inhibit MAO activity (Castagnoli *et al.*, 2003). Of the β -carbolines in cigarette smoke, tetrahydro- β carbolines, harman, and norharman can inhibit MAO and are elevated in the plasma of smokers (Rommelspacher *et al.*, 2002). *In vivo* studies show some MAO inhibitors in cigarette smoke (e.g., 2,3,6-trimethyl-1 and 4-naphthoquinone) protect against MPTP neurotoxicity in mice (Castagnoli *et al.*, 2001; Castagnoli *et al.*, 2003). As MAO enzymes can activate neurotoxins (i.e., MPTP to MPP⁺; **Figure 5**) and can contribute to oxidative stress, the inhibition of MAO by cigarette smoke may assist in reducing neurotoxicity.

4.1.B Smoking and brain CYPs

Another potential mechanism for the protection mediated by cigarette smoking against PD is through the induction of CYPs in the liver and/or brain that can inactivate neurotoxins, such as pesticides (Miksys & Tyndale, 2006). Smokers have higher CYP2B6 and CYP2E1 levels in the brain compared to non-smokers (Howard *et al.*, 2003; Miksys *et al.*, 2003). CYP2B6 can metabolize a number of pesticides and can detoxify herbicides, such as pyributicarb and trifluralin; therefore, it may inactivate these chemicals locally in the brain (Lang *et al.*, 1997; Tang *et al.*, 2002; Hirose *et al.*, 2005; Kawahigashi *et al.*, 2005). CYP2E1 is

ideally situated in dopaminergic neurons of the SN but is minimally involved in pesticide metabolism (Riedl *et al.*, 1996; Watts *et al.*, 1998; Hodgson, 2001). However, selective inhibition of CYP2E1 has been shown to increase MPTP-induced neurotoxicity *in vivo*, suggesting that CYP2E1 may participate in neuroprotection against PD-causing toxins (Vaglini *et al.*, 2004; Viaggi *et al.*, 2006). Altogether, higher levels of brain CYP2B6, and possibly CYP2E1, in smokers may help to protect against pesticide or neurotoxin elicited damage. Nicotine is believed to be one agent in cigarette smoke that can induce these CYPs in the brain (Joshi & Tyndale, 2006b; Lee *et al.*, 2006a).

4.2 Nicotine

Nicotine (**Figure 6A**) is the most extensively studied neuroprotective agent in cigarette smoke (Belluardo *et al.*, 2000; Quik *et al.*, 2007a). Nicotine can readily cross the BBB and once in the brain it can enhance the release of neurotransmitters (e.g., DA) and can activate diverse pathways that lead to increased neurotropic factors and changes in apoptotic signalling (Quik *et al.*, 2007a; Benowitz, 2008). Nicotine has been shown repeatedly to neuroprotect in various toxin-induced *in vitro* and *in vivo* models of PD (Visanji *et al.*, 2006; Khwaja *et al.*, 2007; Quik *et al.*, 2007c; Riveles *et al.*, 2008). Overall, these effects of nicotine are believed to occur through both receptor-independent and receptor-mediated pathways.



Figure 6: Chemical structure of nicotine and nAChR structure

A) Chemical structure of the alkaloid nicotine, 3-(1-methyl-pyrrolidin-2-yl)-pyridine. **B)** The pentameric structures of the heteromeric (left) and homomeric (right) nAChRs with diamonds depicting the binding sites.

4.2.A Nicotine receptors

Select ligands that interact with different nicotinic acetylcholine receptor (nAChR) subtypes (**Figure 6B**) suggest some neuroprotective effects elicited by nicotine occur downstream of these receptors (Belluardo *et al.*, 2000; Quik *et al.*, 2007a). NAChRs are ligand-gated ion channels expressed on cholinergic as well as non-cholinergic neurons including dopaminergic, serotonergic, glutamatergic, and gamma-aminobutyric acid neurons (Quik *et al.*, 2007a; Lendvai & Vizi, 2008; Yakel, 2010). NAChRs are hetero- or homo-pentameric structures (**Figure 6B**) that occur in various combinations of 8 subunits comprised of $\alpha 2$ - $\alpha 10$ and $\beta 2$ - $\beta 4$ (Gotti & Clementi, 2004). Agonists and antagonists selective for heteromeric $\alpha 4\beta 2$ or homomeric $\alpha 7$ nAChRs demonstrate that the activation of these two receptors can protect from β -amyloid- and rotenone-induced toxicity in cell culture (Kihara *et al.*, 1998; Belluardo *et al.*, 2000; Marrero & Bencherif, 2009; Takeuchi *et al.*, 2009). Additionally, $\alpha 4\beta 2$ knockout mice show decreased neuroprotection by nicotine, further indicating the importance of nAChRs in the neuroprotective properties of nicotine (Ryan *et al.*, 2001). Due to a lack of specific compounds for other nAChR subtypes (other than $\alpha 4\beta 2$ and $\alpha 7$), the individual

involvement of nAChRs in neuroprotection currently remains unknown (Belluardo *et al.*, 2000; Quik & Kulak, 2002; Quik *et al.*, 2007a).

Of particular relevance to PD is the nAChR subtype containing the α 6 subunit. Alpha-6 has a very restricted localization and is most abundant in the midbrain dopaminergic systems, including mesocorticolimbic and nigrostriatal pathways (Gotti *et al.*, 1997; Quik *et al.*, 2000; Dome *et al.*, 2010). In the primate striatum, a region that exhibits the greatest damage in PD, the highest expressing receptor subtypes are α 6*, α 3 β 2*, and α 4 β 2* (* represents other subunits) (Gotti & Clementi, 2004; Quik *et al.*, 2007a).

Selective lesioning of the dopaminergic nigrostriatal pathway with MPTP in monkeys, and with paraquat in mice, results in a significant decrease of $\alpha 6\beta 2^*$ followed by $\alpha 4\beta 2^*$ nAChRs that parallels the loss of DAT (Quik *et al.*, 2001; Bordia *et al.*, 2006; Khwaja *et al.*, 2007). Similarly, in PD cases the $\alpha 6\beta 2^*$ subtype is notably decreased with a small decrease in $\alpha 4\beta 2^*$ compared to age-matched controls (Gotti & Clementi, 2004; Quik, 2004; Bordia *et al.*, 2007; Quik *et al.*, 2007a). Given the selective expression of $\alpha 6\beta 2^*$ subtype on vulnerable neuronal populations this nAChR subtype could potentially be a specific drug target for PD neuroprotection.

In monkeys with MPTP-induced nigrostriatal damage, nicotine treatment can prevent the loss of nAChR $\alpha 4\beta 2^*$ and $\alpha 3/\alpha 6\beta 2^*$ subtypes (McCallum *et al.*, 2006b). Further, nicotine treatment can normalize aberrant dopaminergic activity resulting from nigrostriatal damage and restore synaptic plasticity (McCallum *et al.*, 2006b; Quik *et al.*, 2006a; Quik *et al.*, 2006b). The preservation of nAChRs by nicotine is thought to further contribute to nicotine's neuroprotection, especially neuroprotection elicited by the activation of different downstream pathways and processes (Wonnacott *et al.*, 2005; Bordia *et al.*, 2006).

48

4.2.B Nicotine and neuroprotection

Nicotine-mediated neuroprotection has been observed in glutamate-, β -amyloid-, and neurotoxin-induced (MPP⁺, paraquat, rotenone) toxicity in both primary neuronal cells and other cell models (Quik & Kulak, 2002; Zhang *et al.*, 2006). Chronic nicotine treatment can protect against nigrostriatal damage in MPTP-lesioned monkeys. Specifically, nicotine substantially preserves and/or restores dopaminergic markers that decline with MPTP treatment, including tyrosine hydroxylase, DAT, vesicular monoamine transporter, and DA levels (McCallum *et al.*, 2006b; Quik *et al.*, 2006a; Quik *et al.*, 2006b).

Nicotine has been shown to reduce nitric oxide synthase expression and NO formation *in vitro* (Gatto *et al.*, 2000). PD patients have notably higher levels of NO (a contributor to ROS formation) in their cerebral spinal fluid, and, post-mortem, PD brain tissues display higher levels of neuronal and inducible nitric oxide synthase compared to controls (Mazzio *et al.*, 2005; Aquilano *et al.*, 2008). One mechanism of nicotine neuroprotection may be through the reduction of NO formation and resultant oxidative damage.

Nicotine can also increase ubiquitin-proteasome activity through nAChR activation, which could ultimately reduce the accumulation of misfolded/damaged proteins that contribute to neuronal toxicity (Kane *et al.*, 2004; Chapman, 2009). Importantly, nicotine can increase trophic factors (e.g., fibroblast growth factor-2, brain-derived neurotrophic factor), reduce inflammatory cytokines (e.g., decreases in tumour necrosis factor and interleukin-1), and inhibit apoptotic signalling (e.g., Bcl-2, caspase) (Belluardo *et al.*, 2000; Mai *et al.*, 2003; Quik, 2004). Together, the activation of nAChR and the above-mentioned pathways likely lead to a reduction in toxin-induced apoptosis and promotes neuronal preservation, survival, and/or regeneration.

In addition to protective effects of nicotine through the activation of nAChR, nicotine can elicit protection via non-receptor-mediated mechanisms. *In vitro*, nicotine is a potent antioxidant; it is a scavenger for free radicals and has chelating properties (Ferger *et al.*, 1998; Xie *et al.*, 2005). Nicotine can directly interact with β -amyloid protein and inhibit β -amyloid aggregate formation (Zamani & Allen, 2001; Zhang *et al.*, 2006). Further, nicotine can directly interact with mitochondrial proteins and alter mitochondrial function. For example, nicotine can bind to complex I, inhibit cytochrome *c* release induced by MPP⁺, reduce mitochondrial swelling, and prevent ROS generation (Cormier *et al.*, 2001; Xie *et al.*, 2005).

4.2.C Nicotine and Brain CYPs

Similar to the effects seen with cigarette smoking on brain CYP expression, chronic treatment with nicotine can regulate brain CYP2B6, CYP2D6, and CYP2E1. The induction by nicotine occurs in a CYP-, organ-, brain region- and cell-specific manner. As with smoking, nicotine can induce CYP2B6 in the frontal cortex of monkeys (Lee *et al.*, 2006a). Notably, while CYP2E1 is abundantly expressed in the SN of monkeys, it is not induced by nicotine in this region but is induced in the frontal cortex and cerebellum (Joshi & Tyndale, 2006b). In rats, nicotine can induce CYP2D in the striatum and cerebellum, as well as in select cells of the frontal cortex (pyramidal neurons) and hippocampus (granular cells) (Yue *et al.*, 2008). These induced levels of brain CYPs, especially CYP2D6, may contribute to the localized inactivation of toxins, and may be one additional mechanism of neuroprotection that has been observed with smoking as well as with nicotine.

Study rationales and statement of research hypotheses

Chapter 1: Cytochrome P450 2D6 enzyme neuroprotects against 1-methyl-4phenylpyridinium toxicity in SH-SY5Y neuronal cells

The ability of CYP2D6 to inactivate a number of endogenous and exogenous neurotoxins, along with its ideal localization in select brain regions (i.e., substantia nigra and striatum) and cell types (i.e., dopamine neurons and glial cells) affected in PD, make CYP2D6 a likely candidate to study in a PD model. If the degree of toxicity were influenced by the balance between activation (MPTP to MPP⁺ by monoamine oxidase-B) and inactivation (MPTP to PTP and MPP⁺ to PP by CYP2D6) of neurotoxins, then low levels of brain CYP2D6 would decrease neurotoxin inactivation and reduce neuroprotection. Evidence supporting this rationale is found in epidemiological studies that show CYP2D6 PMs are at higher risk for PD compared to CYP2D6 EMs (Singh *et al.*, 2010). As there is little evidence supporting the direct involvement of CYP2D6 in neuroprotection against PD causing agents, the first goal was to establish this involvement by using endogenously expressed CYP2D6 in a cultured neuronal cell model of PD. I hypothesize that inhibiting CYP2D6 function in SH-SY5Y human neuroblastoma cells will increase MPP⁺-induced neurotoxicity.

Chapter 2: Induction of the drug metabolizing enzyme CYP2D in monkey brain by chronic nicotine treatment

In Chapter 1, we show that functionally inhibiting CYP2D6 in SH-SHY5Y human neuroblastoma cells results in increased MPP⁺-mediated neurotoxicity. As over-expression of CYP2D6 can protect against MPP⁺ induced cytotoxicity in PC12 cells, then induced or high levels of brain CYP2D6 are likely to increase neuroprotection (Matoh et al., 2003). These results, in addition to the known expression of CYP2D6 in areas affected in PD (e.g., the substantia nigra and basal ganglia), suggest that functional brain CYP2D6 may be playing a role in localized neurotoxin inactivation and thereby protecting against PD. Previous studies have shown CYPs can be up- or down-regulated by xenobiotics in an organ- and brain regionspecific manner (Miksys & Tyndale, 2004). The neuroprotective chemical nicotine, for example, can induce CYP2D in the rat brain (Yue et al., 2008). Because smokers are protected against developing PD, nicotine is neuroprotective in models of PD, and high CYP2D6 levels may be neuroprotective, we determined if cigarette smokers have higher brain CYP2D6 and if nicotine could induce brain CYP2D6 in primates. We hypothesize that 1) smokers will have higher brain CYP2D6 compared to non-smokers, and 2) chronic treatment with nicotine will induce brain CYP2D in monkeys.

Chapter 3: The neuroprotective enzyme CYP2D6 increases in the brain with age and is lower in Parkinson's disease patients.

The exact etiology of PD is not yet clearly understood, however both genetic and environmental influences contribute. CYP2D6 is one promising neuroprotective candidate because it can inactivate neurotoxins (e.g., pesticides) and is genetically highly polymorphic. Some genetic studies have shown an increased risk for PD in *CYP2D6* PMs (McCann *et al.*, 1997; Deng *et al.*, 2004; Elbaz *et al.*, 2004). The susceptibility for PD in *CYP2D6* PMs is further increased when they are exposed to pesticides, supporting a gene and environmental interaction for *CYP2D6* and PD risk (Deng *et al.*, 2004).

In **Chapter 1**, we demonstrate that lowering levels of functional CYP2D6 reduce neuroprotection from the damaging effects of MPP⁺. In **Chapter 2**, we show that brain CYP2D6 is higher in cigarette smokers compared to non-smokers and induced by nicotine in primates. As both cigarette smoking and nicotine are neuroprotective, the elevated levels of CYP2D6 may be one mechanism of their neuroprotection against PD. These studies collectively suggest that the levels of brain CYP2D6 may influence CNS inactivation of neurotoxins thereby altering the effects of neurotoxin-induced damage on PD risk.

CYP2D6 displays large interindividual variability, and this variation may render some individuals more or less prone to the effects of endogenous and/or exogenous neurotoxins. Evidence from Chapter 1 and previous studies looking at CYP2D6 genetics and PD risk suggest that functionally low CYP2D6 levels reduce neuroprotection, and therefore determined if PD cases also express lower brain CYP2D6 protein. We hypothesize that PD cases will have lower brain CYP2D6 protein compared to age-matched controls. Because PD is an age-related neurological disease, we also assessed if the levels of brain CYP2D6 protein compared to age, we

hypothesize that brain CYP2D6 protein will increase from birth to one year without further change through adulthood.

Section 2: Thesis Chapters

Chapter 1: Cytochrome P450 2D6 enzyme neuroprotects against 1-methyl-4phenylpyridinium toxicity in SH-SY5Y neuronal cells

Amandeep Mann and Rachel F. Tyndale

Reprinted with permission from John Wiley and Sons. This chapter as published in *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(7): 1185-1193, 2010.

Dr. Rachel F. Tyndale and Amandeep Mann designed the neurotoxicity study. Amandeep Mann 1) conducted all the experiments, 2) preformed the data analysis, and 3) wrote the manuscript. Dr. Rachel F. Tyndale helped with writing and editing the manuscript.

Abstract

Cytochrome P450 (CYP) 2D6 is an enzyme that is expressed in liver and brain. It can neurotoxins such as 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine, 1,2,3,4inactivate tetrahydroisoquinoline and β-carbolines. Genetically slow CYP2D6 metabolizers are at higher risk for developing Parkinson's disease, a risk that increases with exposure to pesticides. The goal of this study was to investigate the neuroprotective role of CYP2D6 in an *in vitro* neurotoxicity model. SH-SY5Y human neuroblastoma cells express CYP2D6 as determined by western blotting, immunocytochemistry and enzymatic activity. CYP2D6 metabolized 3-[2-(N, N-diethyl-N-methylammonium) ethyl]-7-methoxy-4-methylcoumarin and the CYP2D6specific inhibitor quinidine (1 μ M) blocked 96 ± 1% of this metabolism, indicating that CYP2D6 is functional in this cell line. Treatment of cells with CYP2D6 inhibitors (quinidine, propranolol, metoprolol or timolol) at varying concentrations significantly increased the neurotoxicity caused by 1-methyl-4-phenylpyridinium (MPP⁺) at 10 and 25 μ m by between 9 ± 1 and $22 \pm 5\%$ (P < 0.01). We found that CYP3A is also expressed in SH-SY5Y cells and inhibiting CYP3A with ketoconazole significantly increased the cell death caused by 10 and 25 μ m of MPP⁺ by between 8 ± 1 and 30 ± 3% (P < 0.001). Inhibiting both CYP2D6 and CYP3A showed an additive effect on MPP⁺ neurotoxicity. These data further support a possible role for CYP2D6 in neuroprotection from Parkinson's disease-causing neurotoxins, especially in the human brain where expression of CYP2D6 is high in some regions (i.e. substantia nigra).

Introduction

Parkinson's disease (PD) is a neurodegenerative disorder in which both genetic (i.e., Parkin and Leucine-rich repeat kinase 2) and environmental (i.e., pesticides) risk factors have been implicated in the etiology (Di Monte, 2003; Olanow, 2007). One genetic factor associated with a predisposition to injury from exogenous toxins is the drug- and toxin-metabolizing enzyme cytochrome P450 (CYP) 2D6 (McCann *et al.*, 1997). Genetic association studies show that poor metabolizers of CYP2D6, those lacking a functional enzyme, have an increased risk for PD (McCann *et al.*, 1997). This risk is further elevated when these individuals are exposed to pesticides (Deng *et al.*, 2004; Elbaz *et al.*, 2004). This suggests that having inactive CYP2D6 makes individuals more susceptible to the effects of environmental neurotoxins, such as pesticides, which is probably due to their inability to inactivate these neurotoxins.

Cytochrome P450 2D6 is a drug- and toxin-metabolizing enzyme that can inactivate a number of neurotoxins including 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP) (Modi *et al.*, 1997), tetrahydroisoquinolines (Suzuki *et al.*, 1992), harmaline, harmine (Yu *et al.*, 2003d) and *N*-methyl-β-carbolines (Herraiz *et al.*, 2006). CYP2D6 is found in the liver and in peripheral tissues including the brain (Miksys *et al.*, 2002; Mann *et al.*, 2008), where it has been shown to be enzymatically functional (Strobel *et al.*, 1995; Tyndale *et al.*, 1999; Voirol *et al.*, 2000; Bromek *et al.*, 2010). *In-situ* inactivation of MPTP to PTP was shown in rat striatum, a reaction largely mediated by CYP2D by *N*-demethylation (Coleman *et al.*, 1996; Vaglini *et al.*, 2004; Herraiz *et al.*, 2006). The expression of CYP2D6 is brain region and cell type specific and also exhibits high interindividual variability (Miksys *et al.*, 2002; Mann *et al.*, 2002; Mann *et al.*, 2008). In primates, CYP2D protein levels are highest in the basal ganglia, especially the substantia nigra (Miksys *et al.*, 2002; Mann *et al.*, 2008), consistent with data in rat brain (Bromek *et al.*, 2010). In fact, in the substantia nigra, CYP2D co-localizes with tyrosine

hydroxylase, a marker for dopaminergic neurons (Watts *et al.*, 1998). CYP2D6 is also found in glial cells (Miksys *et al.*, 2000b) that can also express the neurotoxin-activating enzyme monoamine oxidase B (Nicotra & Parvez, 2000; Herraiz *et al.*, 2007). Thus, CYP2D6 is ideally situated in cells and brain regions to locally detoxify PD-causing agents.

In a rodent model, a study comparing the toxicity of MPTP in different rat strains found that female Dark Agouti rats (models of poor metabolizers of CYP2D) showed more pronounced effects of MPTP and a longer reduction of motor activity compared with other strains (Jimenez-Jimenez *et al.*, 1991). Consistent with this, over-expression of CYP2D6 in PC12 cells was shown to protect against 1-methyl-4-phenylpyridinium (MPP⁺) cytotoxicity (Matoh *et al.*, 2003). Together, this evidence suggests that the expression of functional CYP2D6 may provide a defense against endogenous and/or exogenous neurotoxins. Given the lack of direct evidence for the involvement of CYP2D6 in neuroprotection, we proposed to test the importance of endogenous CYP2D6 in protecting against MPTP / MPP⁺ neurotoxicity in SH-SY5Y cells. The goals of the current study were to (i) determine whether human neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y cells express functional CYP2D6 and (ii) investigate the direct contribution of endogenous CYP2D6 to protection against MPP⁺-induced neurotoxicity in this neuronal cell line using CYP2D6 inhibitors.

Materials and methods

Materials

The protein assay dye reagent was purchased from Bio-Rad Laboratories (Hercules, CA, USA). Pre-stained molecular weight protein markers were purchased from MBI Fermentas (Flamborough, ON, Canada). Nitrocellulose membrane was purchased from Pall Life Sciences (Pensacola, FL, USA). Human cDNA-expressed CYP1A2, CYP2D6, CYP3A4, 3-[2-(N,Ndiethylamino)ethyl]-7-hydroxy-4-methylcoumarin hydrochloride and the 3-[2-(N,N-diethyl-Nmethylammonium)ethyl]-7-methoxy-4-methylcoumarin (AMMC) high-throughput inhibitor screening kit were purchased from BD Biosciences (Mississauga, ON, Canada). Polyclonal antibody (PAb) raised in rabbit against amino acids 254–273 of CYP2D6 was a gift from A. Cribb and Merck & Co. (Whitehouse Station, NJ, USA) (Cribb et al., 1995; Miksys et al., 2002). CYP1A2 PAb raised in rabbit was purchased from Affinity Bio-Reagents (Golden, CO, USA). CYP3A4 monoclonal antibody was purchased from Diachii Pure Chemicals Co., Ltd (Tokyo, Japan). Horseradish peroxidase-conjugated anti-rabbit and anti-mouse secondary antibodies raised in goat were purchased from Chemicon International, Inc. (Temecula, CA, USA). Avidin–biotin complex with peroxidase kit and 3,3'-diaminobenzidine were purchased from Vector Laboratories (Burlington, ON, Canada). Chemiluminescent substrate was purchased from Pierce Chemical Company (Rockford, IL, USA). Autoradiographic film was purchased from Ultident Scientific (St Laurent, PQ, Canada). T-175-cm² vented cap cell culture flasks were from Sarstedt (Newton, USA). SH-SY5Y cells and the 3-(3,4dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay kit were from American Type Culture Collection (Manassas, VA, USA). Roswell Park Memorial Institute + Lglutamine was purchased from Invitrogen (Burlington, ON, Canada). MPTP, MPP⁺, quinidine, propranolol, metoprolol and timolol were purchased from Sigma (Mississauga, ON, Canada).

Cell culture

The SH-SY5Y cells were cultured in 175-cm² flasks in Roswell Park Memorial Institute + Lglutamine with 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum, 50 U/mL penicillin and 50 mg/mL streptomyocin in a humidified, 5% CO₂, 37°C incubator. The medium was changed every second day and cells were subcultured at 80% confluency every 4–5 days using 0.1% trypsin. Passages 2–15 were used for all experiments. For immunocytochemistry, cells were cultured at 2×10^4 cells/well onto poly-D-lysine-coated glass coverslips in six well plates. For the MTT assay, cells were cultured at 1×10^4 cells / well in 96-well plates. SH-SY5Y cells cultured in 175-cm² flasks were harvested and lysed in ice-cold Tris (100 mM, pH 7.4), EDTA (0.1 mM) and dithiothreitol (0.1 mM) buffer and sonicated on ice twice for 10 s. The samples were then either used for western blotting or further purified for activity assays. For activity, cell homogenates were centrifuged at 3000 g for 10 min at 4°C. The pellet was resuspended and centrifuged again at 3000 g for 10 min at 4 °C. The combined supernatants were centrifuged at 110 000 g for 90 min at 4 °C and the pellet resuspended in 100 mM Tris, 0.1 mM EDTA, 0.1 mM dithiothreitol, 1.15% w / v KCl and 20% v / v glycerol. The protein content of the membranes was assayed with the Bradford technique using a Bio-Rad Protein Assay kit. Membranes were either used directly for activity or aliquoted and stored at -80 °C.

Western blotting

The SH-SY5Y whole-cell lysates and cDNA-expressed CYP2D6, CYP1A2 and CYP3A4 were serially diluted to generate standard curves. These standard curves were used to determine the linear detection range and relative amount of each CYP (pmol/ μ g of whole cell lysate protein) expressed in SH-SY5Y cells. Samples were separated by using sodium dodecyl sulfate–polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis with 8% separating and 4.5% stacking gels. The proteins

were transferred overnight onto nitrocellulose membranes and blocked with 2% w/v skim milk powder in Tris-Buffered Saline Tween-20 (0.1% bovine serum albumin, 0.1% Triton X-100, 50 mM Tris, 150 mM NaCl, pH 7.4). The CYP2D6 PAb used was specific for CYP2D6, based on its lack of cross-reactivity with other human CYPs (Cribb *et al.*, 1995). The blot was probed with CYP2D6 PAb diluted 1 : 3000, CYP3A4 PAb diluted 1 : 4000 or CYP1A2 monoclonal antibody diluted 1 : 10 000 in TBS-T, followed by peroxidase conjugated anti-rabbit or anti-mouse secondary antibody diluted 1 : 3000 or 1 : 17 000, respectively, in TBS-T. Protein was then detected using chemiluminescence. As three different antibodies were used, exposure times varied from 45 s to 5 min for optimal band detection on autoradiographic film. MCID Elite imaging software (Interfocus Imaging Ltd, Linton, UK) was used to analyze the films.

Immunocytochemistry

Cells were grown on poly-D-lysine-coated glass coverslips, blocked for 1 h in 1% w / v skimmed milk, 1% w/v bovine serum albumin, 2% v/v normal horse serum and 0.01% v/v Triton X-100 in phosphate-buffered saline, and then incubated for 48 h at 4 °C in CYP2D6 PAb at 1 : 500 in phosphate-buffered saline with 0.1% bovine serum albumin and 2% normal horse serum. The antigen–antibody complex was visualized using biotinylated goat anti-rabbit immunoglobulin (diluted 1 : 500 in phosphate-buffered saline) followed by the avidin–biotin complex technique and reaction with 3,3'-diaminobenzidine and hydrogen peroxide. Negative control sections were incubated in the same manner but without primary antibody.

Conditions for in-vitro metabolism of 3-[2-(N,N-diethyl-Nmethylammonium) ethyl]-7methoxy-4-methylcoumarin by CYP2D6

The CYP2D6 activity in SH-SY5Y cell membranes was determined by using the specific substrate AMMC (Yamamoto et al., 2003) highthroughput assay screening kit in 96-well microplates. AMMC activity assays were performed as instructed by the kit manufacturer (Gentest, BD Biosciences). In brief, 100 µL of buffer containing a NADPH regenerating system (with final concentrations of 0.013 mM NADP⁺, 0.6 mM MgCl2, 0.6 mM glucose-6phosphate and 0.3 U/mL glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase) was added to each well. To assess if the metabolism of AMMC was specifically mediated by CYP2D6, a selective CYP2D6 inhibitor, quinidine (0.1–10 µm), was added. The plate was warmed to 37°C for 15 min, followed by the addition of 100 µL of 0.5 M potassium phosphate (pH 7.4) buffer containing AMMC (1.5-5 µm). The reaction was initiated by the addition of prewarmed cDNA-expressed CYP2D6 (1-8 pmol) or SH-SY5Y membranes (50 µg). The plate was then incubated at 37°C for 30 min and the reaction stopped using 75 µL of 0.5 mM Tris base. The fluorescence signal was measured using a SpectroMax Gemini EM (Molecular Devices) fluorescence plate reader at excitation and emission wavelengths of 390 and 450 nm, respectively. 3-[2-(N,N-diethylamino) ethyl]-7-hydroxy-4 methylcoumarin hydrochloride (0.03-1000 nM) in buffer was used as the standard for metabolite quantification as recommended for the kit. We confirmed that the fluorescence from quinidine did not interfere with the assay by adding quinidine (0.01–10 µM) to wells with buffer alone. To determine background fluorescence, control wells had enzyme, buffer (with or without inhibitor) and AMMC added after the addition of the stop solution. Specific fluorescence due to AMMC metabolism was determined by subtraction of the fluorescence from these background control wells from the sample fluorescence. In experiments measuring AMMC metabolism by SH-
SY5Y cells, positive control wells contained cDNA-expressed CYP2D6 (2 pmol) plus or minus quinidine (1 μ M).

Drug treatments and 3-(3,4-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide assay

Cells were cultured in 96-well plates for 1 day and then pre-treated at 37°C for 30 min with the CYP2D6 inhibitors quinidine (0.01–10 μ M), metoprolol (1–100 μ M), propranolol (0.1–30 μ M), timolol (1–300 μ M) or the CYP3A inhibitor ketoconazole (0.0001–10 μ M). The cells were treated with MPTP (0.1–3 μ M) or MPP⁺ (0.01–1 μ M) in the continued presence of inhibitors for 48 h and then assessed for cell viability. Cell viability was determined by a mitochondrial enzyme dependent reaction of MTT assay as described by the manufacturer. In brief, 10 μ L of MTT was added directly to the culture media with the SH-SY5Y cells. Following a 2-h incubation at 37°C, 100 μ L of solubilizing agent was added to dissolve the purple formazan crystals formed by metabolism of the yellow MTT tetrazolium salt. The plate was then incubated for 1 h, or overnight, and the absorbance was measured using the Multiskan Ex (Thermo Electron Co.) plate reader at a wavelength of 570 nm. Cell death following MPP⁺ treatment was shown as a percentage of untreated cells. To determine the effect of the inhibitors alone on cell death, cells were treated with each inhibitor at each dose tested in the absence of MPP⁺.

Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed using the Self-Propelled Semi-Submersible analytical program (SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA). The comparison of the CYP2D6 metabolism of AMMC in the presence and absence of inhibitor was evaluated using a directional Student's *t*-test. The effect of CYP inhibition on MPTP / MPP⁺ neurotoxicity was compared with MPTP / MPP⁺-treated cells

without inhibitor, using one-way ANOVA followed by a least significant difference *post-hoc* test. To determine an additive effect of inhibiting both CYP2D6 and CYP3A, a two-way ANOVA was used to test for an interaction between ketoconazole and quinidine on MPP⁺ neurotoxicity. This was followed by a one-way ANOVA and least significant difference *post-hoc* test to compare the effects of drug treatments with one another.

Results

SH-SY5Y cells express CYP2D6 protein

Immunocytochemistry indicated that CYP2D6 is expressed throughout the cell including neuronal projections (**Figure 7A**), consistent with *in-situ* neuronal expression (Miksys *et al.*, 2002; Mann *et al.*, 2008). Some partial staining of the nucleus was also seen in negative control cells incubated without primary antibody (**Figure 7A**, bottom left). To quantitatively assess CYP2D6 expression by western blotting, a dilution curve was generated using SH-SY5Y whole-cell lysates (**Figure 7B**). CYP2D6 protein detection (**Figure 7C**) was linear up to 80 µg of SH-SY5Y whole-cell lysate protein and, using a standard curve of cDNA-expressed CYP2D6, it was determined SH-SY5Y cells express 0.29 ± 0.03 pmol of CYP2D6 / µg of whole-cell lysate protein.



Figure 7: SH-SY5Y cells express CYP2D6 protein

(A) CYP2D6 immunohistochemical labeling throughout SH-SY5Y cells. Negative control (bottom left) shows partial staining of the nucleus in the absence of primary antibody. (B) A representative immunoblot of CYP2D6 detection in increasing amounts of whole-cell lysate protein. (C) A standard curve of CYP2D6 expression [relative optical density (R.O.D.)] in SH-SY5Y cells showing linear detection. Mean band density \pm SEM from four western blots. Bar = 100 µm.

CYP2D6 in SH-SY5Y cells is enzymatically active

The metabolism of AMMC to its fluorescent product 3-[2-(*N*,*N*-diethyl- *N*-methylammonium)ethyl]-7-hydroxy-4-methylcoumarin was dependent on the amount of cDNAexpressed CYP2D6 protein and was inhibited by quinidine (1 μ M) (**Figure 8A**). Quinidine dose-dependently inhibited AMMC metabolism by cDNA-expressed CYP2D6 (**Figure 8B**). In agreement with the literature, quinidine at its Ki (0.01 μ M) (Bertelsen *et al.*, 2003) inhibited ~50% of AMMC metabolism with complete inhibition at 1 μ M or higher. SH-SY5Y cell membranes dose-dependently metabolized AMMC (**Figure 8C**), which was completely inhibited by quinidine (1 μ M) (*P* < 0.001). We confirmed that fluorescence from quinidine did not interfere with the assay by adding quinidine (0.01–10 μ M) to wells with buffer alone. These results demonstrate a functional CYP2D6 enzyme in SH-SY5Y cells, which can be inhibited by the CYP2D6-specific inhibitor quinidine.





1-Methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine and 1-methyl-4-phenylpyridinium neurotoxicity

Both MPTP and MPP⁺ induced significant cell death (ANOVA P < 0.001) in SH-SY5Y cells (**Figure 9A**). MPP⁺ showed a dose dependent effect on cell death. At the highest dose tested, MPTP (3 mM) showed 18 ± 1% cell death compared with 71 ± 3% by MPP⁺ (1 mM). MPP⁺ caused 18% cell death at ~0.015 μ M, suggesting that MPP⁺ is 200 times more potent than MPTP in this cell line. Quinidine (0.1 μ M) significantly increased cell death by MPP⁺ at all doses and at 1 mM of MPTP (**Figure 9B**). For subsequent experiments, 48 h exposure to MPP⁺ at low doses was used instead of MPTP because (i) MPP⁺ was more potent at causing neurotoxicity and (ii) MPP⁺ was significantly affected by 0.1 μ M of quinidine (which specifically targets CYP2D6).





(A) Dose response of 48-h exposure to MPTP and MPP⁺ on cell death. (B) The effects of CYP2D6 inhibition by quinidine (Qd) (0.1 μ M) on MPTP and MPP⁺ neurotoxicity. Mean of three wells per toxicity group ± SEM. Results are shown as percent cell death caused by inhibitor alone subtracted from percent cell death observed with inhibitor plus MPP⁺. Quinidine (0.1 μ M) had no effect on cell death without MPP⁺. One-way ANOVA and least significant difference *post-hoc test*, **P* < 0.05, ****P* < 0.001.

Inhibiting CYP2D6 increases 1-methyl-4-phenylpyridinium induced neurotoxicity

Quinidine (Figure 10A) significantly enhanced cell death $(4 \pm 1 \text{ to } 9 \pm 1\%)$ caused by MPP⁺ at 10 and 25 µM (P < 0.05). To confirm the effects of inhibiting CYP2D6 on MPP⁺ neurotoxicity, three other CYP2D6 inhibitors (which are not substrates or inhibitors of CYP3A) were tested (Chauret *et al.*, 2001; Yamamoto *et al.*, 2003). Metoprolol (Figure 10B), propranolol (Figure 10C) and timolol (Figure 10D) significantly increased MPP⁺-induced cell death by 8 ± 2 to $22 \pm 5\%$ (P < 0.05). There was no effect of quinidine or timolol alone on neurotoxicity; however, metoprolol alone increased cell death by 5 ± 2 to $7 \pm 1\%$ and propranolol alone increased cell death by 5 ± 5 to $21 \pm 3\%$. The results in Figure 10 are shown as the difference between percent cell death caused by inhibitor plus MPP⁺ and inhibitor alone, where percent cell death observed with inhibitor alone was subtracted from percent cell death observed with inhibitor plus MPP⁺.





There was a significant increase in MPP⁺ neurotoxicity in the presence of (A) quinidine (by 4 ± 1 to $9 \pm 1\%$), (B) metoprolol (by 8 ± 2 to $11 \pm 6\%$), (C) propranolol (by 20 ± 3 to $22 \pm 5\%$) and (D) timolol (by 13 ± 1 to $21 \pm 4\%$). Results are shown as percent cell death caused by inhibitor alone (baseline) subtracted from percent cell death observed with inhibitor plus MPP⁺. Quinidine and timolol had no effect on cell death without MPP⁺. Metoprolol increased cell death by $7 \pm 1\%$ (1 µM) and by $5 \pm 2\%$ (10–100 µM) without MPP⁺. Propranolol increased cell death by $7 \pm 25\%$ (0.1 µM), $5 \pm 5\%$ (1 µM), $16 \pm 1\%$ (10 µM) and $21 \pm 3\%$ (50 µM) without MPP⁺. Mean of triplicate wells from two to four experiments \pm SEM. One-way ANOVA and least significant difference post-hoc test, *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001.

Influence of CYP3A and CYP2D6 in 1-methyl-4-phenylpyridinium-induced neurotoxicity

As CYP3A and CYP1A2 can also inactivate neurotoxins (Coleman *et al.*, 1996; Gilham *et al.*, 1997), their effect in our in-vitro MPP⁺ neurotoxicity model was tested. Figure 11A shows the relative levels of CYP1A (0.26 ± 0.05 pmol), CYP2D6 (0.29 ± 0.03 pmol) and CYP3A ($2.0 \pm$ 0.1 pmol) expression / µg of SH-SY5Y whole-cell lysate protein, determined by comparison with their respective cDNA-expressed CYP standard curves. As CYP3A had higher expression than both CYP2D6 and CYP1A, we assessed the influence of CYP3A activity on MPP⁺ neurotoxicity by using an inhibitor of CYP3A, ketoconazole (Bourrie et al., 1996). Inhibiting CYP3A significantly (ANOVA, P < 0.001) increased cell death by MPP⁺ (Figure 11B). Low and selective doses of ketoconazole (0.0001-0.1 µM) significantly enhanced MPP⁺-induced (10 and 25 μ M) cell death by 14 ± 2 to 30 ± 3%. To determine the relative influence of CYP2D6 and CYP3A on MPP⁺ neurotoxicity, both inhibitors were administered together or alone at doses close to their corresponding Ki established in human liver microsomes (Bourrie et al., 1996) (Figure 11C). Both ketoconazole ($6 \pm 1\%$) and quinidine ($7 \pm 2\%$) significantly increased MPP⁺-induced cell death compared with no inhibitor (P < 0.01). Co-treatment with ketoconazole and quinidine showed an additive effect $(13 \pm 2\%)$ on MPP⁺-induced neurotoxicity. Ketoconazole alone, quinidine alone and ketoconazole plus quinidine without MPP⁺ had no effect on cell death. There was a significant effect of quinidine (P < 0.001) and ketoconazole (P < 0.001) on MPP⁺ neurotoxicity but no significant interaction between the two drugs (two-way ANOVA, P = 0.64, F = 0.23). This suggests that both CYP2D6 and CYP3A independently influence MPP⁺ neurotoxicity in SH-SY5Y human neuroblastoma cells.



Figure 11: The role of CYP2D6 and CYP3A in MPP⁺ neurotoxicity.

(A) SHSY5Y cells express CYP1A, CYP2D6 and CYP3A at 0.26 ± 0.05 , 0.29 ± 0.03 and 2.0 \pm 0.1 pmol / µg of whole-cell lysate protein, respectively. Mean band density \pm SEM from three or four western blots. (B) The effects on MPP⁺ neurotoxicity of inhibiting CYP3A with ketoconazole. Ketoconazole increased cell death in the presence of MPP⁺. Results are shown as percent cell death minus baseline cell death of inhibitor-treated cells with no MPP⁺. One-way ANOVA and least significant difference post-hoc test, **P* < 0.01, ***P* < 0.005, ****P* < 0.0001. (C) The effects on MPP⁺ (10 µM)-induced cell death of inhibiting CYP3A and CYP2D6, alone and together with their respective specific inhibitors ketoconazole (0.001 µM) and quinidine (0.1 µM). Results are derived from percent cell death caused by inhibitor alone (baseline) subtracted from percent cell death observed with inhibitor plus MPP⁺. Ketoconazole alone, quinidine alone and ketoconazole plus quinidine without MPP⁺ had no effect on cell death. One-way ANOVA and LSD post-hoc test, **P* < 0.01, ***P* < 0.005 compared with inhibitor treatments and ##P < 0.01, ###P < 0.005 compared with MPP⁺ treatment alone. Mean of triplicate wells from three experiments ± SEM.

Discussion

Here we show for the first time that endogenous CYP2D6 metabolic activity directly influences MPP⁺ neurotoxicity in living cells. The detection of enzymatically functional CYP2D6 protein in SH-SY5Ycells confirms data suggesting that these cells contain CYP2D6 assessed by the metabolism of [³H]-codeine to morphine, a pathway mediated primarily by CYP2D6 (Poeaknapo *et al.*, 2004; Boettcher *et al.*, 2005). We showed that quinidine not only increases neurotoxicity caused by MPTP but also that caused by the neurotoxic metabolite MPP⁺. More importantly, in addition to quinidine, three other CYP2D6-selective inhibitors (Yamamoto *et al.*, 2003) at low concentrations lead to a significant 9–20% enhancement in cell death caused by MPP⁺ alone. This suggests that by inhibiting CYP2D6 we reduced its ability to inactivate this neurotoxin, thereby increasing cell death.

1-Methyl-4-phenylpyridinium can competitively inhibit the metabolism of CYP2D6specific substrates in liver and brain microsomes (Fonne-Pfister *et al.*, 1987; Jolivalt *et al.*, 1995). Docking studies indicate that the methyl group of MPTP fits into the active site of CYP2D6 (Modi *et al.*, 1997) and CYP2D6 tends to interact with positively charged amines (Yao *et al.*, 2004), suggesting a role for CYP2D6 in the demethylation of both MPTP and MPP⁺. Although direct evidence for inactivation of MPP⁺ by CYP2D6 is lacking, our study in a human neuronal cell line supports this idea. In agreement with our findings, the CYP2D6 inhibitor fluoxetine (Bertelsen *et al.*, 2003) increased MPP⁺ cytotoxicity in PC12 rat pheochromocytoma cells (Han & Lee, 2009). In addition, over-expression of CYP2D6 in PC12 cells was shown to be protective against MPP⁺-induced cytotoxicity (Matoh *et al.*, 2003). Together this indicates that CYP2D6 can play a neuroprotective metabolic role against MPTP and MPP⁺ neurotoxicity, by increasing inactivation of MPTP and possibly MPP⁺. Moreover, higher levels of functional CYP2D6 may be important in protecting individuals from PD- causing neurotoxins.

Genetically variable CYP2D6 is highly polymorphic (http://www.cypalleles.

ki.se/cyp2d6.htm) and has large variability in brain expression, which is probably amplified by environmental inducers/inhibitors of CYP2D6. Liver CYP2D6 is genetically variable but essentially uninducible (Edwards *et al.*, 2003); there is large variability in the expression and activity reported in human liver microsomes, i.e. metabolic inactivation of MPTP by CYP2D6 is shown to range from 0 to 90% (Coleman et al., 1996; Gilham et al., 1997). The large variation in CYP2D6 protein levels (influenced mostly by genetics) may make some individuals more or less prone to the effects of neurotoxins. Individuals who are genetically poor metabolizers of CYP2D6 are at increased risk of developing PD (McCann *et al.*, 1997), especially when exposed to pesticides (Deng et al., 2004; Elbaz et al., 2004). Pesticides such as carbaryl, atrazine, diazinon, chlorpyrifos and parathion can be metabolized by CYP2D6 (Lang et al., 1997; Sams et al., 2000; Hodgson, 2001; Tang et al., 2002). In the brain, where expression of CYP2D6 is relatively high compared with other CYPs [i.e. CYP3A4 and CYP1A2 (Dutheil et al., 2009)], CYP2D6 may play a role in the localized elimination of pesticides. Thus, CYP2D6 may represent a link between genetic and environmental factors that influences the development of PD, especially as this enzyme is ideally localized in brain regions and cells affected in PD. If the degree of toxicity is determined, at least in part, by a balance between activation (i.e. by monoamine oxidase) and inactivation (i.e. by CYP2D6) of neurotoxins (Herraiz et al., 2006), then genetically higher or induced levels of brain CYP2D6 could increase neurotoxin inactivation and compete with neurotoxin activation.

Smokers display a 50% reduced risk of developing PD (Alves *et al.*, 2004). We have shown that smokers have higher brain CYP2D6 than non-smokers (Mann *et al.*, 2008) and these higher CYP2D6 levels may be partially responsible for the protection against PD

observed in smokers. Nicotine, a component of cigarette smoke, has been shown to be neuroprotective (O'Neill *et al.*, 2002; Quik *et al.*, 2006b; Singh *et al.*, 2009) and it induces brain CYP2D in mice (Singh *et al.*, 2009), rat (Yue *et al.*, 2008) and monkey (Mann *et al.*, 2008) with no change in liver CYP2D. In fact, similar to smokers, nicotine significantly increases CYP2D in regions affected in PD like the substantia nigra and striatum (Mann *et al.*, 2008; Singh *et al.*, 2009). Collectively, these data suggest that nicotine in cigarette smoke may be responsible for a smoker's decreased risk of developing PD, perhaps in part through inducing brain, but not liver, CYP2D6.

Recently, in an MPTP-induced PD mouse model, nicotine was shown to reduce MPP⁺ levels in the striatum (Singh *et al.*, 2009), which is consistent with an induction by nicotine of striatal CYP2D with a subsequent increase in MPTP and/or MPP⁺ deactivation. Nicotine was also shown to cause a recovery of CYP2D mRNA and activity that had been lost with MPTP treatment, probably through the induction of CYP2D. The ability of nicotine to induce brain CYP2D may be of benefit in PD, reducing further neuronal damage from toxins. It is also possible that higher levels of CYP2D may assist in maintaining dopaminergic tone as CYP2D can synthesize dopamine (Hiroi *et al.*, 1998; Bromek *et al.*, 2010), although an effect of CYP2D activity on dopamine levels in vivo has not yet been demonstrated. The ability to alter brain CYP2D6 expression may be important, especially as hepatic CYP2D6 is generally uninducible (Edwards *et al.*, 2003). Given the punctate region- and cell-specific expression of CYP2D6, small changes in expression may have a large effect in localized toxin inactivation and neurotoxicity.

Consistent with higher CYP2D6 being protective (Matoh *et al.*, 2003), our current study showed that inhibiting CYP2D6 enhanced MPP⁺ neurotoxicity. Quinidine at low concentrations was less effective at increasing MPP⁺-induced neurotoxicity than the other three

77

CYP2D6 inhibitors, despite observing complete inhibition of AMMC metabolism in SH-SY5Y cell membranes with 1 µM quinidine. This lower than expected effect of quinidine on MPP⁺ neurotoxicity may be due to the removal of quinidine by CYP3A as it is a substrate for CYP3A4 (Nielsen *et al.*, 1999). It may also be due to the ability of quinidine to potently inhibit transporter systems such as Oct-3 (extraneuronal monamine transporter) (Liou et al., 2007) and vesicular monoamine transporter (Staal et al., 2001) that transport MPP⁺. Transporter expression is not well characterized in SH-SY5Y cells but these cells do express vesicular monoamine transporter (Fong et al., 2007). Therefore, quinidine may compete with some transporters of MPP⁺, preventing influx and reducing the toxic effects of MPP⁺, thereby attenuating the effect of quinidine on increasing neurotoxicity through inhibition of CYP2D6 MPP⁺ inactivation. Alternatively, the reduced MPP⁺ neurotoxicity at high concentrations of timolol, propranolol and metoprolol (β -blockers) may be through the blockade of Na⁺ and Ca⁺⁺ channels and / or via adrenergic receptors (Goto *et al.*, 2002). Timolol and other β -adrenergic antagonists have been shown to be neuroprotective against glutamate-induced toxicity in retinal ganglion cells (Goto et al., 2002; Wood et al., 2003).

The SH-SY5Y cells are very useful for modeling PD in vitro (Presgraves *et al.*, 2004; McMillan *et al.*, 2007); however, they do not entirely reflect the intact brain and its variable composition of activating (i.e. monoamine oxidase) and inactivating (i.e. CYP2D6) enzymes. In these cells, we found higher CYP3A expression than CYP2D6, whereas in the brain, the expression and activity of CYP3A are much lower than CYP2D6 and below detection in some regions (Voirol *et al.*, 2000; Dutheil *et al.*, 2009). A direct comparison of the inhibition of MPTP (50 μ M) metabolic inactivation using quinidine (CYP2D6), ketoconazole (CYP3A) or furafylline (CYP1A2) in nine human CYP2D6 extensive metabolizer livers indicated that CYP2D6 was the main enzyme involved (54%), with minor contributions from CYP1A2 (32%) and CYP3A4 (12%) (Coleman *et al.*, 1996); the relative contribution of CYP2D6 and CYP1A2 was subsequently replicated (Gilham *et al.*, 1997). These data are consistent with the higher affinity of yeast-expressed CYP2D6 ($K_m = 39 \mu M$) compared with CYP1A2 ($K_m = 2.2 mM$) for MPTP (Coleman *et al.*, 1996). At substantially higher concentrations of MPTP (2 mM), CYP1A2 and CYP3A4 contributed 49 and 25% of the inactivation, respectively (Coleman *et al.*, 1996) suggesting that, like CYP1A2, CYP3A4 may have a lower affinity for MPTP than CYP2D6. Although these studies investigated MPTP inactivation, the same relative enzymatic contributions to MPP⁺ inactivation may occur given the structural resemblance of the two substrates; this, however, has not yet been demonstrated. Thus, compared with our results in SH-SY5Y cells, the impact of CYP2D6 may be much greater in the human brain compared with CYP3A due to the higher brain expression of CYP2D6 and its potential for higher rates of neurotoxin metabolic inactivation.

In conclusion, SH-SY5Y cells express enzymatically functional CYP2D6. Upon inhibiting this enzyme there is a 9–20% enhancement of MPP⁺-induced neurotoxicity, suggesting that this enzyme contributes importantly to protection against PD-causing neurotoxins. In addition, because nicotine treatment can increase CYP2D6 in the brain, this offers a potential therapeutic approach to protecting the brain from neurotoxins that are also substrates of CYP2D6.

Acknowledgements

Funding for this work was provided by the Centre for Addiction and Mental Health, CIHR Grant (MOP97751) and a Canada Research Chair in Pharmacogenetics to R.F.T. Additional support was provided by a CIHR Tobacco Use in Special Populations Fellowship and Strategic Training Program in Tobacco Research to A.M. R.F.T. has shares in Nicogen Research Inc. Funds were not received from Nicogen for these studies and nor was this manuscript reviewed by individuals associated with Nicogen. We would like to thank Dr. Sharon Miksys, Ewa Hoffmann and Nael Al Koudsi for their support and experimental advice and assistance.

Significance of chapter

We confirmed that the SH-SY5Y dopaminergic cell line expresses functional CYP2D6. To determine the role of CYP2D6 in neuroprotection we utilized the intrinsic expression of CYP2D6 in SH-SY5Y cells and inhibited CYP2D6 functional ability to inactivate the neurotoxin MPP⁺. MPP⁺, the potent neurotoxic metabolite of MPTP, was used to avoid the need for MAO-B activation from MPTP to MPP⁺ in our SH-SY5Y cell culture model. We demonstrated that inhibiting CYP2D6 augmented neurotoxicity by MPP⁺, using four distinct inhibitors of CYP2D6. This study supports the theory that functional CYP2D6 in the CNS is involved in neuroprotection, likely by inactivating neurotoxins. It also suggests that functional inhibition of brain CYP2D6 by xenobiotics, or changes in functional levels of CYP2D6 protein (i.e., by inducers), may lead to altered neurotoxicity by toxins metabolized by CYP2D6 and therefore altered risk for PD.

Chapter 2: Induction of the drug metabolizing enzyme CYP2D in monkey brain by chronic nicotine treatment

Amandeep Mann, Sharon L. Miksys, Anna Lee, Deborah C. Mash, and Rachel F. Tyndale

Reprinted with permission from Elsevier B.V. This chapter as published in

Neuropharmacology 55(7): 1147-55 (2008).

Dr. Rachel F. Tyndale and Dr. Sharon L. Miksys designed the monkey study and contributed to manuscript editing. Amandeep Mann (1) optimized the assay for detecting brain CYP2D in monkey, (2) conducted the western blotting to measure changes in brain CYP2D between saline and nicotine treated monkeys, (3) preformed the data analysis and (4) wrote the manuscript. Dr. Sharon L. Miksys conducted the immunohistochemistry and the western blotting to assess difference in brain CYP2D6 between human smokers and non-smokers. Anna Lee conducted the western blotting to measure difference in hepatic CYP2D between nicotine and saline treated monkeys. Dr. Deborah Mash provided the human samples. Ewa Hoffmann conducted the genotyping of the human samples. All authours edited the manuscript.

Abstract

Cytochrome P450 (CYP) 2D6, an enzyme found in the liver and the brain, is involved in the metabolism of numerous centrally acting drugs (i.e. antidepressants, neuroleptics, opiates), endogenous neurochemicals (i.e. catecholamines) and in the inactivation of neurotoxins (i.e. pesticides, 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP)). Although CYP2D6 is essentially an uninducible enzyme in the liver, we show that smokers have higher CYP2D6 in the brain, especially in the basal ganglia. In order to determine whether nicotine, a component of cigarette smoke, could increase brain CYP2D, African Green monkeys were treated chronically with nicotine (0.05 mg/kg for 2 days, then 0.15 mg/kg for 2 days followed by 0.3 mg/kg for 18 days s.c., b.i.d.). Monkeys treated with nicotine showed significant induction of CYP2D in brain when compared to saline-treated animals as detected by western blotting and immunocytochemistry. No changes in liver CYP2D were observed in nicotine-treated monkeys. Induction was observed in various brain regions including those affected in Parkinson's disease (PD) such as substantia nigra (3-fold, P=0.01), putamen (2.1-fold, P=0.001) and brainstem (2.4-fold, P=0.001), with the caudate nucleus approaching significance (1.6-fold, P=0.07). Immunocytochemistry revealed that the expression of CYP2D in both saline- and nicotine-treated monkeys is cell-specific particularly in the cerebellum, frontal cortex and hippocampus. These results suggest that monkey brain expresses CYP2D, which is induced in specific cells and brain regions upon chronic nicotine treatment. Smokers, or those using nicotine treatment, may have higher levels of brain CYP2D6 that may result in altered localized CNS drug metabolism and inactivation of neurotoxins.

Introduction

Cytochrome P450 2D6 (CYP2D6) is an enzyme that metabolizes a range of endogenous (i.e. dopamine) and exogenous (i.e. parathion) substrates. It metabolizes approximately 25% of all clinically used drugs including analgesics (i.e. codeine), neuroleptics (i.e. clozapine), antidepressants (i.e. imipramine), and drugs of abuse (i.e. ecstasy) (Zanger *et al.*, 2004). CYPs are expressed in a number of extrahepatic tissues including the brain. CYP2D has been identified in human (Miksys *et al.*, 2002), dog (Tyndale *et al.*, 1991) and rat (Miksys *et al.*, 2000b; Yue *et al.*, 2008) brain tissue. Both, CYP2D mRNA and protein have been surveyed in the human brain (Miksys *et al.*, 2002). Brain membranes from human (Voirol *et al.*, 2000), dog (Tyndale *et al.*, 1991) and rat (Tyndale *et al.*, 1991), readily metabolize CYP2D6 probe drugs (i.e. dextromethorphan), indicating a functional enzyme. Furthermore, in rat brain both mRNA and protein correlate with activity (Miksys *et al.*, 2000b). A study demonstrating the initial analgesic effects of codeine due to its *in situ* metabolism to morphine is additional evidence of brain CYP2D function (Chen *et al.*, 1990).

As CYP2D6 inactivates neurotoxins such as MPTP (Herraiz *et al.*, 2006), tetrahydroisoquinoline (Suzuki *et al.*, 1992), harmaline, harmine (Yu *et al.*, 2003d) and pesticides (Tang *et al.*, 2002), individuals lacking a functional CYP2D6 may be more susceptible to neurotoxicity from these compounds. The expression and function of hepatic CYP2D6 is variable amongst individuals, because it is genetically highly polymorphic (http://www.cypalleles.ki.se/cyp2d6.htm). Functional CYP2D6 protein is absent in approximately 10% of Caucasians due to genetic polymorphisms. Population studies indicate that individuals with no functional alleles (i.e., CYP2D6 poor metabolizers (PMs)) are at a higher risk for Parkinson's disease (PD) compared to those carrying one or two functional alleles (i.e. extensive metabolizers (EMs)) (McCann *et al.*, 1997), and this risk increases with

84

exposure to pesticides (Elbaz *et al.*, 2004). Overall, these findings suggest that functional CYP2D6 has an important role in defense against endogenous and/or exogenous PD-causing neurotoxins.

Smokers are 50% less likely to develop PD (Alves *et al.*, 2004). If CYP2D6 is higher in the brains of smokers it may contribute to the neuroprotection against PD observed in smokers. Therefore, we examined the levels of brain CYP2D6 in smokers and non-smokers. Nicotine, a component of cigarette smoke, has been shown in a Parkinsonian model to prevent the loss of dopaminergic markers and preserve neuronal plasticity (Quik *et al.*, 2006a; Quik *et al.*, 2006b). It also reduces, and maintains the reduction in, the dyskinetic side effects of levodopa (Quik *et al.*, 2007b). Chronic nicotine treatment induces brain CYPs in rats (Howard *et al.*, 2003; Yue *et al.*, 2008). Therefore, we investigated if nicotine could induce CYP2D in a non-human primate brain and whether these changes were comparable to those seen in human smokers. Possible implications of induced brain CYP2D are that it may (a) provide neuroprotection from both endogenous and exogenous neurotoxins inactivated by CYP2D6, (b) alter localized CNS drug metabolism and drug response, and (c) influence mental health and behaviour through the altered metabolism of neurotransmitters and neurosteroids.

Materials and methods

Materials

Nicotine bitartrate was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Canada Ltd. (Oakville, ON, Canada). All other chemical reagents were obtained from standard commercial sources. Protein assay dye reagent was purchased from Bio-Rad Laboratories (Hercules, CA, USA). Pre-stained molecular weight protein markers were purchased from MBI Fermentas (Flamborough, ON, Canada). Nitrocellulose membrane was purchased from Pall Life Sciences (Pensacola, FL, USA). Human cDNA-expressed CYP1A1, CYP1A2, CYP2A6, CYP2B6, CYP2C19, CYP2D6, CYP2E1 and CYP3A4 were purchased from BD Gentest (BD Biosciences, Mississauga, Canada). Sheep polyclonal anti-human CYP2D6 antibody (PAb), against the Cterminal pentapeptide sequence of CYP2D6, and the synthetic immunogenic peptide were purchased from Biomol International (Plymouth Meeting, PA, USA). Rabbit polyclonal antiserum against amino acids 254-273 of CYP2D6 was generously provided by A. Cribb (PAb Cribb) and Merck & Co. (Whitehouse Station, NJ, USA) (Cribb et al. 1995). Horseradish peroxidase-conjugated anti-rabbit and anti-sheep secondary antibodies were purchased from Chemicon International, Inc. (Temecula, CA, USA). Biotinylated antimouse secondary antibody, avidinebiotin complex with peroxidase kit and 3.3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB) were purchased from Vector Laboratories (Burlington, ON, Canada). Chemiluminescent substrate was purchased from Pierce Chemical Company (Rockford, IL, USA). Autoradiographic film was purchased from Ultident Scientific (St. Laurent, PQ, Canada).

Human tissues

A subset of non-smoker and smoker individuals from our other study investigating human brain CYP2D6 (Miksys *et al.*, 2002) was reassessed for CYP2D6 levels across several brain regions (**Table 6**). We have assayed additional samples (see Miksys et al., 2002 for

methods) and reassessed the data subdivided by smoking status. Human brain tissues were obtained from the Brain Endowment Bank, University of Miami.

Case	Age	PMI	Smoking	Genotype
C1	53	7.5	None	*1/*4
C3	46	13	None	*1/*4
C8	22	26	None	*1/*1
C9	35	18	None	*1/*4
C10	42	13	None	*1/*5
C11	39	24	None	*1/*4
C12	26	14	None	*1/*1
C13	17	15	None	*1/*5
C14	39	19	None	*1/*5
C15	25	13.5	None	*1/*1
C16	19	8.5	None	*1/*1
C17	37	14.5	None	*1/*4
C18	88	23.5	None	*1/*1
C19	65	18	None	*1/*1
C20	66	28	None	*1/*1
A1	58	9.8	None	*1/*1
C2	38	29.5	Yes ^a	*1/*4
C4	29	21	Yes ^a	*1/*1
C5	55	12	3-5 cig/d	*1/*1
A2	44	21.8	2 pk/d	*1/*4
A3	38	21	Yes ^a	*1/*5
A4	53	23	1 pk/d	*1/*1
A5	44	12	Yes ^a	*1/*4
A6	48	18	3 pk/d	*1/*5
A7	65	19	2 pk/d	*1/*4
A8	52	22	2-3 pk/d	*1/*1

Table 6: Demographics, smoking status and genotype of tissue donors.

^a Unknown number of cigarettes/day. Donor A6 was African American, donor A8 was a Caucasian female, all other donors were Caucasian males. 1 pk/d =20 cigarettes (cig) smoked per day. PMI: postmortem interval (hr); Pk/d: packs/day; Cig/d: cigarettes/day.

Animals

Young adult male African Green monkeys (Chlorocebus aethiops), were housed and treated at the Behavioural Sciences Foundation, Caribbean Primates Laboratory (St. Kitts). The saline-treated group (n=6) received saline injections (s.c., b.i.d.) for 22 days. The nicotinetreated group (n=6) received nicotine bitartrate injections (nicotine base in saline, pH 7.0, s.c., b.i.d) at 0.05 mg/kg for 2 days, then 0.15 mg/kg for 2 days followed by 0.3 mg/kg for 18 days. The final daily dose of nicotine administered to the monkeys (0.6 mg/kg, as 0.3 mg/kg b.i.d.) is similar to the average daily amount of nicotine (0.53 mg/kg) self-administered by a 70-kg smoker (Benowitz & Jacob, 1984). Peak plasma nicotine levels in human smokers range from 19-50 ng/ml (Schneider et al., 2001). In monkeys based on a 0.1 mg/kg pre-treatment nicotine challenge dose, 0.3 mg/kg twice daily dose was estimated to produce nicotine plasma levels higher than 20 ng/ml for approximately 19 h per day during nicotine treatment (Lee *et al.*, 2006a). Monkeys were given standard rations of Purina monkey chow, supplemented with fresh fruit and vegetables, and drinking water was available ad libitum. On day 22, 6 h after the morning drug injection, the animals were sacrificed under ketamine anaesthesia. Organs were immediately dissected, one-half was flash frozen and stored at -80 °C until further use, and the other half was fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde. The experimental protocol was reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Board of the St. Kitts Behavioural Sciences Foundation and the University of Toronto Animal Care Committee. All procedures Immunocytochemical (ICC) CYP2D analysis was performed on frozen sections of fixed tissue as previously described (Lee et al., 2006a). Frozen sections were blocked for 1 h in 1% w/v skimmed milk, 1% w/v BSA, 2% v/v normal horse serum (NHS) and 0.01% v/v Triton X-100 in PBS, and incubated for 48 h at 4 °C in polyclonal anti-CYP2D6-peptide antiserum (PAb Cribb was diluted 1:500 in PBS with 0.1% BSA and 2% NHS). The antigen-antibody complex was

visualized using biotinylated goat antirabbit immunoglobulin (diluted 1:500 in PBS) followed by the avidin–biotin complex technique and reaction with DAB and hydrogen peroxide. Negative control sections were incubated with pre-immune serum in place of antiserum. The levels of CYP2D were subjectively assigned by two independent individuals, blinded to treatment, as intense, strong, moderate, weak or absent.

Whole membrane preparation and protein assay

Human tissue membranes were isolated and prepared as previously described (Miksys *et al.*, 2002). Monkey tissues from 12 brain regions were dissected by visual differentiation of the major brain regions based on brain atlases for the crab-eating macaque (Macaca fascicularis) (Martin & Bowden, 2000) and rhesus monkey (Macaca mulatta) (Snider, 1961) as previously described (Joshi & Tyndale, 2006b; Lee *et al.*, 2006a). Briefly, brain sections were homogenized in 100 mM Tris, 0.1 mM EDTA, 0.1 mM DDT and 0.32 M sucrose (pH 7.4) and then centrifuged at 3000g for 10 min at 4 °C. The supernatant was collected and the pellet resuspended and centrifuged again at 3000g for 10 min at 4 °C. The combined supernatant was centrifuged at 110 000g for 90 min at 4 °C and the pellet resuspended in 100 mM Tris, 0.1 mM EDTA, 0.1 mM DDT, 1.15% w/v KC1 and 20% v/v glycerol. The membranes were aliquoted and stored at -80 °C. The protein content of brain membranes was assayed using the Bradford technique with a Bio-Rad Protein Assay kit.

Western blotting

Human brain membranes (50 µg) were separated on a 10% separating and 4.5% stacking SDS-PAGE. The proteins were transferred overnight onto nitrocellulose membranes and probed with polyclonal CYP2D6 antibody diluted 1:2000 with TBS-T followed by peroxidase-conjugated anti-rabbit secondary antibody diluted (1:3000). Monkey brain

membranes were serially diluted to generate standard curves and to establish a linear detection range for the assay. Membrane proteins (10–60 µg) were separated by SDS-PAGE using a 4% stacking and 8% or 10% separating gel. To detect the CYP2D6-immunoreactive protein, described as monkey CYP2D, the membranes were incubated for 1 h in a blocking solution of 2% w/v skim milk powder or 2% gelatin, 0.1% BSA, 0.1% Triton X-100 and Tris buffer (TBS-T, 50 mM Tris, 150 mM NaCl, pH 7.4). The membranes were then incubated for 1 h at room temperature or overnight at 4 °C with PAb diluted 1:1000 in 0.1% BSA in TBS-T followed by three washes of 5 min each with TBS-T. Membranes were re-blocked with the same initial blocking solution for 45 min.

The membranes were incubated for 1 h with horseradish peroxidase-conjugated antisheep secondary antibody diluted 1:1500 in 0.1% BSA in TBS-T followed by three washes for 5 min each with TBS-T. Monkey CYP2D protein was then detected using chemiluminescence and exposure to autoradiographic film for 45 sec -5 min. MCID Elite imaging software (Interfocus Imaging Ltd., Linton, UK) was used to analyze the films. To detect changes in brain CYP2D upon nicotine treatment, both saline- and nicotine treated animals were run on the same western blot for each brain region. The saline distribution was determined by running all 12 brain regions on a single gel for each animal. Baseline corrections were made by subtracting the density of the film background from the band density.

For antibody purification with monkey liver, 80 μ g (excess) of liver microsomes were separated in an 8% gel, transferred as described above, and membranes were incubated overnight with the PAb (1:1000) and washed 3 times for 5 min, as described above. The blots were then placed into elution buffer (200 mM glycine and 0.2% gelatin pH 2.8) for 10 min at 37 °C with agitation. Following elution the pH was adjusted to ~7 using 1 M Tris and the eluted PAb was used to probe membranes as described above. Peptide preabsorption was carried out by incubating the immunogenic peptide with PAb (1:1000) in TBS-T and 0.1% BSA at a 10:1 ratio (peptide:antibody) overnight at 4 °C prior to probing blots.

Statistical analysis

The comparison of brain CYP2D levels among brain regions of saline-treated monkeys was evaluated using one-way ANOVA followed by a Bonferroni's *post-hoc* test. The comparisons of brain region CYP2D protein levels between saline- and nicotine-treated monkeys were evaluated using a two-way ANOVA followed by testing each region between treatments using a least significant difference (LSD) post-hoc test. Results were expressed as mean and standard deviation (S.D.), which represent the average of six monkeys per group with the assay repeated 4–6 times. For substantia nigra tissue only four saline-treated animals, and for brainstem tissue only five saline- and five nicotine-treated animals, were available for assessment. Outliers were defined within a single western blot as 2x S.D., and removed from the analysis.

Results

Smokers have higher brain CYP2D6 than non-smokers

In humans, there were significantly higher levels of CYP2D6 in some brain regions of smokers compared to non-smokers (**Figure. 12**), such as the globus pallidus (7.9-fold), substantia nigra (3.5-fold) and the cerebellum (4.3-fold). This data should be interpreted cautiously due to the limited sample size. However, the observation of higher levels of CYP2D6 in specific brain regions of smokers provided the impetus for the subsequent studies using nicotine treatments.



Figure 12: Human CYP2D6 levels are higher in some brain regions of smokers compared to non-smokers.

The dotted line represents the relative level of brain CYP2D6 in nonsmokers. There are significantly higher levels of CYP2D6 in smokers (n =10) relative to non-smokers (n = 3–16) in the globus pallidus, substantia nigra and cerebellum (mean-SD; *P = 0.04, **P = 0.02, **P = 0.008 using Student's *t*-test). FC, frontal cortex; TC, temporal cortex; CG, cingulate gyrus; OC, occipital cortex; HC, hippocampus; EC, entorhinal cortex; CD, caudate nucleus; PT, putamen; NA, nucleus accumbens; GP, globus pallidus; SN, substantia nigra; Cv, cerebellar vermis; Ch, cerebellar hemisphere.

CYP2D is expressed in the monkey brain

There was no cross-reactivity of PAb with cDNA-expressed CYP1A2, CYP2E1, CYP2B6, CYP3A4, CYP2C19 and CYP2A6, but there was minor cross-reactivity with CYP1A1 (Figure 13A). CYP1A1 was detected with lower intensity despite the much higher (7 times) amount loaded compared to CYP2D6, and the migration of CYP1A1 was much faster than CYP2D6. The PAb detected monkey CYP2D protein in both liver and brain. One CYP2D band was detected in the liver and two bands in monkey brain (Figure 13B). Monkey liver purified PAb detected the same two bands (Figure 13C right) as those detected by the unpurified antibody (Figure 13C left) strongly suggesting that the CYP2D bands detected in brain are immunologically similar if not identical to monkey liver CYP2D. Preabsorption with the immunizing peptide completely abolished CYP2D immuno-detection in both the monkey liver and brain (Figure 13C centre), indicating the specificity of the PAb for CYP2D6. The lower of the two bands co-migrated with monkey liver and cDNA-expressed CYP2D6 (Figure **13B**). Though some regions such as the CD had high expression of the top band, the overall expression was highly variable between saline-treated animals and was not significantly different among brain regions (ANOVA P=0.282). Furthermore, the top band did not significantly differ between saline- and nicotine-treated groups for any brain region (two-way ANOVA P=0.521, Df =1, F=0.414). For the purpose of this paper, only the bottom band is discussed as this band more closely resembles monkey liver CYP2D in terms of its migration and was affected by chronic nicotine treatment. Dilution curves were generated using brain regions from saline-treated animals including cerebellum, temporal cortex, thalamus, entorhinal cortex and occipital cortex. A representative dilution blot is illustrated in Figure 13B and these dilution curves were used to determine the linear range of detection for the assay (Figure 13D). A loading concentration of 25 µg was selected, so either a linear induction or reduction of brain CYP2D could be detected in the nicotine-treated group.



Figure 13: CYP2D is detectable and quantifiable in monkey brain

(A) A western blot testing the cross-reactivity of the PAb with cDNA-expressed CYPs. CYPs were loaded at 1 pmol, except CYP2D6 which was loaded at 0.15 pmol (7 times lower concentration than other CYPs); monkey liver was loaded at 5 μ g. (B) A representative blot of increasing amount of monkey thalamus (TH) membrane used to generate a standard curve. This blot shows the comigration of the lower brain CYP2D6-immunoreactive protein (CYP2D) band with 5 μ g monkey liver and 0.15 pmol of cDNA-expressed CYP2D6. (C) Three separate western blots (separated by the dotted lines) probed with: PAb in the absence of the immunogenic peptide (left), PAb in the presence of the immunogenic peptide (left), PAb in the presence of the same time. Monkey liver was loaded at 5 μ g and caudate at 25 μ g. In lane 3, 25 μ g of caudate and 2.5 μ g of liver were loaded together to determine the comigration of brain and liver CYP2D as the amount of protein loaded or sample composition can alter migration of proteins in a high resolution gel. (D) A standard curve for the lower band of thalamus membrane, used to determine the linear range of detection and optimal loading amounts (n=3 western blots).

Expression patterns of brain CYP2D in saline-treated monkeys

The expression of CYP2D was measured by western blotting in the 12 brain regions examined from saline-treated monkeys (Figure 14). The CYP2D levels among different regions were highly variable (ANOVA, P < 0.001). There was a 10.8-fold difference between the highest and lowest CYP2D expressing regions, brainstem and entorhinal cortex, respectively. CYP2D in the brainstem was significantly higher than all regions (P < 0.001). Bonferroni *post-hoc* test). ICC of brain sections showed cell-specific CYP2D expression in certain regions (Table 7 and Figure 15). Specific cells in the hippocampus CA3 polymorphic layer lining the cerebral aquaduct, in the thalamus and in the pontine nucleus, showed moderate staining for CYP2D compared with the surrounding cells and tissue (Figure 15). There was also some staining in Purkinje cells and in glial cells in the white matter of the cerebellum (Table 7 and Figure 18D,F). Regions such as the hippocampus, which displayed very low levels of basal expression using western blotting (Figure 14), showed moderate staining in some neurons using ICC (Figure 15A), demonstrating the advantage of assessing the regional and cellular expression of CYP2D in brain by both of these techniques. No staining was seen in sections of brain tissue when incubated with pre-immune serum as a control (Figure 15E).



Figure 14: Significant variation in expression of monkey brain CYP2D across 12 brain regions in saline-treated monkeys

(A) Brain CYP2D levels across various brain regions (mean-SD) from six saline-treated monkeys assessed by western blotting. BS had significantly higher levels of CYP2D than all other regions (*P < 0.001 Bonferroni *post hoc* test). (B) A representative western blot of a saline-treated monkey (25 µg of protein per region). FC, frontal cortex; TC, temporal cortex; PC, parietal cortex; OC, occipital cortex; HC hippocampus; EC, entorhinal cortex; CD, caudate; PT, putamen; TH, thalamus; SN, substantia nigra; CB, cerebellum; BS, brainstem

Brain Region	Saline	Nicotine
Cortex		
layer I	-	-
layer II	-	++
layers III-VI	-	+++
white matter	+ (astrocytes)	+
Hippocampus		
dentate gyrus	-	+
CA1-3		
pyramidal cells	-	+
polymorphic	++	++
molecular	+	+
subiculum II-IV	-	+
Entorhinal cortex II-IV	+	+
Caudate	++	+++
Putamen	++	+++
Nucleus accumbens	+	+
Globus pallidus		
internal	++	++
External	++	++
Substantia nigra		
pars compacta	++	++++
pars reticulata	++	++++
Thalamus		
ventral posteriolateral		
nucleus	++	++
Cerebellum		
molecular layer	+	+
Purkinje cells	+	++++
granule cell layer	+	+
white matter	-	_/+
cerebellar nuclei neurons	+	+++
Brain Stem		
motor nuclei neurons	++	++
aquaduct	+++	+++
Lateral geniculate nucleus	++	++

Table 7: Brain CYP2D protein immunocytochemical staining in saline- and chronic nicotine-treated monkeys

++++ intense, +++strong, ++moderate, +weak, - no staining





(A) There was intense immunoreactivity seen in neurons (arrows) in the CA3 polymorphic layer in the hippocampus. (B) Cells lining the cerebral aquaduct (*) intensely stained for CYP2D. (C) Neurons in the thalamus (arrows) moderately immunostained for CYP2D. (D) Neurons and cell tracts in the pontine nucleus intensely immunostained for CYP2D. (E) No staining in absence of primary antibody. Bar: 100 µm.
Induction of monkey brain CYP2D by chronic nicotine treatment

CYP2D levels were significantly different among brain regions in both the saline- and nicotine-treatment groups (two-way ANOVA; P<0.001, Df=11, F=48.00) and between treatments (P < 0.001, Df=1, F=26.84). A significant interaction was also observed between treatment and brain region on CYP2D expression (P<0.001, Df=11, F=11.50). CYP2D levels in the liver remained unchanged after chronic nicotine treatment (Figure 16). Using the LSD post-hoc test we found that compared to saline-treated monkeys, CYP2D levels in nicotinetreated monkeys were significantly higher in the putamen (2.1-fold, P=0.001), substantia nigra (3-fold, P=0.01) and brainstem (2.4-fold, P=0.001). The caudate nucleus also showed induction of CYP2D which approached significance (1.6-fold, P=0.07). A significant decrease was observed in the parietal cortex (0.6-fold, P=0.01) and thalamus (0.8-fold, P=0.02). Other regions examined showed no significant differences in levels of CYP2D between saline- and nicotine-treated monkeys. Induction of CYP2D by chronic nicotine in the substantia nigra was also observed using ICC where the neurons in the pars compacta and neuronal tracts in pars reticulata stained more intensely for CYP2D compared to saline (Table 7 and Figure 17). Although the frontal cortex and cerebellum displayed no change in CYP2D levels with chronic nicotine treatment when assayed by western blotting (Figure 16), the intensity of staining for CYP2D was higher in specific cells such as pyramidal neurons in layers III–V of the frontal cortex (Table 7 and Figure 18B,C), and Purkinje cells and neurons in the deep cerebellar nuclei of the cerebellum (Table 7 and Figure 18D-G) in nicotine-treated animals.



Figure 16: Induction of monkey brain CYP2D following chronic nicotine treatment

(A) A bar graph representing relative change in each region upon nicotine treatment. Mean levels-SD of CYP2D in nicotine-treated monkeys relative to the mean levels in saline treated monkeys. The dotted line at 1 represents relative levels of brain CYP2D levels in saline treated monkeys. There were significantly higher levels of CYP2D in nicotine treated (n = 4–6) compared to saline-treated (n=5–6) monkeys (LSD *post-hoc* test) in putamen (PT), substantia nigra (SN) and brainstem (BS). The caudate nucleus (CD) also showed induction of CYP2D that approached significance. There were significantly lower CYP2D levels in parietal cortex (PC) and thalamus (TH) in the nicotine-treated animals. There was no difference in monkey liver (LV) CYP2D between saline- and nicotine treatments. **Inset** shows brain CYP2D levels (mean - SD) in saline- (white bars) and nicotine-treated (dark bars) monkeys. **(B)** Representative western blots from select brain regions. See Figure 3 for brain region abbreviations; **P*=0.07, ***P*<0.05, ****P*=0.001.



Figure 17: Higher CYP2D immunostaining in substantia nigra of nicotine-treated animals

Neurons in the substantia nigra pars compacta show less intense staining in saline-treated animals (A, arrow) compared to nicotine-treated animals (B, arrow). There was no staining observed in the absence of primary antibody (C). Cell tracts in the substantia nigra pars reticulata stained less intensely in saline-treated animals (D, arrow) compared to nicotine-treated animals (E, arrow). Bar: 100 μ m, for A–E.



Figure 18: Higher CYP2D immunostaining in frontal cortex and cerebellum of nicotine-treated animals

(A) No immunostaining of sections incubated without primary antibody. (B) There was no immunostaining of neurons in layers of frontal cortex, including pyramidal cells in layers III–V (inset), in saline-treated animals. (C) In nicotine-treated animals, neurons in layers II–VI of the frontal cortex showed strong CYP2D immunostaining, including pyramidal cells in layers III–V (inset). (D) There was weak immunostaining in granule cell (GCL), molecular (ML) and Purkinje cell (PC) layers but very little immunostaining in the white matter of cerebellum in saline-treated animals. (E) In nicotine-treated animals, there was more intense staining seen in Purkinje cells (arrow). There was slightly more immunostaining of small cells in the cerebellar white matter of nicotine-treated animals (G) compared to saline-treated animals (F). However in saline treated animals there was very little staining of neurons in deep cerebellar nuclei (F inset), but strong staining of these cells in nicotine-treated animals (G inset). Bar: 50 μm.

Discussion

This is the first study to show the induction of CYP2D in a nonhuman primate brain by a commonly used drug, nicotine. The induction of CYP2D by nicotine is brain region-specific and cell specific (in select regions), with no change observed in liver. The induction within the brain is striking as CYP2D6 is considered uninducible in the liver by drugs and xenobiotics that readily induce other CYPs (i.e. phenobarbital) (Rae *et al.*, 2001; Edwards *et al.*, 2003).

Here we report that smokers have higher CYP2D6 in the brain, specifically in the basal ganglia, compared to non-smokers. We also show that nicotine, the most psychoactive agent in cigarette smoke, alone can induce CYP2D in primate brain. Of note, the induction is in similar regions to those where higher levels were observed in human smokers. This data strongly suggests that nicotine in cigarette smoke is responsible, at least in part, for the higher levels of brain CYP2D6 found in smokers. As induced CYP2D6 may be neuroprotective against PD, nicotine therapy may mimic the neuroprotective effects of smoking against PD.

We have described CYP2D6 expression and induction in a nonhuman primate brain. While rodents provide good models of some brain CYP expression and induction, they differ from primates in many respects. Rats often have multiple forms of a CYP enzyme, such as CYP2D, and their brain is structurally different from that of primates. In our previous studies on brain expression and induction of other CYP enzymes, we have not always seen good concordance between rodents and primates, either monkeys or humans. It was therefore important to investigate CYP2D expression and induction by nicotine in a non-human primate, where we have control over drug, dosing and environmental influences, unlike in human postmortem brain studies. Nicotine metabolism is different between rats and primates. Monkeys metabolize nicotine in a similar manner to humans, via the CYP2A6-mediated pathway (Schoedel *et al.*, 2003), while in rats nicotine is metabolized primarily by CYP2B1/2

103

(Nakayama *et al.*, 1993). Furthermore, monkeys and humans respond similarly to neurotoxins (i.e. MPTP), and in PD models monkeys exhibit similar Parkinsonian symptoms to humans (Quik *et al.*, 2006a; Quik *et al.*, 2006b; Quik *et al.*, 2007b).

Understanding the causes of altered levels of CYP2D in the brain and being able to mimic these alterations is important because this enzyme is involved in the inactivation of many neurotoxins and the metabolism of many CNS-acting drugs. Inhibition studies in liver microsomes indicate that CYP2D6 contributes up to 50% of MPTP inactivation (Coleman et al., 1996). In rat striatum, Vaglini et al. (2004) showed the localized inactivation of MPTP to PTP, a product generated largely by CYP2D. Neuroprotective effects against MPTP and MPP⁺ by CYP2D6 have been demonstrated in PC12 cells overexpressing this enzyme (Matoh et al., 2003). Data from female dark Agouti rats, which are deficient in CYP2D activity, provides evidence of increased susceptibility to the effects of neurotoxins such as MPTP. More pronounced effects of MPTP and longer reductions of motor activity were observed in dark Agouti rats compared to other strains (Jimenez-Jimenez et al., 1991). Human individuals genetically lacking a functional CYP2D6 are at increased risk for PD (McCann et al., 1997), perhaps due to the inability to inactivate PD-causing neurotoxins. Conversely, smokers have a reduced risk for developing PD, and nicotine, a component in smoke, is known to be neuroprotective in animal models of PD (Quik et al., 2006b).

CYP2D is expressed in the pigmented neurons of rat substantia nigra (Riedl *et al.*, 1996; Riedl *et al.*, 1999), and is co-localized with tyrosine hydroxylase (Watts *et al.*, 1998) and the dopamine transporter (Tyndale *et al.*, 1991). The expression of CYP2D in the substantia nigra, in cells that degenerate in PD, indicates that the enzyme is ideally situated to inactivate PD-causing neurotoxins. Here, we show that smokers have higher CYP2D6 and that nicotine induces monkey brain CYP2D significantly in the regions affected in PD such as the substantia

nigra. The increased levels of brain CYP2D6 in and around these specific brain regions may compete with neurotoxin activating enzymes (i.e. monoamine oxidase) and increase localized inactivation of neurotoxins, thereby protecting cells from damage by the reactive metabolite. Overall, this is important as it suggests that nicotine alone may be able to mimic the protection seen in smokers through this mechanism.

Epidemiological studies looking at CYP2D6 PM's risk for PD have not been stratified by smoking status (McCann *et al.*, 1997). Since EM-smokers likely have higher levels of brain CYP2D6 compared to EM-non-smokers, there may be a substantial gene–environment risk interaction, such that PMs have increased relative risk compared to EM-non-smokers, who have higher risk than EM smokers. Therefore, to obtain a better understanding of CYP2D6 influences in EMs, future association studies should attempt to stratify CYP2D6 EMs as smokers and non-smokers.

In addition to inactivating neurotoxins, CYP2D6 metabolizes a number of CNS-acting drugs and endogenous substrates. The region- and cell-specific localization of CYP2D in the brain may create metabolic microenvironments. Altered levels of CYP2D6 in these microenvironments may significantly influence localized drug metabolism and resulting drug response (Britto & Wedlund, 1992). There is evidence of very poor correlation between drug effect and plasma levels for neuroleptics and antidepressants (Michels & Marzuk, 1993a). Localized CNS drug metabolism may contribute to this poor relationship, and this effect may be exacerbated in those exposed to cigarette smoke and/or on nicotine therapy, where they may experience altered therapeutic drug effect.

Accurately assessing brain CYP expression can be challenging knowing that (a) the brain is a very heterogeneous organ, (b) members of the CYP family have overlapping amino acid sequences and (c) polyclonal antibodies have multiplicity in epitope specificities towards

105

their target (Ng *et al.*, 2003). We developed a reliable assay which was both selective for detecting a CYP2D6-like protein in monkey brain, and was sensitive enough to detect low levels of this enzyme and changes following nicotine treatment. The detection of a single CYP2D band in monkey liver and multiple bands in the brain, by both unpurified and liver purified PAb, suggests possible expression of alternative forms of CYP2D in brain. These various forms may represent mRNA splice variants, post-translationally modified variants, or tissue-specific isoforms of CYP2D in the monkey brain. Functional brain-specific CYP2D isoforms have previously been identified in rodent (i.e. CYP2D18) (Kawashima *et al.*, 1996). Since there was no influence of nicotine treatment on the top band and no reduction in the top band when the bottom band was induced (i.e. caudate and putamen), this suggests a difference in regulation of the two CYP2D forms detected in monkey brain.

Studies across different species show that CYP2D is typically localized in specific brain regions and cells (i.e. pyramidal neurons in frontal cortex) (Norris *et al.*, 1996; Miksys *et al.*, 2000b; Siegle *et al.*, 2001). The brain region-, and cell-specific induction of CYPs by chronic nicotine treatment also occurs for monkey CYP2B6 (Lee *et al.*, 2006a) and CYP2E1 (Joshi & Tyndale, 2006b) although the patterns of induction differ for each enzyme. Recently, our laboratory showed that chronic nicotine treatment significantly induced rat CYP2D protein in the striatum, cerebellum and hippocampus (Yue *et al.*, 2008). The overall expression profile of human CYP2D6 (Miksys *et al.*, 2002) is different from rodent brain (Yue *et al.*, 2008), but to some extent resembles the patterns observed here in monkey brain. This further supports the use of a monkey model to study the expression/induction patterns of primate brain CYP2D6. No changes in mRNA levels were observed with nicotine treatment in rats, suggesting that the induction may be a result of posttranscriptional modification (Yue *et al.*, 2008) and unchanged

hepatic CYP2D6 in smokers (Funck-Brentano *et al.*, 2005), no change in monkey liver CYP2D with nicotine treatment was observed. This suggests that CYP2D is differentially regulated in extrahepatic tissues, specifically in the brain. Some differences in CYP2D levels observed between human, monkey and rat brains may be due to species differences, difference in nicotine dosing regimens or routes of administration (inhaling cigarette smoke vs. double/single bolus of nicotine s.c.) and/or the length of treatment (years vs. 22 days vs. 7 days).

In conclusion, brain CYP2D6 is higher in human smokers and nicotine induces brain CYP2D in monkey without altering hepatic CYP2D levels. The expression and induction of monkey brain CYP2D is region- and cell-specific, with the highest levels of induced CYP2D observed in the basal ganglia, including the substantia nigra. The localization of CYP2D in dopaminergic neuron rich regions, as well as in astrocytes makes this enzyme ideally situated to defend against neurotoxins and play a possible role in protecting against PD. In addition, the ability of nicotine to induce monkey brain CYP2D in a similar pattern to that observed in smokers may mean that nicotine can provide a healthier means of neuroprotection against PD than smoking. Altered levels of brain CYP2D may also significantly influence localized CNS drug metabolism and drug effect in a large portion of the population, which includes active and passive smokers, and those exposed to nicotine as a therapeutic.

Acknowledgments

Funding for this work was provided by the Centre for Addiction and Mental Health, CIHR Grant (MOP14173) and a Canada Research Chair in Pharmacogenetics to Dr R.F. Tyndale. Additional support was provided by CIHR Tobacco Use in Special Populations Fellowship to A. Mann. Dr. R.F. Tyndale has shares in Nicogen Research Inc. Funds were not received from Nicogen for these studies, nor was this manuscript reviewed by individuals associated with Nicogen. We would like to thank Dr. Roberta Palmour for assistance with the experiments and Ewa Hoffmann for genotyping the human brains.

Significance of chapter

This was the first study to examine the constitutive expression of CYP2D6 protein in the monkey brain. The expression was observed to be brain region and cell specific (i.e., cerebellar Purkinje cells). Furthermore, we showed that CYP2D6, which is considered uninducible in the liver, could be induced in the brain in a region- and cell-specific manner by nicotine. Similarly, smokers had significantly higher brain CYP2D6 levels in select brain regions, including the SN, compared to non-smokers. The high expression of CYP2D6 and inducibility by nicotine in the basal ganglia and the SN could be of importance in PD as these brain structures are directly affected. Both the ideal localization, and induction of CYP2D6 in these regions, may increase local inactivation of endogenous and/or exogenous neurotoxins reducing CNS damage. Increased CYP2D6 levels in the brain may be one mechanism of neuroprotection elicited by smoking and nicotine. Overall, changes in brain CYP2D6 expression in select-regions and -cell types may influence localized substrate metabolism affecting neurotoxin inactivation, metabolism of neurosteroids and neurotransmitters, and the levels of CNS acting drugs.

Chapter 3: The neuroprotective enzyme CYP2D6 increases in the brain with age and is lower in Parkinson's disease patients.

Amandeep Mann, Sharon L. Miksys, Andrea Gaedigk, Stephen J. Kish, Deborah C. Mash, and

Rachel F. Tyndale

Dr. Rachel F. Tyndale, Dr. Sharon L. Miksys and Amandeep Mann designed the study. Amandeep Mann (1) optimized the assay to specifically detect human brain CYP2D6, (2) conducted the western blotting to measure changes in brain CYP2D6 with age and difference in CYP2D6 between PD cases and controls, (3) optimized and performed fluorescent immunocytochemistry in PD cases and controls, (4) preformed the data analysis and (5) wrote the manuscript with assistance from Dr. Rachel F. Tyndale. Dr. Sharon L. Miksys conducted the western blotting for some of the age samples and edited the manuscript. Dr. Andrea Gaedigk provided fetal samples for the ontogeny study and conducted the extensive genotyping for all samples used in this study. Dr. Stephen Kish provided samples used in the ontogeny study. Dr. Deborah Mash provided samples of PD cases and age-matched control. All authours edited the manuscript.

Abstract:

CYP2D6 is a drug metabolizing enzyme expressed in the brain that also metabolizes endogenous neural compounds (i.e. catecholamines) and inactivates neurotoxins (i.e. MPTP, TIQ). Genetically poor *CYP2D6* metabolizers are at higher risk for developing Parkinson's disease (PD), a risk that increases with exposure to pesticides. As age is a risk factor for PD we measured the ontogenic expression of CYP2D6 in human brain, and compared brain CYP2D6 levels in PD cases to age-matched controls. CYP2D6 increased from fetal to 80 years of age (n=76), exhibiting three distinct phases of change. Compared to PD controls, PD cases had ~40% lower CYP2D6 levels in the frontal cortex, cerebellum, and the hippocampus, even when controlling for *CYP2D6* genotype. In contrast, CYP2D6 levels in cases were similar to controls in PD-affected brain areas, the substantia nigra and caudate, consistent with higher astrocytic and cellular CYP2D6 staining observed in PD cases. In summary, the lower CYP2D6 levels in PD cases may have reduced their ability to inactivate PD-causing neurotoxins contributing to their disease risk.

Introduction:

Parkinson's disease (PD) is a neurodegenerative disorder with a poorly characterized etiopathology. While aging is a substantial risk factor for developing PD (Lang & Lozano, 1998; Grosset G. D., 2009), individuals that are either genetically predisposed and/or exposed to endogenous or environmental neurotoxins may have accelerated CNS damage leading to PD. It has been proposed that individuals with genetic variants in the *CYP2D6* gene, encoding a non-functional enzyme, have an increased risk for PD which is further increased with exposure to pesticides (McCann *et al.*, 1997; Deng *et al.*, 2004; Elbaz *et al.*, 2004).

CYP2D6 can inactivate neurotoxins such as MPTP (Modi *et al.*, 1997), TIQ (Suzuki *et al.*, 1992), and β -carbolines (Yu *et al.*, 2003d). Furthermore, CYP2D6 can metabolize neurotransmitters including dopamine and serotonin, plus a variety of CNS acting drugs including antidepressants, analgesics, antipsychotics (Wang *et al.*, 2009). Importantly, functional CYP2D6 is expressed in the brain notably within the basal ganglia, a primary area affected in PD (Tyndale *et al.*, 1999; Mann *et al.*, 2008; Bromek *et al.*). Altering CYP2D6 expression and activity in neurological cell lines can influence MPP⁺ neurotoxicity; high levels of CYP2D6 are neuroprotective while low levels reduce the neuroprotection (Matoh *et al.*, 2003; Mann & Tyndale). Thus CYP2D6 may play an important role in localized CNS toxin inactivation, which is of particular relevance in PD.

CYP2D6 is genetically polymorphic resulting in large interindividual variability in expression. Brain CYP2D6 protein levels are further influenced by environmental factors (i.e. smoking) unlike CYP2D6 in the liver (Mann *et al.*, 2008; De Gregori *et al.*). This variability may affect susceptibility of individuals to environmental neurotoxins altering their risk for developing PD. Here we genotyped for multiple *CYP2D6* alleles, measured the ontogenic

development of CYP2D6 in the frontal cortex, and determined brain CYP2D6 protein levels in PD cases and age-matched controls.

Methods:

Human tissues

Whole fetal brains (n=18; -226 to -163 days gestational age) were received from the University of Maryland Brain and Tissue Bank of Developmental Disorders (Baltimore, MD). Samples of neonatal to adult frontal cortex (n=58) were obtained from the CAMH (Toronto, ON) and the Brain Endowment Bank, University of Miami (Miami, FL). PD cases and age matched PD controls (n=12/group) were also obtained from the Brain Endowment Bank. PD samples were selected based on neuropathological diagnosis of PD based on the UK PD Society Brain Bank diagnostic criteria and severity of the Hoehn and Yahr scale (Hoehn & Yahr, 1967; Hughes *et al.*, 1992). Controls were selected based on age and no history or neuropathological diagnosis of neurologic or psychiatric disease. Agonal state questionnaire provided information about the events 48 hours prior to death and was used to exclude cases based on prolonged periods of hypoxia or anoxia. **Table 8** summarizes the demographics of all samples used in this study (n=88). This study was approved by the ethics review boards of all four institutions.

Ontogeny Samples				
Age at death	N		Mean (range)	P Value ^a
Fetal	18		84.6 (54-117 days)	
Postnatal				
0-0.9 years	22		0.32 (0-0.92 years)	0.001
1-19 years	13		7.5 (1.5-18 years)	
20-78 years	23		40.1 (21-78 years)	
Postmortem Interval			Mean (range)	P Value ^a
Fetal			Unknown	
Postnatal				
0-0.9 years			12.9 (3-26 hours)	0.19
1-19 years			12.9 (6-27 hours)	
20-78 years			15.5 (5-29 hours)	
Gender	Male	Female	Unknown	P Value ^b
Fetal	6 (33%)	3 (17%)	9 (50%)	1.0
Postnatal			•	
0-0.9 years	13 (59%)	9 (41%)		0.25
1-19 years	9 (69%)	4 (21%)		1.0
20-78 years	19 (83%)	4 (17%)		0.16
	Null/Null, Slow/Slow	Wt/Null, Wt/Slow ^d	Wt/Wt ^e	f
CYP2D6 genotype	(Activity score 0-1) ^c	(Activity score 1-1.5) ^c	(Activity score 2) ^c	P Value ⁴
Fetal	8 (62%)	4 (31%)	6 (46%)	0.34
Postnatal	1	1	1	
0-0.9 years	6 (27%)	11 (50%)	5 (23%)	0.59
1-19 years	1 (8%)	7 (54%)	5 (38%)	0.19
20-78 years	3 (13%)	15 (65%)	5 (22%)	0.73
Parkinson's Disease Cases & Controls				
		PD Controls (N=12)	PD Cases (N=12)	P value
Age	Onset	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	67 (54-77 y)	
	Death	69 (53-88 y)	75 (53-83 y)	0.23 ^g
Gender	Male	7 (58%)	9 (75%)	0.33 ^h
Gender	Female	5 (41%)	3 (25%)	
Ethnicity	Caucasian	11 (92%)	12 (100%)	1 0 ^h
	Hispanic	1 (8%)	0 (0%)	
Smoking	Non-Smoker	7 (58%)	9 (75%)	0.33 ^h
	Smoker	5 (41%)	3 (25%)	0.00
	Null/Null, Slow/Slow			
	(Activity score 0-1) ^c	1 (8%)	4 (33%)	0.07
	Wt/Null, Wt/Slow			
CYP2D6	(Activity score 1-1.5) ^c	8 (67%)	5 (42%)	0.60
Genotype	Wt/Wt	2 (250/)	2(250/)	1.0
	(Activity score 2)	3 (23%)	3 (23%)	1.0

Table 8: Demographics of tissue donors used to assess the ontogeny of CYP2D6 and of PD cases and PD controls.

Table 8 values are presented as Mean (range) or N (% of total N)

- a. One way ANOVA between age groups
- b. Two tailed Fisher's exact test comparing males and females in each age group vs. the total remaining males and females
- c. Predicted CYP2D6 activity score based on genotype (Gaedigk *et al.*, 2008); *CYP2D6* allele grouping: Wt, wild-type (*1, *2); Slow (*9, *10, *17, *29, *41); Null (*3, *4, *5, *6)
- d. Included in group A to determine genotype impact on ontogenic expression of CYP2D6
- e. Included in group A and B to determine genotype impact on ontogenic expression of CYP2D6
- f. Two tailed Fisher's exact test comparing variant and wild-type alleles in each age group vs. the total remaining variant and wild-type alleles
- g. Two-tailed Student's *t*-test
- h. Two-tailed Fisher's exact test

CYP2D6 genotyping

CYP2D6 genotyping was performed as described previously (Gaedigk *et al.*, 2007; Gaedigk *et al.*, 2008; Gaedigk *et al.* 2010). Briefly, a 6.6 kb long-range (XL) fragment was amplified with *CYP2D6*-specific primers and used as a template to detect SNPs or small indels in *CYP2D6*2, *3, *4, *6, *9, *10, *17, *29,* and **41* using TaqMan assays (Applied Biosystems). The *CYP2D6*5* gene deletion, gene duplications/multiplications and *CYP2D7/2D6* hybrid genes were assayed by XL-PCR (Gaedigk *et al.* 2010). The presence of a single *CYP2D6*36* was detected on genomic DNA using allele specific amplification (Gaedigk *et al.,* 2006).

Western blotting

Human brain membranes (80 μ g) were separated by SDS-PAGE and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes. Immunoreactive CYP2D6 protein was measured using a rabbit polyclonal CYP2D6 antibody (PAb) diluted 1:3000 (Daiichi Pure Chemicals Co., LTD, Tokyo Japan) followed by peroxidase-conjugated anti-rabbit secondary antibody diluted 1:5000 (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Nepean ON). Equal loading was determined using a monoclonal antibody for actin diluted 1:1000 (Developmental Studies Hydridoma Bank, University of Iowa). CYP2D6 protein was then detected using chemiluminescence and exposed to autoradiographic film for 1 – 3 min. MCID Elite imaging software (Interfocus Imaging Ltd., Linton, U.K.) was used to analyze the data.

Western blotting was repeated 3-5 times with a coefficient of variation <20% between blots. The basal distribution was determined by running the 5 brain regions on a single gel for each PD control (N=6). To detect differences between brain CYP2D6 in PD controls (N=9) and PD cases (N=9), both groups were run on the same gel for each brain region. Data was expressed as the mean of 9 PD controls and 9 PD cases with their respective S.D.

117

Fluorescent immunocytochemistry

To investigate the presence and impact of gliosis on CYP2D6 staining in an early stage and late stage affected brain region, caudate/putamen and frontal cortex tissues from three PD cases and three age-matched PD controls were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde in 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) and cyroprotected in 20% sucrose buffer. Frozen 16 mm thin cryostat sections were collected in 10 mM phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) and the sections were treated with 0.3% v/v H₂O₂ for 30 min to remove any endogenous peroxidase activity. Free-floating sections were blocked with 3% w/v BSA, 10% v/v normal horse serum (NHS), 1% Triton X-100, in PBS containing 0.01% v/v Triton X-100 (PBS-T) for 1 hr. The sections were then blocked with Streptavidin for 15 min, followed by Biotin block for 15 min as directed by the kit manufacturer (Vector Laboratories, Burlington ON, Canada). Subsequently, the sections were incubated for 24 h at 4°C in a previously characterized CYP2D6 PAb (Biomol International, Plymouth Meeting, PA, USA) diluted at 1:200 (Mann et al., 2008), and glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) PAb (Sigma-Aldrich Co., Mississauga ON, Canada) diluted at 1:400 in PBS-T with 1% BSA and 2% NHS. CYP2D6 was visualized using biotinylated anti-goat secondary antibody diluted 1:1000 in PBS-T (Vector Laboratories Burlington ON, Canada), peroxidase conjugated streptavidin tertiary antibody diluted 1:1000 in PBS-T (Vector Laboratories Burlington ON, Canada), and Cyanine-3 using a Tyramide-Plus signal amplification kit was used as directed by the manufacturer (PerkinElmer Life sciences, Woodbridge ON, Canada). GFAP was visualized using Alexa Fluor 488 conjugated goat antirabbit secondary antibody (diluted 1:1000 in PBS-T). Sections were extensively washed with PBS and then mounted onto slides for viewing. Negative control sections were incubated under the same conditions except without primary antibodies. Digital images were acquired at 2.5x,

5x, 10x, 20x, 40x and 63x magnification using a Zeiss Axio Imager Z1 microscope. Images were acquired from similar areas in each brain region simultaneously using the same duration of exposure for PD controls and PD cases.

Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed using SPSS (Chicago, II) and Graphpad Prism Version 5 (San Diego, CA). Ontogenic expression of CYP2D6 was fitted to a fourth order polynomial curve, and the grouped age data was analyzed using one-way ANOVA. Normal distribution of samples was verified by Shapiro-Wilk and D'Agostino/Pearson omnibus K2 tests. Non-normally distributed ontogenic CYP2D6 protein expression data was normalized by square root transformation. All linear correlations were tested using Pearson's correlation followed by a two-tailed *post-test*. A linear regression model including age and genotype was used to evaluate the effect of each predictor on CYP2D6 ontogenic protein expression by use of backward selection. A two-way ANOVA was used to determine the interaction between brain regions and disease state, followed by a Bonferroni *post hoc* test. *CYP2D6 *4* allele distribution in PD cases and PD controls was analyzed using a one-tailed Fisher's test. Differences in GFAP staining between PD controls and PD cases were estimated by averaging counts of GFAP positive cells from three separate representative images acquired at 2.5x (3.6 x 2.7mm).

Results:

CYP2D6 protein expression in brain regions

Specificity for the polyclonal CYP2D6 antibody was determined by the detection of CYP2D6 in a homozygous wild-type (*CYP2D6* *1/*1) liver and cDNA expressed CYP2D6, and the lack of detection in a homozygous null (*CYP2D6* *4/*4) liver (**Figure 19A**). Dilution curves for two brain regions were constructed to determine the linear range of assay detection (**Figure 19B-C**). An amount of 80 µg membrane protein was determined to optimally detect CYP2D6 immunoreactive protein and any differences between ages or disease states. CYP2D6 levels varied among brain regions (**Figure 19D**), with the frontal cortex, caudate and cerebellum being significantly higher than the substantia nigra (P<0.05). There was no significant difference in levels of actin (P>0.05) between regions expressing high (frontal cortex) or low (substantia nigra) levels of CYP2D6 expression. Using immunofluorescence, CYP2D6 expression was observed in neurons as well as astrocytic cell bodies and projections (**Figure 19E**).



Figure 19: CYP2D6 protein detection in the brain (A) A western blot showing CYP2D6 detection in a homozygous wild-type (*CYP2D6* *1/*1) liver and cDNA expressed CYP2D6, with no detection of CYP2D6 in a homozygous null (*CYP2D6* *4/*4) liver. (B) Representative blots of CYP2D6 detection with increasing amounts of cerebellum (CB) or caudate (CD) membranes from control adult brain tissue. (C) Linear detection range for CYP2D6 in the cerebellum and caudate. The arrow indicates the amount (80 µg) of membrane protein loaded in subsequent Western blots. (D) Variation in the regional expression of CYP2D6 in control individuals (n=6), with a representative blot shown below. One-way ANOVA *P*=0.003, Bonferroni's post hoc test, F=5.19, **P*<0.05, ***P*<0.01. FC, frontal cortex, HC hippocampus, CB cerebellum, CD caudate, and SN substantia nigra. (E) An astrocyte in the frontal cortex white matter showing the localization of GFAP (green) and

CYP2D6 (red) in the cell body and in processes. Dashed bar= 25 μ m and solid bar= 100 μ M.

Ontogenic expression of CYP2D6 in the frontal cortex

The relationship between CYP2D6 protein and age was non-linear, and instead best fit the fourth order polynomial model with an $R^2=0.60$ (**Figure 20A inset**). As *CYP2D6* genotype can influence protein levels, we examined CYP2D6 levels in those *A*) with at least one wild-type allele (activity score 1-2), or *B*) homozygous for wild-type alleles (i.e. no altered function variants; activity score 2). Restricting analysis to only case *A* or *B* individuals, resulted in similar expression profile and increased the R^2 to 0.73 (n=58) and 0.83 (n=22) respectively. To further examine the effect of age and genotype on CYP2D6 expression, a linear regression model including *CYP2D6* genotype and age ($R^2=0.34$, *P*<0.001) showed age (β -standardized coefficient 0.59, *P*<0.001) significantly contributed to the observed variation in CYP2D6 expression in the frontal cortex, whereas genotype did not (β -standardized coefficient 0.03, *P*=0.72). There was no difference in CYP2D6 expression (*P*=0.70) between brain samples from CAMH and the Brain Endowment Bank when similar aged samples (24-45 yrs) were examined. Postmortem interval did not significantly affect CYP2D6 expression (*P*=0.82) when controlling for genotype and age in a linear regression model.

Three distinct developmental phases of cortical CYP2D6 protein expression were observed. From birth to infancy CYP2D6 expression significantly increased with age ($R^2=0.68$, P<0.001), while no apparent further increase ($R^2=0.00$, P>0.05) was observed until adulthood (**Figure 20B,C**). A second phase of increase in CYP2D6 occurred from 20 to 80 years of age (**Figure 20D**; $R^2=0.42$, P<0.001). Again, analyzing individuals in group *A* (activity score 1-2) or group *B* (activity score 2) as above, improved the correlation between age and CYP2D6 expression: birth to 0.9 years, $R^2=0.76$ (P<0.001; n=16) or $R^2=0.70$ (P>0.05; n=5) respectively; 20-80 years, $R^2=0.43$ (P=0.002, n=20) or $R^2=0.72$ (P>0.05; n=5) respectively.





(A) CYP2D6 expression varied from fetal stages (-226 to -163 d) to 78 years of age (n=76) with the line indicating the mean. One-way ANOVA P<0.0001 F=24.41, followed by Bonferroni's post hoc test, ***P<0.001 compared to fetal and <1 years of age; § P<0.001 compared to each prior age group. The **inset** shows the ungrouped distribution, with a fourth order polynomial curve fit. (**B-D**) Correlations of CYP2D6 protein levels and age for specific age ranges illustrating three phases of change in expression. The solid lines show the mean linear trend and the dotted lines indicate the 95% confidence intervals.

CYP2D6 levels varied among brain regions (**Figure 19C**), while levels of actin were the same between regions expressing high or low levels of CYP2D6 protein. The cerebellum had the highest and substantia nigra had the lowest levels of CYP2D6 protein in agreement with previous findings (Miksys *et al.*, 2002; Mann *et al.*, 2008). Therefore, we investigated the effect of age in three additional brain regions available. The change in adult CYP2D6 levels, of particular interest in age related diseases, was brain region specific (**Figure 21**). Similar to the frontal cortex, CYP2D6 protein increased in the substantia nigra (R^2 =0.35, P=0.01) and cerebellum (R^2 =0.37, P<0.01) during adulthood while in the hippocampus no increases were observed.



Figure 21: Influence of age on CYP2D6 expression in different brain regions

A) Substantia nigra (n=17) and **B)** cerebellum (n=25) CYP2D6 levels increase with age during adulthood, while **C)** hippocampal (n=26) CYP2D6 levels do not. The solid lines show the mean linear trend and the dotted lines indicate the 95% confidence intervals.

CYP2D6 protein expression in PD cases compared to age matched controls

As age contributed significantly to CYP2D6 protein levels, it was particularly important to use age-matched controls to compare CYP2D6 levels between PD cases and PD controls. No significant (P=0.11) difference in age was observed between PD cases (75±9 yrs) and controls (69±11 yrs) (**Table 8**). Among brain regions, compared to PD controls, PD cases had significantly lower levels of CYP2D6 (P<0.001, F=5.93, **Figure 22A**) in the frontal cortex (~51% lower, P<0.001) and cerebellum (~40% lower, P<0.001), with a similar degree of change in the hippocampus (~47% lower, P>0.05). In agreement with immunoblotting data, the frontal cortex of PD cases had lower overall CYP2D6 immunofluorescence and lower CYP2D6 cellular labeling (i.e. in pyramidal neurons) compared to PD controls (**Figure 22A inset**). Two regions directly damaged early in the etiology of PD, the caudate and substantia nigra, surprisingly showed little difference (~8% lower) between PD cases and PD controls. Of note, there was no difference in actin levels (P<0.05) between PD controls and PD cases in regions with lower (i.e. frontal cortex) or similar (i.e. substantia nigra) levels of CYP2D6.





(A) The relative levels of CYP2D6 protein in brain regions of PD cases compared to age matched controls; two-way ANOVA P < 0.001, F=25.44. Inset shows greater CYP2D6 labeling (red) in a PD control sample (left) compared to a PD case (right) in frontal cortex (layers III-V) pyramidal neurons (arrows) and their projections. Nuclear staining indicated with DAPI (blue). (B) A bar graph showing the distribution of *CYP2D6 *4* null allele in controls (1 allele out of 18; gray) and PD cases (6 alleles out of 18; black), Fisher's exact test *P=0.05. (C) Among PD cases and PD controls with no null alleles, CYP2D6 levels remain lower in PD cases in the FC and CB; two-way ANOVA P < 0.001, F=47.39. Data is expressed as the mean - S.D., Bonferroni's post hoc test **P<0.01, ***P<0.001. FC, frontal cortex, HC hippocampus, CD caudate, SN substantia nigra, and CB cerebellum.

CYP2D6 genotype effect on protein expression in PD cases and PD controls

The *4 null allele, previously found to be associated with an increased risk for PD (Elbaz *et al.*, 2004; Singh *et al.*) was found at a higher frequency in PD cases compared to PD controls (Fisher's exact test P=0.05; Figure 22B). *CYP2D6* null genotype (activity score 0-1) distribution in this sample set was as follows: one *6/*6 and one *1/*4 individual in PD controls; one *4/*4 and three *1/*4 individuals in PD cases. As *CYP2D6* null genotype can contribute to lower levels of CYP2D6 expression, we examined protein levels in PD cases (n=5) and PD controls (n=7) that were without null alleles. Similar trends were observed of lower CYP2D6 in this subgroup as were seen in the total group: frontal cortex ~51%, P=0.05, cerebellum ~45%, P<0.001, hippocampus ~47%, P>0.05, and caudate ~22%, P>0.05 (Figure 22C). These results suggest that not only may genetically reduced *CYP2D6* poor metabolizers be at increased risk for PD (Deng *et al.*, 2004; Elbaz *et al.*, 2004) but also individuals with lower CYP2D6 brain expression independent of genotype.

Gliosis and higher cellular staining of CYP2D6 in PD cases compared to controls

Since lower CYP2D6 levels are a risk factor for PD, as expected we observed ~40% lower CYP2D6 levels in cases relative to controls by immunoblotting in brain regions relatively unaffected (i.e. cerebellum) or affected in later stages during PD (i.e. frontal cortex). However we did not see lower CYP2D6 levels in regions directly affected in PD, the caudate and substantia nigra (dotted line, Figure 22C). To investigate further we examined PD cases versus controls for increased gliosis which occurs during PD (McGeer & McGeer, 2008; Mena & Garcia de Yebenes, 2008), This was in an attempt to explain, at least in part, higher than expected CYP2D6 levels as CYP2D6 is expressed in astrocytes (Miksys et al., 2002). Indicative of gliosis, PD cases exhibited greater astrocytic GFAP staining (Figure 23A,B), larger astrocytes (Figure 23A, B inset) and more astrocytes (Figure 23C) compared to PD controls. CYP2D6 staining in astrocytes of PD cases (Figure 23E) was easily detectable and stronger than in PD controls (Figure 23D). In the caudate/putamen PD cases showed evidence of gliosis (Figure 24B) and more intense overall CYP2D6 staining in non-white matter areas. There were also noticeably greater non-astrocytic CYP2D6 cellular staining in PD cases compared to PD controls (Figure 24A,B). Together, PD cases had: a) a greater number of CYP2D6 positive astrocytes, b) more astrocytes in non-white matter areas, and c) more CYP2D6 positive non-astrocytic cells that were intensely stained.





Figure 23: Gliosis and higher astrocytic CYP2D6 staining in PD cases

Compared to PD controls (A), PD cases (B) have more astrocytes and astrocytic (arrow) labeling as indicated by GFAP (green). (C) Histogram depicting more GFAP positive cells in PD cases compared to controls. Data is expressed as the mean cell count from three separate sections – S.D., Student's *t*-Test **P*<0.05. (D-E) Astrocyte (GFAP in green) and cellular CYP2D6 (red) labeling was higher in PD cases (E) compared to PD controls (D), where the merged image shows the cellular localization of CYP2D6 in astrocytes of a PD case (E). No immunofluorescence was observed in the respective negative control sections. Nuclear staining indicated with DAPI (blue); solid bar= 100 μ m and dashed bar =500 μ m.



Figure 24: Neuronal and astrocytic CYP2D6 in the caudate/putamen

Compared to PD controls (A), PD cases (B) had more intense cell specific CYP2D6 staining (arrows) in the caudate/putamen. Insets show cellular staining of CYP2D6 at a higher magnification within the boxed area. No immunofluorescence was observed in the respective negative control sections. Nuclear staining indicated with DAPI (blue) and GFAP staining indicated in (green); solid bar= 100 μ m and dashed bar =200 μ m.

Discussion:

This is the first study to measure the ontogenic expression of CYP2D6 in the human brain (fetal - 80 years), observing increased expression in the frontal cortex with age between birth and 1 year, and then again from 20 to 80 years. As CYP2D6 metabolizes a number of CNS-acting drugs (i.e. antidepressants), these changes in brain CYP2D6 levels may increase localized drug metabolism and consequently alter drug effect with increasing age. This study is also the first to show PD cases have ~40% lower levels of brain CYP2D6 compared to controls; even when controlling for *CYP2D6* genotype. The lower levels in the cerebellum, a region not effected in PD, suggests that low CYP2D6 expression likely precedes the disease rather than being a result of PD. Seeing that CYP2D6 inactivates a number of neurotoxins would suggest individuals with low CYP2D6 levels may be more sensitive to PD-causing neurotoxins predisposing them to PD, compared to those who have high levels of brain CYP2D6.

High levels of CYP2D6 have been reported in smokers, particularly in the basal ganglia, consistent with smokers having a reduced risk for developing PD (Alves *et al.*, 2004; Mann *et al.*, 2008). Nicotine, a neuroprotective agent in cigarette smoke, significantly induces CYP2D6 in the basal ganglia, especially in the substantia nigra, in non-human primates (Mann *et al.*, 2008). In addition, over-expression of CYP2D6 protects PC12 cells from MPP⁺ toxicity (Matoh *et al.*, 2003) whereas inhibiting CYP2D6 activity in human neuroblastoma cells increases neurotoxicity by MPP⁺ (Mann *et al.*, submitted). Thus, the induction of brain CYP2D6 may be one mechanism by which smoking and nicotine protect against PD. These observations taken together with the knowledge that *CYP2D6* genetically poor metabolizers are at increased risk for PD, suggest that the lower CYP2D6 expression in PD cases is likely contributing to the risk for PD rather than being a result of PD.

131

In contrast to lower CYP2D6 in regions affected minimally or in later stages of PD (i.e. cerebellum and frontal cortex), the substantia nigra and caudate did not show significantly lower CYP2D6 levels in PD cases. Previous studies indicate that in both human PD cases and in PD animal models, regions of damage undergo gliosis (McGeer & McGeer, 2008). Gliosis involves glial cell growth, replication and migration to damaged areas of the brain (McGeer & McGeer, 2008; Mena & Garcia de Yebenes, 2008). In agreement with these findings we noted more and larger astrocytes in PD cases compared to PD controls. Additionally, we noted more strongly labeled CYP2D6 positive astrocytes plus intense staining of other cell types in PD cases. Therefore in response to gliosis or neuronal damage CYP2D6 may be induced in astrocytes or neurons, which may have minimized the difference observed in CYP2D6 levels in the caudate and substantia nigra between PD cases and PD controls.

During PD, the substantia nigra is known to exhibit a progressive loss, of between ~6-13% per year, of dopaminergic neurons in contrast to aging alone where the loss is less than 1% per year (Marek *et al.*, 2003; Hindle, 2010). This region in particular is known to be extremely vulnerable to toxins and interestingly has relatively low levels of CYP2D6 expression compared to other brain regions (Miksys *et al.*, 2002; Hindle, 2010). These lower CYP2D6 levels may reduce the ability of the substantia nigra to detoxify neurotoxins putting this region at greater risk of damage. CYP2D6 in this region is also highly responsive (i.e. inducible) to factors such as alcohol, smoking and nicotine (Mann *et al.*, 2008). Collectively, the observed increase of CYP2D6 expression in the substantia nigra during adulthood may be a protective response to accumulating toxins, a compensatory response to signaling from agerelated neurodegeneration processes, and/or a response to xenobiotics/drugs.

Xenobiotics can up- or down-regulate CYPs in an organ- and brain region-specific manner (Miksys & Tyndale, 2004). For example, CYP2D6 is not inducible in the liver but can

be induced in select brain regions by nicotine (Mann *et al.*, 2008). Factors such as genetic variation, age, brain region, and smoking can all influence CYP2D6 brain levels. When the effect of age and genotype was assessed in the frontal cortex, age significantly influenced CYP2D6 expression contributing substantially to the variation in CYP2D6 expression in this region. The increase in CYP2D6 with age, which was also observed in other regions from 20-80 years of age, may be a natural phenomena of aging like the changes seen in brain volume, white matter, myelinated fibers, and the overall loss of neurons (~10%) (Piguet *et al.*, 2009). However, the differential effects of both age and disease on CYP2D6 expression between brain regions suggests that CYP2D6 may be regulated specifically and/or varies in sensitivity to environmental factors by brain region (Miksys *et al.*, 2002; Miksys *et al.*, 2005; Mann *et al.*, 2008). While it is unclear what causes the increase of CYP2D6 with age, these changes in brain CYP2D6 may result in altered localized metabolism of CYP2D6 substrates.

CYP2D6 metabolizes ~30% of prescribed drugs, a number of which act on the CNS (Zanger *et al.*, 2004). As a result, the increase in brain CYP2D6 in adulthood may also influence localized drug metabolism and drug effect. Recently we have shown in a rat model that altering CNS, but not hepatic, CYP2B drug metabolism altered the pharmacological response to propofol; suggesting that altered levels of CYP in the brain can consequently influence drug effect (Kokhar & Tyndale, 2010). Older patients (>75 years) on the antidepressant drug desipramine, a CYP2D6 substrate, were less responsive than younger patients, when controlling for drug dose and plasma levels (Nelson *et al.*, 1995). As 60-80 year old individuals have high levels of brain CYP2D6, higher rates of localized CNS drug metabolism may contribute to the reduced response. Overall, the higher levels of brain CYP2D6 between 40-80 years of age may render this age group more or less responsive to

different CNS drugs, depending on their activation (i.e. codeine) or inactivation (i.e. antidepressants) by CYP2D6.

In addition to CNS drugs CYP2D6 can also metabolize neurotransmitters including serotonin (Yu *et al.*, 2003b) and dopamine (Thompson *et al.*, 2000), therefore changes in brain CYP2D6 expression may affect brain function. In fact, an imaging study showed an effect of *CYP2D6* genotype on resting brain perfusion (Kirchheiner *et al.*, 2010). Moreover, *CYP2D6* genotype has been associated with personality traits, where poor metabolizers are likely to have anxious and less sociable personalities (Gonzalez *et al.*, 2008). Altogether supporting a role for CYP2D6 in the metabolism of neurotransmitters by CYP2D6 in the brain. Of relevance to PD, dopamine auto-oxidation and metabolism can generate reactive oxygen species and dopamine derivatives that are neurotoxic (Graham, 1978; Asanuma *et al.*, 2004; Greggio *et al.*, 2005). CYP2D6's ability to metabolize dopamine and other endogenous neurotoxins (i.e. β -carbolines) could possibly alleviate some of this toxic burden, especially in individuals with high brain CYP2D6 expression.

In conclusion, human brain CYP2D6 expression increased with age, and CYP2D6 expression was lower in PD patients compared to controls in areas affected minimally until late stages of PD. In contrast, there was no difference in CYP2D6 levels in the caudate and substantia nigra of PD cases. This is likely due to CYP2D6 induction in remaining neuronal cells and astrocytes as well as expression in other glial cells that increase in a diseased state. Genetic association studies indicate an increased risk for PD in people who have genetically lower CYP2D6 activity. This study provides the first evidence that PD cases express lower brain CYP2D6 levels, which may compromise their ability to inactivate PD-causing neurotoxins. Together, these findings suggest that brain CYP2D6 could play an important role
in neuroprotection and that interindividual variation in the expression of this enzyme may alter risk for PD.

Acknowledgements:

The authors thank Laura Tamblyn for her assistance with the fluorescence immunocytochemistry, Ewa Hoffman for initial *CYP2D6* genotyping and Liliane Ndjountché for technical support for the *CYP2D6* genotype analysis. We would also like to thank Nael Al Koudsi, Charmaine Ferguson, Catherine Wassenaar, Matt Bennington, and Kristine Garcia for suggestions and review. We acknowledge the support of CAMH, a CRC (RFT) and CIHR grant MOP97751 for support of this work.

Significance of chapter

This is the first study to measure the ontogenic expression of CYP2D6 in the human brain (fetal to 80 years). In contrast to liver, CYP2D6 in the brain increased with age during adulthood and the effect of age was brain region specific. As CYP2D6 metabolizes a number of CNS-acting drugs (i.e. antidepressants) select age groups may respond differently to the drugs as a result of age-related differences in brain CYP2D6 levels altering localized drug metabolism. These results also indicate the importance of using age-matched controls when assessing brain CYP2D6 levels.

Most studies indicate that *CYP2D6* genetically poor metabolizers are at higher risk for developing PD. This study is the first to show that PD patients *also* express lower (~40%) levels of brain CYP2D6 compared to age-matched controls. Analyzing only *CYP2D6* wild-type individuals did not change our findings, suggesting that not only are PMs at higher risk for PD, but also EMs with lower expression of brain CYP2D6. Since CYP2D6 inactivates a number of neurotoxins, individuals with low CYP2D6 levels might be more sensitive to PD-causing neurotoxins predisposing them to PD compared to those who have high levels of brain CYP2D6. These results present another line of evidence that CYP2D6 in the brain may be involved in neuroprotection against PD.

Section 3: General Discussion

1. Study models

Epidemiological and post-mortem studies are important for identifying factors associated with variation in health or disease (e.g., CYP2D6 with PD). Given genetic variability and possible exposures to environmental factors, *in vitro* and *in vivo* models are often needed for confirmation of identified risk factors and clarification of mechanisms (Wehling, 2009; Wendler & Wehling, 2010). While *in vitro* models can be used to study the impact of drugs at the cellular and molecular level, *in vivo* models are necessary to predict drug outcomes within the whole, and more complex, organism (Hewitt *et al.*, 2007; Capitanio & Emborg, 2008; Wendler & Wehling, 2010; Xie *et al.*, 2011). In our studies we utilized both an *in vivo* model to characterize some potential aspects of the relationship between brain CYP2D6 and PD.

1.1 SH-SY5Y human neuroblastoma cells as a model

The SH-SY5Y human neuroblastoma cell line is commonly used to model PD in culture because it has the characteristics of dopaminergic neurons. SH-SY5Y cells express DA receptors and key dopaminergic enzymes, including tyrosine hydroxylase, DA decarboxylase, and DA β -hydroxylase (Riveles *et al.*, 2008; Xie *et al.*, 2011). These cells also express the DAT, which is essential for MPP⁺ toxicity (Notter *et al.*, 1988; Xie *et al.*, 2011). Similar to dopaminergic neurons in the brain, SH-SY5Y cells are sensitive to commonly used PD toxins, such as rotenone, paraquat, MPP⁺, and 6-OHDA (Klintworth *et al.*, 2007; Riveles *et al.*, 2008; Watabe & Nakaki, 2008; Mann & Tyndale, 2010).

Other advantages of using SH-SY5Y cells is that this cell line expresses endogenous CYP2D6. In **Chapter 1** we demonstrated that these cells could metabolize the CYP2D6-

specific substrate AMMC (Mann & Tyndale, 2010). Further, SH-SY5Y cells in culture were previously shown to metabolize codeine to morphine, a reaction primarily conducted by CYP2D6 (Poeaknapo *et al.*, 2004; Boettcher *et al.*, 2005). Collectively, these results suggest that SH-SY5Y neuronal cells express functional CYP2D6 and the co-enzymes (e.g., CYP reductase) required for CYP2D6 function.

Disadvantages to using this cell line as a PD model. *In vitro* models may not always reflect the intact brain and the variable composition of MPTP activating (i.e., MAO) and inactivating enzymes (i.e., CYP2D6). Using this cell line, we found relatively low levels of CYP2D6 expression in comparison to CYP3A. This is in contrast to the brain where there is greater expression of CYP2D6 when compared to other common hepatic drug metabolizing enzymes such as CYP3A (Dutheil *et al.*, 2009; Dutheil *et al.*, 2010). The discordance between brain and SH-SY5Y cell CYP expression may be because the cell line is ganglionic in origin (Xie *et al.*, 2011). Therefore, the CYP2D6 and CYP3A expression in SH-SY5Y cells may represent the relative CYP expression observed in sympathetic and/or parasympathetic ganglions. Other disadvantages of using this cell line for a PD model include the likelihood of unknown cell heterogeneity in culture over time and the possibility that assessing cell death in a constantly replicating cell environment may be different from results in non-replicating cells, such as primary neurons (Xie *et al.*, 2011).

Regardless of the disadvantages, this cell line provides a good model of dopaminergic neurons that may be useful for assessing the cellular expression and impact of CYP enzymes. The expression of CYP reductase, a co-enzyme required for CYP activity, has been observed to varying degrees among different brain regions (Norris *et al.*, 1994; Dutheil *et al.*, 2008). Future studies could utilize SH-SY5Y cells, or primary neuronal cells, to study CYP and CYP reductase cellular organelle expression, localization, and interactions using techniques such as

fluorescent-tagged antibodies or transfecting fluorescent-tagged CYP proteins. Transfecting with fluorescent-tagged proteins would allow for the tracing of CYP enzyme trafficking and targeting to different organelles and possibly for determining the interaction between CYP reductase and CYPs in neurons using live fluorescence microscopy, and/or FRET. Neuronal cell cultures may also be useful in determining the mechanisms of CYP2D6 regulation in neuronal cells. SH-SY5Y cells express $\alpha 3$, $\alpha 5$, $\alpha 7$, $\beta 2$ and $\beta 4$ subunits of the nAChR. As nicotine can induce brain CYP2D6 (**Chapter 2**), using SH-SY5Y cells we can determine if this induction is a nAChR dependant or independent pathway (Ridley *et al.*, 2001; Serres & Carney, 2006; Xie *et al.*, 2011).

1.2 Non-human primates as in vivo models

Results obtained from *in vitro* studies do not always mirror what may be occurring *in vivo*, thus an *in vivo* model is essential to assess outcomes in a whole organism (Hewitt *et al.*, 2007). The use of monkeys as *in vivo* models is ideal because compared to other species (e.g., rats) they are most similar to humans in terms of behaviour, physiology, drug metabolism, neuroanatomy, and neurotoxin response (Capitanio & Emborg, 2008; Wendler & Wehling, 2010). Although this model is costly, has ethical constraints, and monkeys are difficult to handle compared to rodents, the benefits out weigh the disadvantages and it is often used to model human behaviour and disease.

Like humans, monkeys present age-related dysfunction of the nigrostriatal system associated with motor impairments such as tremors and balance disturbances (Capitanio & Emborg, 2008; Hurley *et al.*, 2011). Old monkeys, including old AGMs, form β -amyloid plaques (associated with gliosis and neuritic dystrophy) making them good models to study neurodegenerative disease (e.g., Alzheimer's disease), prevention, and it's treatment (Lemere *et al.*, 2004). Further, neurotoxin treatments in monkeys precipitate similar clinical symptoms

to those observed in PD; monkeys show higher sensitivity than rodents to toxins such as MPTP, and monkeys exhibit dyskinetic side-effects of the PD treatment *L*-Dopa, as observed in PD cases (Langston *et al.*, 1984d; Yoshida *et al.*, 1993; Quik *et al.*, 2007b). Overall, monkeys are a valuable tool to assess potential neuroprotective agents to halt or slow the progression of PD and drug treatments that can provide symptomatic relief.

An additional advantage of using monkeys is that their CYPs have high sequence homology (>90%) to human CYPs (Hichiya *et al.*, 2004; Iwasaki & Uno, 2009). They metabolize probe substrates using similar metabolic pathways and display similar chemical inhibition profiles. Like human CYP2D6, monkey CYP2D mostly *O*-demethylates dextromethorphan, *I*'-hydroxylates bufuralol, and *4*-hydroxylates propranolol (Narimatsu *et al.*, 2010; Uno *et al.*, 2010). Notably, monkey CYP2D metabolism is inhibited by the potent CYP2D6 inhibitor quinidine, whereas rat CYP2Ds are potently inhibited by quinine, a stereoisomer of quinidine (Ai *et al.*, 2009; Shimizudani *et al.*, 2010). Another advantage of using monkeys as *in vivo* models is that they metabolize nicotine primarily by CYP2A as opposed to rats which use a CYP2B enzyme (Hammond *et al.*, 1991; Schoedel *et al.*, 2003). This may be important if specific metabolites of nicotine are also responsible for brain CYP2D induction in primates.

We previously investigated the expression of brain CYP2D in both rat and human postmortem tissue (Miksys *et al.*, 2000b; Miksys *et al.*, 2002; Yue *et al.*, 2008). Of the regions assessed in both, rat brain CYP2D had a different expression profile when compared to human brain CYP2D6. Brain regions demonstrating an induction of CYP2D in rats upon chronic nicotine treatment were also different from those associated with smoking in humans (i.e., the striatum and hippocampus) (**Figure 10**) (Mann *et al.*, 2008; Yue *et al.*, 2008). Therefore, to better understand human brain CYP2D6, a monkey model was used to investigate the primate brain CYP2D expression and nicotine induction patterns in a controlled environment, and to determine if nicotine is responsible, at least in part, for the higher brain CYP2D6 levels observed in smokers (Mann *et al.*, 2008).

2. Variation in CYP2D6 expression

Hepatic CYP2D6 displays a large amount of interindividual variability in protein expression and activity in humans (Zanger *et al.*, 2001; Gaedigk *et al.*, 2008). The interindividual differences in CYP2D6 are thought to be largely due to genetic variation. This is because hepatic CYP2D6 is relatively uninducible by classic CYP inducers (e.g., phenobarbital), and the *CYP2D6* gene is highly polymorphic (Coutts & Urichuk, 1999; Zanger *et al.*, 2004; Gaedigk *et al.*, 2008). Other than *CYP2D6* genetics, some sources of variation that could alter hepatic CYP2D6 expression include interindividual differences in expression of transcription factors that regulate CYP2D6 and/or environmental factors.

Hepatic CYP2D6 expression is regulated by HNF-4 α , and this transcription factor expression is shown to correlate with CYP2D6 expression (Cairns *et al.*, 1996; Corchero *et al.*, 2001). For example, the highest level of CYP2D6 expression is observed in the liver and kidneys, which also express the highest levels of HNF-4 α (Gonzalez, 1990; Xie *et al.*, 2009). Moreover, individuals with genetic variants in *HNF-4\alpha*, resulting in a protein that is unable to bind to the recognition site in the CYP2D6 promoter, have reduced CYP2D6 activity compared to those with wild-type *HNF-4\alpha* (Lee *et al.*, 2008b). HNF-4 α expression in HepG2 cells was affected by select microRNAs which could also contribute to the variation in HNF-4 α expression and therefore variation in hepatic CYP2D6 expression (Ramamoorthy A. *et al.*, 2008). A similar effect has been observed for CYP3A4, where transcription was influenced by microRNA dependent changes in the transcription factor Pregnane X receptor, a known regulator of CYP3A4 (Ingelman-Sundberg *et al.*, 2007; Takagi *et al.*, 2008; Pan *et al.*, 2009). Altogether the evidence suggests that CYP2D6 expression could change as a result of variability in the expression and function of HNF-4 α .

Some evidence also suggests that environment can influence CYP2D6 activity. For example, individuals of the same genotype from different parts of the world show varying degrees of CYP2D6 substrate metabolism (Ingelman-Sundberg, 2005). One study showed native Ethiopians were faster metabolizers for CYP2D6 than native Ethiopians living in Sweden with the same *CYP2D6* genotype; and native Ethiopian residents of Sweden were faster metabolizers than native Swedes with the same *CYP2D6* genotype (Aklillu *et al.*, 2002). As CYP2D6 has a high affinity for plant alkaloids, local diet and non-dietary exposures may influence CYP2D6 activity (Cascorbi, 2003; Ingelman-Sundberg, 2005).

In **Chapter 2** and **Chapter 3** we report that, like hepatic CYP2D6 levels, human brain CYP2D6 expression varies greatly between people. However, unlike hepatic CYP2D6, human brain CYP2D6 changes with age and altered brain CYP2D6 expression is associated with environmental factors such as smoking (Mann *et al.*, 2008; Mann *et al.*, submitted). Variation in human brain CYP2D6 expression is therefore likely due to a combination of genetic variation and environmental factors (i.e., inducers and/or inhibitors).

In **Chapter 2** we demonstrated that brain CYP2D expression varies between monkeys, similar to that observed between humans (Mann *et al.*, 2008). Like human CYP2D6, sources of this inter-animal variation in brain CYP2D expression could be a result of genetic variation. Genetic polymorphisms have been reported in AGM, macaques, and cynomolgus monkeys. Gene copy variants for *CYP2D* have been observed in cynomolgus and marmoset monkeys (Uno *et al.*, 2010; Uno *et al.*, 2011). AGMs have genetic polymorphisms that contribute to variation between animals in the expression of genes implicated in apoptosis and immune response (Jasinska *et al.*, 2009). Polymorphisms have been found in the DA D₄ receptor of

AGMs (Bailey *et al.*, 2007). Further, there are noted differences in DA metabolism between AGMs, predicted to be a result of genetic variants (Fairbanks *et al.*, 1999). Collectively this suggests that, like humans, genetic variation occurs in monkeys, which may contribute to the observed differences in brain CYP2D expression and/or sensitivity to inducers between animals. If CYP2D in AGMs is indeed as genetically variable as in humans, future studies should identify monkeys with *CYP2D* null variants to assess differences in vulnerability to MPTP toxicity compared to monkeys with wild-type *CYP2D* and those with gene copy number variants of *CYP2D*.

2.1 Factors contributing to regional variation

In **Chapter 3**, we found that human brain expression of CYP2D6 is highest in the cerebellum and lowest in the SN (Mann *et al.*, submitted). This is similar to what we observed previously (Miksys *et al.*, 2002). In saline-treated monkeys, the basal expression was highest in the brainstem and lowest in the hippocampus (Mann *et al.*, 2008). There was good overlap in CYP2D expression across different brain regions between non-smoking humans and saline-treated monkeys; however, in comparison, human hippocampus had moderate levels of CYP2D6 and the levels in the brainstem were undetermined. CYP2D6 levels in the SN were the lowest in non-smoking humans but second highest in saline-treated monkeys. This lower expression in the SN may be specific to humans because rats, like monkeys, also show high levels of CYP2D in the SN (Bromek *et al.*, 2010). CYP2D activity in the rat SN was reported to be similar to the cerebellum, a region that expresses the highest CYP2D protein and activity levels in the rat brain (Tyndale *et al.*, 1999; Yue *et al.*, 2008; Bromek *et al.*, 2010).

In monkeys, the regional variation in brain CYP2D expression and in the induction profile may be influenced by the expression of alternative CYP2D isoforms and/or isoenzymes in the brain. Using western blotting, in **Chapter 2**, we detected a single CYP2D band in the

monkey liver and three immunoreactive CYP2D bands (molecular weights of 51, 52, and 55 kDa) in the brain. These bands were detected using both unpurified and monkey liver purified polyclonal antibodies, suggesting the possibility of alternative forms of the same CYP2D in the brain. The lower band (51 kDa) may be an mRNA splice variant product, and the upper band (55 kDa) may be a post-translationally modified CYP2D or a brain-specific isoenzyme of CYP2D in the monkey brain. Two distinct isoenzymes of CYP2D have been identified in both cynomolgus and marmoset monkeys, and a brain-specific CYP2D isoenzyme (CYP2D18) has been described in rats (Kawashima et al., 1996; Hichiya et al., 2004; Uno et al., 2010). Notably, upon chronic nicotine treatment in our AGMs, induction was observed in the middle band (52 kDa), but there was no change detected in the upper band (55kDa). This suggests the two CYP2D proteins represented by the upper and middle bands are regulated differently by nicotine in the monkey brain. Induction of select isoenzymes in the brain upon drug treatment has been previously reported in rats, which express multiple isoforms of CYP2D in the brain. In male Wistar rats, for example, castration induced brain CYP2D5 and chronic treatment with clozapine induced CYP2D4 (Riedl et al., 1999).

In addition to region-specific expression, CYP2D6 is expressed in select cell types. We and other groups have shown that CYP2D6 is expressed in both neuronal and non-neuronal cells, including pyramidal neurons, granular cells, Purkinje cells, glial cells, and astrocytes (Gilham *et al.*, 1997; Siegle *et al.*, 2001; Miksys *et al.*, 2002). The contrasting expression observed across different brain regions may be influenced by the different, and select, population of cells that occupy specific brain regions. Pyramidal neurons, for example, are found mostly in the cortex, hippocampus, and amygdala, and Purkinje cells are found in the cerebellum (Miksys *et al.*, 2002; Spruston, 2009). Further, some neurons project within a specific region (e.g., pyramidal neurons project within the cortex) while others project from

one region to another (e.g., dopaminergic neurons in the SN project to the striatum). Notably, CYP2D6 is expressed both in neuronal cell bodies and in their projections (Miksys *et al.*, 2002; Mann *et al.*, 2008). If CYP2D6 is differentially expressed within a cell (i.e., cell body versus axon terminal), then the level of CYP2D6 expression could be altered by which brain region the projections begin or end in. Thus, to better characterize cellular expression of brain CYP2D6, future studies should co-label for specific neuronal cell markers and CYP2D6.

3. Factors contributing to altered brain CYP2D6 expression

3.1 Environmental influences on brain CYP2D6

Unlike hepatic CYP2D6, brain CYP2D6 is inducible. In humans, alcohol and smoking are associated with higher brain CYP2D6 levels, especially in select regions of the basal ganglia and cerebellum (Miksys *et al.*, 2002; Miksys & Tyndale, 2004; Mann *et al.*, 2008). In **Chapter 2**, we show that monkey brain CYP2D is induced in a region-specific manner by nicotine, a component of cigarette smoke. Further, CNS-acting drugs, such as clozapine, fluoxetine, thioridazine, and nicotine, can induce CYP2D in a region-specific manner in the rat brain (Mizuno *et al.*, 2003a; Yue *et al.*, 2008; Haduch *et al.*, 2010).

The inducer nicotine is of particular interest as many people are exposed to nicotine to varying degrees through the use of cigarettes or through second-hand smoke (passive smoking) (Henningfield *et al.*, 1985). Nicotine in the form of a clinical therapeutic is commonly used as a smoking cessation drug (Grief, 2011). It has also been tested in clinical trials as a therapeutic for ulcerative colitis, Alzheimer's disease, PD, and age-associated cognitive impairment (White & Levin, 1999; Kelton *et al.*, 2000; Min *et al.*, 2001; Guslandi *et al.*, 2002; White & Levin, 2004).

We found significantly higher levels of CYP2D6 in the SN, globus pallidus, and cerebellum in human smokers (Mann *et al.*, 2008). We also demonstrated that nicotine can induce monkey brain CYP2D in regions similar to those in which higher levels were observed in human smokers. Specifically, nicotine induced CYP2D in the structures of the basal ganglia (caudate and putamen), including the SN, in the monkey brain. Although the monkey cerebellum did not show CYP2D induction by nicotine using western blotting, we did observe cellular induction using immunohistochemistry. Notably, the monkey brain showed significant reduction in CYP2D upon nicotine treatment in select brain regions (i.e., the thalamus and parietal cortex). Brain region-specific reduction in CYP2D protein has also been observed with clozapine treatment in rats (Haduch *et al.*, 2010). In this study with rats, CYP2D was induced in the cerebellum, but CYP2D protein was reduced in the nucleus accumbens and striatum. Together these results suggest that CYP2D protein in the brain is under complex regulation that is both brain region- and drug-specific.

In human smokers, only the SN and the globus pallidus structures of the basal ganglia showed higher levels of CYP2D6 when compared to non-smokers. The failure to observe a significant influence of smoking on CYP2D6 in the caudate and putamen, in contrast to what was observed in nicotine-treated monkeys, might be due to the small sample size in this study (non-smoking non-alcoholics = 3 and non-alcoholic smokers = 10). Another reason for the differences in CYP2D expression between human smokers and nicotine-treated monkeys may be because monkeys were kept in a controlled environment. This is in contrast to humans that are exposed to uncontrolled variables, such as diet, use of clinical drugs, and lifestyle factors. Further, monkeys were not exposed to cigarette smoke, which suggests that there may be additional compounds in the smoke from cigarettes that may regulate CYP2D in the brain. The discrepancy in regions where nicotine induced brain CYP2D could also be due to species

differences (humans *versus* monkeys) although this should be minimal, or differences in duration of drug exposure (years *versus* days). Additionally, as age can affect brain CYP2D6 levels, the difference in the age of monkeys (early adulthood) and humans (early to late adulthood) may contribute to the contrasting expression and/or induction of brain CYP2D6 expression.

The brain region-specific changes in CYP2D expression induced by smoking or nicotine may be a result of select nAChR subtype activation. There are multiple nAChR subtypes that show diverse expression across different brain regions (Gotti & Clementi, 2004; Quik *et al.*, 2007a). Nicotine treatment in monkeys induced CYP2D specifically in brain structures of the basal ganglia, which has the highest expression of $\alpha 3/\alpha 6^*$ nAChR subtype (Gotti *et al.*, 2006; McCallum *et al.*, 2006a). Therefore, $\alpha 3/\alpha 6^*$ nAChR subtype *may* be involved in the regulation of CYP2D6 and should be considered in future studies.

The mechanisms of brain CYP2D induction by smoking or nicotine are currently unknown. In rats chronically treated with nicotine, no changes in brain CYP2D mRNA levels are observed, suggesting the mechanism of induction is likely due to post-transcriptional modifications (Yue *et al.*, 2008). CYP2D protein levels peak at 8 hours post 7 day nicotine treatment and return back to basal levels by 12 hours in all three regions of induction (cerebellum, hippocampus, and striatum) studied (Yue *et al.*, 2008). In contrast to brain CYP2D, rat brain CYP2B can be transcriptionally induced by nicotine but displays a different pattern of protein induction time course than CYP2D (Miksys *et al.*, 2000a; Khokhar *et al.*, 2010). Post nicotine–treatment in rats, brain CYP2B protein peaks at an earlier time point and returns to baseline at 7 days (Khokhar *et al.*, 2010). The contrasting mechanism of induction and induction profile between CYP2B and CYP2D implicate that nicotine likely regulates brain CYP2D through post-transcriptional mechanisms.

Post-transcriptional changes that could result in the induction of brain CYP2D include decreased splicing, increased translation, the enhancement of factors that may stabilize the enzyme, and decreased degradation. In rats, nicotine has been shown to down-regulate select subtypes of ubiquitinating proteins in the hypothalamus and up-regulate these proteins in the prefrontal cortex (Kane *et al.*, 2004). Nicotine-induced changes in ubiquitinating proteins may influence CYP2D6 degradation by increasing or decreasing routing to degradation. Understanding the exact mechanism of brain CYP2D6 induction is an important direction for future studies, especially because this enzyme metabolizes a number of endogenous (e.g., neurotransmitters) and exogenous (e.g., neuroleptics) CNS-acting compounds.

As CYP2D6 is relatively uninducible in the liver, the ability to induce brain CYP2D6 would be beneficial in cases where low CYP2D6 levels may increase an individual's risk of disease, such as PD. The use of nicotine as a preventative measure in a high risk PD group would induce brain CYP2D6 to subsequently increase localized neurotoxin inactivation and increase neuroprotection. As a result, this may reduce the risk for PD or delay the onset of PD, especially since CYP2D6 is induced by nicotine in brain regions directly affected in the disease (e.g., the striatum and substantia nigra). The use of nicotine after PD on-set can provide symptomatic relief for patients (Kelton *et al.*, 2000; Vieregge *et al.*, 2001). As there is a loss of DA during PD, nicotine-induced brain CYP2D6 may help elevate DA levels from the metabolism of tyramine. Additionally, nicotine-induced brain CYP2D6.

Future studies should also determine if induced brain CYP2D6 results in a similar increase in CYP2D6 function, as the expression of a *functional* CYP protein in the brain is clinically more relevant. CYP2D6 activity can be tested *ex-vivo* using CYP2D6 probe substrates; however, this method has proven to be difficult as brain CYPs are more labile than

hepatic CYPs and show reduced activity with increased freezer storage time (Tyndale *et al.*, 1999; Voirol *et al.*, 2000). As in our recent *in situ* rat brain CYP2B study, we can utilize a CYP2D specific MBI, which essentially irreversibly binds to the enzyme upon its metabolism, to permanently label CYP2D in the brain. Using an animal model, the induced functional brain CYP2D levels *in situ* can be determined through the local CNS administration of a radiolabeled CYP2D specific MBI (**Table 5**) followed by the detection of immunoprecipitated radiolabeled brain CYP2D6 (Miksys & Tyndale, 2009). Paroxetine and MDMA are selective and potent MBIs of CYP2D6 that may be useful for measuring changes in functional brain CYP2D *in situ* (Bertelsen *et al.*, 2003; Van *et al.*, 2006; Yang *et al.*, 2006).

3.2 The influence of age on brain CYP2D6

CYP expression can undergo changes at different stages during development. For example, hepatic CYP3A7 expression predominantly occurs during prenatal stages of human life and is very low postnatally (Alcorn & McNamara, 2002; Hines, 2007). Conversely, hepatic CYP2D6 mRNA, protein and activity are fairly low in prenatal stages (Treluyer *et al.*, 1991; Alcorn & McNamara, 2002; Stevens *et al.*, 2008). Like the hepatic ontogenic studies, in **Chapter 3** we observed low levels of brain CYP2D6 expression prenatally that dramatically increased in postnatal stages (Treluyer *et al.*, 1991; Alcorn & McNamara, 2002; Stevens *et al.*, 2008). Changes at birth such as the loss of maternal repressors, stimulation by neonatal factors expressed at or after birth, and response to developmental changes and environment were suggested as causes for the surge in hepatic CYP2D6. These changes associated with birth may also affect CYP2D6 expression in the brain.

Hepatic CYP2D6 levels progressively increase in the first year of life to stable levels (Treluyer *et al.*, 1991; Alcorn & McNamara, 2002). Thus, the lack of change in brain CYP2D6 in the subsequent 19 years of life was expected. A surprising observation, however, was that

CYP2D6 increased throughout adulthood (20-80 years) in select brain regions. Considering that the principal function of CYP2D6 is the metabolism of drugs and toxins, the increase with age may be substrate upregulation where substrates are environmental components and/or CNS drugs. We reported that brain CYP2D is inducible in primates by nicotine, and human brain CYP2D6 is influenced by chronically abused drugs such as cigarettes and alcohol (Miksys et al., 2002; Mann et al., submitted). Furthermore, rat brain CYP2D can be induced by multiple CNS-acting drugs, including nicotine, clozapine, fluoxetine and thioridazine (Hedlund et al., 1996; Haduch et al., 2004; Haduch et al., 2010). If one considers that, diagnosis and treatment of individuals for mental disorders (e.g., depression and schizophrenia) occur on average between the ages of 20 and 45 years, there is a likely increase in the consumption of CNSacting drugs in adulthood that could influence CYP2D6 brain levels (Kessler et al., 2007). Additionally, there is the increased likelihood of consumption, and co-use, of alcohol and tobacco during early adulthood, factors which are associated with higher brain CYP2D6 levels in humans (Miksys et al., 2002; Mann et al., submitted). In summary, one possible contributing factor to the CYP2D6 increase during adulthood is a response to clinical drugs and drugs of abuse and their accumulation over time, as well as other unknown environmental inducers. We were unable to test drug usage as a contributing factor to the age-related brain CYP2D6 increase, as we did not have drug histories for all of our control tissue donors.

Aging itself also directly affects all cells, tissues, and organs. Therefore, the increase in brain CYP2D6 during adulthood may also be a natural aging phenomenon. Age-dependent changes in DNA methylation patterns have been noted in various tissues, including the brain, and these changes are both organ- and brain region-specific (Hernandez *et al.*, 2010; Thompson *et al.*, 2010). The *CYP2D6* gene has potential methylation sites, therefore, age-

related epigenetic changes could alter brain CYP2D6 expression (Ingelman-Sundberg *et al.*, 2007).

Another possibility is that the increase in brain CYP2D6 may be a secondary response to other age-related CNS changes, such as the reduction in brain volume, white matter, myelinated fibers, and neuronal connections, and the overall loss of neurons (Piguet et al., 2009; Fjell & Walhovd, 2010). As CYP2D6 can metabolize endogenous neurosteroids and neurotransmitters, the increase in brain CYP2D6 may be compensating for reduced neurotransmission that results from age-related neuronal damage (Kern & Behl, 2009). With increasing age and CNS damage, gliosis, a process of glial cell growth, replication and/or migration to a damaged area, is known to occur (Conde & Streit, 2006; Heneka et al., 2010). We observed that in addition to astro-gliosis, both astrocytic CYP2D6 expression and the number of CYP-expressing astrocytes were higher in PD cases compared to controls (Chapter 3). This suggests that CYP2D6 likely increases during gliosis and/or CNS damage. Upon CNS damage, activation of microglia is the primary response, whereas astrocytes are the last cell population to be activated (Robel et al., 2011). Even though we observed little to no astrocytic CYP2D6 expression in our PD age-matched controls, CYP2D6 may be increased in other glial cells (e.g., microglia), which we did not assess. Interleukin-2 can induce hepatic CYP2D in rats, suggesting that factors (e.g., interleukins) released during early gliosis could increase CYP2D6 expression in non-astrocytic cells (Kurokohchi et al., 1992). Future studies should confirm which specific cells express CYP2D6 by co-labeling cells with CYP2D6 and markers for neurons (e.g. NeuN), oligodendrocytes (e.g. myelin-oligodendrocyte glycoprotein), and microglia (e.g. CD68) (Scolding et al., 1989; Guillemin & Brew, 2004; Lind et al., 2005). These studies can be extended to determine which cells show changes in CYP2D6 with age.

The effect of age on CYP2D6 expression was brain region specific. CYP2D6 increased with age in brain regions of both low (i.e., SN) and high (i.e., cerebellum) CYP2D6 expression. Notably, we observed that the hippocampus had relatively high CYP2D6 expression but was not influenced by age. This suggests that age affects CYP2D6 in regions with differing levels of CYP2D6 expression and further confirms the complexity of CYP2D6 regulation among brain regions.

CYP2D6 brain levels are influenced by factors such as genetic variation, age, brain region, and smoking. Unfortunately, due to the limited number of adult brain samples for each brain region (n=16 to 26 per brain region), we were unable to model the impact of each factor on CYP2D6 expression. When the effect of only age and genotype was assessed in the frontal cortex (n=76), age significantly influenced CYP2D6 expression and contributed substantially to the variation in this region. This supports the idea that regional expression of brain CYP2D6 is tightly regulated. More importantly, it indicates the necessity to use age-matched controls when assessing CYP2D6.

The SN shows a high degree of vulnerability to damage with aging and is a region of specific interest in PD (Rudow *et al.*, 2008). The progressive loss of dopaminergic neurons, although less than 1% per year, has been attributed to factors such as the accumulation of metals (e.g., iron) and the subsequent build up of toxins, the imbalance of autophagic recycling, increased oxidative stress, reduced efficiency of chaperones, and impaired responses to neurotrophic factors (Cherra & Chu, 2008; Migliore & Coppede, 2009; Hindle, 2010). In previous studies and in **Chapter 3**, we reported that human SN had low expression of CYP2D6 relative to other brain regions (Miksys *et al.*, 2002). This may reduce the ability of the SN to detoxify neurotoxins, which puts this region at greater risk of damage. We also showed that in the SN cellular expression CYP2D6 is increased with gliosis, which is believed to be a

protective response, in some cases, to control damage (Heneka *et al.*, 2010). Interestingly, CYP2D6 in this region is also highly responsive (i.e., inducible) to the neuroprotective agent nicotine and cigarette smoking which is associated with reduced risk for PD (Mann *et al.*, 2008). Collectively, increased CYP2D6 expression in the SN with age may be a protective mechanism in response to accumulating toxins, drugs, and/or signalling from age-related neurodegeneration processes.

3.3 The influence of Parkinson's disease on brain CYP2D6 expression

Neurodegeneration can be considered a result of an imbalance in toxicity promoting processes (i.e., ROS) and repair mechanisms. Prior to PD on-set the expression of certain proteins (e.g., over-expression of α -syn) and/or changes in protein function (e.g., CYP2D6) can either promote or reduce toxicity, altering an individuals risk for PD. During the course of PD there may also be changes in expression of select proteins, to repair and/or compensate for the damage that has occurred (e.g., neurotrophic factors).

In **Chapter 3** we showed that PD cases had lower CYP2D6 levels in the frontal cortex (~51%, P=0.001), cerebellum (~40%, P<0.001), and hippocampus (~47%, P>0.05) compared to age-matched controls. Whether these lower levels precede the disease or occur as a result of PD is difficult to assess in post-mortem human studies. The fact that lower levels of CYP2D6 were observed in regions not affected (i.e., cerebellum) or affected in later stages (i.e., frontal cortex) of PD would suggest that lower levels precede PD onset. This is additionally supported by the ~47% lower CYP2D6 levels in the hippocampus, which is a region affected in later stages of PD and a region where CYP2D6 appears to be unaltered by factors such as age, smoking, or nicotine. However, in regions directly affected in PD (the caudate and SN), which are more likely to undergo changes as a result of PD than unaffected regions, we observed levels of CYP2D6 which were similar between PD cases and controls. These results infer that

the lower levels in unaffected (i.e., cerebellum) or late-stage affected regions (i.e., frontal cortex) are representative of CYP2D6 levels prior to disease onset, while higher levels of CYP2D6 in affected regions may represent a response to damage in PD.

Lower CYP2D6 levels in PD cases were observed in brain regions which demonstrated both altered (e.g., cerebellum) and unaltered (e.g., hippocampus) CYP2D6 expression with increasing age. For example, both the frontal cortex and cerebellum which showed an increase in CYP2D6 expression with age had lower levels of CYP2D6 in PD cases compared to controls. Conversely, hippocampal CYP2D6 expression that showed no influence of age trended towards (~47%) lower levels of CYP2D6 in PD cases compared to controls. Thus, while age influenced the levels of brain CYP2D6 in select regions, the observed lower (~40– 50%) CYP2D6 levels in the frontal cortex, hippocampus, and cerebellum of PD cases occurred in regions of both increase and no change in CYP2D6 with age. These results suggest that the lower levels in PD cases are unlikely to be a result of age-related changes in CYP2D6.

How CYP2D6 may change with age in PD cases is undetermined, however there are three possible interpretations: a) PD cases may have the exact same expression pattern from fetal to 80 years of age as non-PD cases, but CYP2D6 is ~40% lower than unaffected individuals, b) the expression profile is the same until early adulthood at which point CYP2D6 is less responsive to age-related increases in PD cases compared to non-PD cases, or c) PD cases at some point during their adulthood undergo a loss of CYP2D6 levels.

In our study, we predicted lower CYP2D6 levels in the SN and caudate of PD cases compared to controls. However, we observed no real differences between PD cases and controls using western blotting. This may be because in a diseased state, brain regions directly affected with the disease undergo various changes in an attempt to control, repair, and/or compensate for the damage (Kern & Behl, 2009; Hindle, 2010). Immune response activation

has been implicated in PD (Barnum & Tansey, 2010). An important element in CNS immune response is the activation of glia in response to damage (i.e., gliosis). In agreement with the literature, we noted larger and increased numbers of astrocytes that were more highly stained for GFAP in PD cases compared to controls, indicative of astrogliosis. We also observed more strongly labelled CYP2D6 positive astrocytes and intense CYP2D6 staining of other nonastrocytic cell types, that may be glial cells and/or neuronal cells, in PD cases compared to controls. As interleukin-2 can induce hepatic CYP2D in rat, inflammatory factors released during PD could potentially increase levels of brain CYP2D6 in PD cases (Kurokohchi *et al.*, 1992). Altogether, cellular changes that may occur due to damage in the SN and caudate are likely contributing to the lack of difference in CYP2D6 expression observed in these PDaffected regions by western blotting.

In rodent models of PD the SN, as well as the caudate and putamen, tend to accumulate neurotoxins, such as isoquinolines and MPP⁺ (Herkenham *et al.*, 1991; Nagatsu, 1997; Lorenc-Koci *et al.*, 2006). This accumulation is thought to contribute to the selective neuronal degeneration in these brain regions. As a number of neurotoxins are substrates of CYP2D6 (e.g., isoquinolines), the higher than expected CYP2D6 levels in PD cases SN and caudate could also be to compensate for increased neurotoxic substrates in these regions. Substrates can induce their respective metabolizing CYP; the CYP2E1 substrate ethanol, for example, can induce both brain and hepatic CYP2E1 (Howard *et al.*, 2003; Joshi & Tyndale, 2006b). If CYP2D6 in the SN and striatum is increased in response to toxin-substrates, this would result in increased neurotoxin inactivation and thereby assist in reducing neuronal damage. In an attempt to better understand the role of CYP2D6 in the brain, future studies should isolate and identify distinct populations of cells within brain regions that express, or exhibit changes in, CYP2D6 with drug exposure, disease, or age.

4. Clinical relevance of altered brain CYP2D6 expression

Ex vivo studies demonstrate that brain CYP2D is functional and can metabolize a variety of CYP2D substrates including dextromethorphan and tyramine (Gilham *et al.*, 1997; Tyndale *et al.*, 1999; Voirol *et al.*, 2000; Haduch *et al.*, 2004; Bromek *et al.*, 2010). In **Chapter 1**, we showed that CYP2D6 in human neuroblastoma cells could metabolize the specific substrate AMMC, a reaction that was completely blocked by the selective CYP2D6 inhibitor quinidine. Similarly, SH-SY5Y cells in culture metabolized radiolabeled codeine to morphine, a reaction primarily mediated by CYP2D6 (Boettcher *et al.*, 2005). Another study demonstrated *in vivo* brain CYP2D metabolism by detecting significantly higher morphine levels in the brain 30 minutes after systemic injection of codeine, compared to the delivery of 1 mg/kg morphine given systemically; the dose of 1 mg/kg morphine i.p., resulted in equivalent plasma levels of morphine to 30 minutes after 20 mg/kg (i.p.) of codeine administration. The additional morphine detected in the brain was predicted to be due to local metabolism of codeine to morphine (Chen *et al.*, 1990). These studies suggest that CYP2D6 is functional in the brain, but more studies are required to determine *in situ* CYP2D6 metabolism.

Using a within animal design, our laboratory demonstrated that altering functional levels of CYP2B in the brain can affect the pharmacological response to the anaesthetic propofol (Khokhar & Tyndale, 2010). Inhibiting rat CYP2B in the brain with two distinct MBIs (C8-xanthate and 8-methoxypsoralen) given i.c.v., increased sleep time by propofol, which is metabolically inactivated by CYP2B. In contrast, rats treated with nicotine for 7 days, which induces rat brain but not hepatic CYP2B, had decreased sleep time that could be reversed by i.c.v., delivery of the CYP2B MBI. Together, these results suggest that altered levels of CYP in the brain can influence a drug's effect. We have shown that age, disease pathology, and select drugs can alter brain CYP2D6 levels. The significance of altered brain

CYP2D6 levels is that it can consequently influence local metabolism of CNS drugs, neurotransmitters, neurosteroids, and neurotoxins. This could alter drug response, behaviour, and degree of neurotoxicity which may alter risk for diseases like PD.

4.1 CNS Drug metabolism

The role of CYP2D6 in drug metabolism is important because it can metabolize ~30% of clinical drugs. This includes a variety of CNS-acting drugs, such as antipsychotics, antidepressants, analgesics, opioids, and anti-dementia drugs (**Table 1**) (Coutts & Urichuk, 1999; Kirchheiner *et al.*, 2004; Zanger *et al.*, 2004). Although CYP2D6 genetic variation has a large impact on interindividual variability in drug metabolism, there remains large variation in the degree of drug metabolism within a genotype (Ingelman-Sundberg *et al.*, 2007). It has been recognized that in some cases even when plasma levels are optimal, psychoactive drugs (e.g., neuroleptics and antidepressants) either do not elicit an effect or show adverse side effects (Michels & Marzuk, 1993b; a). Although the liver plays a large role in drug metabolism, localized CNS metabolism may also influence a drug's effect in the brain. The region-specific and highly localized expression of CYP2D6 in cells likely create metabolic microenvironments (Britto & Wedlund, 1992). Therefore, changes in CNS CYP2D6 expression may significantly influence localized drug metabolism and therefore CNS drug effect.

CYP2D6 metabolizes a number of antipsychotics, including risperidone, perphenazine, thioridazine, and haloperidol (Ingelman-Sundberg, 2005). One study found no correlation between plasma levels of risperidone, or its active metabolite, and drug response in schizophrenia patients (Spina *et al.*, 2001a). This supports the notion that plasma drug levels are not always good predictors of drug response and that altered CNS metabolism by CYP2D6 or other CYPs may influence a drug's effect. Interestingly, *CYP2D6* PM genotype is associated

with increased EPS, likely resulting from the inability to metabolize neuroleptics in the liver and/or brain (Schillevoort *et al.*, 2002; Tamminga *et al.*, 2003). Some studies show no correlation between drug dose or active metabolite plasma levels and EPS in patients treated with risperidone (Lane *et al.*, 2000; Riedel *et al.*, 2005). This suggests that differences in localized CNS metabolism may be contributing to this side effect. Although EPS are more common in individuals without a functional *CYP2D6* (PMs), they are also observed in *CYP2D6* EMs and we have shown that EMs have large variation in brain CYP2D6 expression (Coutts & Urichuk, 1999; Mann *et al.*, 2008; Mann *et al.*, submitted). This may contribute to altered drug response where low brain CYP2D6 expression would result in reduced localized inactivation of antipsychotics thereby increasing risk for neuroleptic induced EPS (Schillevoort *et al.*, 2002; Tamminga *et al.*, 2003).

The role of brain CYP2D6 in drug outcome is further supported by the observation that smokers display a lower prevalence for neuroleptic-induced parkinsonism and score lower on EPS scales than non-smokers (Jabs *et al.*, 2003). We have shown that smokers have higher levels of CYP2D6 in brain regions, especially the basal ganglia, involved in EPS (Jabs *et al.*, 2003; Mann *et al.*, 2008). Among other mechanisms, reduced EPS by smoking may in part be due to increased brain CYP2D6 and consequently increased localized CNS drug inactivation, especially as hepatic CYP2D6 is unaltered by smoking (Funck-Brentano *et al.*, 2005). Additionally, depressed smokers treated with a combination of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (substrates of CYP2D6) and a nAChR antagonist, had lower responses to the antidepressants compared to non-smokers (George *et al.*, 2008). The higher brain CYP2D6 in smokers may be responsible for reduced drug response in smokers because of an increased inactivation of antidepressants in the brain.

As brain CYP2D6 increases with age, the influence of localized CNS drug metabolism may be important in older patients. Older patients (>75 years) on the antidepressant drug desipramine, a CYP2D6 substrate, were less responsive than younger patients when controlling for drug dose and plasma levels (Nelson *et al.*, 1995). As 60 to 80 year-old individuals have high levels of brain CYP2D6, higher rates of localized CNS drug metabolism may contribute to the reduced response. Overall, the higher levels of brain CYP2D6 in individuals over 40 years of age, and in those exposed to nicotine or cigarette smoke, may render them more or less responsive to CNS drugs depending on whether the drug is activated (e.g., codeine) or inactivated (e.g., antidepressants) by CYP2D6, respectively. Conversely, lower levels of brain CYP2D6, such as those observed in PD cases, may increase the likelihood of negative side effects of CNS drugs at clinically optimal doses (e.g., antidepressants).

Future studies, using animal models, should determine how altered brain CYP2D levels may affect CNS drug metabolism *in situ*. Assessing response to CNS drugs (e.g., codeine), while manipulating functional levels of brain CYP2D, by induction or inhibition, would elucidate the influence of local brain CYP2D drug metabolism on CNS drug effects (e.g., analgesia). To locally inhibit brain CYP2D function the MBI propranolol, a β -adrenergic blocking agent, may be more useful than the antidepressant and potent CYP2D6 MBI paroxetine (as discussed in **Section 3.1**), as paroxetine has its own CNS effects (Rowland *et al.*, 1994; Bertelsen *et al.*, 2003). However, local CNS administration of propranolol may result in peripheral effects including the inhibition of hepatic CYP2D metabolism as it is highly lipophilic and can cross the BBB (Rowland *et al.*, 1994; Komura & Iwaki, 2005a). Identifying a non-CNS acting, potent, and selective MBI of CYP2D that does not cross the BBB would be useful for manipulating brain CYP2D *in vivo* and would help determine if brain CYP2D significantly influences CNS drug effect (e.g., codeine metabolism and analgesia), neurotoxicity (e.g., 6-OHDA and MPTP), or neurotransmitter metabolism (e.g., DA and serotonin).

4.2 Endogenous CNS substrate metabolism

The expression of CYP2D6 in the brain is important because it can metabolize a number of endogenous compounds including monoamine-like substrates. Because CYP2D6 has brain region-specific localization and can metabolize DA, serotonin, epinephrine, norepinephrine, and tyramine, variation in CYP2D6 is thought to influence personality traits or mood (Yu *et al.*, 2003b; Wang *et al.*, 2009; Bromek *et al.*, 2010). Polymorphisms in *CYP2D6* are associated with differing mood and personality traits, and have been implicated in harm avoidance (Roberts *et al.*, 2004; Kirchheiner *et al.*, 2006; Gonzalez *et al.*, 2008; Ahlner *et al.*, 2010). Although studies are not consistent, *CYP2D6* PMs have been reported to be more anxiety prone, less social, and have a low competitive drive (Kirchheiner *et al.*, 2006; Gonzalez *et al.*, 2008).

In addition to neurotransmitters, CYP2D6 can metabolize other neuroactive compounds such as progesterone, allopregnanolone, and anandamide (Hiroi *et al.*, 2001; Kishimoto *et al.*, 2004; Niwa *et al.*, 2008; Snider *et al.*, 2008). Progesterone has been shown to modulate the synthesis and release of neurotransmitters and neuropeptides in response to stimuli (Pluchino *et al.*, 2006). In rats, progesterone was shown to increase serotonin turnover, catechol-*O*methyltransferase activity, and MAO activity (Genazzani *et al.*, 2000). In humans, treatment with progesterone in women changes mood (Hlatky *et al.*, 2002). A metabolite of progesterone, allopregnanolone, can activate the γ -aminobutyric acid receptor, thus modulating mood, stress, and behaviour with anxiolytic, sedative, and antiepileptic effects (Pluchino *et al.*, 2006). Fluctuations in allopregnanolone have been related to psychological symptoms such as depression, anxiety, and irritability (Pluchino *et al.*, 2006). Anandamide is another neurosteroid that is metabolized by CYP2D6 and is involved in mood, anxiety, and processing emotions. Anandamide is the endogenous form of cannabinoid and is an agonist to the cannabinoid-1 receptor that has been implicated in depression (Bambico & Gobbi, 2008). Altogether, variation in brain CYP2D6 expression could modulate levels of these neurosteroids and thereby effect mood (e.g., depression).

Another role for brain CYP2D6 may be in the synthesis of endogenous morphine. *In vivo* synthesis of morphine from tyramine and codeine was reported in the marine invertebrate *Mytilus edulis*, and this synthesis was significantly reduced by the administration of the selective CYP2D6 inhibitor quinidine (Zhu *et al.*, 2005; Zhu, 2008). These studies demonstrated that CYP2D6 is involved in endogenous morphine formation suggesting that CYP2D6 may be involved in nociception (Zhu, 2008). The thalamus is a brain region involved in nociception and a region with relatively high expression of CYP2D6 in primates (Mann *et al.*, 2008; Wilson *et al.*, 2008). The thalamus shows interindividual differences in activity that correlates with pain threshold (Dostrovsky, 2000; Lenz *et al.*, 2004; Ochsner *et al.*, 2006). Additionally, resting brain perfusion in the thalamus was shown to correlate with the *CYP2D6* genotype (Kirchheiner *et al.*, 2010). Collectively, it may be that the interindividual variation in nociception is in part related to differences in CYP2D6 expression and its ability to synthesize endogenous morphine.

The fact that CYP2D6 can metabolize so many important neurotransmitters and neuromodulators implies that CYP2D6 expression in the brain may be of significant clinical importance. However, there is a need to further understand the involvement of CYP2D6 in brain function. The existence of fully functional humans who lack any CYP2D6 activity (i.e., CYP2D6 PMs) indicates that CYP2D6 is not essential for brain function; however, because the PM genotype influences certain personality traits, CYP2D6 likely modulates

neurotransmitter metabolism. As these neuro-compounds are likely formed in the brain, alterations in brain CYP2D6 expression could potentially modulate levels of neurotransmitters and neuromodulators, thus leading to distinct personality traits, differences in pain thresholds, as well as alterations in mood.

4.3. Parkinson's disease

Some evidence suggests that PD is associated with a certain personality type (Benedetti *et al.*, 2000). PD cases are likely to be more introverted, inflexible, low novelty seeking, harm avoiding, more anxiety prone, and have quiet personality traits (Benedetti *et al.*, 2000; Kaasinen *et al.*, 2001). It is thought that the presence of these PD personality traits in early life may lead PD cases away from using substances that cause dependence and increase health risks, such as smoking, alcohol, and coffee, all which reportedly reduce the risk for PD (Ishihara & Brayne, 2006; Thacker *et al.*, 2007). Notably, there is some overlap of personality traits associated with PD and *CYP2D6* PM genotype. Both *CYP2D6* PMs (who are at increased risk for PD) and PD cases exhibit harm avoidance, are likely to be anxiety prone, and are less social (Roberts *et al.*, 2004; Kirchheiner *et al.*, 2006).

In addition to PD cases exhibiting certain personality traits, the co-morbidity of depression with PD also exists (Ishihara & Brayne, 2006). In a number of cases, depression is known to occur prior to PD and is a risk factor for PD (Lieberman, 2006). PD cases show lower levels of serotonin and notably, studies of depression with animal models indicate there is a disturbed metabolism of neurotransmitters, including serotonin and DA (Harvey, 2008; Krishnan & Nestler, 2010). Both serotonin and DA can be synthesized by CYP2D6 (Yu *et al.*, 2003b; Bromek *et al.*, 2010). We showed that PD cases have lower brain CYP2D6 expression compared to controls (**Chapter 3**). Therefore, these lower brain CYP2D6 levels may

contribute to the reduced serotonin and DA levels that consequently may lead to the premorbidity of depression in PD cases.

A number of studies show that CYP2D6 PMs are over-represented in the PD population compared to controls (Deng et al., 2004; Elbaz et al., 2004; Duric et al., 2007; Singh et al., 2010). The highest incidence of CYP2D6 PMs (10-15%) occurs in the Caucasian population (Gaedigk et al., 2008). The most prevalent null allele in Caucasians is CYP2D6*4, which occurs at an allele frequency of $\sim 25\%$ (Table 4) and is commonly over-represented in the PD population (Armstrong et al., 1992; Deng et al., 2004; Gaedigk et al., 2009). This result is similar to our observation in Chapter 3. CYP2D6 UMs (CYP2D6 gene copy number variants) are most prevalent (~20%) in North African (e.g., Ethiopia) and Middle Eastern populations (e.g., Saudi Arabia) (Ingelman-Sundberg et al., 2007; Gaedigk et al., 2008; Zhou, 2009). Notably, Caucasians have the highest occurrence of PD (Figure 4), and they have the highest prevalence of CYP2D6 PM genotype (von Campenhausen et al., 2005; Lix et al., 2010). In contrast, ethnic populations with the highest prevalence of CYP2D6 UM genotype have a much lower prevalence for PD. For example, the crude PD prevalence in North Africa and Saudi Arabia ranges from 7-40 per 100,000 compared to 130-1,400 per 100,000 in Europe (al Rajeh et al., 1993; von Campenhausen et al., 2005; Okubadejo et al., 2006; Masalha et al., 2010). In addition to differences in environmental exposures between the above mentioned populations, the striking concordance of CYP2D6 phenotype with PD prevalence around the globe provides further support of a link between CYP2D6 and PD suggesting high CYP2D6 expression may be neuroprotective.

There have been reports indicating that CYP2D6 PMs are not associated with increased risk for PD (Bialecka *et al.*, 2007; Halling *et al.*, 2008). Our results suggest, however, that not only PMs, but also EMs with lower brain CYP2D6 expression may be at increased risk; this

observation may confound some of the epidemiological studies based exclusively on CYP2D6 genotyping and/or phenotyping. Given the large variation in brain CYP2D6 expression, perhaps PD risk assessment should not be determined by distinguishing individuals based on *CYP2D6* genotype grouping (i.e., PM *versus* EM) but rather by a continuum of CYP2D6 expression levels.

As CYP2D6 metabolizes plant alkaloids, pesticides, and neurotoxins, it is an ideal candidate to study as a gene-environmental factor that may influence PD risk (Ingelman-Sundberg, 2005). Assessing both gene and environmental factors has been observed to increase the degree of a gene effect on PD risk; an example is *SNCA* dinucleotide repeat sequence (*REP1*) variants within the promoter region (Gatto *et al.*, 2010). One variant *REP1 259*, which is protective, is not protective in the presence of pesticide exposure, while another variant *REP1 263* actually increases risk of PD which is augmented with exposure to pesticides. Therefore, future epidemiological studies should look specifically at environmental exposures and *CYP2D6* genotype in larger sample populations. These studies should also conduct a more detailed assessment of dose and duration of exposure to environmental toxicants, which may show a dose dependent and stronger association for CYP2D6 and PD risk.

Most studies of *CYP2D6* genotype and PD risk have suggested that *CYP2D6* genotype plays a small but significant role in PD risk (Christensen *et al.*, 1998; Deng *et al.*, 2004; Singh *et al.*, 2010). We show in **Chapter 2** and **Chapter 3** that brain CYP2D6 has a large variability in protein expression. Further, not only are individuals with *CYP2D6* null genotypes over-represented in the PD group, but EMs with PD had ~40-50% lower expression of brain CYP2D6 protein compared to control EMs. Thus low CYP2D6 expression may increase the risk of PD, while high levels may be protective. This is consistent with both our observation of increased toxicity by MPP⁺ in cultured neurons after blocking CYP2D6 function (**Chapter 1**)

and another study demonstrating the over-expression of CYP2D6 in PC12 cells protected against MPP⁺ cytotoxicity (Matoh *et al.*, 2003; Mann & Tyndale, 2010).

In the brain, CYP2D6 is expressed in the basal ganglia, astrocytes, glia, at the BBB, and in dopaminergic neurons (Gilham *et al.*, 1997; Miksys *et al.*, 2002; Dutheil *et al.*, 2010). This indicates that CYP2D6 is ideally situated to detoxify neurotoxins in the brain. Theoretically, if CYP2D6 in dopaminergic neurons is expressed at the terminal axons and positioned with the active site facing the extracellular fluid, CYP2D6 could inactivate toxins prior to their entrance into the neuron to elicit damage. Within cells, CYP2D6 is expressed on the plasma membrane as well as in mitochondria, and according to studies in hepatocytes, CYP2D6 is suggested to be expressed on the inner membrane of mitochondria (Miksys *et al.*, 2000b; Sangar *et al.*, 2009). As the mitochondria are a target site for most neurotoxins implicated in PD (e.g., rotenone and β -carbolines), CYP2D6 metabolism at this site makes it potentially an important player in neuroprotection (Miksys *et al.*, 2000b; Kotake *et al.*, 2007; Watabe & Nakaki, 2008; Burbulla *et al.*, 2010). Because CYP2D6 can inactivate various neurotoxins and is ideally situated in the brain, CYP2D6 is likely able to protect the brain from neurotoxic chemicals consequently reducing the risk for PD.

In cigarette smokers, high levels of brain CYP2D6 were observed, particularly in the basal ganglia including the SN. A number of studies indicate that smokers have a reduced risk for developing PD, and pre-treatment with nicotine can protect against many PD-causing neurotoxins *in vivo* and *in vitro* (Alves *et al.*, 2004; Khwaja *et al.*, 2007; Quik *et al.*, 2007c). In monkeys, pre-treatment with nicotine protected against nigrostriatal damage by MPTP (Quik *et al.*, 2006b). We have shown that nicotine can significantly induce monkey CYP2D in the basal ganglia and SN. Thus, the induction of brain CYP2D6 may be one mechanism by which smoking and nicotine protect against PD. These observations, taken together with the

knowledge that *CYP2D6* PMs are at increased risk for PD, support the idea that lower CYP2D6 expression in individuals is likely contributing to the increased risk for PD, while higher CYP2D6 levels reduce this risk.

In regions directly affected in PD (i.e., the caudate and SN), we observed higher CYP2D6 expression than expected compared to unaffected brain regions. Since, CYP2D6 can synthesize DA and is ideally situated in dopaminergic neurons, these higher levels of CYP2D6 in the basal ganglia may be a mechanism to compensate for the loss of DA during PD (Gilham *et al.*, 1997; Riedl *et al.*, 1999; Bromek *et al.*, 2010; Gonzalez-Hernandez *et al.*, 2010). Nicotine treatment has been shown to have direct effects on dopaminergic tone and improve motor symptoms in PD cases, where nicotine-induced brain CYP2D6 may assist in the improvement of symptoms by increasing the synthesis of DA (Fagerstrom *et al.*, 1994; Kelton *et al.*, 2000; Quik *et al.*, 2007b). These induced CYP2D6 levels would also help alleviate some of the toxic burden of endogenous and exogenous neurotoxins and reduce further damage caused by PD-neurotoxins.

The caudate, putamen and SN experience a high degree of oxidative stress (Jenner & Olanow, 1996; Gonzalez-Hernandez *et al.*, 2010; Surmeier *et al.*, 2010). NO is a contributor to ROS and is implicated in PD pathogenesis (Jenner & Olanow, 1996; Tieu *et al.*, 2003). A high content of peroxides in these sensitive brain regions also promotes ROS and oxidative damage (Jenner & Olanow, 1996; Olanow, 2007; Gonzalez-Hernandez *et al.*, 2010). Recently, it was suggested that CYP2D6 likely metabolizes NO in the brain (Hall *et al.*, 2009). Also notable is the fact that CYP2D6 can use hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) as an oxygen donor source to metabolize substrates (peroxide shunting) (Julsing *et al.*, 2008). Together, these results suggest that CYP2D6 may not only neuroprotect by detoxifying potential PD-neurotoxins, but also by utilizing and reducing components that directly contribute to ROS formation. As mentioned

previously, substrates can induce their respective CYPs and NO is shown to regulate hepatic CYP2D6 *in vitro* (Hara & Adachi, 2002; Howard *et al.*, 2003; Haduch *et al.*, 2010). Therefore, the increase of NO and/or peroxides in this region may also induce CYP2D6 expression, as a mechanism of cellular defence to neuroprotect against ROS mediated damage.

Future studies should identify high-risk populations and place them on a nicotine transdermal patch to determine if nicotine alone can delay the onset of PD. Caucasians would be a population group of interest, particularly members of this group who are regularly exposed to pesticides, have a family history of PD, suffer from depression, struggle with sleep disorders, or have problems with olfaction, all which are risk factors for PD (Buck *et al.*, 2010; Tanner, 2010; Vance *et al.*, 2010). In terms of CYP2D6 research, future studies should use neuroimaging techniques (e.g., positron emission tomography) to detect CYP2D6 with radioisotope labelled MBIs (e.g., paroxetine) or competitive inhibitors (e.g., quinidine) and measure levels of brain CYP2D6 in PD high-risk groups.

Another avenue for future studies is to identify tissues that can easily be assessed and are good predictors of general brain CYP2D6 levels. For example, platelet MAO activity is often used as a representative of brain MAO levels (Berggren *et al.*, 2000; Husain *et al.*, 2009). White blood cells may be useful to assess representative brain CYP2D6 activity, as they demonstrate CYP2D6-specific codeine metabolism to morphine (Zhu *et al.*, 2005; Zhu, 2008). Conducting a correlational analysis with neuroimaging of functional brain CYP2D6 and white blood cell CYP2D6 activity could be used to validate the predictive value of white blood cells. Another option is to test cerebral spinal fluid, since previous studies have used this to measure levels of neurotransmitter metabolism in the brain (Fairbanks *et al.*, 1999). Further, levels of neurotransmitter in cerebral spinal fluid have been shown to correlate with behaviour and mental disorders (Fairbanks *et al.*, 1999; Sher *et al.*, 2006). Testing cerebral spinal fluid for

changes in CYP2D6-specific substrate metabolites (post-treatment) may be useful in assessing brain CYP2D6 activity. This could be further extended to measure changes in metabolites of CYP2D6-specific drugs or neurotransmitters upon administering a potent inhibitor of CYP2D6 (e.g., quinidine or the MBI paroxetine).

A question that remains to be answered is how important the localized expression of CYP2D6 is in terms of protecting or influencing the risk for PD. Using a CYP2D6 MBI or inducer in an *in vivo* model of PD (e.g., MPTP) to determine how altered brain levels of CYP2D6 can influence neurotoxic effects would be useful. Nicotine could be used as a brain CYP2D6 inducer; however, because nicotine is neuroprotective it would be difficult to distinguish the neuroprotective effects of induced brain CYP2D6 from those of nicotine. Instead, localized CNS expression of CYP2D6 could be increased by CNS delivery of the *CYP2D6* gene using an adeno-associated viral vector, which is an efficient vehicle used for gene transfer into the brain (Feng & Maguire-Zeiss, 2010; Van der Perren *et al.*, 2011). Fluorescently tagged CYP2D6 could be transfected into the CNS, as this would allow for non-invasive detection of gene expression while allowing one to monitor changes in CYP2D6 expression in response to neurotoxin treatment.

Altogether, CYP2D6 expression in the brain is important as it can metabolize a variety of CNS acting substrates including neurotoxins, CNS drugs, neurotransmitters, and neurosteroids. There is large interindividual variability in brain CYP2D6 expression; furthermore the expression is affected by smoking, nicotine, age and disease state. This variation in brain CYP2D6 expression may therefore influence an individual's ability to locally metabolize CNS acting substrates. Ultimately, these differences would result in individuals being more or less sensitive to neurotoxins, patients responding differently to CNS drugs, and individuals having differing personalities.

Conclusions:

In conclusion we found that, a) inhibiting CYP2D6 in neuronal cultures increases MPP⁺ induced neurotoxicity, b) smoking, which reduces the risk for PD, is associated with higher brain CYP2D6 levels in humans, c) the neuroprotective agent nicotine can induce primate CYP2D in select brain regions, especially in the basal ganglia and SN, d) CYP2D6 expression increases with age during adulthood in select brain regions, and e) PD cases have ~40% lower expression of brain CYP2D6 compared to age-matched controls.

Lower brain CYP2D6 levels in individuals may compromise their ability to inactivate PD-causing neurotoxins, thereby increasing their risk for PD. Conversely, high or induced brain CYP2D6 may result in increased neurotoxin inactivation and reduced neuronal damage thereby decreasing PD risk. Additionally, altered levels of brain CYP2D6 may significantly influence localized metabolism of CNS drugs, drugs of abuse, and endogenous CNS compounds. Future studies should a) elucidate the mechanism of induction and regulation of brain CYP2D6, b) discover a useful clinical measure or predictor of brain CYP2D6 expression and function in humans, c) address whether variation in brain CYP2D6 expression can influence the required dosage of psychoactive drugs or alter neurotransmitter levels, and d) determine if direct inhibition or induction of CNS CYP2D6 can modulate drug response, behaviour, and/or neurotoxicity.
References:

Abell, C.W. & Kwan, S.W. (2001) Molecular characterization of monoamine oxidases A and B. *Prog Nucleic Acid Res Mol Biol*, **65**, 129-156.

Ables, A.Z. & Nagubilli, R. (2010) Prevention, recognition, and management of serotonin syndrome. *Am Fam Physician*, **81**, 1139-1142.

Abraham, J.E., Maranian, M.J., Driver, K.E., Platte, R., Kalmyrzaev, B., Baynes, C., Luccarini, C., Shah, M., Ingle, S., Greenberg, D., Earl, H.M., Dunning, A.M., Pharoah, P.D. & Caldas, C. (2010) CYP2D6 gene variants: association with breast cancer specific survival in a cohort of breast cancer patients from the United Kingdom treated with adjuvant tamoxifen. *Breast Cancer Res*, **12**, R64.

Aguiar, M., Masse, R. & Gibbs, B.F. (2005) Regulation of cytochrome P450 by posttranslational modification. *Drug Metab Rev*, **37**, 379-404.

Agundez, J.A., Ledesma, M.C., Ladero, J.M. & Benitez, J. (1995) Prevalence of CYP2D6 gene duplication and its repercussion on the oxidative phenotype in a white population. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*, **57**, 265-269.

Ahlner, J., Zackrisson, A.L., Lindblom, B. & Bertilsson, L. (2010) CYP2D6, serotonin and suicide. *Pharmacogenomics*, **11**, 903-905.

Ai, C., Li, Y., Wang, Y., Chen, Y. & Yang, L. (2009) Insight into the effects of chiral isomers quinidine and quinine on CYP2D6 inhibition. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett*, **19**, 803-806.

Aklillu, E., Herrlin, K., Gustafsson, L.L., Bertilsson, L. & Ingelman-Sundberg, M. (2002) Evidence for environmental influence on CYP2D6-catalysed debrisoquine hydroxylation as demonstrated by phenotyping and genotyping of Ethiopians living in Ethiopia or in Sweden. *Pharmacogenetics*, **12**, 375-383.

Aklillu, E., Persson, I., Bertilsson, L., Johansson, I., Rodrigues, F. & Ingelman-Sundberg, M. (1996) Frequent distribution of ultrarapid metabolizers of debrisoquine in an ethiopian population carrying duplicated and multiduplicated functional CYP2D6 alleles. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, **278**, 441-446.

al Rajeh, S., Bademosi, O., Ismail, H., Awada, A., Dawodu, A., al-Freihi, H., Assuhaimi, S., Borollosi, M. & al-Shammasi, S. (1993) A community survey of neurological disorders in Saudi Arabia: the Thugbah study. *Neuroepidemiology*, **12**, 164-178.

Alam, M.I., Beg, S., Samad, A., Baboota, S., Kohli, K., Ali, J., Ahuja, A. & Akbar, M. (2010) Strategy for effective brain drug delivery. *Eur J Pharm Sci*, **40**, 385-403.

Alam, Z.I., Jenner, A., Daniel, S.E., Lees, A.J., Cairns, N., Marsden, C.D., Jenner, P. & Halliwell, B. (1997) Oxidative DNA damage in the parkinsonian brain: an apparent selective increase in 8-hydroxyguanine levels in substantia nigra. *J Neurochem*, **69**, 1196-1203.

Alcorn, J. & McNamara, P.J. (2002) Ontogeny of hepatic and renal systemic clearance pathways in infants: part II. *Clin Pharmacokinet*, **41**, 1077-1094.

Allam, M.F., Campbell, M.J., Hofman, A., Del Castillo, A.S. & Fernandez-Crehuet Navajas, R. (2004) Smoking and Parkinson's disease: systematic review of prospective studies. *Mov Disord*, **19**, 614-621.

Allam, M.F., Del Castillo, A.S. & Navajas, R.F. (2007) Parkinson's disease, smoking, and gender. *Mov Disord*, **22**, 1829-1830.

Alves, G., Kurz, M., Lie, S.A. & Larsen, J.P. (2004) Cigarette smoking in Parkinson's disease: influence on disease progression. *Mov Disord*, **19**, 1087-1092.

Aquilano, K., Baldelli, S., Rotilio, G. & Ciriolo, M.R. (2008) Role of nitric oxide synthases in Parkinson's disease: a review on the antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activity of polyphenols. *Neurochem Res*, **33**, 2416-2426.

Armstrong, M., Daly, A.K., Cholerton, S., Bateman, D.N. & Idle, J.R. (1992) Mutant debrisoquine hydroxylation genes in Parkinson's disease. *Lancet*, **339**, 1017-1018.

Asanuma, M., Miyazaki, I., Diaz-Corrales, F.J. & Ogawa, N. (2004) Quinone formation as dopaminergic neuron-specific oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of sporadic Parkinson's disease and neurotoxin-induced parkinsonism. *Acta Med Okayama*, **58**, 221-233.

Bailey, J.N., Breidenthal, S.E., Jorgensen, M.J., McCracken, J.T. & Fairbanks, L.A. (2007) The association of DRD4 and novelty seeking is found in a nonhuman primate model. *Psychiatr Genet*, **17**, 23-27.

Ball, S.E., Ahern, D., Scatina, J. & Kao, J. (1997) Venlafaxine: in vitro inhibition of CYP2D6 dependent imipramine and desipramine metabolism; comparative studies with selected SSRIs, and effects on human hepatic CYP3A4, CYP2C9 and CYP1A2. *Br J Clin Pharmacol*, **43**, 619-626.

Ballatori, N., Krance, S.M., Notenboom, S., Shi, S., Tieu, K. & Hammond, C.L. (2009) Glutathione dysregulation and the etiology and progression of human diseases. *Biol Chem*, **390**, 191-214.

Bambico, F.R. & Gobbi, G. (2008) The cannabinoid CB1 receptor and the endocannabinoid anandamide: possible antidepressant targets. *Expert Opin Ther Targets*, **12**, 1347-1366.

Barbeau, A., Cloutier, T., Roy, M., Plasse, L., Paris, S. & Poirier, J. (1985) Ecogenetics of Parkinson's disease: 4-hydroxylation of debrisoquine. *Lancet*, **2**, 1213-1216.

Barham, H.M., Lennard, M.S. & Tucker, G.T. (1994) An evaluation of cytochrome P450 isoform activities in the female dark agouti (DA) rat: relevance to its use as a model of the CYP2D6 poor metaboliser phenotype. *Biochem Pharmacol*, **47**, 1295-1307.

Barnum, C.J. & Tansey, M.G. (2010) Modeling neuroinflammatory pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. *Prog Brain Res*, **184**, 113-132.

Barzilai, A., Melamed, E. & Shirvan, A. (2001) Is there a rationale for neuroprotection against dopamine toxicity in Parkinson's disease? *Cell Mol Neurobiol*, **21**, 215-235.

Belluardo, N., Mudo, G., Blum, M. & Fuxe, K. (2000) Central nicotinic receptors, neurotrophic factors and neuroprotection. *Behav Brain Res*, **113**, 21-34.

Benedetti, M.D., Bower, J.H., Maraganore, D.M., McDonnell, S.K., Peterson, B.J., Ahlskog, J.E., Schaid, D.J. & Rocca, W.A. (2000) Smoking, alcohol, and coffee consumption preceding Parkinson's disease: a case-control study. *Neurology*, **55**, 1350-1358.

Benowitz, N.L. (2008) Clinical pharmacology of nicotine: implications for understanding, preventing, and treating tobacco addiction. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*, **83**, 531-541.

Benowitz, N.L. & Jacob, P., 3rd (1984) Daily intake of nicotine during cigarette smoking. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*, **35**, 499-504.

Berggren, U., Fahlke, C. & Balldin, J. (2000) Transient increase in platelet monoamine oxidase b activity during early abstinence in alcoholics: implications for research. *Alcohol Alcohol*, **35**, 377-380.

Bergh, A.F. & Strobel, H.W. (1996) Anatomical distribution of NADPH-cytochrome P450 reductase and cytochrome P4502D forms in rat brain: effects of xenobiotics and sex steroids. *Mol Cell Biochem*, **162**, 31-41.

Berlin, I., Spreux-Varoquaux, O. & Launay, J.M. (2000) Platelet monoamine oxidase B activity is inversely associated with plasma cotinine concentration. *Nicotine Tob Res*, **2**, 243-246.

Bernheimer, H., Birkmayer, W., Hornykiewicz, O., Jellinger, K. & Seitelberger, F. (1973) Brain dopamine and the syndromes of Parkinson and Huntington. Clinical, morphological and neurochemical correlations. *J Neurol Sci*, **20**, 415-455.

Bertelsen, K.M., Venkatakrishnan, K., Von Moltke, L.L., Obach, R.S. & Greenblatt, D.J. (2003) Apparent mechanism-based inhibition of human CYP2D6 in vitro by paroxetine: comparison with fluoxetine and quinidine. *Drug Metab Dispos*, **31**, 289-293.

Bhagwat, S.V., Boyd, M.R. & Ravindranath, V. (2000) Multiple forms of cytochrome P450 and associated monooxygenase activities in human brain mitochondria. *Biochem Pharmacol*, **59**, 573-582.

Bhamre, S., Anandatheerathavarada, H.K., Shankar, S.K., Boyd, M.R. & Ravindranath, V. (1993) Purification of multiple forms of cytochrome P450 from a human brain and reconstitution of catalytic activities. *Arch Biochem Biophys*, **301**, 251-255.

Bhathena, A., Mueller, T., Grimm, D.R., Idler, K., Tsurutani, A., Spear, B.B. & Katz, D.A. (2007) Frequency of the frame-shifting CYP2D7 138delT polymorphism in a large, ethnically diverse sample population. *Drug Metab Dispos*, **35**, 1251-1253.

Bialecka, M., Klodowska-Duda, G., Honczarenko, K., Gawronska-Szklarz, B., Opala, G., Safranow, K. & Drozdzik, M. (2007) Polymorphisms of catechol-0-methyltransferase (COMT), monoamine oxidase B (MAOB), N-acetyltransferase 2 (NAT2) and cytochrome P450 2D6 (CYP2D6) gene in patients with early onset of Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord*, **13**, 224-229.

Binda, C., Hubalek, F., Li, M., Castagnoli, N., Edmondson, D.E. & Mattevi, A. (2006) Structure of the human mitochondrial monoamine oxidase B: new chemical implications for neuroprotectant drug design. *Neurology*, **67**, S5-7.

Binda, C., Hubalek, F., Li, M., Edmondson, D.E. & Mattevi, A. (2004) Crystal structure of human monoamine oxidase B, a drug target enzyme monotopically inserted into the mitochondrial outer membrane. *FEBS Lett*, **564**, 225-228.

Blume, N., Leonard, J., Xu, Z.J., Watanabe, O., Remotti, H. & Fishman, J. (2000) Characterization of Cyp2d22, a novel cytochrome P450 expressed in mouse mammary cells. *Arch Biochem Biophys*, **381**, 191-204.

Boettcher, C., Fellermeier, M., Boettcher, C., Drager, B. & Zenk, M.H. (2005) How human neuroblastoma cells make morphine. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **102**, 8495-8500.

Bordia, T., Grady, S.R., McIntosh, J.M. & Quik, M. (2007) Nigrostriatal damage preferentially decreases a subpopulation of alpha6beta2* nAChRs in mouse, monkey, and Parkinson's disease striatum. *Mol Pharmacol*, **72**, 52-61.

Bordia, T., Parameswaran, N., Fan, H., Langston, J.W., McIntosh, J.M. & Quik, M. (2006) Partial recovery of striatal nicotinic receptors in 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP)-lesioned monkeys with chronic oral nicotine. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, **319**, 285-292.

Borlak, J.T., Harsany, V., Schneble, H. & Haegele, K.D. (1994) pNAT and CYP2D6 gene polymorphism in epileptic patients. *Biochem Pharmacol*, **48**, 1717-1720.

Bourrie, M., Meunier, V., Berger, Y. & Fabre, G. (1996) Cytochrome P450 isoform inhibitors as a tool for the investigation of metabolic reactions catalyzed by human liver microsomes. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, **277**, 321-332.

Boyd, I.W. (2005) Tramadol and seizures. Med J Aust, 182, 595-596.

Braak, H., Ghebremedhin, E., Rub, U., Bratzke, H. & Del Tredici, K. (2004) Stages in the development of Parkinson's disease-related pathology. *Cell Tissue Res*, **318**, 121-134.

Britto, M.R. & Wedlund, P.J. (1992) Cytochrome P-450 in the brain. Potential evolutionary and therapeutic relevance of localization of drug-metabolizing enzymes. *Drug Metab Dispos*, **20**, 446-450.

Bromek, E., Haduch, A. & Daniel, W.A. (2010) The ability of cytochrome P450 2D isoforms to synthesize dopamine in the brain: An in vitro study. *Eur J Pharmacol*, **626**, 171-178.

Brooks, A.I., Chadwick, C.A., Gelbard, H.A., Cory-Slechta, D.A. & Federoff, H.J. (1999) Paraquat elicited neurobehavioral syndrome caused by dopaminergic neuron loss. *Brain Res*, **823**, 1-10.

Brosen, K., Gram, L.F., Haghfelt, T. & Bertilsson, L. (1987) Extensive metabolizers of debrisoquine become poor metabolizers during quinidine treatment. *Pharmacol Toxicol*, **60**, 312-314.

Brown, T.P., Rumsby, P.C., Capleton, A.C., Rushton, L. & Levy, L.S. (2006) Pesticides and Parkinson's disease--is there a link? *Environ Health Perspect*, **114**, 156-164.

Buck, P.O., Trautman, H. & Clark, J. (2010) Scales for assessing nonmotor symptom severity changes in Parkinson's disease patients with symptom fluctuations. *Int J Neurosci*, **120**, 523-530.

Burbulla, L.F., Krebiehl, G. & Kruger, R. (2010) Balance is the challenge--the impact of mitochondrial dynamics in Parkinson's disease. *Eur J Clin Invest*, **40**, 1048-1060.

Cacabelos, R. (2008) Pharmacogenomics in Alzheimer's disease. *Methods Mol Biol*, **448**, 213-357.

Cairns, W., Smith, C.A., McLaren, A.W. & Wolf, C.R. (1996) Characterization of the human cytochrome P4502D6 promoter. A potential role for antagonistic interactions between members of the nuclear receptor family. *J Biol Chem*, **271**, 25269-25276.

Capitanio, J.P. & Emborg, M.E. (2008) Contributions of non-human primates to neuroscience research. *Lancet*, **371**, 1126-1135.

Cascorbi, I. (2003) Pharmacogenetics of cytochrome p4502D6: genetic background and clinical implication. *Eur J Clin Invest*, **33 Suppl 2**, 17-22.

Castagnoli, K., Petzer, J.B., Steyn, S.J., van der Schyf, C.J. & Castagnoli, N., Jr. (2003) Inhibition of human MAO-A and MAO-B by a compound isolated from flue-cured tobacco leaves and its neuroprotective properties in the MPTP mouse model of neurodegeneration. *Inflammopharmacology*, **11**, 183-188.

Castagnoli, K.P., Steyn, S.J., Petzer, J.P., Van der Schyf, C.J. & Castagnoli, N., Jr. (2001) Neuroprotection in the MPTP Parkinsonian C57BL/6 mouse model by a compound isolated from tobacco. *Chem Res Toxicol*, **14**, 523-527.

Chan, D.K., Cordato, D., Karr, M., Ong, B., Lei, H., Liu, J. & Hung, W.T. (2005) Prevalence of Parkinson's disease in Sydney. *Acta Neurol Scand*, **111**, 7-11.

Chapman, M.A. (2009) Does smoking reduce the risk of Parkinson's disease through stimulation of the ubiquitin-proteasome system? *Med Hypotheses*, **73**, 887-891.

Chauret, N., Dobbs, B., Lackman, R.L., Bateman, K., Nicoll-Griffith, D.A., Stresser, D.M., Ackermann, J.M., Turner, S.D., Miller, V.P. & Crespi, C.L. (2001) The use of 3-[2-(N,N-diethyl-N-methylammonium)ethyl]-7-methoxy-4-methylcoumarin (AMMC) as a specific CYP2D6 probe in human liver microsomes. *Drug Metab Dispos*, **29**, 1196-1200.

Chen, Z.R., Irvine, R.J., Bochner, F. & Somogyi, A.A. (1990) Morphine formation from codeine in rat brain: a possible mechanism of codeine analgesia. *Life Sci*, **46**, 1067-1074.

Cherra, S.J. & Chu, C.T. (2008) Autophagy in neuroprotection and neurodegeneration: A question of balance. *Future Neurol*, **3**, 309-323.

Chiba, K., Kobayashi, K., Itoh, K., Itoh, S., Chiba, T., Ishizaki, T. & Kamataki, T. (1995) N-oxygenation of 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine by the rat liver flavin-containing monooxygenase expressed in yeast cells. *Eur J Pharmacol*, **293**, 97-100.

Chinta, S.J. & Andersen, J.K. (2005) Dopaminergic neurons. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*, **37**, 942-946.

Christensen, P.M., Gotzsche, P.C. & Brosen, K. (1998) The sparteine/debrisoquine (CYP2D6) oxidation polymorphism and the risk of Parkinson's disease: a meta-analysis. *Pharmacogenetics*, **8**, 473-479.

Cohn, J.A., Alvares, A.P. & Kappas, A. (1977) On the occurrence of cytochrome P-450 and aryl hydrocarbon hydroxylase activity in rat brain. *J Exp Med*, **145**, 1607-1611.

Coleman, M. (2010) Cytochrome P450 inhibition *Human Drug Metabolism: An Introduction*. Wiley, pp. 93-100.

Coleman, S., Linderman, R., Hodgson, E. & Rose, R.L. (2000a) Comparative metabolism of chloroacetamide herbicides and selected metabolites in human and rat liver microsomes. *Environ Health Perspect*, **108**, 1151-1157.

Coleman, T., Ellis, S.W., Martin, I.J., Lennard, M.S. & Tucker, G.T. (1996) 1-Methyl-4phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP) is N-demethylated by cytochromes P450 2D6, 1A2 and 3A4--implications for susceptibility to Parkinson's disease. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, **277**, 685-690.

Coleman, T., Spellman, E.F., Rostami-Hodjegan, A., Lennard, M.S. & Tucker, G.T. (2000b) The 1'-hydroxylation of Rac-bufuralol by rat brain microsomes. *Drug Metab Dispos*, **28**, 1094-1099.

Conde, J.R. & Streit, W.J. (2006) Microglia in the aging brain. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*, **65**, 199-203.

Conroy, J.L., Fang, C., Gu, J., Zeitlin, S.O., Yang, W., Yang, J., VanAlstine, M.A., Nalwalk, J.W., Albrecht, P.J., Mazurkiewicz, J.E., Snyder-Keller, A., Shan, Z., Zhang, S.Z., Wentland, M.P., Behr, M., Knapp, B.I., Bidlack, J.M., Zuiderveld, O.P., Leurs, R., Ding, X. & Hough, L.B. (2010) Opioids activate brain analgesic circuits through cytochrome P450/epoxygenase signaling. *Nat Neurosci*, **13**, 284-286.

Cookson, M.R. (2010) The role of leucine-rich repeat kinase 2 (LRRK2) in Parkinson's disease. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, **11**, 791-797.

Coon, M.J. (2005) Cytochrome P450: nature's most versatile biological catalyst. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol*, **45**, 1-25.

Corchero, J., Granvil, C.P., Akiyama, T.E., Hayhurst, G.P., Pimprale, S., Feigenbaum, L., Idle, J.R. & Gonzalez, F.J. (2001) The CYP2D6 humanized mouse: effect of the human CYP2D6 transgene and HNF4alpha on the disposition of debrisoquine in the mouse. *Mol Pharmacol*, **60**, 1260-1267.

Cordato, D.J. & Chan, D.K. (2004) Genetics and Parkinson's disease. *J Clin Neurosci*, **11**, 119-123.

Cormier, A., Morin, C., Zini, R., Tillement, J.P. & Lagrue, G. (2001) In vitro effects of nicotine on mitochondrial respiration and superoxide anion generation. *Brain Res*, **900**, 72-79.

Costello, S., Cockburn, M., Bronstein, J., Zhang, X. & Ritz, B. (2009) Parkinson's disease and residential exposure to maneb and paraquat from agricultural applications in the central valley of California. *Am J Epidemiol*, **169**, 919-926.

Coutts, R.T. & Urichuk, L.J. (1999) Polymorphic cytochromes P450 and drugs used in psychiatry. *Cell Mol Neurobiol*, **19**, 325-354.

Crewe, H.K., Lennard, M.S., Tucker, G.T., Woods, F.R. & Haddock, R.E. (1992) The effect of selective serotonin re-uptake inhibitors on cytochrome P4502D6 (CYP2D6) activity in human liver microsomes. *Br J Clin Pharmacol*, **34**, 262-265.

Cribb, A., Nuss, C. & Wang, R. (1995) Antipeptide antibodies against overlapping sequences differentially inhibit human CYP2D6. *Drug Metab Dispos*, **23**, 671-675.

Dahl, M.L., Johansson, I., Bertilsson, L., Ingelman-Sundberg, M. & Sjoqvist, F. (1995) Ultrarapid hydroxylation of debrisoquine in a Swedish population. Analysis of the molecular genetic basis. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, **274**, 516-520.

Das, K.C., Abramson, M.B. & Katzman, R. (1978) Neuronal pigments: spectroscopic characterization of human brain melanin. *J Neurochem*, **30**, 601-605.

Dauchy, S., Dutheil, F., Weaver, R.J., Chassoux, F., Daumas-Duport, C., Couraud, P.O., Scherrmann, J.M., De Waziers, I. & Decleves, X. (2008) ABC transporters, cytochromes P450 and their main transcription factors: expression at the human blood-brain barrier. *J Neurochem*, **107**, 1518-1528.

Dauchy, S., Miller, F., Couraud, P.O., Weaver, R.J., Weksler, B., Romero, I.A., Scherrmann, J.M., De Waziers, I. & Decleves, X. (2009) Expression and transcriptional regulation of ABC transporters and cytochromes P450 in hCMEC/D3 human cerebral microvascular endothelial cells. *Biochem Pharmacol*, **77**, 897-909.

Dawson, T.M., Ko, H.S. & Dawson, V.L. (2010) Genetic animal models of Parkinson's disease. *Neuron*, **66**, 646-661.

De Gregori, M., Allegri, M., De Gregori, S., Garbin, G., Tinelli, C., Regazzi, M., Govoni, S. & Ranzani, G.N. (2010) How and Why to Screen for CYP2D6 Interindividual Variability in Patients Under Pharmacological Treatments. *Curr Drug Metab*, **11**, 276-282.

de Groot, M.J., Wakenhut, F., Whitlock, G. & Hyland, R. (2009) Understanding CYP2D6 interactions. *Drug Discov Today*, **14**, 964-972.

de Leon, J., Susce, M.T., Pan, R.M., Fairchild, M., Koch, W.H. & Wedlund, P.J. (2005) The CYP2D6 poor metabolizer phenotype may be associated with risperidone adverse drug reactions and discontinuation. *J Clin Psychiatry*, **66**, 15-27.

Deng, Y., Newman, B., Dunne, M.P., Silburn, P.A. & Mellick, G.D. (2004) Further evidence that interactions between CYP2D6 and pesticide exposure increase risk for Parkinson's disease. *Ann Neurol*, **55**, 897.

Desta, Z., Kerbusch, T., Soukhova, N., Richard, E., Ko, J.W. & Flockhart, D.A. (1998) Identification and characterization of human cytochrome P450 isoforms interacting with pimozide. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, **285**, 428-437.

Desta, Z., Wu, G.M., Morocho, A.M. & Flockhart, D.A. (2002) The gastroprokinetic and antiemetic drug metoclopramide is a substrate and inhibitor of cytochrome P450 2D6. *Drug Metab Dispos*, **30**, 336-343.

Dexter, D.T., Carter, C.J., Wells, F.R., Javoy-Agid, F., Agid, Y., Lees, A., Jenner, P. & Marsden, C.D. (1989) Basal lipid peroxidation in substantia nigra is increased in Parkinson's disease. *J Neurochem*, **52**, 381-389.

Dhillon, A.S., Tarbutton, G.L., Levin, J.L., Plotkin, G.M., Lowry, L.K., Nalbone, J.T. & Shepherd, S. (2008) Pesticide/environmental exposures and Parkinson's disease in East Texas. *J Agromedicine*, **13**, 37-48.

Di Monte, D.A. (2003) The environment and Parkinson's disease: is the nigrostriatal system preferentially targeted by neurotoxins? *Lancet Neurol*, **2**, 531-538.

Dick, F.D., De Palma, G., Ahmadi, A., Osborne, A., Scott, N.W., Prescott, G.J., Bennett, J., Semple, S., Dick, S., Mozzoni, P., Haites, N., Wettinger, S.B., Mutti, A., Otelea, M., Seaton, A., Soderkvist, P. & Felice, A. (2007) Gene-environment interactions in parkinsonism and Parkinson's disease: the Geoparkinson study. *Occup Environ Med*, **64**, 673-680.

Dome, P., Lazary, J., Kalapos, M.P. & Rihmer, Z. (2010) Smoking, nicotine and neuropsychiatric disorders. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, **34**, 295-342.

Doostzadeh, J. & Morfin, R. (1997) Effects of cytochrome P450 inhibitors and of steroid hormones on the formation of 7-hydroxylated metabolites of pregnenolone in mouse brain microsomes. *J Endocrinol*, **155**, 343-350.

Dorn, H.F. (1959) Tobacco consumption and mortality from cancer and other diseases. *Public Health Rep*, **74**, 581-593.

Dostrovsky, J.O. (2000) Role of thalamus in pain. Prog Brain Res, 129, 245-257.

Double, K.L., Zecca, L., Costi, P., Mauer, M., Griesinger, C., Ito, S., Ben-Shachar, D., Bringmann, G., Fariello, R.G., Riederer, P. & Gerlach, M. (2000) Structural characteristics of human substantia nigra neuromelanin and synthetic dopamine melanins. *J Neurochem*, **75**, 2583-2589.

Duric, G., Svetel, M., Nikolaevic, S.I., Dragadevic, N., Gavrilovic, J. & Kostic, V.S. (2007) [Polymorphisms in the genes of cytochrome oxidase P450 2D6 (CYP2D6), paraoxonase 1 (PON1) and apolipoprotein E (APOE) as risk factors for Parkinson's disease]. *Vojnosanit Pregl*, **64**, 25-30.

Dutheil, F., Beaune, P. & Loriot, M.A. (2008) Xenobiotic metabolizing enzymes in the central nervous system: Contribution of cytochrome P450 enzymes in normal and pathological human brain. *Biochimie*, **90**, 426-436.

Dutheil, F., Dauchy, S., Diry, M., Sazdovitch, V., Cloarec, O., Mellottee, L., Bieche, I., Ingelman-Sundberg, M., Flinois, J.P., de Waziers, I., Beaune, P., Decleves, X., Duyckaerts, C. & Loriot, M.A. (2009) Xenobiotic-metabolizing enzymes and transporters in the normal human brain: regional and cellular mapping as a basis for putative roles in cerebral function. *Drug Metab Dispos*, **37**, 1528-1538.

Dutheil, F., Jacob, A., Dauchy, S., Beaune, P., Scherrmann, J.M., Decleves, X. & Loriot, M.A. (2010) ABC transporters and cytochromes P450 in the human central nervous system: influence on brain pharmacokinetics and contribution to neurodegenerative disorders. *Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol*, **6**, 1161-1174.

Edwards, R.J., Price, R.J., Watts, P.S., Renwick, A.B., Tredger, J.M., Boobis, A.R. & Lake, B.G. (2003) Induction of cytochrome P450 enzymes in cultured precision-cut human liver slices. *Drug Metab Dispos*, **31**, 282-288.

Elbaz, A., Levecque, C., Clavel, J., Vidal, J.S., Richard, F., Amouyel, P., Alperovitch, A., Chartier-Harlin, M.C. & Tzourio, C. (2004) CYP2D6 polymorphism, pesticide exposure, and Parkinson's disease. *Ann Neurol*, **55**, 430-434.

Emoto, C., Murase, S. & Iwasaki, K. (2006) Approach to the prediction of the contribution of major cytochrome P450 enzymes to drug metabolism in the early drug-discovery stage. *Xenobiotica*, **36**, 671-683.

Endrizzi, K., Fischer, J., Klein, K., Schwab, M., Nussler, A., Neuhaus, P., Eichelbaum, M. & Zanger, U.M. (2002) Discriminative quantification of cytochrome P4502D6 and 2D7/8 pseudogene expression by TaqMan real-time reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction. *Anal Biochem*, **300**, 121-131.

Estabrook, R. (1999) An introduction to the cytochrome P450s. *Mol Aspects Med*, **20**, 5-12, 13-137.

Factor, S.A. & Weiner, W.J. (2008) History, Diagnosis and Pathology of Parkinson's Disease. In Stewart A. Factor, W.J.W. (ed) *Parkinson's Disease, Diagnosis and Clinical Management*. Demos Medical Publishing, LLC., New York, NY.

Fagerstrom, K.O., Pomerleau, O., Giordani, B. & Stelson, F. (1994) Nicotine may relieve symptoms of Parkinson's disease. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **116**, 117-119.

Fahn, S. (2010) Parkinson's disease: 10 years of progress, 1997-2007. *Mov Disord*, **25 Suppl 1**, S2-14.

Fairbanks, L.A., Fontenot, M.B., Phillips-Conroy, J.E., Jolly, C.J., Kaplan, J.R. & Mann, J.J. (1999) CSF monoamines, age and impulsivity in wild grivet monkeys (Cercopithecus aethiops aethiops). *Brain Behav Evol*, **53**, 305-312.

Fasano, M., Bergamasco, B. & Lopiano, L. (2006) Modifications of the iron-neuromelanin system in Parkinson's disease. *J Neurochem*, **96**, 909-916.

Felmlee, M.A., Lon, H.K., Gonzalez, F.J. & Yu, A.M. (2008) Cytochrome P450 expression and regulation in CYP3A4/CYP2D6 double transgenic humanized mice. *Drug Metab Dispos*, **36**, 435-441.

Feng, L.R. & Maguire-Zeiss, K.A. (2010) Gene therapy in Parkinson's disease: rationale and current status. *CNS Drugs*, **24**, 177-192.

Ferger, B., Spratt, C., Earl, C.D., Teismann, P., Oertel, W.H. & Kuschinsky, K. (1998) Effects of nicotine on hydroxyl free radical formation in vitro and on MPTP-induced neurotoxicity in vivo. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol*, **358**, 351-359.

Fjell, A.M. & Walhovd, K.B. (2010) Structural brain changes in aging: courses, causes and cognitive consequences. *Rev Neurosci*, **21**, 187-221.

Fleeman, N., Dundar, Y., Dickson, R., Jorgensen, A., Pushpakom, S., McLeod, C., Pirmohamed, M. & Walley, T. (2010) Cytochrome P450 testing for prescribing antipsychotics in adults with schizophrenia: systematic review and meta-analyses. *Pharmacogenomics J*.

Floor, E. & Wetzel, M.G. (1998) Increased protein oxidation in human substantia nigra pars compacta in comparison with basal ganglia and prefrontal cortex measured with an improved dinitrophenylhydrazine assay. *J Neurochem*, **70**, 268-275.

Fong, S.P., Tsang, K.S., Chan, A.B., Lu, G., Poon, W.S., Li, K., Baum, L.W. & Ng, H.K. (2007) Trophism of neural progenitor cells to embryonic stem cells: neural induction and transplantation in a mouse ischemic stroke model. *J Neurosci Res*, **85**, 1851-1862.

Fonne-Pfister, R., Bargetzi, M.J. & Meyer, U.A. (1987) MPTP, the neurotoxin inducing Parkinson's disease, is a potent competitive inhibitor of human and rat cytochrome P450 isozymes (P450bufI, P450db1) catalyzing debrisoquine 4-hydroxylation. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, **148**, 1144-1150.

Fowler, J.S., Logan, J., Wang, G.J. & Volkow, N.D. (2003) Monoamine oxidase and cigarette smoking. *Neurotoxicology*, **24**, 75-82.

Fowler, J.S., Logan, J., Wang, G.J., Volkow, N.D., Telang, F., Zhu, W., Franceschi, D., Shea, C., Garza, V., Xu, Y., Ding, Y.S., Alexoff, D., Warner, D., Netusil, N., Carter, P., Jayne, M., King, P. & Vaska, P. (2005) Comparison of monoamine oxidase a in peripheral organs in nonsmokers and smokers. *J Nucl Med*, **46**, 1414-1420.

Fowler, J.S., Wang, G.J., Volkow, N.D., Franceschi, D., Logan, J., Pappas, N., Shea, C., MacGregor, R.R. & Garza, V. (2000) Maintenance of brain monoamine oxidase B inhibition in smokers after overnight cigarette abstinence. *Am J Psychiatry*, **157**, 1864-1866.

Fradette, C., Yamaguchi, N. & Du Souich, P. (2004) 5-Hydroxytryptamine is biotransformed by CYP2C9, 2C19 and 2B6 to hydroxylamine, which is converted into nitric oxide. *Br J Pharmacol*, **141**, 407-414.

Frank, D., Jaehde, U. & Fuhr, U. (2007) Evaluation of probe drugs and pharmacokinetic metrics for CYP2D6 phenotyping. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol*, **63**, 321-333.

Fukuda, T. (2001) Neurotoxicity of MPTP. Neuropathology, 21, 323-332.

Funae, Y., Kishimoto, W., Cho, T., Niwa, T. & Hiroi, T. (2003) CYP2D in the brain. *Drug Metab Pharmacokinet*, **18**, 337-349.

Funck-Brentano, C., Boelle, P.Y., Verstuyft, C., Bornert, C., Becquemont, L. & Poirier, J.M. (2005) Measurement of CYP2D6 and CYP3A4 activity in vivo with dextromethorphan: sources of variability and predictors of adverse effects in 419 healthy subjects. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol*, **61**, 821-829.

Gaedigk, A., Bhathena, A., Ndjountche, L., Pearce, R.E., Abdel-Rahman, S.M., Alander, S.W., Bradford, L.D., Rogan, P.K. & Leeder, J.S. (2005a) Identification and characterization of novel sequence variations in the cytochrome P4502D6 (CYP2D6) gene in African Americans. *Pharmacogenomics J*, **5**, 173-182.

Gaedigk, A., Bradford, L.D., Alander, S.W. & Leeder, J.S. (2006) CYP2D6*36 gene arrangements within the cyp2d6 locus: association of CYP2D6*36 with poor metabolizer status. *Drug Metab Dispos*, **34**, 563-569.

Gaedigk, A. & Coetsee, C. (2008) The CYP2D6 gene locus in South African Coloureds: unique allele distributions, novel alleles and gene arrangements. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol*, **64**, 465-475.

Gaedigk, A., Frank, D. & Fuhr, U. (2009) Identification of a novel non-functional CYP2D6 allele, CYP2D6*69, in a Caucasian poor metabolizer individual. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol*, **65**, 97-100.

Gaedigk, A., Fuhr, U., Johnson, C., Berard, L.A., Bradford, D. & Leeder, J.S. (2010) CYP2D7-2D6 hybrid tandems: identification of novel CYP2D6 duplication arrangements and implications for phenotype prediction. *Pharmacogenomics*, **11**, 43-53.

Gaedigk, A., Gaedigk, R. & Leeder, J.S. (2005b) CYP2D7 splice variants in human liver and brain: does CYP2D7 encode functional protein? *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, **336**, 1241-1250.

Gaedigk, A., Ndjountche, L., Divakaran, K., Dianne Bradford, L., Zineh, I., Oberlander, T.F., Brousseau, D.C., McCarver, D.G., Johnson, J.A., Alander, S.W., Wayne Riggs, K. & Steven Leeder, J. (2007) Cytochrome P4502D6 (CYP2D6) gene locus heterogeneity: characterization of gene duplication events. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*, **81**, 242-251.

Gaedigk, A., Simon, S.D., Pearce, R.E., Bradford, L.D., Kennedy, M.J. & Leeder, J.S. (2008) The CYP2D6 activity score: translating genotype information into a qualitative measure of phenotype. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*, **83**, 234-242.

Galanaud, J.P., Elbaz, A., Clavel, J., Vidal, J.S., Correze, J.R., Alperovitch, A. & Tzourio, C. (2005) Cigarette smoking and Parkinson's disease: a case-control study in a population characterized by a high prevalence of pesticide exposure. *Mov Disord*, **20**, 181-189.

Gan, S.H., Ismail, R., Wan Adnan, W.A., Zulmi, W., Kumaraswamy, N. & Larmie, E.T. (2004) Relationship between Type A and B personality and debrisoquine hydroxylation capacity. *Br J Clin Pharmacol*, **57**, 785-789.

Garcia-Barcelo, M., Chow, L.Y., Chiu, H.F., Wing, Y.K., Lee, D.T., Lam, K.L. & Waye, M.M. (2000) Genetic analysis of the CYP2D6 locus in a Hong Kong Chinese population. *Clin Chem*, **46**, 18-23.

Gatto, E.M., Riobo, N.A., Carreras, M.C., Chernavsky, A., Rubio, A., Satz, M.L. & Poderoso, J.J. (2000) Overexpression of neutrophil neuronal nitric oxide synthase in Parkinson's disease. *Nitric Oxide*, **4**, 534-539.

Gatto, N.M., Rhodes, S.L., Manthripragada, A.D., Bronstein, J., Cockburn, M., Farrer, M. & Ritz, B. (2010) alpha-Synuclein gene may interact with environmental factors in increasing risk of Parkinson's disease. *Neuroepidemiology*, **35**, 191-195.

Genazzani, A.R., Stomati, M., Morittu, A., Bernardi, F., Monteleone, P., Casarosa, E., Gallo, R., Salvestroni, C. & Luisi, M. (2000) Progesterone, progestagens and the central nervous system. *Hum Reprod*, **15 Suppl 1**, 14-27.

George, T.P., Sacco, K.A., Vessicchio, J.C., Weinberger, A.H. & Shytle, R.D. (2008) Nicotinic antagonist augmentation of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor-refractory major depressive disorder: a preliminary study. *J Clin Psychopharmacol*, **28**, 340-344.

Gervasini, G., Carrillo, J.A. & Benitez, J. (2004) Potential role of cerebral cytochrome P450 in clinical pharmacokinetics: modulation by endogenous compounds. *Clin Pharmacokinet*, **43**, 693-706.

Ghersi-Egea, J.F., Minn, A., Daval, J.L., Jayyosi, Z., Arnould, V., Souhaili-El Amri, H. & Siest, G. (1989) NADPH:cytochrome P-450(c) reductase: biochemical characterization in rat brain and cultured neurons and evolution of activity during development. *Neurochem Res*, **14**, 883-887.

Ghersi-Egea, J.F., Perrin, R., Leininger-Muller, B., Grassiot, M.C., Jeandel, C., Floquet, J., Cuny, G., Siest, G. & Minn, A. (1993) Subcellular localization of cytochrome P450, and activities of several enzymes responsible for drug metabolism in the human brain. *Biochem Pharmacol*, **45**, 647-658.

Ghosal, A., Hapangama, N., Yuan, Y., Lu, X., Horne, D., Patrick, J.E. & Zbaida, S. (2003) Rapid determination of enzyme activities of recombinant human cytochromes P450, human liver microsomes and hepatocytes. *Biopharm Drug Dispos*, **24**, 375-384.

Ghosh, C., Gonzalez-Martinez, J., Hossain, M., Cucullo, L., Fazio, V., Janigro, D. & Marchi, N. (2010) Pattern of P450 expression at the human blood-brain barrier: roles of epileptic condition and laminar flow. *Epilepsia*, **51**, 1408-1417.

Ghosh, C., Marchi, N., Desai, N.K., Puvenna, V., Hossain, M., Gonzalez-Martinez, J., Alexopoulos, A.V. & Janigro, D. (2011) Cellular localization and functional significance of CYP3A4 in the human epileptic brain. *Epilepsia*.

Giasson, B.I., Duda, J.E., Quinn, S.M., Zhang, B., Trojanowski, J.Q. & Lee, V.M. (2002) Neuronal alpha-synucleinopathy with severe movement disorder in mice expressing A53T human alpha-synuclein. *Neuron*, **34**, 521-533.

Gilham, D.E., Cairns, W., Paine, M.J., Modi, S., Poulsom, R., Roberts, G.C. & Wolf, C.R. (1997) Metabolism of MPTP by cytochrome P4502D6 and the demonstration of 2D6 mRNA in human foetal and adult brain by in situ hybridization. *Xenobiotica*, **27**, 111-125.

Gonzalez, F.J. (1990) Molecular genetics of the P-450 superfamily. Pharmacol Ther, 45, 1-38.

Gonzalez, F.J., Vilbois, F., Hardwick, J.P., McBride, O.W., Nebert, D.W., Gelboin, H.V. & Meyer, U.A. (1988) Human debrisoquine 4-hydroxylase (P450IID1): cDNA and deduced amino acid sequence and assignment of the CYP2D locus to chromosome 22. *Genomics*, **2**, 174-179.

Gonzalez, I., Penas-Lledo, E.M., Perez, B., Dorado, P., Alvarez, M. & A, L.L. (2008) Relation between CYP2D6 phenotype and genotype and personality in healthy volunteers. *Pharmacogenomics*, **9**, 833-840.

Gonzalez-Hernandez, T., Cruz-Muros, I., Afonso-Oramas, D., Salas-Hernandez, J. & Castro-Hernandez, J. (2010) Vulnerability of mesostriatal dopaminergic neurons in Parkinson's disease. *Front Neuroanat*, **4**, 140.

Gorell, J.M., Johnson, C.C., Rybicki, B.A., Peterson, E.L. & Richardson, R.J. (1998) The risk of Parkinson's disease with exposure to pesticides, farming, well water, and rural living. *Neurology*, **50**, 1346-1350.

Gorell, J.M., Rybicki, B.A., Johnson, C.C. & Peterson, E.L. (1999) Smoking and Parkinson's disease: a dose-response relationship. *Neurology*, **52**, 115-119.

Goto, W., Ota, T., Morikawa, N., Otori, Y., Hara, H., Kawazu, K., Miyawaki, N. & Tano, Y. (2002) Protective effects of timolol against the neuronal damage induced by glutamate and ischemia in the rat retina. *Brain Res*, **958**, 10-19.

Gotti, C. & Clementi, F. (2004) Neuronal nicotinic receptors: from structure to pathology. *Prog Neurobiol*, **74**, 363-396.

Gotti, C., Fornasari, D. & Clementi, F. (1997) Human neuronal nicotinic receptors. *Prog Neurobiol*, **53**, 199-237.

Gotti, C., Moretti, M., Bohr, I., Ziabreva, I., Vailati, S., Longhi, R., Riganti, L., Gaimarri, A., McKeith, I.G., Perry, R.H., Aarsland, D., Larsen, J.P., Sher, E., Beattie, R., Clementi, F. & Court, J.A. (2006) Selective nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunit deficits identified in Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease and dementia with Lewy bodies by immunoprecipitation. *Neurobiol Dis*, **23**, 481-489.

Graham, D.G. (1978) Oxidative pathways for catecholamines in the genesis of neuromelanin and cytotoxic quinones. *Mol Pharmacol*, **14**, 633-643.

Greggio, E., Bergantino, E., Carter, D., Ahmad, R., Costin, G.E., Hearing, V.J., Clarimon, J., Singleton, A., Eerola, J., Hellstrom, O., Tienari, P.J., Miller, D.W., Beilina, A., Bubacco, L. & Cookson, M.R. (2005) Tyrosinase exacerbates dopamine toxicity but is not genetically associated with Parkinson's disease. *J Neurochem*, **93**, 246-256.

Grief, S.N. (2011) Nicotine dependence: health consequences, smoking cessation therapies, and pharmacotherapy. *Prim Care*, **38**, 23-39.

Grosset G. D., G.A.K., Okun S.M., Fernandez H.H., (2009) *Parkinson's Disease; Clinicians Desk Reference* Manson Publishing Ltd, London.

Guengerich, F.P. (2003) Cytochromes P450, drugs, and diseases. Mol Interv, 3, 194-204.

Guillemin, G.J. & Brew, B.J. (2004) Microglia, macrophages, perivascular macrophages, and pericytes: a review of function and identification. *J Leukoc Biol*, **75**, 388-397.

Guslandi, M., Frego, R., Viale, E. & Testoni, P.A. (2002) Distal ulcerative colitis refractory to rectal mesalamine: role of transdermal nicotine versus oral mesalamine. *Can J Gastroenterol*, **16**, 293-296.

Haduch, A., Bromek, E. & Daniel, W.A. (2010) The effect of psychotropic drugs on cytochrome P450 2D (CYP2D) in rat brain. *Eur J Pharmacol*, **651**, 51-58.

Haduch, A., Wojcikowski, J. & Daniel, W.A. (2004) Effects of chronic treatment with classic and newer antidepressants and neuroleptics on the activity and level of CYP2D in the rat brain. *Pol J Pharmacol*, **56**, 857-862.

Haghdoost-Yazdi, H., Hosseini, S.S., Faraji, A., Nahid, D. & Jahanihashemi, H. (2010) Long term exposure to norharman exacerbates 6-hydroxydopamine-induced parkinsonism: possible involvement of L-type Ca2+ channels. *Behav Brain Res*, **215**, 136-140.

Haglund, L., Kohler, C., Haaparanta, T., Goldstein, M. & Gustafsson, J.A. (1984) Presence of NADPH-cytochrome P450 reductase in central catecholaminergic neurones. *Nature*, **307**, 259-262.

Haining, R.L. (2007) Cytochrome P450 Reactions in the Human Brain. In Lajtha, A. (ed) *Handbook of Neurochemistry and Molecular Neurobiology*. Springer Science New York, NY, pp. 43-91.

Hall, C.N., Keynes, R.G. & Garthwaite, J. (2009) Cytochrome P450 oxidoreductase participates in nitric oxide consumption by rat brain. *Biochem J*, **419**, 411-418.

Halling, J., Petersen, M.S., Grandjean, P., Weihe, P. & Brosen, K. (2008) Genetic predisposition to Parkinson's disease: CYP2D6 and HFE in the Faroe Islands. *Pharmacogenet Genomics*, **18**, 209-212.

Hammond, D.K., Bjercke, R.J., Langone, J.J. & Strobel, H.W. (1991) Metabolism of nicotine by rat liver cytochromes P-450. Assessment utilizing monoclonal antibodies to nicotine and cotinine. *Drug Metab Dispos*, **19**, 804-808.

Han, Y.S. & Lee, C.S. (2009) Antidepressants reveal differential effect against 1-methyl-4phenylpyridinium toxicity in differentiated PC12 cells. *Eur J Pharmacol*, **604**, 36-44.

Hancock, D.B., Martin, E.R., Mayhew, G.M., Stajich, J.M., Jewett, R., Stacy, M.A., Scott, B.L., Vance, J.M. & Scott, W.K. (2008) Pesticide exposure and risk of Parkinson's disease: a family-based case-control study. *BMC Neurol*, **8**, 6.

Hara, H. & Adachi, T. (2002) Contribution of hepatocyte nuclear factor-4 to down-regulation of CYP2D6 gene expression by nitric oxide. *Mol Pharmacol*, **61**, 194-200.

Hartmann, A., Hunot, S., Michel, P.P., Muriel, M.P., Vyas, S., Faucheux, B.A., Mouatt-Prigent, A., Turmel, H., Srinivasan, A., Ruberg, M., Evan, G.I., Agid, Y. & Hirsch, E.C. (2000) Caspase-3: A vulnerability factor and final effector in apoptotic death of dopaminergic neurons in Parkinson's disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **97**, 2875-2880.

Harvey, B.H. (2008) Is major depressive disorder a metabolic encephalopathy? *Hum Psychopharmacol*, **23**, 371-384.

Hatcher, J.M., Pennell, K.D. & Miller, G.W. (2008) Parkinson's disease and pesticides: a toxicological perspective. *Trends Pharmacol Sci*, **29**, 322-329.

Hedlund, E., Wyss, A., Kainu, T., Backlund, M., Kohler, C., Pelto-Huikko, M., Gustafsson, J.A. & Warner, M. (1996) Cytochrome P4502D4 in the brain: specific neuronal regulation by clozapine and toluene. *Mol Pharmacol*, **50**, 342-350.

Heneka, M.T., Rodriguez, J.J. & Verkhratsky, A. (2010) Neuroglia in neurodegeneration. *Brain Res Rev*, **63**, 189-211.

Henningfield, J.E., Miyasato, K. & Jasinski, D.R. (1985) Abuse liability and pharmacodynamic characteristics of intravenous and inhaled nicotine. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, **234**, 1-12.

Herkenham, M., Little, M.D., Bankiewicz, K., Yang, S.C., Markey, S.P. & Johannessen, J.N. (1991) Selective retention of MPP+ within the monoaminergic systems of the primate brain following MPTP administration: an in vivo autoradiographic study. *Neuroscience*, **40**, 133-158.

Hernan, M.A., Zhang, S.M., Rueda-deCastro, A.M., Colditz, G.A., Speizer, F.E. & Ascherio, A. (2001) Cigarette smoking and the incidence of Parkinson's disease in two prospective studies. *Ann Neurol*, **50**, 780-786.

Hernandez, D.G., Nalls, M.A., Gibbs, J.R., Arepalli, S., van der Brug, M., Chong, S., Moore, M., Longo, D.L., Cookson, M.R., Traynor, B.J. & Singleton, A.B. (2010) Distinct DNA methylation changes highly correlated with chronological age in the human brain. *Hum Mol Genet*, **20**, 1164-1172.

Herraiz, T., Guillen, H. & Aran, V.J. (2008) Oxidative Metabolism of the Bioactive and Naturally Occurring beta-Carboline Alkaloids, Norharman and Harman, by Human Cytochrome P450 Enzymes. *Chem Res Toxicol*.

Herraiz, T., Guillen, H., Aran, V.J., Idle, J.R. & Gonzalez, F.J. (2006) Comparative aromatic hydroxylation and N-demethylation of MPTP neurotoxin and its analogs, N-methylated beta-carboline and isoquinoline alkaloids, by human cytochrome P450 2D6. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, **216**, 387-398.

Herraiz, T., Guillen, H. & Galisteo, J. (2007) N-methyltetrahydro-beta-carboline analogs of 1methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP) neurotoxin are oxidized to neurotoxic beta-carbolinium cations by heme peroxidases. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, **356**, 118-123. Hewitt, N.J., Lechon, M.J., Houston, J.B., Hallifax, D., Brown, H.S., Maurel, P., Kenna, J.G., Gustavsson, L., Lohmann, C., Skonberg, C., Guillouzo, A., Tuschl, G., Li, A.P., LeCluyse, E., Groothuis, G.M. & Hengstler, J.G. (2007) Primary hepatocytes: current understanding of the regulation of metabolic enzymes and transporter proteins, and pharmaceutical practice for the use of hepatocytes in metabolism, enzyme induction, transporter, clearance, and hepatotoxicity studies. *Drug Metab Rev*, **39**, 159-234.

Hichiya, H., Kuramoto, S., Yamamoto, S., Shinoda, S., Hanioka, N., Narimatsu, S., Asaoka, K., Miyata, A., Iwata, S., Nomoto, M., Satoh, T., Kiryu, K., Ueda, N., Naito, S., Tucker, G.T. & Ellis, S.W. (2004) Cloning and functional expression of a novel marmoset cytochrome P450 2D enzyme, CYP2D30: comparison with the known marmoset CYP2D19. *Biochem Pharmacol*, **68**, 165-175.

Hindle, J.V. (2010) Ageing, neurodegeneration and Parkinson's disease. *Age Ageing*, **39**, 156-161.

Hines, R.N. (2007) Ontogeny of human hepatic cytochromes P450. *J Biochem Mol Toxicol*, **21**, 169-175.

Hiroi, T., Chow, T., Imaoka, S. & Funae, Y. (2002) Catalytic specificity of CYP2D isoforms in rat and human. *Drug Metab Dispos*, **30**, 970-976.

Hiroi, T., Imaoka, S. & Funae, Y. (1998) Dopamine formation from tyramine by CYP2D6. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, **249**, 838-843.

Hiroi, T., Kishimoto, W., Chow, T., Imaoka, S., Igarashi, T. & Funae, Y. (2001) Progesterone oxidation by cytochrome P450 2D isoforms in the brain. *Endocrinology*, **142**, 3901-3908.

Hirose, S., Kawahigashi, H., Ozawa, K., Shiota, N., Inui, H., Ohkawa, H. & Ohkawa, Y. (2005) Transgenic rice containing human CYP2B6 detoxifies various classes of herbicides. *J Agric Food Chem*, **53**, 3461-3467.

Hirsch, E.C., Brandel, J.P., Galle, P., Javoy-Agid, F. & Agid, Y. (1991) Iron and aluminum increase in the substantia nigra of patients with Parkinson's disease: an X-ray microanalysis. *J Neurochem*, **56**, 446-451.

Hlatky, M.A., Boothroyd, D., Vittinghoff, E., Sharp, P. & Whooley, M.A. (2002) Quality-oflife and depressive symptoms in postmenopausal women after receiving hormone therapy: results from the Heart and Estrogen/Progestin Replacement Study (HERS) trial. *JAMA*, **287**, 591-597.

Hodgson, E. (2001) In vitro human phase I metabolism of xenobiotics I: pesticides and related chemicals used in agriculture and public health, September 2001. *J Biochem Mol Toxicol*, **15**, 296-299.

Hoehn, M.M. & Yahr, M.D. (1967) Parkinsonism: onset, progression and mortality. *Neurology*, **17**, 427-442.

Hoffman, S.M., Nelson, D.R. & Keeney, D.S. (2001) Organization, structure and evolution of the CYP2 gene cluster on human chromosome 19. *Pharmacogenetics*, **11**, 687-698.

Horowitz, M.P. & Greenamyre, J.T. (2010) Gene-environment interactions in Parkinson's disease: the importance of animal modeling. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*, **88**, 467-474.

Howard, L.A., Miksys, S., Hoffmann, E., Mash, D. & Tyndale, R.F. (2003) Brain CYP2E1 is induced by nicotine and ethanol in rat and is higher in smokers and alcoholics. *Br J Pharmacol*, **138**, 1376-1386.

Hughes, A.J., Daniel, S.E., Kilford, L. & Lees, A.J. (1992) Accuracy of clinical diagnosis of idiopathic Parkinson's disease: a clinico-pathological study of 100 cases. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, **55**, 181-184.

Hurley, P.J., Elsworth, J.D., Whittaker, M.C., Roth, R.H. & Redmond Jr, D.E. (2011) Aged monkeys as a partial model for Parkinson's disease. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry, and Behaviour*.

Husain, M., Shukla, R., Dikshit, M., Maheshwari, P.K., Nag, D., Srimal, R.C., Seth, P.K. & Khanna, V.K. (2009) Altered platelet monoamine oxidase-B activity in idiopathic Parkinson's disease. *Neurochem Res*, **34**, 1427-1432.

Igarashi, T., Sakuma, T., Isogai, M., Nagata, R. & Kamataki, T. (1997) Marmoset liver cytochrome P450s: study for expression and molecular cloning of their cDNAs. *Arch Biochem Biophys*, **339**, 85-91.

Ingelman-Sundberg, M. (2005) Genetic polymorphisms of cytochrome P450 2D6 (CYP2D6): clinical consequences, evolutionary aspects and functional diversity. *Pharmacogenomics J*, **5**, 6-13.

Ingelman-Sundberg, M., Sim, S.C., Gomez, A. & Rodriguez-Antona, C. (2007) Influence of cytochrome P450 polymorphisms on drug therapies: pharmacogenetic, pharmacoepigenetic and clinical aspects. *Pharmacol Ther*, **116**, 496-526.

Ishihara, L. & Brayne, C. (2006) A systematic review of depression and mental illness preceding Parkinson's disease. *Acta Neurol Scand*, **113**, 211-220.

Iwasaki, K. & Uno, Y. (2009) Cynomolgus monkey CYPs: a comparison with human CYPs. *Xenobiotica*, **39**, 578-581.

Jabs, B.E., Bartsch, A.J. & Pfuhlmann, B. (2003) Susceptibility to neuroleptic-induced parkinsonism--age and increased substantia nigra echogenicity as putative risk factors. *Eur Psychiatry*, **18**, 177-181.

Jacqz-Aigrain, E., Funck-Brentano, C. & Cresteil, T. (1993) CYP2D6- and CYP3A-dependent metabolism of dextromethorphan in humans. *Pharmacogenetics*, **3**, 197-204.

Jasinska, A.J., Service, S., Choi, O.W., DeYoung, J., Grujic, O., Kong, S.Y., Jorgensen, M.J., Bailey, J., Breidenthal, S., Fairbanks, L.A., Woods, R.P., Jentsch, J.D. & Freimer, N.B. (2009) Identification of brain transcriptional variation reproduced in peripheral blood: an approach for mapping brain expression traits. *Hum Mol Genet*, **18**, 4415-4427.

Jenner, P., Dexter, D.T., Sian, J., Schapira, A.H. & Marsden, C.D. (1992) Oxidative stress as a cause of nigral cell death in Parkinson's disease and incidental Lewy body disease. The Royal Kings and Queens Parkinson's Disease Research Group. *Ann Neurol*, **32 Suppl**, S82-87.

Jenner, P. & Olanow, C.W. (1996) Oxidative stress and the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. *Neurology*, **47**, S161-170.

Jiang, X.L., Shen, H.W. & Yu, A.M. (2009) Pinoline may be used as a probe for CYP2D6 activity. *Drug Metab Dispos*, **37**, 443-446.

Jimenez-Jimenez, F.J., Tabernero, C., Mena, M.A., Garcia de Yebenes, J., Garcia de Yebenes, M.J., Casarejos, M.J., Pardo, B., Garcia-Agundez, J.A., Benitez, J., Martinez, A. & et al. (1991) Acute effects of 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine in a model of rat designated a poor metabolizer of debrisoquine. *J Neurochem*, **57**, 81-87.

Jin, J., Davis, J., Zhu, D., Kashima, D.T., Leroueil, M., Pan, C., Montine, K.S. & Zhang, J. (2007) Identification of novel proteins affected by rotenone in mitochondria of dopaminergic cells. *BMC Neurosci*, **8**, 67.

Johnson, J.A., Herring, V.L., Wolfe, M.S. & Relling, M.V. (2000) CYP1A2 and CYP2D6 4hydroxylate propranolol and both reactions exhibit racial differences. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, **294**, 1099-1105.

Jolivalt, C., Minn, A., Vincent-Viry, M., Galteau, M.M. & Siest, G. (1995) Dextromethorphan O-demethylase activity in rat brain microsomes. *Neurosci Lett*, **187**, 65-68.

Joshi, M. & Tyndale, R.F. (2006a) Induction and recovery time course of rat brain CYP2E1 after nicotine treatment. *Drug Metab Dispos*, **34**, 647-652.

Joshi, M. & Tyndale, R.F. (2006b) Regional and cellular distribution of CYP2E1 in monkey brain and its induction by chronic nicotine. *Neuropharmacology*, **50**, 568-575.

Jover, R., Bort, R., Gomez-Lechon, M.J. & Castell, J.V. (1998) Re-expression of C/EBP alpha induces CYP2B6, CYP2C9 and CYP2D6 genes in HepG2 cells. *FEBS Lett*, **431**, 227-230.

Julsing, M.K., Cornelissen, S., Buhler, B. & Schmid, A. (2008) Heme-iron oxygenases: powerful industrial biocatalysts? *Curr Opin Chem Biol*, **12**, 177-186.

Kaasinen, V., Nurmi, E., Bergman, J., Eskola, O., Solin, O., Sonninen, P. & Rinne, J.O. (2001) Personality traits and brain dopaminergic function in Parkinson's disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **98**, 13272-13277.

Kamel, F., Tanner, C., Umbach, D., Hoppin, J., Alavanja, M., Blair, A., Comyns, K., Goldman, S., Korell, M., Langston, J., Ross, G. & Sandler, D. (2007) Pesticide exposure and self-reported Parkinson's disease in the agricultural health study. *Am J Epidemiol*, **165**, 364-374.

Kandinov, B., Giladi, N. & Korczyn, A.D. (2007) The effect of cigarette smoking, tea, and coffee consumption on the progression of Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord*, **13**, 243-245.

Kandinov, B., Giladi, N. & Korczyn, A.D. (2009) Smoking and tea consumption delay onset of Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord*, **15**, 41-46.

Kane, J.K., Konu, O., Ma, J.Z. & Li, M.D. (2004) Nicotine coregulates multiple pathways involved in protein modification/degradation in rat brain. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res*, **132**, 181-191.

Kathiramalainathan, K., Kaplan, H.L., Romach, M.K., Busto, U.E., Li, N.Y., Sawe, J., Tyndale, R.F. & Sellers, E.M. (2000) Inhibition of cytochrome P450 2D6 modifies codeine abuse liability. *J Clin Psychopharmacol*, **20**, 435-444.

Kawahigashi, H., Hirose, S., Ohkawa, H. & Ohkawa, Y. (2005) Phytoremediation of metolachlor by transgenic rice plants expressing human CYP2B6. *J Agric Food Chem*, **53**, 9155-9160.

Kawashima, H., Sequeira, D.J., Nelson, D.R. & Strobel, H.W. (1996) Genomic cloning and protein expression of a novel rat brain cytochrome P-450 CYP2D18* catalyzing imipramine N-demethylation. *J Biol Chem*, **271**, 28176-28180.

Kelton, M.C., Kahn, H.J., Conrath, C.L. & Newhouse, P.A. (2000) The effects of nicotine on Parkinson's disease. *Brain Cogn*, **43**, 274-282.

Kern, A. & Behl, C. (2009) The unsolved relationship of brain aging and late-onset Alzheimer disease. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, **1790**, 1124-1132.

Kessler, R.C., Amminger, G.P., Aguilar-Gaxiola, S., Alonso, J., Lee, S. & Ustun, T.B. (2007) Age of onset of mental disorders: a review of recent literature. *Curr Opin Psychiatry*, **20**, 359-364.

Khokhar, J.Y., Miksys, S.L. & Tyndale, R.F. (2010) Rat brain CYP2B induction by nicotine is persistent and does not involve nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. *Brain Res*, **1348**, 1-9.

Khokhar, J.Y. & Tyndale, R.F. (2010) Drug Metabolism within the Brain Changes Drug Response: Selective Manipulation of Brain CYP2B Alters Propofol Effects. *Neuropsychopharmacology*.

Khwaja, M., McCormack, A., McIntosh, J.M., Di Monte, D.A. & Quik, M. (2007) Nicotine partially protects against paraquat-induced nigrostriatal damage in mice; link to alpha6beta2* nAChRs. *J Neurochem*, **100**, 180-190.

Kihara, T., Shimohama, S., Urushitani, M., Sawada, H., Kimura, J., Kume, T., Maeda, T. & Akaike, A. (1998) Stimulation of alpha4beta2 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors inhibits betaamyloid toxicity. *Brain Res*, **792**, 331-334.

Kim, Y., Park, J., Kim, S., Song, S., Kwon, S.K., Lee, S.H., Kitada, T., Kim, J.M. & Chung, J. (2008) PINK1 controls mitochondrial localization of Parkin through direct phosphorylation. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, **377**, 975-980.

Kimura, S., Umeno, M., Skoda, R.C., Meyer, U.A. & Gonzalez, F.J. (1989) The human debrisoquine 4-hydroxylase (CYP2D) locus: sequence and identification of the polymorphic CYP2D6 gene, a related gene, and a pseudogene. *Am J Hum Genet*, **45**, 889-904.

Kirchheiner, J., Lang, U., Stamm, T., Sander, T. & Gallinat, J. (2006) Association of CYP2D6 genotypes and personality traits in healthy individuals. *J Clin Psychopharmacol*, **26**, 440-442.

Kirchheiner, J., Nickchen, K., Bauer, M., Wong, M.L., Licinio, J., Roots, I. & Brockmoller, J. (2004) Pharmacogenetics of antidepressants and antipsychotics: the contribution of allelic variations to the phenotype of drug response. *Mol Psychiatry*, **9**, 442-473.

Kirchheiner, J., Seeringer, A., Godoy, A.L., Ohmle, B., Maier, C., Beschoner, P., Sim, E.J. & Viviani, R. (2010) CYP2D6 in the brain: genotype effects on resting brain perfusion. *Mol Psychiatry*, **16**, 333-341.

Kishimoto, W., Hiroi, T., Shiraishi, M., Osada, M., Imaoka, S., Kominami, S., Igarashi, T. & Funae, Y. (2004) Cytochrome P450 2D catalyze steroid 21-hydroxylation in the brain. *Endocrinology*, **145**, 699-705.

Klintworth, H., Newhouse, K., Li, T., Choi, W.S., Faigle, R. & Xia, Z. (2007) Activation of c-Jun N-terminal protein kinase is a common mechanism underlying paraquat- and rotenone-induced dopaminergic cell apoptosis. *Toxicol Sci*, **97**, 149-162.

Kokhar, J.Y. & Tyndale, R.F. (2010) Drug metabolism within the brain chnages drug response: selective manipulation of brain CYP2B alters propofol effects. *Neuropsychopharmacology*.

Komura, H. & Iwaki, M. (2005a) Pharmacokinetics and metabolism of metoprolol and propranolol in the female DA and female Wistar rat: the female DA rat is not always an animal model for poor metabolizers of CYP2D6. *J Pharm Sci*, **94**, 397-408.

Komura, H. & Iwaki, M. (2005b) Usefulness of hepatocytes for evaluating the genetic polymorphism of CYP2D6 substrates. *Xenobiotica*, **35**, 575-587.

Kotake, Y., Sekiya, Y., Okuda, K. & Ohta, S. (2007) Cytotoxicity of 17 tetrahydroisoquinoline derivatives in SH-SY5Y human neuroblastoma cells is related to mitochondrial NADH-ubiquinone oxidoreductase inhibition. *Neurotoxicology*, **28**, 27-32.

Kotake, Y., Tasaki, Y., Makino, Y., Ohta, S. & Hirobe, M. (1995) 1-Benzyl-1,2,3,4tetrahydroisoquinoline as a parkinsonism-inducing agent: a novel endogenous amine in mouse brain and parkinsonian CSF. *J Neurochem*, **65**, 2633-2638. Kotake, Y., Yoshida, M., Ogawa, M., Tasaki, Y., Hirobe, M. & Ohta, S. (1996) Chronic administration of 1-benzyl-1,2,3,4-tetrahydroisoquinoline, an endogenous amine in the brain, induces parkinsonism in a primate. *Neurosci Lett*, **217**, 69-71.

Koutsilieri, E. & Riederer, P. (2007) Excitotoxicity and new antiglutamatergic strategies in Parkinson's disease and Alzheimer's disease. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord*, **13 Suppl 3**, S329-331.

Krishnan, V. & Nestler, E.J. (2010) Linking molecules to mood: new insight into the biology of depression. *Am J Psychiatry*, **167**, 1305-1320.

Kuhn, W., Muller, T., Grosse, H. & Rommelspacher, H. (1996) Elevated levels of harman and norharman in cerebrospinal fluid of parkinsonian patients. *J Neural Transm*, **103**, 1435-1440.

Kurokohchi, K., Yoneyama, H., Matsuo, Y., Nishioka, M. & Ichikawa, Y. (1992) Effects of interleukin 1 alpha on the activities and gene expressions of the cytochrome P450IID subfamily. *Biochem Pharmacol*, **44**, 1669-1674.

Kwon, I.H., Choi, H.S., Shin, K.S., Lee, B.K., Lee, C.K., Hwang, B.Y., Lim, S.C. & Lee, M.K. (2010) Effects of berberine on 6-hydroxydopamine-induced neurotoxicity in PC12 cells and a rat model of Parkinson's disease. *Neurosci Lett*, **486**, 29-33.

Lane, H.Y., Chiu, W.C., Chou, J.C., Wu, S.T., Su, M.H. & Chang, W.H. (2000) Risperidone in acutely exacerbated schizophrenia: dosing strategies and plasma levels. *J Clin Psychiatry*, **61**, 209-214.

Lang, A.E. & Lozano, A.M. (1998) Parkinson's disease. First of two parts. *N Engl J Med*, **339**, 1044-1053.

Lang, D.H., Rettie, A.E. & Bocker, R.H. (1997) Identification of enzymes involved in the metabolism of atrazine, terbuthylazine, ametryne, and terbutryne in human liver microsomes. *Chem Res Toxicol*, **10**, 1037-1044.

Langston, J.W. & Ballard, P.A., Jr. (1983) Parkinson's disease in a chemist working with 1methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,5,6-tetrahydropyridine. *N Engl J Med*, **309**, 310.

Langston, J.W., Forno, L.S., Rebert, C.S. & Irwin, I. (1984a) Selective nigral toxicity after systemic administration of 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,5,6-tetrahydropyrine (MPTP) in the squirrel monkey. *Brain Res*, **292**, 390-394.

Langston, J.W., Irwin, I., Langston, E.B. & Forno, L.S. (1984b) 1-Methyl-4-phenylpyridinium ion (MPP+): identification of a metabolite of MPTP, a toxin selective to the substantia nigra. *Neurosci Lett*, **48**, 87-92.

Langston, J.W., Irwin, I., Langston, E.B. & Forno, L.S. (1984c) Pargyline prevents MPTP-induced parkinsonism in primates. *Science*, **225**, 1480-1482.

Langston, J.W., Langston, E.B. & Irwin, I. (1984d) MPTP-induced parkinsonism in human and non-human primates--clinical and experimental aspects. *Acta Neurol Scand Suppl*, **100**, 49-54.

Le Couteur, D.G., McLean, A.J., Taylor, M.C., Woodham, B.L. & Board, P.G. (1999) Pesticides and Parkinson's disease. *Biomed Pharmacother*, **53**, 122-130.

Lee, A.J., Cai, M.X., Thomas, P.E., Conney, A.H. & Zhu, B.T. (2003) Characterization of the oxidative metabolites of 17beta-estradiol and estrone formed by 15 selectively expressed human cytochrome p450 isoforms. *Endocrinology*, **144**, 3382-3398.

Lee, A.M., Miksys, S., Palmour, R. & Tyndale, R.F. (2006a) CYP2B6 is expressed in African Green monkey brain and is induced by chronic nicotine treatment. *Neuropharmacology*, **50**, 441-450.

Lee, A.M., Miksys, S. & Tyndale, R.F. (2006b) Phenobarbital increases monkey in vivo nicotine disposition and induces liver and brain CYP2B6 protein. *Br J Pharmacol*, **148**, 786-794.

Lee, C.Y., Lee, C.H., Shih, C.C. & Liou, H.H. (2008a) Paraquat inhibits postsynaptic AMPA receptors on dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra pars compacta. *Biochem Pharmacol*, **76**, 1155-1164.

Lee, S.S., Cha, E.Y., Jung, H.J., Shon, J.H., Kim, E.Y., Yeo, C.W. & Shin, J.G. (2008b) Genetic polymorphism of hepatocyte nuclear factor-4alpha influences human cytochrome P450 2D6 activity. *Hepatology*, **48**, 635-645.

Lee, V.M. & Trojanowski, J.Q. (2006) Mechanisms of Parkinson's disease linked to pathological alpha-synuclein: new targets for drug discovery. *Neuron*, **52**, 33-38.

Lees, A. (2010) The bare essentials: Parkinson's disease. Pract Neurol, 10, 240-246.

Lemere, C.A., Beierschmitt, A., Iglesias, M., Spooner, E.T., Bloom, J.K., Leverone, J.F., Zheng, J.B., Seabrook, T.J., Louard, D., Li, D., Selkoe, D.J., Palmour, R.M. & Ervin, F.R. (2004) Alzheimer's disease abeta vaccine reduces central nervous system abeta levels in a non-human primate, the Caribbean vervet. *Am J Pathol*, **165**, 283-297.

Lendvai, B. & Vizi, E.S. (2008) Nonsynaptic chemical transmission through nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. *Physiol Rev*, **88**, 333-349.

Lenz, F.A., Weiss, N., Ohara, S., Lawson, C. & Greenspan, J.D. (2004) The role of the thalamus in pain. *Suppl Clin Neurophysiol*, **57**, 50-61.

Lewis, A., Miller, J.H. & Lea, R.A. (2007) Monoamine oxidase and tobacco dependence. *Neurotoxicology*, **28**, 182-195.

Lewis, D.F. (1998) The CYP2 family: models, mutants and interactions. *Xenobiotica*, **28**, 617-661.

Li, J., Scheller, C., Koutsilieri, E., Griffiths, F., Beart, P.M., Mercer, L.D., Halliday, G., Kettle, E., Rowe, D., Riederer, P., Gerlach, M., Rodriguez, M. & Double, K.L. (2005) Differential effects of human neuromelanin and synthetic dopamine melanin on neuronal and glial cells. *J Neurochem*, **95**, 599-608.

Lieberman, A. (2006) Depression in Parkinson's disease -- a review. *Acta Neurol Scand*, **113**, 1-8.

Lin, L.Y., Kumagai, Y. & Cho, A.K. (1992) Enzymatic and chemical demethylenation of (methylenedioxy)amphetamine and (methylenedioxy)methamphetamine by rat brain microsomes. *Chem Res Toxicol*, **5**, 401-406.

Linazasoro, G. (2009) A global view of Parkinson's disease pathogenesis: implications for natural history and neuroprotection. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord*, **15**, 401-405.

Lind, D., Franken, S., Kappler, J., Jankowski, J. & Schilling, K. (2005) Characterization of the neuronal marker NeuN as a multiply phosphorylated antigen with discrete subcellular localization. *J Neurosci Res*, **79**, 295-302.

Liou, H.H., Chen, R.C., Tsai, Y.F., Chen, W.P., Chang, Y.C. & Tsai, M.C. (1996) Effects of paraquat on the substantia nigra of the wistar rats: neurochemical, histological, and behavioral studies. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, **137**, 34-41.

Liou, H.H., Hsu, H.J., Tsai, Y.F., Shih, C.Y., Chang, Y.C. & Lin, C.J. (2007) Interaction between nicotine and MPTP/MPP+ in rat brain endothelial cells. *Life Sci*, **81**, 664-672.

Lix, L.M., Hobson, D.E., Azimaee, M., Leslie, W.D., Burchill, C. & Hobson, S. (2010) Socioeconomic variations in the prevalence and incidence of Parkinson's disease: a populationbased analysis. *J Epidemiol Community Health*, **64**, 335-340.

Lofgren, S., Hagbjork, A.L., Ekman, S., Fransson-Steen, R. & Terelius, Y. (2004) Metabolism of human cytochrome P450 marker substrates in mouse: a strain and gender comparison. *Xenobiotica*, **34**, 811-834.

Lorenc-Koci, E., Rommelspacher, H., Schulze, G., Wernicke, C., Kuter, K., Smialowska, M., Wieronska, J., Zieba, B. & Ossowska, K. (2006) Parkinson's disease-like syndrome in rats induced by 2,9-dimethyl-beta-carbolinium ion, a beta-carboline occurring in the human brain. *Behav Pharmacol*, **17**, 463-473.

Ma, X., Idle, J.R., Krausz, K.W. & Gonzalez, F.J. (2005) Metabolism of melatonin by human cytochromes p450. *Drug Metab Dispos*, **33**, 489-494.

Madani, S., Paine, M.F., Lewis, L., Thummel, K.E. & Shen, D.D. (1999) Comparison of CYP2D6 content and metoprolol oxidation between microsomes isolated from human livers and small intestines. *Pharm Res*, **16**, 1199-1205.

Madeira, M., Levine, M., Chang, T.K., Mirfazaelian, A. & Bellward, G.D. (2004) The effect of cimetidine on dextromethorphan O-demethylase activity of human liver microsomes and recombinant CYP2D6. *Drug Metab Dispos*, **32**, 460-467.

Mai, H., May, W.S., Gao, F., Jin, Z. & Deng, X. (2003) A functional role for nicotine in Bcl2 phosphorylation and suppression of apoptosis. *J Biol Chem*, **278**, 1886-1891.

Mankowski, D.C., Laddison, K.J., Christopherson, P.A., Ekins, S., Tweedie, D.J. & Lawton, M.P. (1999) Molecular cloning, expression, and characterization of CYP2D17 from cynomolgus monkey liver. *Arch Biochem Biophys*, **372**, 189-196.

Mann, A., Miksys, S., Lee, A., Mash, D.C. & Tyndale, R.F. (2008) Induction of the drug metabolizing enzyme CYP2D in monkey brain by chronic nicotine treatment. *Neuropharmacology*, **55**, 1147-1155.

Mann, A., Miksys, S.L., Gaedigk, A., J., S.K., Mash, D.C. & Tyndale, R.F. (2011) The neuroprotective enzyme CYP2D6 increases in the brain with age and is lower in Parkinson's disease patients. *Submitted*.

Mann, A. & Tyndale, R.F. (2010) Cytochrome P450 2D6 enzyme neuroprotects against 1methyl-4-phenylpyridinium toxicity in SH-SY5Y neuronal cells. *Eur J Neurosci*, **31**, 1185-1193.

Marek, K., Jennings, D. & Seibyl, J. (2003) Dopamine agonists and Parkinson's disease progression: what can we learn from neuroimaging studies. *Ann Neurol*, **53 Suppl 3**, S160-166; discussion S166-169.

Marrero, M.B. & Bencherif, M. (2009) Convergence of alpha 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor-activated pathways for anti-apoptosis and anti-inflammation: central role for JAK2 activation of STAT3 and NF-kappaB. *Brain Res*, **1256**, 1-7.

Martin, R.F. & Bowden, D.M. (2000) *Primate Brain Maps: Structure of the macaque brain: A Laboratory Guide with Original Brain Sections, printed atlas and electronic templates for data and schematics.* Oxford, Elsevier, Amsterdam Software by John Wu, Mark F. Dubach and Joan E. Robertson.

Maruyama, W., Abe, T., Tohgi, H., Dostert, P. & Naoi, M. (1996) A dopaminergic neurotoxin, (R)-N-methylsalsolinol, increases in Parkinsonian cerebrospinal fluid. *Ann Neurol*, **40**, 119-122.

Masalha, R., Kordysh, E., Alpert, G., Hallak, M., Morad, M., Mahajnah, M., Farkas, P. & Herishanu, Y. (2010) The prevalence of Parkinson's disease in an Arab population, Wadi Ara, Israel. *Isr Med Assoc J*, **12**, 32-35.

Matoh, N., Tanaka, S., Takehashi, M., Banasik, M., Stedeford, T., Masliah, E., Suzuki, S., Nishimura, Y. & Ueda, K. (2003) Overexpression of CYP2D6 attenuates the toxicity of MPP+ in actively dividing and differentiated PC12 cells. *Gene Expr*, **11**, 117-124.

Mazzio, E.A., Kolta, M.G., Reams, R.R. & Soliman, K.F. (2005) Inhibitory effects of cigarette smoke on glial inducible nitric oxide synthase and lack of protective properties against oxidative neurotoxins in vitro. *Neurotoxicology*, **26**, 49-62.

McCallum, S.E., Parameswaran, N., Bordia, T., Fan, H., Tyndale, R.F., Langston, J.W., McIntosh, J.M. & Quik, M. (2006a) Increases in alpha4* but not alpha3*/alpha6* nicotinic receptor sites and function in the primate striatum following chronic oral nicotine treatment. *J Neurochem*, **96**, 1028-1041.

McCallum, S.E., Parameswaran, N., Perez, X.A., Bao, S., McIntosh, J.M., Grady, S.R. & Quik, M. (2006b) Compensation in pre-synaptic dopaminergic function following nigrostriatal damage in primates. *J Neurochem*, **96**, 960-972.

McCann, S.J., Pond, S.M., James, K.M. & Le Couteur, D.G. (1997) The association between polymorphisms in the cytochrome P-450 2D6 gene and Parkinson's disease: a case-control study and meta-analysis. *J Neurol Sci*, **153**, 50-53.

McFayden, M.C., Melvin, W.T. & Murray, G.I. (1998) Regional distribution of individual forms of cytochrome P450 mRNA in normal adult human brain. *Biochem Pharmacol*, **55**, 825-830.

McGeer, P.L. & McGeer, E.G. (2008) Glial reactions in Parkinson's disease. *Mov Disord*, **23**, 474-483.

McGinnity, D.F., Waters, N.J., Tucker, J. & Riley, R.J. (2008) Integrated in vitro analysis for the in vivo prediction of cytochrome P450-mediated drug-drug interactions. *Drug Metab Dispos*, **36**, 1126-1134.

McLaughlin, L.A., Dickmann, L.J., Wolf, C.R. & Henderson, C.J. (2008) Functional expression and comparative characterization of nine murine cytochromes P450 by fluorescent inhibition screening. *Drug Metab Dispos*, **36**, 1322-1331.

McLaughlin, L.A., Paine, M.J., Kemp, C.A., Marechal, J.D., Flanagan, J.U., Ward, C.J., Sutcliffe, M.J., Roberts, G.C. & Wolf, C.R. (2005) Why is quinidine an inhibitor of cytochrome P450 2D6? The role of key active-site residues in quinidine binding. *J Biol Chem*, **280**, 38617-38624.

McLellan, R.A., Oscarson, M., Seidegard, J., Evans, D.A. & Ingelman-Sundberg, M. (1997) Frequent occurrence of CYP2D6 gene duplication in Saudi Arabians. *Pharmacogenetics*, **7**, 187-191.

McMillan, C.R., Sharma, R., Ottenhof, T. & Niles, L.P. (2007) Modulation of tyrosine hydroxylase expression by melatonin in human SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells. *Neurosci Lett*, **419**, 202-206.

McNaught, K.S., Thull, U., Carrupt, P.A., Altomare, C., Cellamare, S., Carotti, A., Testa, B., Jenner, P. & Marsden, C.D. (1996) Nigral cell loss produced by infusion of isoquinoline

derivatives structurally related to 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine. *Neurodegeneration*, **5**, 265-274.

Mellick, G.D., Buchanan, D.D., McCann, S.J., James, K.M., Johnson, A.G., Davis, D.R., Liyou, N., Chan, D. & Le Couteur, D.G. (1999a) Variations in the monoamine oxidase B (MAOB) gene are associated with Parkinson's disease. *Mov Disord*, **14**, 219-224.

Mellick, G.D., McCann, S.J. & Le Couter, D.G. (1999b) Parkinson's disease, MAOB, and smoking. *Neurology*, **53**, 658.

Mena, M.A. & Garcia de Yebenes, J. (2008) Glial cells as players in parkinsonism: the "good," the "bad," and the "mysterious" glia. *Neuroscientist*, **14**, 544-560.

Meredith, G.E., Sonsalla, P.K. & Chesselet, M.F. (2008) Animal models of Parkinson's disease progression. *Acta Neuropathol*, **115**, 385-398.

Meyer, R.P., Lindberg, R.L., Hoffmann, F. & Meyer, U.A. (2005) Cytosolic persistence of mouse brain CYP1A1 in chronic heme deficiency. *Biol Chem*, **386**, 1157-1164.

Meyer, R.P., Podvinec, M. & Meyer, U.A. (2002) Cytochrome P450 CYP1A1 accumulates in the cytosol of kidney and brain and is activated by heme. *Mol Pharmacol*, **62**, 1061-1067.

Michels, R. & Marzuk, P.M. (1993a) Progress in psychiatry (1). N Engl J Med, 329, 552-560.

Michels, R. & Marzuk, P.M. (1993b) Progress in psychiatry (2). N Engl J Med, 329, 628-638.

Migliore, L. & Coppede, F. (2009) Environmental-induced oxidative stress in neurodegenerative disorders and aging. *Mutat Res*, **674**, 73-84.

Miksys, S., Hoffmann, E. & Tyndale, R.F. (2000a) Regional and cellular induction of nicotinemetabolizing CYP2B1 in rat brain by chronic nicotine treatment. *Biochem Pharmacol*, **59**, 1501-1511.

Miksys, S., Lerman, C., Shields, P.G., Mash, D.C. & Tyndale, R.F. (2003) Smoking, alcoholism and genetic polymorphisms alter CYP2B6 levels in human brain. *Neuropharmacology*, **45**, 122-132.

Miksys, S., Rao, Y., Hoffmann, E., Mash, D.C. & Tyndale, R.F. (2002) Regional and cellular expression of CYP2D6 in human brain: higher levels in alcoholics. *J Neurochem*, **82**, 1376-1387.

Miksys, S., Rao, Y., Sellers, E.M., Kwan, M., Mendis, D. & Tyndale, R.F. (2000b) Regional and cellular distribution of CYP2D subfamily members in rat brain. *Xenobiotica*, **30**, 547-564.

Miksys, S. & Tyndale, R.F. (2004) The unique regulation of brain cytochrome P450 2 (CYP2) family enzymes by drugs and genetics. *Drug Metab Rev*, **36**, 313-333.

Miksys, S. & Tyndale, R.F. (2006) Nicotine induces brain CYP enzymes: relevance to Parkinson's disease. *J Neural Transm Suppl*, 177-180.

Miksys, S. & Tyndale, R.F. (2009) Brain drug-metabolizing cytochrome P450 enzymes are active in vivo, demonstrated by mechanism-based enzyme inhibition. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, **34**, 634-640.

Miksys, S.L., Cheung, C., Gonzalez, F.J. & Tyndale, R.F. (2005) Human CYP2D6 and mouse CYP2Ds: organ distribution in a humanized mouse model. *Drug Metab Dispos*, **33**, 1495-1502.

Miksys, S.L. & Tyndale, R.F. (2002) Drug-metabolizing cytochrome P450s in the brain. J *Psychiatry Neurosci*, **27**, 406-415.

Miller, D.S. (2010) Regulation of P-glycoprotein and other ABC drug transporters at the blood-brain barrier. *Trends Pharmacol Sci*, **31**, 246-254.

Miller, G.P., Hanna, I.H., Nishimura, Y. & Guengerich, F.P. (2001) Oxidation of phenethylamine derivatives by cytochrome P450 2D6: the issue of substrate protonation in binding and catalysis. *Biochemistry*, **40**, 14215-14223.

Min, S.K., Moon, I.W., Ko, R.W. & Shin, H.S. (2001) Effects of transdermal nicotine on attention and memory in healthy elderly non-smokers. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **159**, 83-88.

Mizuno, D., Hiroi, T., Ng, P., Kishimoto, W., Imaoka, S. & Funae, Y. (2003a) Regulation of CYP2D expression in rat brain by toluene. *Osaka City Med J*, **49**, 49-56.

Mizuno, D., Takahashi, Y., Hiroi, T., Imaoka, S., Kamataki, T. & Funae, Y. (2003b) A novel transcriptional element which regulates expression of the CYP2D4 gene by Oct-1 and YY-1 binding. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, **1627**, 121-128.

Modi, S., Gilham, D.E., Sutcliffe, M.J., Lian, L.Y., Primrose, W.U., Wolf, C.R. & Roberts, G.C. (1997) 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine as a substrate of cytochrome P450 2D6: allosteric effects of NADPH-cytochrome P450 reductase. *Biochemistry*, **36**, 4461-4470.

Morens, D.M., Grandinetti, A., Davis, J.W., Ross, G.W., White, L.R. & Reed, D. (1996) Evidence against the operation of selective mortality in explaining the association between cigarette smoking and reduced occurrence of idiopathic Parkinson disease. *Am J Epidemiol*, **144**, 400-404.

Morikawa, N., Naoi, M., Maruyama, W., Ohta, S., Kotake, Y., Kawai, H., Niwa, T., Dostert, P. & Mizuno, Y. (1998) Effects of various tetrahydroisoquinoline derivatives on mitochondrial respiration and the electron transfer complexes. *J Neural Transm*, **105**, 677-688.

Muangpaisan, W., Hori, H. & Brayne, C. (2009) Systematic review of the prevalence and incidence of Parkinson's disease in Asia. *J Epidemiol*, **19**, 281-293.

Mushiroda, T., Ariyoshi, N., Yokoi, T., Takahara, E., Nagata, O., Kato, H. & Kamataki, T. (2001) Accumulation of the 1-methyl-4-phenylpyridinium ion in suncus (Suncus murinus) brain: implication for flavin-containing monooxygenase activity in brain microvessels. *Chem Res Toxicol*, **14**, 228-232.

Nagatsu, T. (1997) Isoquinoline neurotoxins in the brain and Parkinson's disease. *Neurosci Res*, **29**, 99-111.

Nagatsu, T. & Yoshida, M. (1988) An endogenous substance of the brain, tetrahydroisoquinoline, produces parkinsonism in primates with decreased dopamine, tyrosine hydroxylase and biopterin in the nigrostriatal regions. *Neurosci Lett*, **87**, 178-182.

Nakayama, K., Suwa, Y., Mizukami, Y., Sogawa, K. & Fujii-Kuriyama, Y. (1993) Cloning and sequencing of a novel rat cytochrome P450 2B-encoding gene. *Gene*, **136**, 333-336.

Naoi, M., Maruyama, W. & Nagy, G.M. (2004) Dopamine-derived salsolinol derivatives as endogenous monoamine oxidase inhibitors: occurrence, metabolism and function in human brains. *Neurotoxicology*, **25**, 193-204.

Naoi, M., Maruyama, W., Yi, H., Yamaoka, Y., Shamoto-Nagai, M., Akao, Y., Gerlach, M., Tanaka, M. & Riederer, P. (2008) Neuromelanin selectively induces apoptosis in dopaminergic SH-SY5Y cells by deglutathionylation in mitochondria: involvement of the protein and melanin component. *J Neurochem*, **105**, 2489-2500.

Narimatsu, S., Nakata, T., Shimizudani, T., Nagaoka, K., Nakura, H., Masuda, K., Katsu, T., Koeda, A., Naito, S., Yamano, S., Miyata, A. & Hanioka, N. (2010) Regio- and stereoselective oxidation of propranolol enantiomers by human CYP2D6, cynomolgus monkey CYP2D17 and marmoset CYP2D19. *Chem Biol Interact*, **189**, 146-152.

Neafsey, P., Ginsberg, G., Hattis, D. & Sonawane, B. (2009) Genetic polymorphism in cytochrome P450 2D6 (CYP2D6): Population distribution of CYP2D6 activity. *J Toxicol Environ Health B Crit Rev*, **12**, 334-361.

Nelson, D.R. (2006) Cytochrome P450 nomenclature, 2004. Methods Mol Biol, 320, 1-10.

Nelson, J.C., Mazure, C.M. & Jatlow, P.I. (1995) Desipramine treatment of major depression in patients over 75 years of age. *J Clin Psychopharmacol*, **15**, 99-105.

Newberg, A., Lerman, C., Wintering, N., Ploessl, K. & Mozley, P.D. (2007) Dopamine transporter binding in smokers and nonsmokers. *Clin Nucl Med*, **32**, 452-455.

Ng, P.S., Imaoka, S., Hiroi, T., Osada, M., Niwa, T., Kamataki, T. & Funae, Y. (2003) Production of inhibitory polyclonal antibodies against cytochrome P450s. *Drug Metab Pharmacokinet*, **18**, 163-172.

Nicotra, A. & Parvez, S.H. (2000) Cell death induced by MPTP, a substrate for monoamine oxidase B. *Toxicology*, **153**, 157-166.

Nielsen, T.L., Rasmussen, B.B., Flinois, J.P., Beaune, P. & Brosen, K. (1999) In vitro metabolism of quinidine: the (3S)-3-hydroxylation of quinidine is a specific marker reaction for cytochrome P-4503A4 activity in human liver microsomes. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, **289**, 31-37.

Niwa, T., Okada, K., Hiroi, T., Imaoka, S., Narimatsu, S. & Funae, Y. (2008) Effect of psychotropic drugs on the 21-hydroxylation of neurosteroids, progesterone and allopregnanolone, catalyzed by rat CYP2D4 and human CYP2D6 in the brain. *Biol Pharm Bull*, **31**, 348-351.

Niznik, H.B., Tyndale, R.F., Sallee, F.R., Gonzalez, F.J., Hardwick, J.P., Inaba, T. & Kalow, W. (1990) The dopamine transporter and cytochrome P45OIID1 (debrisoquine 4-hydroxylase) in brain: resolution and identification of two distinct [3H]GBR-12935 binding proteins. *Arch Biochem Biophys*, **276**, 424-432.

Norris, P.J., Hardwick, J.P. & Emson, P.C. (1994) Localization of NADPH cytochrome P450 oxidoreductase in rat brain by immunohistochemistry and in situ hybridization and a comparison with the distribution of neuronal NADPH-diaphorase staining. *Neuroscience*, **61**, 331-350.

Norris, P.J., Hardwick, J.P. & Emson, P.C. (1996) Regional distribution of cytochrome P450 2D1 in the rat central nervous system. *J Comp Neurol*, **366**, 244-258.

Notter, M.F., Irwin, I., Langston, J.W. & Gash, D.M. (1988) Neurotoxicity of MPTP and MPP+ in vitro: characterization using specific cell lines. *Brain Res*, **456**, 254-262.

O'Neill, M.J., Murray, T.K., Lakics, V., Visanji, N.P. & Duty, S. (2002) The role of neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in acute and chronic neurodegeneration. *Curr Drug Targets CNS Neurol Disord*, **1**, 399-411.

O'Reilly, E.J., McCullough, M.L., Chao, A., Henley, S.J., Calle, E.E., Thun, M.J. & Ascherio, A. (2005) Smokeless tobacco use and the risk of Parkinson's disease mortality. *Mov Disord*, **20**, 1383-1384.

Obeso, J.A., Rodriguez-Oroz, M.C., Goetz, C.G., Marin, C., Kordower, J.H., Rodriguez, M., Hirsch, E.C., Farrer, M., Schapira, A.H. & Halliday, G. (2010) Missing pieces in the Parkinson's disease puzzle. *Nat Med*, **16**, 653-661.

Ochsner, K.N., Ludlow, D.H., Knierim, K., Hanelin, J., Ramachandran, T., Glover, G.C. & Mackey, S.C. (2006) Neural correlates of individual differences in pain-related fear and anxiety. *Pain*, **120**, 69-77.

Ohe, T., Hirobe, M. & Mashino, T. (2000) Novel metabolic pathway of estrone and 17betaestradiol catalyzed by cytochrome P-450. *Drug Metab Dispos*, **28**, 110-112.

Ohyama, K., Nakajima, M., Suzuki, M., Shimada, N., Yamazaki, H. & Yokoi, T. (2000) Inhibitory effects of amiodarone and its N-deethylated metabolite on human cytochrome P450 activities: prediction of in vivo drug interactions. *Br J Clin Pharmacol*, **49**, 244-253. Okubadejo, N.U., Bower, J.H., Rocca, W.A. & Maraganore, D.M. (2006) Parkinson's disease in Africa: A systematic review of epidemiologic and genetic studies. *Mov Disord*, **21**, 2150-2156.

Olanow, C.W. (2007) The pathogenesis of cell death in Parkinson's disease--2007. *Mov Disord*, **22 Suppl 17**, S335-342.

Owen, J.R. & Nemeroff, C.B. (1998) New antidepressants and the cytochrome P450 system: focus on venlafaxine, nefazodone, and mirtazapine. *Depress Anxiety*, **7 Suppl 1**, 24-32.

Pahwa, R. (2003) Handbook of Parkinson's Disease Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York.

Pai, H.V., Kommaddi, R.P., Chinta, S.J., Mori, T., Boyd, M.R. & Ravindranath, V. (2004) A frameshift mutation and alternate splicing in human brain generate a functional form of the pseudogene cytochrome P4502D7 that demethylates codeine to morphine. *J Biol Chem*, **279**, 27383-27389.

Pan, Y.Z., Gao, W. & Yu, A.M. (2009) MicroRNAs regulate CYP3A4 expression via direct and indirect targeting. *Drug Metab Dispos*, **37**, 2112-2117.

Parain, K., Hapdey, C., Rousselet, E., Marchand, V., Dumery, B. & Hirsch, E.C. (2003) Cigarette smoke and nicotine protect dopaminergic neurons against the 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine Parkinsonian toxin. *Brain Res*, **984**, 224-232.

Parent, M. & Parent, A. (2010) Substantia nigra and Parkinson's disease: a brief history of their long and intimate relationship. *Can J Neurol Sci*, **37**, 313-319.

Park, J., Lee, S.B., Lee, S., Kim, Y., Song, S., Kim, S., Bae, E., Kim, J., Shong, M., Kim, J.M. & Chung, J. (2006) Mitochondrial dysfunction in Drosophila PINK1 mutants is complemented by parkin. *Nature*, **441**, 1157-1161.

Patsenka, A. & Antkiewicz-Michaluk, L. (2004) Inhibition of rodent brain monoamine oxidase and tyrosine hydroxylase by endogenous compounds - 1,2,3,4-tetrahydro-isoquinoline alkaloids. *Pol J Pharmacol*, **56**, 727-734.

Patten, D.A., Germain, M., Kelly, M.A. & Slack, R.S. (2010) Reactive oxygen species: stuck in the middle of neurodegeneration. *J Alzheimers Dis*, **20 Suppl 2**, S357-367.

Pavlovic, S., Schulze, G., Wernicke, C., Bonnet, R., Gille, G., Badiali, L., Kaminska, A., Lorenc-Koci, E., Ossowska, K. & Rommelspacher, H. (2006) 2,9-Dimethyl-beta-carbolinium, a neurotoxin occurring in human brain, is a potent inducer of apoptosis as 1-methyl-4-phenylpyridinium. *Neuroscience*, **139**, 1525-1537.

Pearce, R.K., Owen, A., Daniel, S., Jenner, P. & Marsden, C.D. (1997) Alterations in the distribution of glutathione in the substantia nigra in Parkinson's disease. *J Neural Transm*, **104**, 661-677.

Penas, L.E.M., Dorado, P., Pacheco, R., Gonzalez, I. & A, L.L. (2009) Relation between CYP2D6 genotype, personality, neurocognition and overall psychopathology in healthy volunteers. *Pharmacogenomics*, **10**, 1111-1120.

Peters, F.T., Meyer, M.R., Theobald, D.S. & Maurer, H.H. (2008) Identification of cytochrome P450 enzymes involved in the metabolism of the new designer drug 4'-methyl-alpha-pyrrolidinobutyrophenone. *Drug Metab Dispos*, **36**, 163-168.

Petrovitch, H., Ross, G.W., Abbott, R.D., Sanderson, W.T., Sharp, D.S., Tanner, C.M., Masaki, K.H., Blanchette, P.L., Popper, J.S., Foley, D., Launer, L. & White, L.R. (2002) Plantation work and risk of Parkinson disease in a population-based longitudinal study. *Arch Neurol*, **59**, 1787-1792.

Piguet, O., Double, K.L., Kril, J.J., Harasty, J., Macdonald, V., McRitchie, D.A. & Halliday, G.M. (2009) White matter loss in healthy ageing: a postmortem analysis. *Neurobiol Aging*, **30**, 1288-1295.

Pluchino, N., Luisi, M., Lenzi, E., Centofanti, M., Begliuomini, S., Freschi, L., Ninni, F. & Genazzani, A.R. (2006) Progesterone and progestins: effects on brain, allopregnanolone and beta-endorphin. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol*, **102**, 205-213.

Poeaknapo, C., Schmidt, J., Brandsch, M., Drager, B. & Zenk, M.H. (2004) Endogenous formation of morphine in human cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **101**, 14091-14096.

Polymeropoulos, M.H., Lavedan, C., Leroy, E., Ide, S.E., Dehejia, A., Dutra, A., Pike, B., Root, H., Rubenstein, J., Boyer, R., Stenroos, E.S., Chandrasekharappa, S., Athanassiadou, A., Papapetropoulos, T., Johnson, W.G., Lazzarini, A.M., Duvoisin, R.C., Di Iorio, G., Golbe, L.I. & Nussbaum, R.L. (1997) Mutation in the alpha-synuclein gene identified in families with Parkinson's disease. *Science*, **276**, 2045-2047.

Powers, K.M., Kay, D.M., Factor, S.A., Zabetian, C.P., Higgins, D.S., Samii, A., Nutt, J.G., Griffith, A., Leis, B., Roberts, J.W., Martinez, E.D., Montimurro, J.S., Checkoway, H. & Payami, H. (2008) Combined effects of smoking, coffee, and NSAIDs on Parkinson's disease risk. *Mov Disord*, **23**, 88-95.

Prakash, A. & Markham, A. (2000) Metoprolol: a review of its use in chronic heart failure. *Drugs*, **60**, 647-678.

Presgraves, S.P., Ahmed, T., Borwege, S. & Joyce, J.N. (2004) Terminally differentiated SH-SY5Y cells provide a model system for studying neuroprotective effects of dopamine agonists. *Neurotox Res*, **5**, 579-598.

Pritzker, D., Kanungo, A., Kilicarslan, T., Tyndale, R.F. & Sellers, E.M. (2002) Designer drugs that are potent inhibitors of CYP2D6. *J Clin Psychopharmacol*, **22**, 330-332.

Priyadarshi, A., Khuder, S.A., Schaub, E.A. & Shrivastava, S. (2000) A meta-analysis of Parkinson's disease and exposure to pesticides. *Neurotoxicology*, **21**, 435-440.

Przedborski, S. (2007) The MPTP model of Parkinson's disease. In Dawsome, T. (ed) *Parkinson's disease, genetics and pathogenesis*. Informa Healthcare USA, Inc., New York.

Quik, M. (2004) Smoking, nicotine and Parkinson's disease. Trends Neurosci, 27, 561-568.

Quik, M., Bordia, T. & O'Leary, K. (2007a) Nicotinic receptors as CNS targets for Parkinson's disease. *Biochem Pharmacol*, **74**, 1224-1234.

Quik, M., Chen, L., Parameswaran, N., Xie, X., Langston, J.W. & McCallum, S.E. (2006a) Chronic oral nicotine normalizes dopaminergic function and synaptic plasticity in 1-methyl-4phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine-lesioned primates. *J Neurosci*, **26**, 4681-4689.

Quik, M., Cox, H., Parameswaran, N., O'Leary, K., Langston, J.W. & Di Monte, D. (2007b) Nicotine reduces levodopa-induced dyskinesias in lesioned monkeys. *Ann Neurol*.

Quik, M. & Kulak, J.M. (2002) Nicotine and nicotinic receptors; relevance to Parkinson's disease. *Neurotoxicology*, **23**, 581-594.

Quik, M., O'Neill, M. & Perez, X.A. (2007c) Nicotine neuroprotection against nigrostriatal damage: importance of the animal model. *Trends Pharmacol Sci*, **28**, 229-235.

Quik, M., Parameswaran, N., McCallum, S.E., Bordia, T., Bao, S., McCormack, A., Kim, A., Tyndale, R.F., Langston, J.W. & Di Monte, D.A. (2006b) Chronic oral nicotine treatment protects against striatal degeneration in MPTP-treated primates. *J Neurochem*, **98**, 1866-1875.

Quik, M., Polonskaya, Y., Gillespie, A., Jakowec, M., Lloyd, G.K. & Langston, J.W. (2000) Localization of nicotinic receptor subunit mRNAs in monkey brain by in situ hybridization. *J Comp Neurol*, **425**, 58-69.

Quik, M., Polonskaya, Y., Kulak, J.M. & McIntosh, J.M. (2001) Vulnerability of 125I-alphaconotoxin MII binding sites to nigrostriatal damage in monkey. *J Neurosci*, **21**, 5494-5500.

Rae, J.M., Johnson, M.D., Lippman, M.E. & Flockhart, D.A. (2001) Rifampin is a selective, pleiotropic inducer of drug metabolism genes in human hepatocytes: studies with cDNA and oligonucleotide expression arrays. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, **299**, 849-857.

Ramachandiran, S., Hansen, J.M., Jones, D.P., Richardson, J.R. & Miller, G.W. (2007) Divergent mechanisms of paraquat, MPP+, and rotenone toxicity: oxidation of thioredoxin and caspase-3 activation. *Toxicol Sci*, **95**, 163-171.

Ramamoorthy A., Flockhart DA. & TC., S. (2008) Identification of microRNAs that target CYP2D6 [Abstract]. *Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics; Suppl. 1, ASCPT Annual Meeting*, **83**, S80.

Rendic, S. (2002) Summary of information on human CYP enzymes: human P450 metabolism data. *Drug Metab Rev*, **34**, 83-448.

Rendic, S. & Di Carlo, F.J. (1997) Human cytochrome P450 enzymes: a status report summarizing their reactions, substrates, inducers, and inhibitors. *Drug Metab Rev*, **29**, 413-580.

Ridley, D.L., Rogers, A. & Wonnacott, S. (2001) Differential effects of chronic drug treatment on alpha3* and alpha7 nicotinic receptor binding sites, in hippocampal neurones and SH-SY5Y cells. *Br J Pharmacol*, **133**, 1286-1295.

Riedel, M., Schwarz, M.J., Strassnig, M., Spellmann, I., Muller-Arends, A., Weber, K., Zach, J., Muller, N. & Moller, H.J. (2005) Risperidone plasma levels, clinical response and sideeffects. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci*, **255**, 261-268.

Riederer, P., Foley, P., Bringmann, G., Feineis, D., Bruckner, R. & Gerlach, M. (2002) Biochemical and pharmacological characterization of 1-trichloromethyl-1,2,3,4-tetrahydrobeta-carboline: a biologically relevant neurotoxin? *Eur J Pharmacol*, **442**, 1-16.

Riedl, A.G., Watts, P.M., Edwards, R.J., Boobis, A.R., Jenner, P. & Marsden, C.D. (1996) Selective localisation of P450 enzymes and NADPH-P450 oxidoreductase in rat basal ganglia using anti-peptide antisera. *Brain Res*, **743**, 324-328.

Riedl, A.G., Watts, P.M., Edwards, R.J., Schulz-Utermoehl, T., Boobis, A.R., Jenner, P. & Marsden, C.D. (1999) Expression and localisation of CYP2D enzymes in rat basal ganglia. *Brain Res*, **822**, 175-191.

Rifkind, A.B., Lee, C., Chang, T.K. & Waxman, D.J. (1995) Arachidonic acid metabolism by human cytochrome P450s 2C8, 2C9, 2E1, and 1A2: regioselective oxygenation and evidence for a role for CYP2C enzymes in arachidonic acid epoxygenation in human liver microsomes. *Arch Biochem Biophys*, **320**, 380-389.

Ritz, B., Ascherio, A., Checkoway, H., Marder, K.S., Nelson, L.M., Rocca, W.A., Ross, G.W., Strickland, D., Van Den Eeden, S.K. & Gorell, J. (2007) Pooled analysis of tobacco use and risk of Parkinson disease. *Arch Neurol*, **64**, 990-997.

Ritz, B.R., Manthripragada, A.D., Costello, S., Lincoln, S.J., Farrer, M.J., Cockburn, M. & Bronstein, J. (2009) Dopamine transporter genetic variants and pesticides in Parkinson's disease. *Environ Health Perspect*, **117**, 964-969.

Riveles, K., Huang, L.Z. & Quik, M. (2008) Cigarette smoke, nicotine and cotinine protect against 6-hydroxydopamine-induced toxicity in SH-SY5Y cells. *Neurotoxicology*, **29**, 421-427.

Robel, S., Berninger, B. & Gotz, M. (2011) The stem cell potential of glia: lessons from reactive gliosis. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, **12**, 88-104.

Roberts, R.L., Luty, S.E., Mulder, R.T., Joyce, P.R. & Kennedy, M.A. (2004) Association between cytochrome P450 2D6 genotype and harm avoidance. *Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet*, **127B**, 90-93.

Rommelspacher, H., Meier-Henco, M., Smolka, M. & Kloft, C. (2002) The levels of norharman are high enough after smoking to affect monoamineoxidase B in platelets. *Eur J Pharmacol*, **441**, 115-125.

Rosenbrock, H., Hagemeyer, C.E., Singec, I., Knoth, R. & Volk, B. (1999) Testosterone metabolism in rat brain is differentially enhanced by phenytoin-inducible cytochrome P450 isoforms. *J Neuroendocrinol*, **11**, 597-604.

Rothfuss, O., Fischer, H., Hasegawa, T., Maisel, M., Leitner, P., Miesel, F., Sharma, M., Bornemann, A., Berg, D., Gasser, T. & Patenge, N. (2009) Parkin protects mitochondrial genome integrity and supports mitochondrial DNA repair. *Hum Mol Genet*, **18**, 3832-3850.

Rowland, K., Yeo, W.W., Ellis, S.W., Chadwick, I.G., Haq, I., Lennard, M.S., Jackson, P.R., Ramsay, L.E. & Tucker, G.T. (1994) Inhibition of CYP2D6 activity by treatment with propranolol and the role of 4-hydroxy propranolol. *Br J Clin Pharmacol*, **38**, 9-14.

Rudow, G., O'Brien, R., Savonenko, A.V., Resnick, S.M., Zonderman, A.B., Pletnikova, O., Marsh, L., Dawson, T.M., Crain, B.J., West, M.J. & Troncoso, J.C. (2008) Morphometry of the human substantia nigra in ageing and Parkinson's disease. *Acta Neuropathol*, **115**, 461-470.

Ryan, R.E., Ross, S.A., Drago, J. & Loiacono, R.E. (2001) Dose-related neuroprotective effects of chronic nicotine in 6-hydroxydopamine treated rats, and loss of neuroprotection in alpha4 nicotinic receptor subunit knockout mice. *Br J Pharmacol*, **132**, 1650-1656.

Sachse, C., Brockmoller, J., Bauer, S. & Roots, I. (1997) Cytochrome P450 2D6 variants in a Caucasian population: allele frequencies and phenotypic consequences. *Am J Hum Genet*, **60**, 284-295.

Saito, M., Yasui-Furukori, N., Nakagami, T., Furukori, H. & Kaneko, S. (2005) Dosedependent interaction of paroxetine with risperidone in schizophrenic patients. *J Clin Psychopharmacol*, **25**, 527-532.

Saitoh, T., Abe, K., Ishikawa, M., Nakatani, M., Shimazu, S., Satoh, N., Yoneda, F., Taguchi, K. & Horiguchi, Y. (2006) Synthesis and in vitro cytotoxicity of 1,2,3,4-tetrahydroisoquinoline derivatives. *Eur J Med Chem*, **41**, 241-252.

Sakai, N., Sakamoto, K.Q., Fujita, S. & Ishizuka, M. (2009) The importance of heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein K on cytochrome P450 2D2 gene regulation: its binding is reduced in Dark Agouti rats. *Drug Metab Dispos*, **37**, 1703-1710.

Sams, C., Mason, H.J. & Rawbone, R. (2000) Evidence for the activation of organophosphate pesticides by cytochromes P450 3A4 and 2D6 in human liver microsomes. *Toxicol Lett*, **116**, 217-221.

Sangar, M.C., Anandatheerthavarada, H.K., Tang, W., Prabu, S.K., Martin, M.V., Dostalek, M., Guengerich, F.P. & Avadhani, N.G. (2009) Human liver mitochondrial cytochrome P450 2D6--individual variations and implications in drug metabolism. *FEBS J*, **276**, 3440-3453.

Sanyal, J., Chakraborty, D.P., Sarkar, B., Banerjee, T.K., Mukherjee, S.C., Ray, B.C. & Rao, V.R. (2010) Environmental and familial risk factors of Parkinsons disease: case-control study. *Can J Neurol Sci*, **37**, 637-642.

Sauer, C., Peters, F.T., Schwaninger, A.E., Meyer, M.R. & Maurer, H.H. (2009) Investigations on the cytochrome P450 (CYP) isoenzymes involved in the metabolism of the designer drugs N-(1-phenyl cyclohexyl)-2-ethoxyethanamine and N-(1-phenylcyclohexyl)-2-methoxyethanamine. *Biochem Pharmacol*, **77**, 444-450.

Saura, J., Nadal, E., van den Berg, B., Vila, M., Bombi, J.A. & Mahy, N. (1996) Localization of monoamine oxidases in human peripheral tissues. *Life Sci*, **59**, 1341-1349.

Schapira, A.H., Cooper, J.M., Dexter, D., Clark, J.B., Jenner, P. & Marsden, C.D. (1990) Mitochondrial complex I deficiency in Parkinson's disease. *J Neurochem*, **54**, 823-827.

Schenk, P.W., van Fessem, M.A., Verploegh-Van Rij, S., Mathot, R.A., van Gelder, T., Vulto, A.G., van Vliet, M., Lindemans, J., Bruijn, J.A. & van Schaik, R.H. (2008) Association of graded allele-specific changes in CYP2D6 function with imipramine dose requirement in a large group of depressed patients. *Mol Psychiatry*, **13**, 597-605.

Schillevoort, I., de Boer, A., van der Weide, J., Steijns, L.S., Roos, R.A., Jansen, P.A. & Leufkens, H.G. (2002) Antipsychotic-induced extrapyramidal syndromes and cytochrome P450 2D6 genotype: a case-control study. *Pharmacogenetics*, **12**, 235-240.

Schneider, N.G., Olmstead, R.E., Franzon, M.A. & Lunell, E. (2001) The nicotine inhaler: clinical pharmacokinetics and comparison with other nicotine treatments. *Clin Pharmacokinet*, **40**, 661-684.

Schoedel, K.A., Sellers, E.M., Palmour, R. & Tyndale, R.F. (2003) Down-regulation of hepatic nicotine metabolism and a CYP2A6-like enzyme in African green monkeys after long-term nicotine administration. *Mol Pharmacol*, **63**, 96-104.

Schoedel, K.A. & Tyndale, R.F. (2003) Induction of nicotine-metabolizing CYP2B1 by ethanol and ethanol-metabolizing CYP2E1 by nicotine: summary and implications. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, **1619**, 283-290.

Schoenberg, B.S., Anderson, D.W. & Haerer, A.F. (1985) Prevalence of Parkinson's disease in the biracial population of Copiah County, Mississippi. *Neurology*, **35**, 841-845.

Schulz-Utermoehl, T., Bennett, A.J., Ellis, S.W., Tucker, G.T., Boobis, A.R. & Edwards, R.J. (1999) Polymorphic debrisoquine 4-hydroxylase activity in the rat is due to differences in CYP2D2 expression. *Pharmacogenetics*, **9**, 357-366.

Scolding, N.J., Frith, S., Linington, C., Morgan, B.P., Campbell, A.K. & Compston, D.A. (1989) Myelin-oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) is a surface marker of oligodendrocyte maturation. *J Neuroimmunol*, **22**, 169-176.
Segura, M., Farre, M., Pichini, S., Peiro, A.M., Roset, P.N., Ramirez, A., Ortuno, J., Pacifici, R., Zuccaro, P., Segura, J. & de la Torre, R. (2005) Contribution of cytochrome P450 2D6 to 3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine disposition in humans: use of paroxetine as a metabolic inhibitor probe. *Clin Pharmacokinet*, **44**, 649-660.

Seliskar, M. & Rozman, D. (2007) Mammalian cytochromes P450--importance of tissue specificity. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, **1770**, 458-466.

Serres, F. & Carney, S.L. (2006) Nicotine regulates SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cell proliferation through the release of brain-derived neurotrophic factor. *Brain Res*, **1101**, 36-42.

Shavali, S., Carlson, E.C., Swinscoe, J.C. & Ebadi, M. (2004) 1-Benzyl-1,2,3,4tetrahydroisoquinoline, a Parkinsonism-inducing endogenous toxin, increases alpha-synuclein expression and causes nuclear damage in human dopaminergic cells. *J Neurosci Res*, **76**, 563-571.

Shen, H., He, M.M., Liu, H., Wrighton, S.A., Wang, L., Guo, B. & Li, C. (2007) Comparative metabolic capabilities and inhibitory profiles of CYP2D6.1, CYP2D6.10, and CYP2D6.17. *Drug Metab Dispos*, **35**, 1292-1300.

Shen, H.W., Wu, C., Jiang, X.L. & Yu, A.M. (2011) Effects of monoamine oxidase inhibitor and cytochrome P450 2D6 status on 5-methoxy-N,N-dimethyltryptamine metabolism and pharmacokinetics. *Biochem Pharmacol*, **80**, 122-128.

Shen, H.W. & Yu, A.M. (2009) Difference in desipramine metabolic profile between wild-type and CYP2D6-humanized mice. *Drug Metab Lett*, **3**, 234-241.

Sher, L., Carballo, J.J., Grunebaum, M.F., Burke, A.K., Zalsman, G., Huang, Y.Y., Mann, J.J. & Oquendo, M.A. (2006) A prospective study of the association of cerebrospinal fluid monoamine metabolite levels with lethality of suicide attempts in patients with bipolar disorder. *Bipolar Disord*, **8**, 543-550.

Sherer, T.B., Kim, J.H., Betarbet, R. & Greenamyre, J.T. (2003) Subcutaneous rotenone exposure causes highly selective dopaminergic degeneration and alpha-synuclein aggregation. *Exp Neurol*, **179**, 9-16.

Shih, M.C., Hoexter, M.Q., Andrade, L.A. & Bressan, R.A. (2006) Parkinson's disease and dopamine transporter neuroimaging: a critical review. *Sao Paulo Med J*, **124**, 168-175.

Shimizudani, T., Nagaoka, K., Hanioka, N., Yamano, S. & Narimatsu, S. (2010) Comparative study of the oxidation of propranolol enantiomers in hepatic and small intestinal microsomes from cynomolgus and marmoset monkeys. *Chem Biol Interact*, **183**, 67-78.

Shin, J.G., Park, J.Y., Kim, M.J., Shon, J.H., Yoon, Y.R., Cha, I.J., Lee, S.S., Oh, S.W., Kim, S.W. & Flockhart, D.A. (2002) Inhibitory effects of tricyclic antidepressants (TCAs) on human cytochrome P450 enzymes in vitro: mechanism of drug interaction between TCAs and phenytoin. *Drug Metab Dispos*, **30**, 1102-1107.

Shin, J.G., Soukhova, N. & Flockhart, D.A. (1999) Effect of antipsychotic drugs on human liver cytochrome P-450 (CYP) isoforms in vitro: preferential inhibition of CYP2D6. *Drug Metab Dispos*, **27**, 1078-1084.

Sian, J., Dexter, D.T., Lees, A.J., Daniel, S., Jenner, P. & Marsden, C.D. (1994) Glutathionerelated enzymes in brain in Parkinson's disease. *Ann Neurol*, **36**, 356-361.

Sian-Hulsmann, J., Mandel, S., Youdim, M.B. & Riederer, P. (2010) The relevance of iron in the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. *J Neurochem*.

Siegle, I., Fritz, P., Eckhardt, K., Zanger, U.M. & Eichelbaum, M. (2001) Cellular localization and regional distribution of CYP2D6 mRNA and protein expression in human brain. *Pharmacogenetics*, **11**, 237-245.

Singer, T.P., Salach, J.I., Castagnoli, N., Jr. & Trevor, A. (1986) Interactions of the neurotoxic amine 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine with monoamine oxidases. *Biochem J*, **235**, 785-789.

Singh, M., Khan, A.J., Shah, P.P., Shukla, R., Khanna, V.K. & Parmar, D. (2008) Polymorphism in environment responsive genes and association with Parkinson disease. *Mol Cell Biochem*, **312**, 131-138.

Singh, M., Khanna, V.K., Shukla, R. & Parmar, D. (2010) Association of polymorphism in cytochrome P450 2D6 and N-acetyltransferase-2 with Parkinson's disease. *Dis Markers*, **28**, 87-93.

Singh, N., Pillay, V. & Choonara, Y.E. (2007) Advances in the treatment of Parkinson's disease. *Prog Neurobiol*, **81**, 29-44.

Singh, S., Singh, K., Patel, D.K., Singh, C., Nath, C., Singh, V.K., Singh, R.K. & Singh, M.P. (2009) The expression of CYP2D22, an ortholog of human CYP2D6, in mouse striatum and its modulation in 1-methyl 4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine-induced Parkinson's disease phenotype and nicotine-mediated neuroprotection. *Rejuvenation Res*, **12**, 185-197.

Singleton, A.B., Farrer, M., Johnson, J., Singleton, A., Hague, S., Kachergus, J., Hulihan, M., Peuralinna, T., Dutra, A., Nussbaum, R., Lincoln, S., Crawley, A., Hanson, M., Maraganore, D., Adler, C., Cookson, M.R., Muenter, M., Baptista, M., Miller, D., Blancato, J., Hardy, J. & Gwinn-Hardy, K. (2003) alpha-Synuclein locus triplication causes Parkinson's disease. *Science*, **302**, 841.

Snider, N.T., Sikora, M.J., Sridar, C., Feuerstein, T.J., Rae, J.M. & Hollenberg, P.F. (2008) The endocannabinoid anandamide is a substrate for the human polymorphic cytochrome P450 2D6. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, **327**, 538-545.

Snider, N.T., Walker, V.J. & Hollenberg, P.F. (2010) Oxidation of the endogenous cannabinoid arachidonoyl ethanolamide by the cytochrome P450 monooxygenases: physiological and pharmacological implications. *Pharmacol Rev*, **62**, 136-154.

Snider, R.S.L., J.C (1961) A sterotaxic atlas of the monkey brain (Macaca mulatta). University Press, Chicago

Spina, E., Avenoso, A., Facciola, G., Salemi, M., Scordo, M.G., Ancione, M., Madia, A.G. & Perucca, E. (2001a) Relationship between plasma risperidone and 9-hydroxyrisperidone concentrations and clinical response in patients with schizophrenia. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **153**, 238-243.

Spina, E., Avenoso, A., Facciola, G., Scordo, M.G., Ancione, M. & Madia, A. (2001b) Plasma concentrations of risperidone and 9-hydroxyrisperidone during combined treatment with paroxetine. *Ther Drug Monit*, **23**, 223-227.

Spindler, M., Beal, M.F. & Henchcliffe, C. (2009) Coenzyme Q10 effects in neurodegenerative disease. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat*, **5**, 597-610.

Spruston, N. (2009) Pyramidal neuron. Scholarpedia 4.

Sriram, K., Lin, G.X., Jefferson, A.M., Roberts, J.R., Wirth, O., Hayashi, Y., Krajnak, K.M., Soukup, J.M., Ghio, A.J., Reynolds, S.H., Castranova, V., Munson, A.E. & Antonini, J.M. (2010) Mitochondrial dysfunction and loss of Parkinson's disease-linked proteins contribute to neurotoxicity of manganese-containing welding fumes. *FASEB J*, **24**, 4989-5002.

Staal, R.G., Yang, J.M., Hait, W.N. & Sonsalla, P.K. (2001) Interactions of 1-methyl-4phenylpyridinium and other compounds with P-glycoprotein: relevance to toxicity of 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine. *Brain Res*, **910**, 116-125.

Stevens, J.C., Marsh, S.A., Zaya, M.J., Regina, K.J., Divakaran, K., Le, M. & Hines, R.N. (2008) Developmental changes in human liver CYP2D6 expression. *Drug Metab Dispos*, **36**, 1587-1593.

Storch, A., Hwang, Y.I., Gearhart, D.A., Beach, J.W., Neafsey, E.J., Collins, M.A. & Schwarz, J. (2004a) Dopamine transporter-mediated cytotoxicity of beta-carbolinium derivatives related to Parkinson's disease: relationship to transporter-dependent uptake. *J Neurochem*, **89**, 685-694.

Storch, A., Kaftan, A., Burkhardt, K. & Schwarz, J. (2000) 1-Methyl-6,7-dihydroxy-1,2,3,4-tetrahydroisoquinoline (salsolinol) is toxic to dopaminergic neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y cells via impairment of cellular energy metabolism. *Brain Res*, **855**, 67-75.

Storch, A., Ludolph, A.C. & Schwarz, J. (2004b) Dopamine transporter: involvement in selective dopaminergic neurotoxicity and degeneration. *J Neural Transm*, **111**, 1267-1286.

Strobel, H.W., Kawashima, H., Geng, J., Sequeira, D., Bergh, A., Hodgson, A.V., Wang, H. & Shen, S. (1995) Expression of multiple forms of brain cytochrome P450. *Toxicol Lett*, **82-83**, 639-643.

Strobl, G.R., von Kruedener, S., Stockigt, J., Guengerich, F.P. & Wolff, T. (1993) Development of a pharmacophore for inhibition of human liver cytochrome P-450 2D6: molecular modeling and inhibition studies. *J Med Chem*, **36**, 1136-1145.

Surmeier, D.J., Guzman, J.N., Sanchez-Padilla, J. & Goldberg, J.A. (2010) What causes the death of dopaminergic neurons in Parkinson's disease? *Prog Brain Res*, **183**, 59-77.

Suzuki, T., Fujita, S., Narimatsu, S., Masubuchi, Y., Tachibana, M., Ohta, S. & Hirobe, M. (1992) Cytochrome P450 isozymes catalyzing 4-hydroxylation of parkinsonism-related compound 1,2,3,4-tetrahydroisoquinoline in rat liver microsomes. *Faseb J*, **6**, 771-776.

Takagi, S., Nakajima, M., Mohri, T. & Yokoi, T. (2008) Post-transcriptional regulation of human pregnane X receptor by micro-RNA affects the expression of cytochrome P450 3A4. *J Biol Chem*, **283**, 9674-9680.

Takeuchi, H., Yanagida, T., Inden, M., Takata, K., Kitamura, Y., Yamakawa, K., Sawada, H., Izumi, Y., Yamamoto, N., Kihara, T., Uemura, K., Inoue, H., Taniguchi, T., Akaike, A., Takahashi, R. & Shimohama, S. (2009) Nicotinic receptor stimulation protects nigral dopaminergic neurons in rotenone-induced Parkinson's disease models. *J Neurosci Res*, **87**, 576-585.

Tamminga, W.J., Wemer, J., Oosterhuis, B., de Boer, A., Vranckx, S., Drenth, B.F., de Zeeuw, R.A., de Leij, L.F. & Jonkman, J.H. (2003) Polymorphic drug metabolism (CYP2D6) and utilisation of psychotropic drugs in hospitalised psychiatric patients: a retrospective study. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol*, **59**, 57-64.

Tan, E.K. & Skipper, L.M. (2007) Pathogenic mutations in Parkinson disease. *Hum Mutat*, **28**, 641-653.

Tang, J., Cao, Y., Rose, R.L. & Hodgson, E. (2002) In vitro metabolism of carbaryl by human cytochrome P450 and its inhibition by chlorpyrifos. *Chem Biol Interact*, **141**, 229-241.

Tanner, C.M. (2010) Advances in environmental epidemiology. *Mov Disord*, **25 Suppl 1**, S58-62.

Tanner, C.M., Goldman, S.M., Aston, D.A., Ottman, R., Ellenberg, J., Mayeux, R. & Langston, J.W. (2002) Smoking and Parkinson's disease in twins. *Neurology*, **58**, 581-588.

Taylor, K.S., Cook, J.A. & Counsell, C.E. (2007) Heterogeneity in male to female risk for Parkinson's disease. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, **78**, 905-906.

Thacker, E.L., O'Reilly, E.J., Weisskopf, M.G., Chen, H., Schwarzschild, M.A., McCullough, M.L., Calle, E.E., Thun, M.J. & Ascherio, A. (2007) Temporal relationship between cigarette smoking and risk of Parkinson disease. *Neurology*, **68**, 764-768.

Thompson, C.M., Capdevila, J.H. & Strobel, H.W. (2000) Recombinant cytochrome P450 2D18 metabolism of dopamine and arachidonic acid. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, **294**, 1120-1130.

Thompson, R.F., Atzmon, G., Gheorghe, C., Liang, H.Q., Lowes, C., Greally, J.M. & Barzilai, N. (2010) Tissue-specific dysregulation of DNA methylation in aging. *Aging Cell*, **9**, 506-518.

Tieu, K., Ischiropoulos, H. & Przedborski, S. (2003) Nitric oxide and reactive oxygen species in Parkinson's disease. *IUBMB Life*, **55**, 329-335.

Transon, C., Lecoeur, S., Leemann, T., Beaune, P. & Dayer, P. (1996) Interindividual variability in catalytic activity and immunoreactivity of three major human liver cytochrome P450 isozymes. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol*, **51**, 79-85.

Treluyer, J.M., Jacqz-Aigrain, E., Alvarez, F. & Cresteil, T. (1991) Expression of CYP2D6 in developing human liver. *Eur J Biochem*, **202**, 583-588.

Troiano, A.R., de la Fuente-Fernandez, R., Sossi, V., Schulzer, M., Mak, E., Ruth, T.J. & Stoessl, A.J. (2009) PET demonstrates reduced dopamine transporter expression in PD with dyskinesias. *Neurology*, **72**, 1211-1216.

Trujillo, T.C. & Nolan, P.E. (2000) Antiarrhythmic agents: drug interactions of clinical significance. *Drug Saf*, **23**, 509-532.

Twelves, D., Perkins, K.S. & Counsell, C. (2003) Systematic review of incidence studies of Parkinson's disease. *Mov Disord*, **18**, 19-31.

Tyndale, R.F., Li, Y., Li, N.Y., Messina, E., Miksys, S. & Sellers, E.M. (1999) Characterization of cytochrome P-450 2D1 activity in rat brain: high-affinity kinetics for dextromethorphan. *Drug Metab Dispos*, **27**, 924-930.

Tyndale, R.F., Sunahara, R., Inaba, T., Kalow, W., Gonzalez, F.J. & Niznik, H.B. (1991) Neuronal cytochrome P450IID1 (debrisoquine/sparteine-type): potent inhibition of activity by (-)-cocaine and nucleotide sequence identity to human hepatic P450 gene CYP2D6. *Mol Pharmacol*, **40**, 63-68.

Uno, Y., Iwasaki, K., Yamazaki, H. & Nelson, D.R. (2011) Macaque cytochromes P450: nomenclature, transcript, gene, genomic structure, and function. *Drug Metab Rev.*

Uno, Y., Uehara, S., Kohara, S., Murayama, N. & Yamazaki, H. (2010) Cynomolgus monkey CYP2D44 newly identified in liver, metabolizes bufuralol, and dextromethorphan. *Drug Metab Dispos*, **38**, 1486-1492.

Urdinguio, R.G., Sanchez-Mut, J.V. & Esteller, M. (2009) Epigenetic mechanisms in neurological diseases: genes, syndromes, and therapies. *Lancet Neurol*, **8**, 1056-1072.

Vaglini, F., Pardini, C., Viaggi, C., Bartoli, C., Dinucci, D. & Corsini, G.U. (2004) Involvement of cytochrome P450 2E1 in the 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridineinduced mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *J Neurochem*, **91**, 285-298.

Valente, E.M., Abou-Sleiman, P.M., Caputo, V., Muqit, M.M., Harvey, K., Gispert, S., Ali, Z., Del Turco, D., Bentivoglio, A.R., Healy, D.G., Albanese, A., Nussbaum, R., Gonzalez-

Maldonado, R., Deller, T., Salvi, S., Cortelli, P., Gilks, W.P., Latchman, D.S., Harvey, R.J., Dallapiccola, B., Auburger, G. & Wood, N.W. (2004a) Hereditary early-onset Parkinson's disease caused by mutations in PINK1. *Science*, **304**, 1158-1160.

Valente, E.M., Salvi, S., Ialongo, T., Marongiu, R., Elia, A.E., Caputo, V., Romito, L., Albanese, A., Dallapiccola, B. & Bentivoglio, A.R. (2004b) PINK1 mutations are associated with sporadic early-onset parkinsonism. *Ann Neurol*, **56**, 336-341.

Van der Perren, A., Toelen, J., Carlon, M., Van den Haute, C., Coun, F., Heeman, B., Reumers, V., Vandenberghe, L.H., Wilson, J.M., Debyser, Z. & Baekelandt, V. (2011) Efficient and stable transduction of dopaminergic neurons in rat substantia nigra by rAAV 2/1, 2/2, 2/5, 2/6.2, 2/7, 2/8 and 2/9. *Gene Ther*.

Van, L.M., Heydari, A., Yang, J., Hargreaves, J., Rowland-Yeo, K., Lennard, M.S., Tucker, G.T. & Rostami-Hodjegan, A. (2006) The impact of experimental design on assessing mechanism-based inactivation of CYP2D6 by MDMA (Ecstasy). *J Psychopharmacol*, **20**, 834-841.

Vance, J.M., Ali, S., Bradley, W.G., Singer, C. & Di Monte, D.A. (2010) Gene-environment interactions in Parkinson's disease and other forms of parkinsonism. *Neurotoxicology*, **31**, 598-602.

Viaggi, C., Pardini, C., Vaglini, F. & Corsini, G.U. (2006) Cytochrome P450 and Parkinson's disease: protective role of neuronal CYP 2E1 from MPTP toxicity. *J Neural Transm Suppl*, 173-176.

Vieregge, A., Sieberer, M., Jacobs, H., Hagenah, J.M. & Vieregge, P. (2001) Transdermal nicotine in PD: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *Neurology*, **57**, 1032-1035.

Visanji, N.P., O'Neill, M.J. & Duty, S. (2006) Nicotine, but neither the alpha4beta2 ligand RJR2403 nor an alpha7 nAChR subtype selective agonist, protects against a partial 6-hydroxydopamine lesion of the rat median forebrain bundle. *Neuropharmacology*, **51**, 506-516.

Voirol, P., Jonzier-Perey, M., Porchet, F., Reymond, M.J., Janzer, R.C., Bouras, C., Strobel, H.W., Kosel, M., Eap, C.B. & Baumann, P. (2000) Cytochrome P-450 activities in human and rat brain microsomes. *Brain Res*, **855**, 235-243.

Volotinen, M., Turpeinen, M., Tolonen, A., Uusitalo, J., Maenpaa, J. & Pelkonen, O. (2007) Timolol metabolism in human liver microsomes is mediated principally by CYP2D6. *Drug Metab Dispos*, **35**, 1135-1141.

von Campenhausen, S., Bornschein, B., Wick, R., Botzel, K., Sampaio, C., Poewe, W., Oertel, W., Siebert, U., Berger, K. & Dodel, R. (2005) Prevalence and incidence of Parkinson's disease in Europe. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol*, **15**, 473-490.

Wadelius, M., Darj, E., Frenne, G. & Rane, A. (1997) Induction of CYP2D6 in pregnancy. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*, **62**, 400-407.

Wang, B., Yang, L.P., Zhang, X.Z., Huang, S.Q., Bartlam, M. & Zhou, S.F. (2009) New insights into the structural characteristics and functional relevance of the human cytochrome P450 2D6 enzyme. *Drug Metab Rev*, **41**, 573-643.

Wang, H., Napoli, K.L. & Strobel, H.W. (2000) Cytochrome P450 3A9 catalyzes the metabolism of progesterone and other steroid hormones. *Mol Cell Biochem*, **213**, 127-135.

Wang, X.F., Li, S., Chou, A.P. & Bronstein, J.M. (2006) Inhibitory effects of pesticides on proteasome activity: implication in Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol Dis*, **23**, 198-205.

Ward, S.A., Walle, T., Walle, U.K., Wilkinson, G.R. & Branch, R.A. (1989) Propranolol's metabolism is determined by both mephenytoin and debrisoquin hydroxylase activities. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*, **45**, 72-79.

Warner, M. & Gustafsson, J.A. (1994) Effect of ethanol on cytochrome P450 in the rat brain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **91**, 1019-1023.

Watabe, M. & Nakaki, T. (2008) Mitochondrial complex I inhibitor rotenone inhibits and redistributes vesicular monoamine transporter 2 via nitration in human dopaminergic SH-SY5Y cells. *Mol Pharmacol*, **74**, 933-940.

Watts, P.M., Riedl, A.G., Douek, D.C., Edwards, R.J., Boobis, A.R., Jenner, P. & Marsden, C.D. (1998) Co-localization of P450 enzymes in the rat substantia nigra with tyrosine hydroxylase. *Neuroscience*, **86**, 511-519.

Wehling, M. (2009) Assessing the translatability of drug projects: what needs to be scored to predict success? *Nat Rev Drug Discov*, **8**, 541-546.

Weihofen, A., Thomas, K.J., Ostaszewski, B.L., Cookson, M.R. & Selkoe, D.J. (2009) Pink1 forms a multiprotein complex with Miro and Milton, linking Pink1 function to mitochondrial trafficking. *Biochemistry*, **48**, 2045-2052.

Wendler, A. & Wehling, M. (2010) The translatability of animal models for clinical development: biomarkers and disease models. *Curr Opin Pharmacol*, **10**, 601-606.

Wernicke, C., Schott, Y., Enzensperger, C., Schulze, G., Lehmann, J. & Rommelspacher, H. (2007) Cytotoxicity of beta-carbolines in dopamine transporter expressing cells: structure-activity relationships. *Biochem Pharmacol*, **74**, 1065-1077.

West, A.B., Maraganore, D., Crook, J., Lesnick, T., Lockhart, P.J., Wilkes, K.M., Kapatos, G., Hardy, J.A. & Farrer, M.J. (2002) Functional association of the parkin gene promoter with idiopathic Parkinson's disease. *Hum Mol Genet*, **11**, 2787-2792.

White, H.K. & Levin, E.D. (1999) Four-week nicotine skin patch treatment effects on cognitive performance in Alzheimer's disease. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **143**, 158-165.

White, H.K. & Levin, E.D. (2004) Chronic transdermal nicotine patch treatment effects on cognitive performance in age-associated memory impairment. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **171**, 465-471.

Wilson, H.D., Uhelski, M.L. & Fuchs, P.N. (2008) Examining the role of the medial thalamus in modulating the affective dimension of pain. *Brain Res*, **1229**, 90-99.

Wonnacott, S., Sidhpura, N. & Balfour, D.J. (2005) Nicotine: from molecular mechanisms to behaviour. *Curr Opin Pharmacol*, **5**, 53-59.

Wood, J.P., Schmidt, K.G., Melena, J., Chidlow, G., Allmeier, H. & Osborne, N.N. (2003) The beta-adrenoceptor antagonists metipranolol and timolol are retinal neuroprotectants: comparison with betaxolol. *Exp Eye Res*, **76**, 505-516.

Wood-Kaczmar, A., Gandhi, S. & Wood, N.W. (2006) Understanding the molecular causes of Parkinson's disease. *Trends Mol Med*, **12**, 521-528.

Woodland, C., Huang, T.T., Gryz, E., Bendayan, R. & Fawcett, J.P. (2008) Expression, activity and regulation of CYP3A in human and rodent brain. *Drug Metab Rev*, **40**, 149-168.

Wyss, A., Gustafsson, J.A. & Warner, M. (1995) Cytochromes P450 of the 2D subfamily in rat brain. *Mol Pharmacol*, **47**, 1148-1155.

Xie, H.R., Hu, L.S. & Li, G.Y. (2011) SH-SY5Y human neuroblastoma cell line: in vitro cell model of dopaminergic neurons in Parkinson's disease. *Chin Med J (Engl)*, **123**, 1086-1092.

Xie, X., Liao, H., Dang, H., Pang, W., Guan, Y., Wang, X., Shyy, J.Y., Zhu, Y. & Sladek, F.M. (2009) Down-regulation of hepatic HNF4alpha gene expression during hyperinsulinemia via SREBPs. *Mol Endocrinol*, **23**, 434-443.

Xie, Y.X., Bezard, E. & Zhao, B.L. (2005) Investigating the receptor-independent neuroprotective mechanisms of nicotine in mitochondria. *J Biol Chem*, **280**, 32405-32412.

Yakel, J.L. (2010) Gating of nicotinic ACh receptors: latest insights into ligand binding and function. *J Physiol*, **588**, 597-602.

Yamamoto, T., Suzuki, A. & Kohno, Y. (2003) High-throughput screening to estimate single or multiple enzymes involved in drug metabolism: microtitre plate assay using a combination of recombinant CYP2D6 and human liver microsomes. *Xenobiotica*, **33**, 823-839.

Yang, J., Jamei, M., Heydari, A., Yeo, K.R., de la Torre, R., Farre, M., Tucker, G.T. & Rostami-Hodjegan, A. (2006) Implications of mechanism-based inhibition of CYP2D6 for the pharmacokinetics and toxicity of MDMA. *J Psychopharmacol*, **20**, 842-849.

Yang, Y.K., Yao, W.J., Yeh, T.L., Lee, I.H., Chen, P.S., Lu, R.B. & Chiu, N.T. (2008) Decreased dopamine transporter availability in male smokers -- a dual isotope SPECT study. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*, **32**, 274-279. Yao, H., Costache, A.D. & Sem, D.S. (2004) Chemical proteomic tool for ligand mapping of CYP antitargets: an NMR-compatible 3D QSAR descriptor in the Heme-Based Coordinate System. *J Chem Inf Comput Sci*, **44**, 1456-1465.

Yokomori, N., Kobayashi, R., Moore, R., Sueyoshi, T. & Negishi, M. (1995) A DNA methylation site in the male-specific P450 (Cyp 2d-9) promoter and binding of the heteromeric transcription factor GABP. *Mol Cell Biol*, **15**, 5355-5362.

Yoshida, M., Niwa, T. & Nagatsu, T. (1990) Parkinsonism in monkeys produced by chronic administration of an endogenous substance of the brain, tetrahydroisoquinoline: the behavioral and biochemical changes. *Neurosci Lett*, **119**, 109-113.

Yoshida, M., Ogawa, M., Suzuki, K. & Nagatsu, T. (1993) Parkinsonism produced by tetrahydroisoquinoline (TIQ) or the analogues. *Adv Neurol*, **60**, 207-211.

Yoshihara, S., Harada, K. & Ohta, S. (2000) Metabolism of 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP) in perfused rat liver: involvement of hepatic aldehyde oxidase as a detoxification enzyme. *Drug Metab Dispos*, **28**, 538-543.

Yu, A.M., Granvil, C.P., Haining, R.L., Krausz, K.W., Corchero, J., Kupfer, A., Idle, J.R. & Gonzalez, F.J. (2003a) The relative contribution of monoamine oxidase and cytochrome p450 isozymes to the metabolic deamination of the trace amine tryptamine. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, **304**, 539-546.

Yu, A.M. & Haining, R.L. (2006) Expression, purification, and characterization of mouse CYP2d22. *Drug Metab Dispos*, **34**, 1167-1174.

Yu, A.M., Idle, J.R., Byrd, L.G., Krausz, K.W., Kupfer, A. & Gonzalez, F.J. (2003b) Regeneration of serotonin from 5-methoxytryptamine by polymorphic human CYP2D6. *Pharmacogenetics*, **13**, 173-181.

Yu, A.M., Idle, J.R. & Gonzalez, F.J. (2004) Polymorphic cytochrome P450 2D6: humanized mouse model and endogenous substrates. *Drug Metab Rev*, **36**, 243-277.

Yu, A.M., Idle, J.R., Herraiz, T., Kupfer, A. & Gonzalez, F.J. (2003c) Screening for endogenous substrates reveals that CYP2D6 is a 5-methoxyindolethylamine O-demethylase. *Pharmacogenetics*, **13**, 307-319.

Yu, A.M., Idle, J.R., Krausz, K.W., Kupfer, A. & Gonzalez, F.J. (2003d) Contribution of individual cytochrome P450 isozymes to the O-demethylation of the psychotropic beta-carboline alkaloids harmaline and harmine. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, **305**, 315-322.

Yue, J., Miksys, S., Hoffmann, E. & Tyndale, R.F. (2008) Chronic nicotine treatment induces rat CYP2D in the brain but not in the liver: an investigation of induction and time course. *J Psychiatry Neurosci*, **33**, 54-63.

Zamani, M.R. & Allen, Y.S. (2001) Nicotine and its interaction with beta-amyloid protein: a short review. *Biol Psychiatry*, **49**, 221-232.

Zanger, U.M., Fischer, J., Raimundo, S., Stuven, T., Evert, B.O., Schwab, M. & Eichelbaum, M. (2001) Comprehensive analysis of the genetic factors determining expression and function of hepatic CYP2D6. *Pharmacogenetics*, **11**, 573-585.

Zanger, U.M., Raimundo, S. & Eichelbaum, M. (2004) Cytochrome P450 2D6: overview and update on pharmacology, genetics, biochemistry. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol*, **369**, 23-37.

Zanger, U.M., Turpeinen, M., Klein, K. & Schwab, M. (2008) Functional pharmacogenetics/genomics of human cytochromes P450 involved in drug biotransformation. *Anal Bioanal Chem*, **392**, 1093-1108.

Zecca, L., Stroppolo, A., Gatti, A., Tampellini, D., Toscani, M., Gallorini, M., Giaveri, G., Arosio, P., Santambrogio, P., Fariello, R.G., Karatekin, E., Kleinman, M.H., Turro, N., Hornykiewicz, O. & Zucca, F.A. (2004) The role of iron and copper molecules in the neuronal vulnerability of locus coeruleus and substantia nigra during aging. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **101**, 9843-9848.

Zeng, X., Chen, J., Deng, X., Liu, Y., Rao, M.S., Cadet, J.L. & Freed, W.J. (2006) An in vitro model of human dopaminergic neurons derived from embryonic stem cells: MPP+ toxicity and GDNF neuroprotection. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, **31**, 2708-2715.

Zhang, J., Liu, Q., Chen, Q., Liu, N.Q., Li, F.L., Lu, Z.B., Qin, C., Zhu, H., Huang, Y.Y., He, W. & Zhao, B.L. (2006) Nicotine attenuates beta-amyloid-induced neurotoxicity by regulating metal homeostasis. *FASEB J*, **20**, 1212-1214.

Zhang, W.Y., Tu, Y.B., Haining, R.L. & Yu, A.M. (2009) Expression and functional analysis of CYP2D6.24, CYP2D6.26, CYP2D6.27, and CYP2D7 isozymes. *Drug Metab Dispos*, **37**, 1-4.

Zhou, S.F. (2009) Polymorphism of human cytochrome P450 2D6 and its clinical significance: Part I. *Clin Pharmacokinet*, **48**, 689-723.

Zhu, W. (2008) CYP2D6: a key enzyme in morphine synthesis in animals. *Med Sci Monit*, **14**, SC15-18.

Zhu, W., Cadet, P., Baggerman, G., Mantione, K.J. & Stefano, G.B. (2005) Human white blood cells synthesize morphine: CYP2D6 modulation. *J Immunol*, **175**, 7357-7362.